Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria



Volume 40 • Number 1 • January-March 2018



Official Journal of the Brazilian Psychiatric Association





ISSN 1516-4446

Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria



Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry

Official Journal of the Brazilian Psychiatric Association

Volume 40 | Number 1 | January-March 2018

Associação Brasileira de Psiquiatria

Rua Buenos Aires, 48, 3° andar, Centro CEP 20070-022 Rio de Janeiro (RJ), Brazil Tel.: +55 (21) 2199.7500 abp@abpbrasil.org.br www.abp.org.br

President

Carmita Helena Najjar Abdo carmita.abdo@abpbrasil.org.br

Vice-President Alfredo José Minervino alfredominervino@abpbrasil.org.br

Executive Secretary Claudio Meneghello Martins claudiomartins@abpbrasil.org.br

Adjunct Executive Secretary Maria de Fátima Viana de Vasconcellos fatimavasconcellos@abpbrasil.org.br

Executive Treasurer Antônio Geraldo da Silva antoniogeraldo@abpbrasil.org.br

Adjunct Executive Treasurer Maurício Leão de Rezende mauricioleao@abpbrasil.org.br

Superintendent Simone Paes simone@abpbrasil.org.br

Regional Executive Secretaries

André Luís Simões Brasil Ribeiro (Nordeste) Cleber Naief Moreira (Norte) Érico de Castro e Costa (Sudeste) Eduardo Mylius Pimentel (Sul) Renée Elizabeth de Figueiredo Freire (Centro-Oeste)



Sem título (No title) Bianca Santini Porto Alegre, Brazil, 2015 Graphite, oil pastel, dust, sand, and watercolor on canson paper, 40x59cm Photograph: Babilônica/Letícia Lau Image kindaly supplied by Bianca Santini and Babilônica/Letícia Lau



2016 JCR® Impact Factor: 2.049

Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria

Rua Pedro de Toledo, 967, casa 1 CEP 04039-032, São Paulo (SP), Brazil Tel.: +55 (11) 5081.6799 Fax: +55 (11) 3384.6799 www.rbppsiguiatria.org.br

www.scielo.br/rbp

Editors-in-Chief

Antônio Egídio Nardi Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

João Quevedo The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, USA

Associate Editors

Andre Brunoni Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil

Felix H. Paim Kessler Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil

Leandro Malloy Diniz Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil

Leonardo F. Fontenelle Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Marco Aurélio Romano-Silva Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil

Rafael C. R. Freire Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Rodrigo Machado-Vieira The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, USA

Sheila Cavalcante Caetano Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Brazil

Associate Editor for Public Affairs

Antônio Geraldo da Silva Universidade do Porto, Portugal

Associate Editor for Website and Social Media

Alexandre Paim Diaz Universidade do Sul de Santa Catarina, Brazil

Junior Editors

Bernardo de Mattos Viana Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil

Gabriel R. Fries The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, USA

Gabriela M. B. de Menezes Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Giselli Scaini The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, USA

Jonas Jardim de Paula Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil

Lucas Borrione Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil

Marina Dyskant Mochcovitch Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Silvia Bassani Schuch Goi Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil Thiago Margues Fidalgo

Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Brazil

Managing Editor

Osler Médicos Associados

Production Editor Denise Arend

Scientific Linguagem

Copyediting Scientific Linguagem

Typesetting Charlesworth Group

Former Editors-in-Chief

- Euripedes Constantino Miguel (1999-2007)
- Jair de Jesus Mari (1999-2007)
- Luis Augusto Rohde (2006-2008)
- Rodrigo Affonseca-Bressan (2008-2011)
- Beny Lafer (2008-2010)
- Marcelo Pio de Almeida Fleck (2008-2012)
- José Alexandre de Souza Crippa (2011-2012)
- Flavio Kapczinski (2013-2016)

Indexed in Medline, Scopus, Excerpta Medica, Secondary Publishing Division (Embase), Scientific Electronic Library Online (SciELO), Biological Abstracts (Biosis), Psychological Abstracts (PsycInfo), Lilacs (Bireme), Science Citation Index - Expanded and Social Sciences Citation Index (Web of Science), Thomson Reuters Web of Science/Institute for Scientific Information, Current Contents/Behavioral Sciences. Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria



Editorial Board

- Allan H. Young (King's College London, UK)
- Andre F. Carvalho (University of Toronto, Canada)
- Augustus John Rush (Duke University, USA)
- Bartley Christopher Frueh (University of Hawaii at Hilo, USA)
- Benicio Frey (McMaster University, Canada)
- Benjamin Goldstein (University of Toronto, Canada)
- Charles B. Nemeroff (University of Miami, USA)
- Dan Stein (University of Cape Town, South Africa)
- David Mataix-Cols (Karolinska Institutet, Sweden)
- Eduard Vieta (Universitat de Barcelona, Spain)
- Eric Storch (Baylor College of Medicine, USA)
- Felice Jacka (Deakin University, Australia)
- Felipe Dal-Pizzol (Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil)
- Fiammetta Cosci (Università degli Studi di Firenze, Italy)
- Geraldo Busatto Filho (Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil)
- Gerhard Andersson (Linköping University, Sweden)
- Giampaolo Perna (Universiteit Maastricht, The Netherlands)
- Gustavo Kinrys (Massachusetts General Hospital, USA)
- Hélio Elkis (Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil)
- Homero Pinto Vallada Filho (Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil)
- Iria Grande (Universitat de Barcelona, Spain)
- Ivan Izquierdo (Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil)
- Jair C. Soares (The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, USA)
- Janusz Rybakowski (Poznań University, Poland)
- Jerson Laks (Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil)
- John Elhai (University of Toledo, USA)
- José Carlos Appolinário (Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil)
- Joseph Calabrese (Case Western Reserve University, USA)
- Julio Licinio (SUNY Upstate Medical University, USA)
- Lakshmi Yatham (University of British Columbia, Canada)
- · Laura Bellodi (San Raffaele University, Italy)
- Madhukar H. Trivedi (University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, USA)
- Marc Potenza (Yale University, USA)
- Maria Oquendo (University of Pennsylvania, USA)
- Mauro Carta (Università degli Studi di Cagliari, Italy)
- Michael Berk (Deakin University, Australia)
- Michael Maes (Deakin University, Australia)
- Michael Thase (University of Pennsylvania, USA)
- Michael Zvolensky (University of Houston, USA)
- Monica Andersen (Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Brazil)
- Oscar Arias-Carrión (Hospital General Dr. Manuel Gea González, Mexico)
- Pim Cuijpers (Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, The Netherlands)
- Robert M. Post (George Washington University, USA)
- Roger S. McIntyre (University of Toronto, Canada)
- Ronaldo Laranjeira (Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Brazil)
- Sven Bölte (Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden)
- Tatiana Barichello (The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, USA)
- Warren K. Bickel (Virginia Tech Carilion Research Institute, USA)
- Xiang Yang Zhang (The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, USA)

Contact information

Editorial contact: editorial@abpbrasil.org.br Administrative contact: rbp@abpbrasil.org.br (Fernanda Vergueiro) Publicity: comercial@abpbrasil.org.br (Lucia Coelho)

Print run/Circulação: 5000 copies/cópias.

Official Journal of the Brazilian Psychiatric Association

Volume 40 | Number 1 | January-March 2018

Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria is the official publication of the Brazilian Psychiatric Association (ABP) and is edited by ABP.

All the contents published in Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria, except where otherwise noted, are licensed under a Creative Commons License (CC BY-NC 4.0), meaning that materials may be copied/reproduced, distributed, transmitted, and adapted for noncommercial purposes only, provided the original work is properly cited.

Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria receives financial support from the Programa Editorial/Edital MCT/CNPq-MEC/CAPES - Editoração e Publicação de Periódicos Científicos Brasileiros.

ABP takes no responsibility for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of product liability, negligence, or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions, or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of rapid advances in the medical sciences, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages should be made. Although all advertising material is expected to conform to ethical (medical) standards, inclusion in this publication does not constitute a guarantee or endorsement of the quality or value of such product or of the claims made of it by its manufacturer.

Content dedicated to the medical community.

A Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria é uma publicação oficial da Associação Brasileira de Psiquiatria (ABP) e é editada pela ABP.

Todos os conteúdos publicados na Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria, exceto onde indicado, são regulamentados por uma licença Creative Commons (CC BY-NC 4.0), o que significa que os materiais podem ser copiados/reproduzidos, distribuídos, transmitidos e adaptados exclusivamente para fins não comerciais, desde que a publicação original seja adequadamente citada.

A RBP recebe apoio financeiro do Programa Editorial/Edital MCT/CNPq-MEC/ CAPES - Editoração e Publicação de Periódicos Científicos Brasileiros.

A ABP não assume nenhuma responsabilidade por qualquer injúria e/ou danos a pessoas ou bens como questões de responsabilidade civil do fabricante do produto, de negligência ou de outros motivos, ou por qualquer uso ou exploração de métodos, produtos, instruções ou ideias contidas no material incluso. Devido ao rápido avanço no campo das ciências médicas, uma verificação independente dos diagnósticos e dosagens de drogas deve ser realizada. Embora se espere que todo o material de publicidade esteja em conformidade com os padrões éticos (médicos), a inclusão nesta publicação não constitui uma garantia ou endosso da qualidade ou valor de tal produto ou das alegações feitas pelo seu fabricante.

Material de distribuição exclusiva à classe médica.

Foreign subscription

Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria is the official journal of the Brazilian Psychiatric Association and publishes 4 regular issues per year plus supplements as appropriate. The journal is fully open access, available online at www.scielo.br/rbp. Print subscription is available and should be requested at http://www.abp.org.br/ portal/assinatura-anual/.

Annual subscription rate (4 issues): US\$ 200.00. Single copy: US\$ 45.00. Payment by credit card. For more information, please contact the editorial office.

Send your order to: Associação Brasileira de Psiquiatria - RBP

Rua Pedro de Toledo, 967, casa 1

CEP 04039-032, São Paulo (SP), Brazil

Assinaturas no Brasil

A Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria é o órgão oficial da Associação Brasileira de Psiquiatria e publica 4 edições regulares por ano mais suplementos conforme apropriado. A revista está disponível em acesso aberto, online, no endereço www. scielo.br/rbp. Pedidos de assinatura da revista impressa devem ser feitos pelo site, através do link http://www.abp.org.br/portal/assinatura-anual/.

Assinatura anual (4 edições): R\$ 330,00. Exemplar avulso: R\$ 90,00. Forma de pagamento: boleto bancário ou cartão de crédito. Para mais informações, entrar em contato com a secretaria da revista.







Support



Sobre a capa Bianca Santini

trabalho artístico de Bianca Santini é um reflexo da sua percepção do cotidiano, e por muito tempo o foco foi a paisagem e a natureza, observando como ela se renova ao passar dos dias, suas linhas, texturas e formas. A partir de caminhadas pela cidade, percorrendo ruas, pracas e parques com foco no olhar sobre a paisagem, onde galhos, raízes, troncos de árvores vislumbram esse desenho, Bianca compõe um acervo com os elementos registrados ou coletados que funcionam como um laboratório de pesquisa a céu aberto para desenvolver pinturas, desenhos, objetos e instalações.

> "Cada pequeno deslocamento ao redor de uma árvore produz imagens diferentes. E isso me interessa. O ponto de partida é sempre o mesmo. Os suportes para minha obra mudam na busca de encontrar diferentes linguagens para me comunicar."

A poética do seu trabalho traduz elementos do real (galhos secos, troncos, cipós) para o imaginário, do lado externo (da paisagem) para o lado interno (ateliê e salas de exposições), provocando uma ativação do espaço e um desenho da paisagem mediado pelo corpo.

A artista registra, através da fotografia e da memória, as imagens de paisagens que percorre e caminha, observando galhos, texturas, troncos e linhas. Estes servem de inspiração para suas pinturas e desenhos. Com o tempo sentiu a necessidade de experimentar outros materiais e suportes, desenvolvendo as Paisagens Portáteis, simulação de galhos secos feitos com folhas de revistas, tinta spray e algodão ou tecido acondicionados em caixas de acrílico. Em seguida, sua vontade de transpor o desenho da paisagem para dentro do ateliê e para o campo da arte incentiva uma produção maior com outros materiais e, assim, surgem as instalações de árvores. As primeiras árvores, da série Transposição da Paisagem, foram criadas com cordas de sisal e galhos secos suspensos pelo teto, e as últimas, da série Além da Paisagem, foram construídas com folhas de catálogos e revistas de moda e roupas usadas sobre um suporte de tela de arame.

Bianca Santini se dedica à sua produção artística desde 1985, estudando, pintando e desenhando. No entanto, é a partir de 2014 que sua produção ganha maior visibilidade no circuito de arte gaúcha. Sua mais recente exposição individual, Risco & Ar - Uma exposição de Bianca Santini, foi realizada na principal instituição de arte do



estado, o Museu de Arte do Rio Grande do Sul Ado Malagoli (MARGS), com curadoria de Gabriela Motta. Nessa mostra, encerrada em janeiro deste ano, a artista revela uma nova proposição – seu interesse na paisagem migra para outro foco, surge uma vontade de investigar, do ponto de vista material e conceitual, o universo do consumo e da moda.

Bianca Santini é natural de Porto Alegre, onde vive e trabalha. Possui seu ateliê na zona sul da cidade. Formada em direito, decide não seguir a carreira para auxiliar seu pai no comando da Casa do Desenho (antiga loja de materiais para arte, design e arquitetura em Porto Alegre). A proximidade com os materiais artísticos aguça seu interesse em pintura e desenho, já despertado anteriormente no Centro de Desenvolvimento da Expressão (CDE), aos 6 anos de idade. Mais tarde busca aprimoramento com cursos ministrados por importantes artistas da cena gaúcha, como Malu Soeiro, Maria Aparecida Peixoto, Paulo Porcela, lara Burle, Dayse Viola, Ana Petini, Elizethe Borghetti, Clara Pechansky, Julio Ghiorzi, entre outros. Hoje estuda História da Arte com Maria Helena Bernardes e Jailton Moreira.

Em seu currículo coleciona 7 exposições individuais e 21 coletivas nos principais centros culturais do estado e galerias de Porto Alegre, Caxias do Sul, Florianópolis, Rio de Janeiro e Montevidéu. Participou de três salões de arte: 19º Prêmio de Incentivo à Produção Chico Lisboa, no MARGS; Salão de Arte da América Latina, no Museu de Arte de Santa Maria; e 20º Salão de Arte da Câmara Municipal de Porto Alegre. Possui obras no acervo do Museu de Arte Contemporânea do Rio Grande do Sul (MACRS), no MARGS, ambos em Porto Alegre, RS, e no Centro Cultural Dr. Henrique Ordovás Filho, em Caxias do Sul, RS.

> Bianca Santini - <u>www.biancasantini.com.br</u> Babilônica Arte e Cultura - <u>www.babilonica.com</u>

"Thank you" to all 2017 reviewers

We are grateful to our colleagues listed below for their generous and anonymous participation in the peer-review process of **Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria** in 2017. These colleagues have donated their time and knowledge to enhance the quality of our publication. Thank you for your outstanding job.

Anderson Stolf

Abdulbari Bener Acioly Luiz Tavares de Lacerda Adam Goodie Adam Płaźnik Adele Marais Adriana Cardoso Adriana Fiszman Adriana Martins Saur Adriane Ribeiro Rosa Alan Vendrame Alberto Antonio Rasia-Filho Alcina Juliana Soares Barros Alessandra Diehl Alessandro Serretti Alessio Squassina Alex Blaszczvnski Alexander Moreira-Almeida Alexandra loppi Zugno Alexandre Costa Val Alexandre Martins Valenca Alexandre Mello Alexandre Paim Diaz Alexis Edwards Ali Gorji Alicia Peralta Aline Bastos Aline Sampaio Aline Silva de Aguiar-Nemer Alison B. Singer Alisson Trevizol Alvaro Dias Amaury Cantilino Amit Etkin Ana Carina Tamanaha Ana Carolina Robbe Mathias Ana Cristina Simões e Silva Ana Flavia Lima Ana Harb Ana Hounie Ana Luiza Bossolani Martins Ana Margareth Siqueira Bassols Ana P. Herrmann Ana Paula Amaral Ana Regina Noto Ana Sánchez Ana Soledade Graeff-Martins Anabel Martinez-Arán Analice Gigliotti

André Caribé André Carvalho André de Queiroz Constantino Miguel Andre Goettems Bastos Andre Luiz Monezi Andrade Andre Malbergier Andre R. Brunoni Andrea Dunn Andrea Fiorillo Andrea Gogos Andrea Horvath Margues Andrea Jackowski Andrea Lorena da Costa Andrea Weinberger Andreas Chatzittofis Andreas Muehlberger Andreas Reif Angela Miranda Scippa Angela Nickerson Angelo B. Cunha Anina Abrie Anita Bjorklund Anita Hickev Anita Liberalesso Neri Anna Coluccia Anna Paula Piovezan Anna Williams Anne Bassett Anne Evins Anne Richards Anne Sordi Annibal Truzzi Antonio Alvim António Barbosa Antonio Cepeda-Benito Antonio Drago Antonio Fernandez-Parra Antonio Godoy Antônio L. Teixeira Antonio Nascimento Antonio Ribeiro Arpi Minassian Arthur A Berberian Arthur Guerra de Andrade Arv Gadelha Ashraf Kagee Audrey Tyrka

Bacy Fleitlich Bilyk Bariş O. Yildirim Benedikt Fischer Benício Noronha Frey **Benilton Bezerra** Bergai Parthsarathy Nirmala Bernadette Fitzgibbon Bernard Pimentel Rangé Bernardo Gomes Bernardo Viana **Bernhard Braune** Bernhard Weidle Beverly H. Brummett Bianca Seminotti Bianca Wollenhaupt de Aguiar Biiu Viswanath Birgitta Gunnarsson Blazei Misiak **Bonnin** Caterina **Brendon Stubbs** Breno Satler de Oliveria Diniz Brian L. Odlaug Brian Mustanski Brian Rush Brisa S. Fernandes Brisa Solé **Brooks Keeshin** Bruno Bertolucci Ortiz Bruno Kluwe-Schiavon Bruno Mosqueiro Bruno Palazzo Nazar Camelia Adams Camila Bernardes Camila Morelatto de Souza Camila O. Arent Carina Rodrigues Boeck Carl E. Siegert

Carla Fooligues Doeck Carla Fonseca Zambaldi Carlos A. Zarate Carlos Nunes Carmita H. Abdo Carolina Blaya Carolina Inácio Lobo Araújo Carolina Inostroza Caroline Bower Catharina Lavebratt Cátia Alves Moreira

2017 reviewers

Cecilia Samame Celso Arango Céu Salvador Charel Quisenaerts Charles Julian Lindsev Charles Peretti Christian Grov Christian Haag Kristensen Christiane Gasse Christopher Burton Christopher Dowrick Christopher Lowry Cinthia H. Higuchi Clarice Gorenstein Clarice Madruga Clarissa Severino Gama Claudia Rafful Claudia Szobot Claudio Imperatori Claudio Torres Miranda **Clayton Aguiar** Clyde Robinson Concha Iriarte Consuelo Walss-Bass Corina Beniet Cristiane Damiani Tomasi Cristiane S. Duarte Cristiano A. Köhler Cristiano Chaves Cristiano Souza Noto Cyndi S. Weickert Dan losifescu Dan Stein Daniel Carr Ribeiro Gulassa Daniel Fuentes Moreira Daniel König **Daniel Segenreich** Daniel Spritzer Daniela Benzano Bumaguin Danielle de Souza Costa Danielle S. Macêdo Danilo Assis David De Lucena David Feifel **David Gorelick David Hodgins**

Deyvis Rocha Dheeraj Rai Diana Cunha Dimitre Dimitrov Dinesh Bhugra Diogo Onofre Souza Diogo Rizzato Lara Domenico De Berardis Donald E. Grevdanus Dorota Frydecka Doug VanderLaan Douglas Boggs Douglas Mata Edmond Pi Eduard Vieta Eduardo Chachamovich Eduardo de Paula Lima Edward Barker Egberto Ribeiro Turato Eileen Pitpitan Eliane Correa Miotto Eliane Volchan Elie Hantouche Elien de Caluwé Elisa Brietzke Elisa Gutt Elisa Harumi Kozasa Elizabeth Finger **Elizabeth Ritchie** Elke Bromberg Eloisa Helena Rubello Valler Celeri Elson Asevedo Emil Coccaro Emmy Uehara Enma T. Araujo de Baptista Eoin Killackey Erasmo Casella Eric Laurent Eric Leppink Eric Smith Érico de Moura Silveira Júnior Erika Fernandez Erikson Felipe Furtado Erkki Isometsä Esther Gómez-Gil Eugenio Grevet Evan Kleiman Fabiana Pina Fabiano Alves Gomes Fabiano Nerv Fabio Bucaretchi Fabíola Custódio Flabiano-Almeida Fabíola de Sousa Braz Aquino Fabricio A. Moreira Falko Biedermann Deborah Cristina Gonçalves Luiz Fernani Farr A. Curlin Faruk Uguz Federica Pinna

Felicia Bighetti

Felipe Argolo

Felipe Corchs

Felipe Schuch Felipe Valentini Felix Angeles Felix Henrique Paim Kessler Fernanda C. Queiros Fernanda Goncalves Moreira Fernanda Lucia Capitanio Baeza Fiammetta Cosci Filiz İzci Flávia Lima Flavio Pechansky Florence Kerr Corrêa Florence Vorspan Florindo Stella Francesco Bartoli Francesco Pistelli Francisco José Batista de Albuquerque Francisco Lotufo Neto Frank Macmaster Franklin Escobar Córdoba Frederico D. Garcia Frederico Graeff Gabriel Correia Coutinho Gabriel R. Fries Gabriela Colpo Gabriela Menezes Gabriela Trentin Scortegagna Gavin P. Reynolds Geilson Lima Santana Geoffrey M. Reed Geraldo F. Busatto Gerard Sanacora Giancarlo Lucchetti Gianfranco Spalletta Gilmara Bastos Gina Andrade Abdala Gina Kuperberg Giovanni Abrahão Salum Giovanni Marcos Lovisi Giovanni Martinotti **Gisele Dias** Gisele Gus Manfro Giselli Scaini Gislaine Z. Réus Giuliana Cividanes Cividanes Giuseppe Maina Gloria Valeria da Veiga Golam Khandaker Gordana Ristevska-Dimitrovska Graccielle R. Cunha Graham Cocks Graziela Sapienza Greg Wegener Guido Norbiato Guilherme Menezes Lage Guilherme V. Polanczyk Gustavo Jesus Gustavo Kinrys

Hamer Palhares Harold G Koenia Hasan Belli

David Hsu

David Kollar

David Ledgerwood

David M. Blass

David McFadden

David Rosenberg

Deborah Burgard

Deborah Pearson

Deborah Maia

David O'Shaughnessy

Debora Marques Miranda

Denise Oliveira Monteiro

Denise Ruschel Bandeira

Denise Conceição Mesquita Dantas

Heinz-Martin Suess Helen Blair Simpson Helena Abelaira Helena Brentani Helena Maria Tannhauser Barros Helena Moura Helian Nunes Hélio Elkis Helio Rocha Heloisa Helena Alves Brasil Hermano Tavares Hewdy Lobo Homero Vallada Hook Sun Hudson Golino Hudson W. de Carvalho Hugo Cogo-Moreira Humberto Correa Hwei-Hsien Chen

Ignacio Sandia Ilana Frydman Immaculada Baixauli-Fortea Ingo Wegener Ipek Percinel Iraneide Castro de Oliveira Iria Grande Iris Rawtaer Isabel A. S. Bordin Isabel Cristina Martins de Freitas Isabel L. Kampmann Isabelle Bauer Isabelle Rosso Ivan Aprahamian Ivan Figueira Ives Cavalcante Passos Izabela G. Barbosa

Jacek Durmala Jack Drescher Jaime Lin Jair Borges Barbosa Neto Jair C. Soares Jair de Jesus Mari James Lomax James Murrough Jane Iles Javier Méndez Jean Pierre Oses Jennifer Bleck Jennifer Couturier Jennifer Wisdom Jenny Barrett Jerome Yesavage Jerrold Pollok Jerson Laks Jeylan Close Jie Chen Jill P. Pell Jin-Chun Shen Joana Bücker Joana Narvaez Joana Vieira

João Paulo Fiks Joao Paulo Machado-de-Sousa Joaquim Radua Joe Firth Joe Mignogna Joel Porfírio Pinto John Andreas Ronning John D. McLennan John Krvstal John Waddington Johnson Fam Jon Elhai Jon Grant Jonas Jardim de Paula Jonas Waider Jonathan Bisson Jonathan Santo Jordi Alonso Jorge Javier Caraveo-Anduaga Jorge Martín Arévalo-Flores Jorge Umberto Béria José Alberto Del Porto José Alexandre de Souza Crippa José Antonio Baddini Martinez José Carlos Appolinario José Geraldo Lopes Ramos José Taborda Joseba Achotegui Joshua D. Miller Joshua Rosenblat Juan Carlos Godoy Jucelia Fortunato Judith Nagy Julia Kommers-Molina Juliana Fernandes Tramontina Juliana Nichterwitz Scherer Juliana Rodriguez Julie Bowker Julio Arturo Huapaya June Brown Jussi Jokinen

Joanne P. Ikeda

K. Shan

Kai Wang Kamaldeep Bhui Kamila Loureiro Karen Jansen Karin Louise Lenz Dunker Karina Genato Karina Pereira-Lima Karine Miranda Karla Angnes Karla Mathias Almeida Karmel Choi Kate Hov Katharina Domschke Katherine Loveland Keila Ceresér Keith Rasmussen Kelan Thomas Kenneth Abrams Kenneth Pargament

Kirti Saxena Kristen Mackowick Krzysztof Krysta L. J. Wang Laetitia Teixeira Lafaiete Moreira Larissa Pires de Andrade Larissa Rossen Laura Mandelli Laura Rosato Laura Stertz Laurence Kirmayer Lauro Guirlanda Leandro Fernandes Malloy-Diniz Ledo Daruy-Filho Lee Fu-I Leila Bagaiolo Leila Caroline Bianchet Lena Abreu Leonardo Baldaçara Leonardo C. Souza Letícia Czepielewski Leticia Lima Oliveira Leticia Moreira Fontes Levent Sevincok Lexma Magalis Guerra Ruiz Ligia Balzan Li-Hong Li Li-Li Zheng Lilia Albores-Gallo Lilian Costallat Lilian Salvo Linda Carpenter Linda Dodds Lisa Nogueira Veiga Nunes Liselotte Dyrbye Lisieux Elaine de Borba Telles Livia Lopes Oliveira Lízie Emanuelle E. Brasileiro Lorraine Collins Lotte H. J. M. Lemmens Louis Jacob Louise McCullough Lucas Araújo de Azeredo Lucas de Castro Quarantini Lucas Franca Garcia Lucas Primo Lucas Rizzo Lucas Spanemberg Lúcia Arisaka Paes Lúcia da Silva Porto Lucia Mariel Tume-Jara Lucia Romo Luciane Nascimento Cruz Lucianne Valdivia Luciano Dias de Mattos Souza Luis Anunciação Luis Augusto Rohde Luís Aureliano Imbiriba Luís Fernando Tófoli Luis Gutiérrez-Rojas

Kiara Timpano

2017 reviewers

Luísa Klaus Pilz

Luiz Augusto Brites Villano M. Ihsan Kaadan Madalena Pizzaia Madhavi Reddy Maicon Rodrigues Albuquerque Maju Mathew Koola Manoel Antônio dos Santos Måns Rosén Mara L. Cordeiro Marc Potenza Marc Woodbury Smith Marcele Carvalho Marcella Assis Marcelle Barrueco Costa Marcelo Feiió Mello Marcelo Pio de Almeida Fleck Marcelo Ribeiro Marcelo Santos Cruz Marcelo Turkienicz Berlim Marcelo Victor Marcio Leyser Marco Battaglia Marco Caldieraro Marco Solmi Marcos Antonio da Silva Cristovam Marcos Hortes N. Chagas Marcos Ribeiro Margareth da Silva Oliveira Maria Angélica Nunes Maria Antonia Serra Pinheiro Maria Aparecida Bicalho Maria Carmen Viana Maria Conceição do Rosário Campos Maria Cristina Lima e Silva Maria Cristina Rossetti Maria da Glória Portugal Maria De Los Angeles Rodriguez-Gazquez Maria Inês Quintana Maria Paz Loayza Hidalgo Maria Reinares Maria Tavares Cavalcanti Mariana Calzavara Mariana da Luz Mariana Pedrini Uebel Mariana Pupo Mariane Lopez Molina Mariano Del Sol Marilia Mariano Marina Bittencourt Bandeira Mario Beauregard Mário César Rezende Andrade Mario F. Peres Mario Valdivia Maristela Monteiro Mariusz Wiglusz Mark Griffiths Mark Opp Mark Shen Markus Wohr Marle Alvarenga Marta Figueiredo Pedro

Martijn Arns Martin Kafka Mateus Luz Levandowski Matthew Delisi Mauricio Hoffmann Maurizio Bifulco Maurizio Pompili Mauro V. Mendlowicz Meg Fluhartv Megan McIlwain Melissa Kimber Michael Berk Michael Compton Michael Kabar Michele Fornaro Michele Scortegagna de Almeida Miguel Roberto Jorge Miquel Verdugo Milena Pereira Pondé Milene Rachid Milton Wainberg Milton Weinstein Min Zhao Mirtes Garcia Pereira Moacvr Alexandro Rosa Monica Berger-González Monica Levy Andersen Mustafa Koc Myrna Weissman

N. Kasitan Nádia Maria Ribeiro Salomão Nancy Barnett Nancy Petry Naomi Marmostein Naotaka Shinfuku Napoleon Waszkiewicz Narahyana Araujo Natália Kapczinski Natalia M. Dias Nelson Hauck Filho Neusa Sica da Rocha Newton Canteras Nexhmedin Morina Nicholas Bott Nick Wisdom Nicola G. Cascella Nikolaos Daskalakis Norbert Müller Norberto Cysne Coimbra Norma Possa Marroni Norman Schmidt Nuran Ercal

Olga Garcia Falceto Olivia May Dean Osborne F. X. Almeida Osvaldo Almeida

Panita Limpawattana Paola Matiko Martins Okuda Pao-Yen Lin Patricia Bado Patrick Rademaker Burke Paul M. G. Emmelkamp Paula A. Martins Paula Hervnkopf Sukop Paula Ramalho da Silva Paulo Boggio Paulo Dalgalarrondo Paulo Jannuzzi Cunha Paulo Knapp Paulo Mattos Paulo Rossi Menezes Paulo Silva Belmonte De Abreu Pawan Maurva Pedro Beniumea-Pino Pedro Dominaues Goi Pedro Gobira Pedro Morgado Pedro Shiozawa Pedro Vieira da Silva Magalhães Peter Ajiboye Peter Fenwick Peter Norton Philip B. Ward Philip Johnson Ping-Tao Tseng Preethi Premkumar Priscila Dib Goncalves Qingjun Huang Quirino Cordeiro Rachel Rabin Rachel Yehuda Rafael Bernardon Ribeiro Rafael Gomes Karam Rafael Moreno Ferro Araújo Rafaela Carolini de Oliveira Távora Raffael Massuda Rajiv P. Sharma Ramon Landin-Romero Raphael Cerqueira Raquel Brandini De Boni Ratko Radakovic Raul Caetano Raza Naqvi **Rebeca Robles** Rebecca A. Charlton Renata de Lima Velloso Renata Marciano Renato Cardoso **Renato Filev** Renee Testa **RH Heeres Ricardo Abrantes Amaral** Ricardo Azevedo Ricardo Franco de Lima Ricardo Halpern Ricardo Nitrini Ricardo Oliveira Souza Ricardo Tavares Pinheiro **Richard Epstein Richard Krueger**

Patricia Gruner

Richard S. E. Keefe Robert Althoff Robert Carlson Robert F. Lebert Robert Krueger Robert Robinson Roberta Benitez Freitas Passos Roberto Miguel Roberto Miotto Roberto Verdugo Rochele Fonseca Rocio Martin-Santos Rodrigo Barbachan Mansur Rodrigo de Novaes Lima Rodrigo Grassi-Oliveira Rodrigo Machado-Vieira Rodrigo Nicolato Rogerio Panizzutti Rogger Flores Ceccon Rohan Puthran Ron Rapee Ronald C. Kessler Ronald R. O'Donnell Ronald T. Brown Rosana Cipolotti Rosane Lowenthal Roumen Kirov Rovce Lee Rubens Wajnsztejn Rupert Conrad Ryan Jacoby

Sabrina Helena Bandini Ribeiro Sabrina Stefanello Sakari Lemola Sally Marlow Salvador Bianco Samantha L. Bernecker Samantha Siqueira Silva Samia Joca Samira S. Valvassori Samuel Chamberlain Sandra Petresco Sara Poletti Sarah Berg Saulo Tractenberg Sebastian Walther Selin Aktan Guloksuz Serafim Carvalho Serge Beaulieu Seraio Andreoli Sérgio Eduardo Silva de Oliveira Sergio Fonseca Sergio Luís Blav Sérgio Nicastri Sheila Borges Sheila C. Caetano Siegfried Kasper Sílvia Brasiliano Silvia Malheiros

Silvia Orejarena Silvia Perini Silviane Pinheiro Campos de Andrade Simone Hauck Sinan Guloksuz Sisira Sarma Skye Stephens Solange Aparecida Nappo Sonia Loureiro Sonia Tucci Stacey Sigmon Stefan Ursu Stefano Paolucci Stephan Arndt Stephane Bouchard Stephanie Baggio Stephanie Lange Stephen Haynes Stephen P. Becker Stephen Salton Steven LaRowe Susan McElroy Susanna Banti Suzana Alves de Moraes Sytse Zuidema Tadeu Lemos Taiane de Azevedo Cardoso Takeshi Terao Táki Athanássios Cordas Talita Dias da Silva Tammv Chung Tania Bitancourt Tara Donker Tatiana Araújo Bertulino da Silva Tatiana de Castro Amato Tatiana Mova Tatiane Cristina Ribeiro Tavfun Turan Telmo Mota Ronzani Terri Messman-Moore Terry Bennett Teruyuki Matsuoka Thaíse Campos Mondin Thallyssa Raguel Soares Alves Theo Marins Thiago Botter-Maio Rocha Thiago Fidalgo Thiago Freire Thiago Pianca Thomas M. Achenbach Thomas Meyer

Thomas Pyszczynski

Tiago Neuenfeld Munhoz

Thomas Sobanski

Timothy Salthouse

Todd M. Darlington

Tiago Bortolini

Tomas Baader

Titia Beek

Tony George Trevor Young Tsutomu Takahashi

Ulrich Stangier Ulrike Lueken Ulrike Schmidt Umberto Albert Ute Lewitzka

Vagner Rogério dos Santos Valdinev Gouveia Valentina Lorenzetti Valerio Brunetti Valeska Marinho Vallo Volke Valter Cordeiro Barbosa Fillho Vanessa de Albuquerque Cítero Vanessa Gnielka Vauto Alves Mendes Filho Veralice Meireles Sales de Bruin Veronica LaSalle-Ricci Victor Blüml Vilma Liaugaudaite Virginia Diewert Virginio Salvi Vitor Geraldi Haase Vitor Pereira Vitor Soares Tardelli Vivian Ellinger Viviane de Castro Pecanha

Wagner Machado Walmir Teodoro Sant'Anna Walter Araújo Zin Wei Hao William Berger William Daniels William Perry Wilson Marques Junior Won-Myong Bahk

Xiangyang Zhang

Y. C. Janardhan Reddy Y. Chou Yarira Araque Ygor Arzeno Ferrão Yoco Mano Yonathan Alviarez Yoram Barak

Zacaria Ramadam Zahra Goodarzi Zeynep Baykan Zhi-Jun Zhang Zila van der Meer Sanchez Dutenhefner Zofia Rogóz Zsolt Demetrovics



Instructions for Authors

Last updated February 2018

Aims and editorial policy

Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria (Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry) is a quarterly publication that aims to publish original manuscripts in all areas of psychiatry, including public health, clinical epidemiology, basic science, and mental health problems. The journal is fully open access, and there are no publication fees. Articles must be written in English.

These instructions were written based on the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals: Writing and Editing for Biomedical Publications, edited by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE). The original document is available at http://www.icmje.org/.

Submitting your manuscript

The first time you use the manuscript submission site of *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria* (*Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*) at https://mc04.manuscriptcentral.com/rbpscielo, you will be asked to create an account. You will use the same username and password for author and reviewer functions. You may log into the system at any time to submit a manuscript or to check on the status of previously submitted manuscripts. To submit a manuscript, select Author and click on Begin Submission.

The manuscript submission process includes 7 steps that gather information about your manuscript and allow you to upload the pertinent files (cover letter, manuscript text, tables, figures, and related material).

Step 1: Manuscript type, title and abstract

First choose the type of manuscript you wish to submit. You may choose between Original Article, Brief Communication, Review Article, Special Article, Editorial or Letter to the Editors. Manuscripts must be written in English. The table below shows the maximum number of words, references and tables/figures for each manuscript type.

- **Original articles:** These should describe fully, but as concisely as possible, the results of original research, containing all the relevant information for those who wish to reproduce the research or assess the results and conclusions.
- **Review articles:** These should be systematic reviews and should include critical assessments of literature and data sources, critically reviewing and evaluating existing knowledge on a designated topic, in addition to commenting on studies by other authors. The search strategy and selection process should be described in detail, according to PRISMA or other appropriate guidelines.
- Brief communications: Original but shorter manuscripts addressing topics of interest in the field of psychiatry, with preliminary results or results of immediate relevance.
- **Special articles:** Special articles address specific current topics relevant to clinical practice and are less comprehensive than review articles. These should be non-systematic reviews and should include critical assessments of literature and data sources, critically reviewing and evaluating existing knowledge on a designated topic, in addition to commenting on studies by other authors.
- Letters to the Editor: Letters can contain reports of unusual cases, comments on relevant scientific topics, critiques of editorial policy, or opinions on the contents of the journal (maximum of four authors).
- Editorials: Critical and in-depth commentary invited by the Editors or written by a person with known expertise in the topic.

Title: You can copy and paste this from your manuscript, but do not delete the title from the manuscript file. Make sure there are no line breaks in the title. Titles should be concise (max. 50 words), specific, and informative. Avoid using abbreviations.

Abstract: You can copy and paste this from your manuscript, but do not delete the abstract from the manuscript file. If

Manuscript type	Main text words	Abstract words	References	Tables + figures
Original Articles	5000	Structured, 200	40	6
Review Articles	6000	Structured, 200	Unlimited	6
Brief Communications	1500	Structured, 200	15	2
Special Articles	6000	Unstructured, 200	Unlimited	6
Letters to the Editor	500	No abstract	5	1
Editorials	900	No abstract	5	1

submitting a structured abstract, add a line space between each section.

Step 2: Attributes

You will be asked to list 1 to 5 keywords that describe the main topics of your manuscript. Please use MeSH terms only.

Step 3: Authors & Institutions

List all authors by full name: First Name (Given) and Last Name (Family or Surname). You will also be asked to indicate authors' institutions and a valid e-mail address for each author. Note that all communications concerning manuscript submissions and authorship forms are done through email. Please also inform an ORCID account whenever possible. Review author list and confirm authorship order.

Postal/mail address and telephone number for the corresponding author should be included only in the title page (see below).

Step 4: Reviewers

You will be asked to indicate 5 potential reviewers for your manuscript. These should be researchers who have a publication record, clinical or research experience in the topic of your manuscript. Inform first and last name, e-mail address and institution. Suggested reviewers should not be from the same institution or research group from authors. Also, we advise against indicating collaborators from previous publications among suggested reviewers. Editors will consider your suggestions at their discretion. If you wish, you may also oppose specific reviewers for your manuscript.

Step 5: Details & Comments

Write a cover letter to the Editors explaining the nature of your article and why the authors believe the manuscript should be published by *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria* (*Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*). Make sure to mention whether the authors have published or submitted any related papers from the same study elsewhere. You may choose to upload a file or write the cover letter in the designated box.

In this step, you will also be required to inform the following:

- Funding: When applicable, disclose information regarding funding agency and grant/award number.
- Number of words and references
- Conflict of Interest: Each author's conflicts of interest and financial disclosures, including declarations of no financial interest, must be included in this form. If the manuscript is accepted for publication, authors will be required to sign an Author Agreement form, which will be mailed directly to the corresponding author.

Step 6: File upload

Click the Browse button to view a directory of your computer. Navigate to where your files are stored. Submit the manuscript file (Article File) preferably in Word format. Your manuscript will be converted to a PDF during the submission process. Do not include line numbers as these will be added to your manuscript during the PDF conversion process.

Step 7: Review & Submit

Carefully review each step of your submission. The system will point with a red "X" whether there are any incomplete parts. Once you are ready, click on "View Medline Proof" to view the individual and/or merged PDFs created. You will be asked to review and approve the PDF of your article files to ensure that you are satisfied with how your manuscript is displayed for editors and reviewers. Confirm that your manuscript information is complete and correct any errors. When you are satisfied that the submission is complete, click the Submit button. We will not begin the editorial review process until this final step is completed.

Manuscript preparation

Title page: Page 1 should contain full title, authors' names, their departments and institutions, including the city and country of origin. Please also include a running title with a maximum of 50 characters (letters and spaces). The full name, telephone number, fax number, e-mail address and full postal address of the corresponding author should be stated.

Abstract: Page 2 should present a structured abstract (not exceeding 200 words) with the following sections: Objective, Methods, Results, and Conclusion (check table with abstract requirements for each manuscript type, above). Please indicate three to five keywords in strict accordance with *Medical Subject Headings*. Do not include an abstract in Portuguese or any language other than English. If applicable, inform the clinical trial registration number at the end of the abstract (see below).

Clinical Trial Registration: *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria* (*Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*) supports the clinical trial registration policies of the World Health Organization (WHO) and the ICMJE, recognizing the importance of such initiatives for the registration and disclosure of trial results to the international community through open access. According to this recommendation and to the BIREME/OPAS/OMS guidelines for journals indexed in the LILACS and SciELO databases, *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria (Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*) will only accept for publication clinical trials that have been registered in Clinical Trials Registries that meet the WHO and ICMJE requirements (URLs available at http://www.ensaiosclinicos.gov.br/).

Main text: The manuscript file (main text) must be written in English, double-spaced throughout, and should contain the following items in this order: *title page, abstract, manuscript text, acknowledgment section, references, figure legends,* and *tables.* Use 10-, 11-, or 12-point font size. All terms or abbreviations should be spelled out at first mention in the text and also in table/figure legends. All units should be metric. Avoid Roman numerals.

Instructions for Authors

Reference list: Authors are responsible for the accuracy and completeness of their references and for correct in-text citation. Number references in the order they appear in the text; do not alphabetize. In text, tables, and legends, identify references with superscript Arabic numerals. References cited only in tables or figure legends should be numbered in accordance with the first citation of the table/figure in the text.

Please observe the style of the examples below. To include manuscripts accepted, but not published, inform the abbreviated title of the journal followed by "Forthcoming" and the expected year of publication. Papers published electronically, but not yet in print, should be identified by their DOI number. Information from manuscripts not yet accepted should be cited only in the text as personal communication. Reference accuracy is the responsibility of the authors. Journal titles should be abbreviated in accordance with Index Medicus.

Examples:

 Journal article: Coelho FM, Pinheiro RT, Silva RA, Quevedo LA, Souza LD, Castelli RD, et al. Major depressive disorder during teenage pregnancy: socio-demographic, obstetric and psychosocial correlates. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2013;35:51-6.

List all authors when six or fewer. When there are seven or more, list only the first six authors and add "et al.".

- <u>Book</u>: Gabbard GO. Gabbard's treatment of psychiatric disorders. 4th ed. Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2007.
- <u>Book chapter:</u> Kennedy SH, Rizvi SJ, Giacobbe P. The nature and treatment of therapy-resistant depression. In: Cryan JF, Leonard BE, editors. Depression: from psychopathology to pharmacotherapy. Basel: Karger; 2010. p. 243-53.
- <u>Theses and dissertations</u>: Trigeiro A. Central nervous system corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) systems contribute to increased anxiety-like behavior during opioid withdrawal: an analysis of neuroanatomical substrates [dissertation]. San Diego: University of California; 2011.

Tables: Tables should be submitted preferably in Word format, but Excel files are also accepted. If using Excel, do not place tables on individual spreadsheets within the same file because only the first sheet will be converted. Whenever possible, tables should be appended to the end of the manuscript text file (after any figure legends) instead of being uploaded as separate files. All figures/tables should clarify/ complement rather than repeat the text; their number should be kept to a minimum. All illustrations should be submitted on separate pages, following the order in which they appear in the text and numbered consecutively using Arabic numerals. All tables and figures should include descriptive legends, and abbreviations should be defined. Any tables or figures extracted from previously published works should be accompanied by written permission for reproduction from the current copyright holder at the time of submission.

Figures: Acceptable figure file formats are AI, BMP, DOC, EMF, EPS, JPG, PDF, PPT, PSD, TIF, WMF, and XLS. Figures can be included in the manuscript, but preferably should be

uploaded as separate files. If your manuscript is accepted, you may be asked to provide high-resolution, uncompressed TIFF files.

Online-only supplementary material: Online-only material should be submitted in a single Word document with pages numbered consecutively. Each element included in the online-only material should be cited in the text of the main manuscript (e.g., Table S1 available as online-only supplementary material) and numbered in order of citation in the text (eg, Table S1, Table S2, Figure S1, Figure S2, Supplementary Methods). The first page of the online-only document should list the number and title of each element included in the document.

If you need additional help, you can click on the help signs (2) that appear throughout the system. A help dialogue box will pop up with context-sensitive help. If you have questions or problems with your submission, please contact the editorial office by email at editorial @ abpbrasil.org.br.

Checking Manuscript Status

After you approve your manuscript, you are finished with the submission process. To check the status of your manuscript throughout the editorial review process:

- 1. Log into the system with your username and password.
- 2. Select the Author Dashboard on your Home Page.
- 3. Select Submitted Manuscripts or another category and check manuscript status.

Review Process

The manuscript submission and editorial review process is as follows:

- 1. An author submits a manuscript.
- 2. The manuscript is verified by the editorial office and assigned to an editor.
- 3. The editor reviews the manuscript and makes an initial decision based on manuscript quality and editorial priorities, usually either to send the manuscript to peer reviewers or to reject the manuscript at that point so that the author can submit it to another journal. The selection of manuscripts for publication is based on their originality, relevance of the topic, methodological quality, and compliance with these instructions.
- 4. All manuscripts considered for publication are peerreviewed by anonymous external referees. For those manuscripts sent to peer reviewers, the editor makes a decision based on editorial priorities, manuscript quality, reviewer recommendations, and perhaps discussion with fellow editors. At this point, the decision is usually to request a revised manuscript, reject the manuscript, or provisionally accept the manuscript.
- 5. The decision letter is sent to the author.

If you cannot submit online for any reason or have other questions about manuscript submission, please contact the editorial office at editorial@abpbrasil.org.br.

Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria





ISSN 1516-4446

Official Journal of the Brazilian Psychiatric Association Volume 40 | Number 1 | January-March 2018

Contents

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

- Mood disorder, anxiety, and suicide risk among subjects with alcohol abuse and/or dependence: a population-based study Carolina D.Wiener, Fernanda P. Moreira, Alethea Zago, Luciano M. Souza, Jeronimo C. Branco, Jacqueline F. de Oliveira, Ricardo A. da Silva, Luis V. Portela, Diogo R. Lara, Karen Jansen, Jean P. Oses
 Bipolar disorders: is there an influence of seasonality or photoperiod? Andrea Aguglia, Antonio Borsotti, Giuseppe Maina
- 12 **Analysis of suicide mortality in Brazil: spatial distribution and socioeconomic context** Ana P. Dantas, Ulicélia N. de Azevedo, Aryelly D. Nunes, Ana E. Amador, Marilane V. Marques, Isabelle R. Barbosa
- 19 **Telomere length and hTERT in mania and subsequent remission** Rugül Köse Çinar
- 26 Effectiveness evaluation of mood disorder treatment algorithms in Brazilian public healthcare patients Ana F. Lima, Sandro R. Miguel, Mírian Cohen, Jacques J. Zimmermann, Flávio M. Shansis, Luciane N. Cruz, Patrícia K. Ziegelmann, Carisi A. Polanczyk, Marcelo P. Fleck
- 35 Schizophrenia and work: aspects related to job acquisition in a follow-up study Larissa C. Martini, Jair B. Barbosa Neto, Beatriz Petreche, Ana O. Fonseca, Fernanda V. dos Santos, Lílian Magalhães, Alessandra G. Marques, Camila Soares, Quirino Cordeiro, Ulicélia Attux, Rodrigo A. Bressan
- 41 Indirect self-destructiveness in individuals with schizophrenia Konstantinos Tsirigotis
- 48 Prevalence, clinical correlates and maternal psychopathology of deliberate self-harm in children and early adolescents: results from a large community study
 André R. Simioni, Pedro M. Pan, Ary Gadelha, Gisele G. Manfro, Jair J. Mari, Eurípedes C. Miguel, Luis A. Rohde, Giovanni A. Salum
- Correlations between caregiver psychiatric symptoms and offspring psychopathology in a low-resource setting
 Camila T. Matsuzaka, Milton L. Wainberg, Andrea Norcini Pala, Elis V. Hoffmann, Bruno M. Coimbra, Rosaly F. Braga, Cristiane S. Duarte, Annika C. Sweetland, Marcelo F. Mello
- 63 **Maternal recognition of child mental health problems in two Brazilian cities** Isabel A. Bordin, Bartira M. Curto, Joseph Murray
- 72 **Dysfunctional eating behaviors, anxiety, and depression in Italian boys and girls: the role of mass media** Barbara Barcaccia, Viviana Balestrini, Angelo M. Saliani, Roberto Baiocco, Francesco Mancini, Barry H. Schneider

Contents

- 78 **Empathic skills and theory of mind in female adolescents with conduct disorder** Olber E. Arango Tobón, Antonio Olivera-La Rosa, Viviana Restrepo Tamayo, Isabel C. Puerta Lopera
- Further evidence of psychological factors underlying choice of elective cesarean delivery (ECD) by primigravidae
 Nasrin Matinnia, Mohammad Haghighi, Leila Jahangard, Faisal B. Ibrahim, Hejar A. Rahman, Ali Ghaleiha, Edith Holsboer-Trachsler, Serge Brand
- 89 **Predictors of length of stay in an acute psychiatric inpatient facility in a general hospital: a prospective study** Fernanda L. Baeza, Neusa S. da Rocha, Marcelo P. Fleck
- 97 Clinical improvement in patients with borderline personality disorder after treatment with repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: preliminary results
 Julian Reyes-López, Josefina Ricardo-Garcell, Gabriela Armas-Castañeda, María García-Anaya,
 Iván Arango-De Montis, Jorge J. González-Olvera, Francisco Pellicer

SPECIAL ARTICLE

105 **Depression and psychodynamic psychotherapy** Ângela Ribeiro, João P. Ribeiro, Orlando von Doellinger

LETTERS TO THE EDITORS

- 110 **Maintenance use of ketamine for treatment-resistant depression: an open-label pilot study** Ivan Barenboim, Beny Lafer
- 110 Skin picking disorder comorbid with ADHD successfully treated with methylphenidate Camila Bernardes, Paulo Mattos, Bruno Palazzo Nazar
- 112 **Is the regulation of Z-drugs in Brazil in line with scientific research and international standards?** Víviam Vargas de Barros, Emérita Sátiro Opaleye, Ana Regina Noto
- 113 **Zika virus infection and psychosis** Beuy Joob, Viroj Wiwanitkit

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Mood disorder, anxiety, and suicide risk among subjects with alcohol abuse and/or dependence: a population-based study

Carolina D. Wiener,^{1,2} Fernanda P. Moreira,¹ Alethea Zago,¹ Luciano M. Souza,¹ Jeronimo C. Branco,^{1,3} Jacqueline F. de Oliveira,¹ Ricardo A. da Silva,¹ Luis V. Portela,⁴ Diogo R. Lara,⁵ Karen Jansen,¹ Jean P. Oses^{1,6}

¹Programa de Pós-Graduação em Saúde e Comportamento, Centro de Ciências da Vida e da Saúde, Universidade Católica de Pelotas (UCPel), Pelotas, RS, Brazil. ²Programa de Pós-Graduação em Epidemiologia, Universidade Federal de Pelotas (UFPel), Pelotas, RS, Brazil. ³Centro Universitário Franciscano (UNIFRA), Santa Maria, RS, Brazil. ⁴Laboratório de Neurotrauma, Departamento de Bioquímica Instituto de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ⁵Laboratório de Neuroquímica e Psicofarmacologia, Departamento de Biologia Celular e Molecular Faculdade de Biociência, Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul (PUCRS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ⁶Tecnologia Aplicada às Neurociências, Mestrado em Engenharia Eletrônica e Computação, UCPel, Pelotas, RS, Brazil.

Objective: To evaluate the prevalence of alcohol abuse and/or dependence in a population-based sample of young adults and assess the prevalence of comorbid mood disorders, anxiety, and suicide risk in this population.

Methods: This cross-sectional, population-based study enrolled 1,953 young adults aged 18-35 years. The CAGE questionnaire was used to screen for alcohol abuse and/or dependence, with CAGE scores ≥ 2 considered positive. Psychiatric disorders were investigated through the structured Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI).

Results: Alcohol abuse and/or dependence was identified in 187 (9.60%) individuals (5.10% among women and 15.20% among men). Alcohol abuse and/or dependence were more prevalent among men than women, as well as among those who used tobacco, illicit drugs or presented with anxiety disorder, mood disorder, and suicide risk.

Conclusion: These findings suggest that alcohol abuse and/or dependence are consistently associated with a higher prevalence of psychiatric comorbidities, could be considered important predictors of other psychiatric disorders, and deserve greater public heath attention, pointing to the need for alcohol abuse prevention programs.

Keywords: Alcohol abuse and/or dependence; anxiety; mood disorder; depression; suicide risk

Introduction

Alcohol consumption is highly prevalent worldwide and has numerous negative consequences for health and quality of life, especially in the young population.¹ Alcohol use disorders (AUDs) are among the most frequently diagnosed disorders, with a 12-month prevalence rate of 8.5%.² In the United States alone, according to the 2013 National Survey on Drug Use and Health, 37.9% of young adults reported binge drinking (four or more drinks for women and five or more drinks for men on an occasion) at least once in the past 30 days.³ Moreover, studies have shown a higher prevalence of cigarette smoking or drug

abuse among subjects who engage in heavy or frequent binge drinking.³⁻⁵

AUDs are highly comorbid with mood and anxiety disorders in adults and are associated with substantial societal and personal costs. In a study conducted by Grant et al., among adults seeking treatment for an AUD, 40.69% and 33.3% were diagnosed with at least one current comorbid mood disorder and anxiety disorder, respectively.⁶ The diagnosis of current mood or anxiety disorders among individuals with AUD is challenging, because many symptoms of intoxication, for example, resemble those of mood and anxiety disorders.⁷

In addition to mood disorders and anxiety, other serious problems that can develop in people with AUDs include violent behavior and suicide attempts.⁸ Alcoholics are 60 to 120 times more likely to attempt suicide compared to the general population.⁹ Furthermore, studies demonstrate that 85 out of every 100 individuals who complete suicide had comorbid depression and/or alcoholism.¹⁰ Individuals with AUDs should be evaluated for the risk of suicide whenever they present with depressive symptoms,¹¹

Correspondence: Jean Pierre Oses, Laboratório de Neurociências Clínicas, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Saúde e Comportamento, Centro de Ciências da Vida e da Saúde, Universidade Católica de Pelotas, Rua Gonçalves Chaves, 373, sala 324, prédio C, CEP 96015-560, Centro, Pelotas, RS, Brazil. E-mail: jean.pierre.oses@gmail.com

Submitted Nov 21 2016, accepted Feb 11 2017, Epub Jun 22 2017.

since proper treatment can achieve remission of depressive symptoms, reduce the odds of relapse, and mitigate suicide risk.

Within this context, the aim of this study is to evaluate the prevalence of alcohol abuse and/or dependence in a population-based sample of young adults and ascertain the prevalence of co-occurring mood disorders, anxiety, and suicide risk in the same population.

Methods

This is a cross-sectional population-based study that identified young adults between 18 and 35 years of age. The sample consisted of 1,953 participants living in the city of Pelotas, state of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. Sample selection was performed by clusters, from June 2011 to October 2012, considering a population of 97,000 in the age range of interest in the 448 sectors of the city according to the latest census. To ensure the necessary sample size, 86 census-based sectors were systematically drawn.

Individuals were included in the sample after receiving information about the objectives of the study and providing written informed consent for participation. Those who were unable to understand and/or respond to the instruments, due to physical or cognitive reasons, were excluded from the study. This study was approved by the Universidade Católica de Pelotas (UCPel) ethics committee (protocol no. 15/2010).

Sociodemographic information was collected through a questionnaire. Economic status was assessed with the National Wealth Score, which considers ownership of material goods and educational attainment of the head of the household.¹² For anthropometric assessment, height was measured using a stadiometer, and weight, with a Tanita[®] BC-554 bioimpedance body composition monitor. The body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (in kg) divided by height (in m) squared, as recommended by WHO. Participants were stratified into two groups, normal-weight or obese/overweight, considering a BMI cutoff of 25. The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ),¹³ version 8.0, was used to evaluate engagement in leisure-time physical activities. Participants who reported over 150 minutes of weekly physical activity were considered active.

To evaluate alcohol abuse and/or dependence, the participants completed the CAGE questionnaire, which asks about the four consequences of drinking and is a validated screening test for alcohol abuse and dependence.¹⁴ Briefly, patients score 1 point for each "yes" on the CAGE questionnaire and 0 points if all questions are answered "no." A score of 2 or higher (CAGE \ge 2) is usually considered to be a positive screen for moderate-to-severe alcohol abuse and/or dependence.¹⁴ The participants also answered about use of tobacco and illicit substances (marijuana, cocaine, and crack).

To screen for psychiatric disorders, trained psychologists administered the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview 5.0 (MINI), according to DSM-IV criteria.^{15,16} All individuals with current depression and bipolar disorder were included in the mood disorder group. All anxiety disorders covered by the MINI were included: social phobia, posttraumatic stress disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorders, and generalized anxiety disorder. The suicidality section inquires about several components of suicide risk with the following questions: "Over the last month: 1) Have you wished you were dead?" (Score: 1 point); 2) "Have you wanted to harm yourself?" (2 points); 3) "Have you thought of committing suicide?" (6 points); 4) "Have you planned how to commit suicide?" (10 points); 5) "Have you attempted suicide?" (10 points), and 6) "Have you ever attempted suicide?" (4 points). Risk of suicide was classified as low (score 1-5), moderate (score 6-9), and high (10 or higher). For analysis, scores were dichotomized as no suicide risk (low or absent risk) or suicide risk (moderate or high risk), as recommended by the MINI authors.¹⁵ Respondents were questioned about the current presence of chronic diseases, which included systemic arterial hypertension, diabetes mellitus, heart disease. lung disease, cancer, renal disease, and thyroid dysfunction.

In this study, the following independent variables were considered: sex, ethnicity, age, marital status, employment, income, education level, obesity, and physical activity; suicide risk, tobacco use, illicit drug use, anxiety disorder, mood disorder, and chronic disease were included as comorbidities. The outcome was alcohol abuse and/or dependence.

Statistical analyses were performed in SPSS version 22.0 and Stata version 13.0. Initially, data were described as absolute and relative frequencies. The *t* and chi-square tests were used for comparisons as appropriate. Poisson regression was used for multivariate analysis. Confounders were defined as variables associated with alcohol abuse and/or dependence at a significance level of 20% or less. Association was considered significant at 5%.

Results

The sample comprised 1,953 individuals with a mean (SD) age of 25.78 (5.21) years. Table 1 describes the sample according to sociodemographic characteristics, life habits, and morbidity. The majority of subjects were female (54.9%) and white (75.9%). In terms of habits, 21.7% reported tobacco use and only 26.5% were classified as physically active. Regarding comorbidities, 7.5% reported the use of other illicit drugs, 10.6% had a chronic disease, 27% had anxiety disorder, 4.7% had mood disorder and 13% reported suicide risk.

Alcohol abuse and/or dependence was identified in 187 (9.60%) individuals overall (5.10% of women and 15.20% of men) (Table 2). In Table 2 the results of the crude analysis are presented, as well as the adjusted results for alcohol abuse and/or dependence and confounders variables (p < 0.020) in this study. In the crude analysis, the factors that were statistically significant for alcohol abuse and/or dependence were: sex (p < 0.001), ethnicity (p = 0.035), education level (p = 0.015), tobacco use (p < 0.001), illicit drugs use (p < 0.001), anxiety disorder (p < 0.001), mood disorder (p < 0.001) and suicide risk (p < 0.001).

Table 2 also shows the results of analysis adjusted for alcohol abuse and/or dependence. Alcohol abuse and/or

Table 1	Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the
sample	

Variables	Sample distribution
Sex, female	1,073 (54.90)
Age, mean (SD)	25.78 (5.21)
Ethnicity (self-reported)	
White	1,483 (75.90)
Income*	
Low	648 (33.30)
Middle	655 (33.70)
High	641 (33.00)
Education level	
Years of schooling, mean (SD)	11.45 (3.46)
Marital status	
Single	1,186 (60.80)
Married/cohabiting	720 (36.90)
Separated/divorced	46 (2.40)
Currently working	1,158 (59.30)
Physically active	518 (26.50)
Alcohol abuse/dependence (outcome	187 (9.60)
variable)	
Obesity	860 (44.00)
Current comorbidities	
Tobacco use	421 (21.70)
Illicit drug use	146 (7.50)
Chronic disease, any	207 (10.60)
Anxiety disorder	527 (27.00)
Mood disorder	349 (17.90)
Suicide risk	253 (13.00)
Total	1,953 (100.00)

Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise specified.

SD = standard deviation.

 \ast Income was classified in sample terciles, according to the National Wealth Score. 12

dependence remained more prevalent among men than women (prevalence ratio [PR] 2.97; 95%CI 2.17-4.06; p < 0.001), as well as among those who used tobacco (PR 1.76, 95%CI 1.31-2.37; p < 0.001) and illicit drugs (PR 1.72, 95%CI 1.22-2.43; p = 0.002). In terms of comorbidities, alcohol abuse and/or dependence were also more prevalent among those with anxiety disorder (PR 1.66, 95%CI 1.25-2.20; p < 0.001), mood disorder (PR 2.13, 95%CI 1.46-3.11; p < 0.001), and suicide risk (PR 1.52, 95%CI 1.08-2.16; p = 0.016).

Discussion

The present study evaluated the prevalence of alcohol abuse and/or dependence and associated factors in young adults. We found that 9.6% of individuals in our sample had alcohol abuse and/or dependence, which is consistent with previous studies.^{6,17} Moreover, in our study, alcohol abuse and/or dependence were associated with male gender, tobacco use, and illicit drug use, and was often comorbid with anxiety disorders, mood disorder, and risk of suicide.

Several studies have discussed the relationship between AUD and gender, in which males are more likely than females to engage in binge drinking, and therefore, to have AUDs.^{18,19} A study performed in 2013 involving 6,478 subjects found that alcohol abuse and/or dependence were more prevalent among males (22.0%) than females (9.8%).¹⁹ In our study, AUDs were also more prevalent among males: the prevalence of alcohol abuse and/or dependence among men was three times higher than in women.

Alcohol consumption is socially acceptable and, in most cases, is the gateway to consumption of and addiction to other drugs (tobacco, marijuana, cocaine, etc.) In our sample, the prevalence of alcohol abuse and/or dependence among illicit drug users and tobacco users was higher than among those with no illicit drug or tobacco use. Our results are consistent with previous studies that have found higher prevalence of smoking and illicit drug use among individuals who consume too much alcohol.^{20,21}

Alcohol abuse can have negative effects on mental health, in that it is frequently comorbid with mood disorders; in fact, this comorbidity can be a cyclic process.^{6,21-23} According to Watts, most individuals with mood disorders abuse alcohol in search of pleasure and disinhibition or to reduce emotional, behavioral, and cognitive symptoms of depression.²⁴ However, the state of intoxication induced by alcohol abuse can increase impulsivity and promote thoughts and feelings of hopelessness and sadness, thus worsening mood disorder symptoms.²⁴ In a recent review, Pompili et al. found that mood disorders are frequently precursors of alcohol abuse, but alcoholism may also trigger or exacerbate mood disorders.¹⁰ In our study, mood disorders were associated with alcohol abuse and/or dependence. However, we could not infer a causal relationship between these disorders. Likewise, we found a high prevalence of anxiety among individuals with alcohol abuse and/or dependence. It is important to note that having a comorbid diagnosis of anxiety or elevated sensitivity of anxiety has been associated with increased alcohol use severity, decreased likelihood to seek treatment, and higher rates of AUD treatment dropout.²⁵⁻²⁷

Furthermore, alcohol abuse can increase the risk of suicide.⁸ A meta-analysis conducted recently by Darvishi et al. found evidence that AUD significantly increases the risk of suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, and completed suicide. The authors report that suicidal ideation and suicide attempt are two and three times more frequent in alcohol abusers than in the general population. Thus, AUD was considered an important predictor of suicide.⁸ In our study, we also observed that the suicide risk was twofold among individuals with alcohol abuse and/or dependence (PR of alcohol abuse and/or dependence: 2.12 among those with suicide risk versus those with no suicide risk).

Some limitations must be acknowledged. First, we did not evaluate the frequency or quantity of intake in current or former alcohol abusers. Second, due to the study design, causality cannot be inferred. On the other hand, strengths of our study include the population-based design, which provides sample representativeness.

In conclusion, our study suggests that alcohol abuse and/or dependence are consistently associated with a higher prevalence of mood disorders, anxiety, and suicide risk. The comorbidity between alcohol abuse and psychiatric disorders warrants greater attention in public health and points to an unmet need for alcohol abuse prevention programs.

Table 2 Factors associated with alcohol abuse among young adults, Pelotas, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2011-2012					
Variables	Alcohol abuse/dependencence (%)	Crude PR (95%CI)	Adjusted PR (95%CI)		
Sex		p < 0.001	p < 0.001		
Female Male	54 (5.10) 133 (15.20)	3.00 (2.21-4.07)	- 2.97 (2.17-4.06)		
Age, years		p = 0.957			
18-23	66 (8.70)	1.02 (0.71-1.46)			
24-29	72 (11.60)	1.36 (0.96-1.92)			
	46 (8.50)	- 0.005	- 0.100		
White	130 (8 80)	p = 0.035	p = 0.183		
Nonwhite	57 (12.30)	1.39 (1.03-1.86)	1.21 (0.91-1.61)		
Income*		p = 0.800			
Low	64 (10.00)	1.02 (0.73-1.42)			
Middle	58 (9.00)	0.91 (0.65-1.29)			
High	63 (9.80)	-			
Education level	115 (0.50)	p = 0.015	p = 0.899		
incomplete secondary school	115 (8.50)	-	-		
Secondary school or college diploma	72 (12.20)	1.42 (1.08-1.88)	1.01 (0.76-1.35)		
Marital status		p = 0.090	p = 0.239		
Single/divorced	128 (10.50)	1.30 (0.95-1.77)	1.19 (0.88-1.61)		
Married/cohabiting	59 (8.30)	-	-		
Currently working	66 (9 20)	p = 0.159	p = 0.438		
Yes	121 (10.50)	- 1.23 (0.92-1.64)	- 1.11 (0.84-1.46)		
Current tobacco use		p < 0.001	p < 0.001		
No	116 (7.60)	-			
Yes	71 (38.00)	2.20 (1.67-2.90)	1.76 (1.31-2.37)		
Current illicit drug use	150 (8.40)	p < 0.001 -	p = 0.002		
Yes	37 (19.80)	3.03 (2.20-4.16)	1.72 (1.22-2.43)		
Current physical activity		p = 0.074	p = 0.399		
No	126 (8.90)	-	-		
Yes	60 (11.60)	1.30 (0.97-1.73)	1.14 (0.83-1.55)		
Obesity No	90 (9.80)	p = 0.719			
Yes	88 (10.30)	0.95 (0.71-1.25)			
Current chronic disease		p = 0.096	p = 0.283		
No	174 (10.00)	1.58 (0.96-2.74)	1.34 (0.78-2.33)		
Yes	13 (6.30)	-	-		
Current anxiety disorder	113 (8 00)	p < 0.001	p < 0.001		
Yes	74 (14.20)	1.78 (1.35-2.34)	1.66 (1.25-2.20)		
Current mood disorder		p < 0.001	p < 0.001		
No	130 (8.10)	-	· -		
	57 (25.00)	2.91 (1.99-4.27)	2.13 (1.40-3.11)		
No	142 (8.40)	p < 0.001	p = 0.016		
Yes	45 (17.90)	2.12 (1.55-2.88)	1.52 (1.08-2.16)		
Total	187 (9.60)	-	-		

95%CI = 95% confidence interval; PR = prevalence ratio.

* Income was classified in sample terciles, according to the National Wealth Score.¹²

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the research team from Programa de Pós-Graduação em Saúde e Comportamento at Universidade Católica de Pelotas (UCPel) for their cooperation and Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul (FAPERGS) for funding provided.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1 Wang ZY, Miki T, Lee KY, Yokoyama T, Kusaka T, Sumitani K, et al. Short-term exposure to ethanol causes a differential response between nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor ligand/receptor systems in the mouse cerebellum. Neuroscience. 2010;165:485-91.
- 2 Grant BF, Stinson FS, Dawson DA, Chou SP, Dufour MC, Compton W, et al. Prevalence and co-occurrence of substance use disorders and independent mood and anxiety disorders: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2004;61:807-16.
- 3 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). Results from the 2013 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings [Internet]. 2013. [cited 2017 Mar 13]. samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUHresultsPDFWHTML2013/Web/ NSDUHresults2013.pdf.
- 4 Harrison EL, McKee SA. Non-daily smoking predicts hazardous drinking and alcohol use disorders in young adults in a longitudinal U.S. sample. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2011;118:78-82.
- 5 Gubner NR, Kozar-Konieczna A, Szoltysek-Boldys I, Slodczyk-Mankowska E, Goniewicz J, Sobczak A, et al. Cessation of alcohol consumption decreases rate of nicotine metabolism in male alcoholdependent smokers. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2016;163:157-64.
- 6 Grant BF, Stinson FS, Dawson DA, Chou SP, Ruan WJ, Pickering RP. Co-occurrence of 12-month alcohol and drug use disorders and personality disorders in the United States: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2004;61:361-8.
- 7 Crum RM, La Flair L, Storr CL, Green KM, Stuart EA, Alvanzo AA, et al. Reports of drinking to self-medicate anxiety symptoms: longitudinal assessment for subgroups of individuals with alcohol dependence. Depress Anxiety. 2013;30:174-83.
- 8 Darvishi N, Farhadi M, Haghtalab T, Poorolajal J. Alcohol-related risk of suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, and completed suicide: a metaanalysis. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0126870.
- 9 Sher L, Cooper TB, Mann JJ, Oquendo MA. Modified dexamethasone suppression-corticotropin-releasing hormone stimulation test: a pilot study of young healthy volunteers and implications for alcoholism research in adolescents and young adults. Int J Adolesc Med Health. 2006;18:133-7.
- 10 Pompili M, Serafini G, Innamorati M, Serra G, Forte A, Lester D, et al. White matter hyperintensities, suicide risk and late-onset affective disorders: an overview of the current literature. Clin Ter. 2010;161: 555-63.
- 11 Cornelius JR, Clark DB, Salloum IM, Bukstein OG, Kelly TM. Interventions in suicidal alcoholics. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2004;28: 89S-96S.
- 12 Barros AJ, Victora CG. [A nationwide wealth score based on the 2000 Brazilian demographic census]. Rev Saude Publica. 2005;39:523-9.

5

- 13 Matsudo SM, Araújo TL, Matsudo VKR, Andrade DR, Andrade EL, Oliveira LC, et al. Questionário Internacional de Atividade Física (IPAQ): estudo de validade e reprodutibilidade no Brasil. Rev Bras Ativ Saude. 2001;10:5-18.
- 14 Buchsbaum DG, Buchanan RG, Welsh J, Centor RM, Schnoll SH. Screening for drinking disorders in the elderly using the CAGE questionnaire. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1992;40:662-5.
- 15 Sheehan DV, Sheehan KH, Shytle RD, Janavs J, Bannon Y, Rogers JE, et al. Reliability and validity of the mini international neuropsychiatric interview for children and adolescents (MINI-KID). J Clin Psychiatry. 2010;71:313-26.
- 16 Amorim P, Lecrubier Y, Weiller E, Hergueta T, Sheehan D. DSM-IH-R psychotic disorders: procedural validity of the mini international neuropsychiatric interview (MINI). Concordance and causes for discordance with the CIDI. Eur Psychiatry. 1998;13:26-34.
- 17 Lhullier AC, Moreira FP, da Silva RA, Marques MB, Bittencourt G, Pinheiro RT, et al. Increased serum neurotrophin levels related to alcohol use disorder in a young population sample. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2015;39:30-3.
- 18 Welman T, Wong JM, Le Vay R, Kader P. Librium for bed 1, a bottle of scotch for bed 2. BMJ Case Rep. 2014 Mar 11;2014. doi: 10.1136/ bcr-2013-202809.
- 19 Cheng HG, McBride O. A prospective evaluation of disability associated with alcohol use disorders in the United States: an application of the quantile regression approach. Am J Addict. 2013; 22:551-7.
- 20 Li K, Simons-Morton B, Gee B, Hingson R. Marijuana-, alcohol-, and drug-impaired driving among emerging adults: changes from high school to one-year post-high school. J Safety Res. 2016;58:15-20.
- 21 Archie S, Zangeneh Kazemi A, Akhtar-Danesh N. Concurrent binge drinking and depression among Canadian youth: prevalence, patterns, and suicidality. Alcohol. 2012;46:165-72.
- 22 Bellos S, Skapinakis P, Rai D, Zitko P, Araya R, Lewis G, et al. Crosscultural patterns of the association between varying levels of alcohol consumption and the common mental disorders of depression and anxiety: secondary analysis of the WHO collaborative study on psychological problems in general health care. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2013;133:825-31.
- 23 Timko C, Sutkowi A, Pavao J, Kimerling R. Women's childhood and adult adverse experiences, mental health, and binge drinking: the California women's health survey. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy. 2008;3:15.
- 24 Watts M. Understanding the coexistence of alcohol misuse and depression. Br J Nurs. 2008;17:696-9.
- 25 Buckner JD, Timpano KR, Zvolensky MJ, Sachs-Ericsson N, Schmidt NB. Implications of comorbid alcohol dependence among individuals with social anxiety disorder. Depress Anxiety. 2008;25:1028-37.
- 26 Gillihan SJ, Farris SG, Foa EB. The effect of anxiety sensitivity on alcohol consumption among individuals with comorbid alcohol dependence and posttraumatic stress disorder. Psychol Addict Behav. 2011;25:721-6.
- 27 Schneier FR, Foose TE, Hasin DS, Heimberg RG, Liu SM, Grant BF, et al. Social anxiety disorder and alcohol use disorder co-morbidity in the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditionss. Psychol Med. 2010;40:977-88.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Bipolar disorders: is there an influence of seasonality or photoperiod?

Andrea Aguglia, Antonio Borsotti, Giuseppe Maina

Dipartimento di Neuroscienze Rita Levi Montalcini, Ospedale San Luigi Gonzaga, Università degli Studi di Torino, Orbassano, Turin, Italy.

Objective: To increase understanding of the influence of photoperiod variation in patients with bipolar disorders.

Methods: We followed a sample of Italian bipolar patients over a period of 24 months, focusing on inpatients. All patients admitted to the Psychiatric Inpatient Unit of San Luigi Gonzaga Hospital in Orbassano (Turin, Italy) between September 1, 2013 and August 31, 2015 were recruited. Socio-demographic and clinical data were collected.

Results: Seven hundred and thirty patients were included. The admission rate for bipolar patients was significantly higher during May, June and July, when there was maximum sunlight exposure, although no seasonal pattern was found. Patients with (hypo)manic episodes were admitted more frequently during the spring and during longer photoperiods than those with major depressive episodes. **Conclusions:** Photoperiod is a key element in bipolar disorder, not only as an environmental factor but also as an important clinical parameter that should be considered during treatment.

Keywords: Bipolar disorder; seasonality; photoperiod; sunlight

Introduction

It is well known that climatic variations affect human behavior, and over the last decade a number of researchers have thoroughly studied the influence of environmental factors on the onset and course of major psychiatric disorders, as well as on their treatment and prognosis.¹

The main focus of these studies has been circadian rhythm, since a strong correlation has been observed between seasonal variation and impaired adaptation. Circadian rhythms are, above all, variations in physiological and behavioral processes, temperature, hormone secretion, food intake, sleep, and mood^{2,3} and are closely related to chronotype preference. Chronotype, or morningness-eveningness, is an individual's preferred period of activity,⁴ reflecting a circadian or ultradian propensity for alertness or somnolence. Three different chronotypes have been identified: morning, evening and neither (indifferent).⁵ These rhythms are generated by endogenous processes and are regulated by external stimuli, such as daylight, in a 24-hour interval.

Numerous studies agree that bipolar patients display biological clock abnormalities, which lead to circadian rhythm alterations, impaired adaptation to environmental stimuli, and an unstable and hypersensitive mood.^{1,6,7} These features not only present serious clinical implications, such as an higher suicide rates and lower response to treatment, but also imply the presence of a seasonal pattern.⁸

Bipolar disorder has long been suspected to involve sensitivity to the effects of seasons and climate, especially luminosity. Seasonality and sunlight exposure have been demonstrated to play a role in the onset of affective recurrences in bipolar patients and could be considered core symptoms of bipolar disorder.⁹ Specifically, patients with (hypo)manic episodes have higher rates of hospitalization during spring and summer, when sunlight exposure (i.e., the photoperiod) is longer,¹⁰⁻¹⁴ while patients with major depressive episodes are mainly admitted during the winter.^{10,15-17}

Photoperiod is defined as the number of hours of daylight, which can influence an individual's physiology and metabolic cycles. Ideal photoperiods are approximately 14 hours in summer and 8 to 9 hours in winter. Studies have highlighted how sunlight exposure, which varies by season and latitude, has a positive correlation with peak admission rates for (hypo)manic and major depressive episodes. Amr & Volpe conducted a study comparing bipolar and schizophrenic patients in terms of monthly hospitalization rates: the authors reported that sunlight exposure had no influence on schizophrenic patients, whereas different admission patterns were observed for affective recurrences (manic or depressive episode) in bipolar patients.¹⁰

More recent studies, however, suggest that the seasonal variation in sunlight exposure is insufficient to explain circadian rhythm disruption and that other climatic variables, such as ultraviolet exposure levels, temperature, snow, rain, and light exposure during early life should be taken into consideration.¹⁸⁻²¹

Thus, the aim of our study was to increase understanding about the influence of photoperiod variation by following a sample of Italian bipolar patients over a period of 24 months, focusing on inpatients.

Methods

Sample

All patients consecutively admitted to the Psychiatric Inpatient Unit of San Luigi Gonzaga Hospital in Orbassano

Correspondence: Andrea Aguglia, Regione Gonzole 10, 10043, Orbassano, Turin, Italy.

E-mail: andrea.aguglia@unito.it

Submitted Oct 24 2016, accepted Jan 25 2017, Epub Jun 12 2017.

(University of Turin), Italy, over a 24-month period (September 1, 2013 until August 31, 2015) were included. All of these patients were from northwest Italy. To avoid the inclusion of patients who were readmitted during the same episode, hospitalizations occurring less than 8 weeks after a previous admission were not considered.

In Italy, the type of psychiatric admission is based on the subject's clinical conditions and is regulated by a mental health law passed in 1980: involuntary treatment occurs when a patient refuses treatment and immediate non-hospital treatment cannot be considered under the circumstances. For this reason, the sample included patients both voluntarily and involuntarily admitted. During hospitalization, the status of an inpatient can shift from involuntary to voluntary, and after 7 days a reassessment is required to maintain involuntary hospitalization status.²²

After the study's aim and procedures had been thoroughly explained to them, recruited patients expressed their willingness to participate by signing a written consent form. The study design was reviewed by the local Ethics Committee.

Assessment

Psychiatric diagnoses were made in accordance with the DSM-5²³ at discharge. All diagnoses were made by clinicians with at least 5 years of postgraduate clinical experience and were carefully reviewed by a senior psychiatrist.

Sociodemographic characteristics were collected in a semi-structured interview and consisted of the patient's gender, age, education level, and marital and employment status, while the clinical characteristics included age of onset, total length of voluntary and involuntary hospitalization, diagnoses, current suicide ideation and/or attempts, month and season of admission to the psychiatric ward (autumn was defined as September 21st to December 20th, winter as December 21st to March 20th, spring as March 21st to June 20th, and summer as June 21st to September 20th). The hospitalization periods were classified according to sunlight exposure: spring-summer (s-s) (highest solar intensity) and autumn-winter (a-w) (lowest solar intensity).

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL); statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

The subjects' sociodemographic and clinical characteristics were represented as mean and standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables and as frequency and percentage for categorical variables.

The total sample was divided in two groups, one of patients with bipolar disorder, the other of patients with any other diagnosis.

Since the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, which determines whether parametric or non-parametric tests are required, indicated normal sample distribution, intergroup differences were analyzed using the Pearson chi-square test with Yates correction for categorical variables, while the *t*-test for independent samples was used for continuous variables. Comparative analyses of the number of admissions were adjusted for age and gender.

Results

total sample

During the 24-month study period, 730 patients were included, with a mean age of 43.4 ± 13.9 years. Of this total, 311 subjects (42.6%) were female; slightly more than half of the patients (55.6%) were single, and 33.6% were employed.

Regarding clinical characteristics, the mean age of onset was 28.5 ± 13.3 years, while the mean duration of hospitalization was 11.4 ± 8.9 days. A total of 112 (15.3%) patients were involuntarily admitted.

The longitudinal diagnoses were distributed as follows: 251 (34.4%) patients had bipolar or related disorders, 192 (26.3%) had schizophrenia, 134 (18.3%) had depressive disorders and 153 (21.0%) had other diagnoses, such as personality or substance-related disorders.

Further details about the clinical and sociodemographic characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

As previously mentioned, the sample was divided into two subgroups: patients with bipolar disorder (n=251, 34.4%), and patients with other diagnoses (n=479, 65.6%). When these two groups were compared, as shown in Table 2,

Table 1 Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the

total bampio	
	Total sample (n=730)
Gender (female)	311 (42.6)
Age (years), mean \pm SD	43.42±13.91
Education level Elementary school Middle school High school Higher education	67 (9.2) 352 (48.2) 257 (35.2) 54 (7.4)
Marital status Single Married Divorced Widowed	406 (55.6) 190 (26.0) 106 (14.5) 28 (3.9)
Employment status: currently employed	245 (33.6)
Age at onset (years), mean \pm SD	28.47±13.30
Suicide Ideation Attempt	122 (16.7) 77 (10.5)
Admission Involuntary Voluntary	112 (15.3) 618 (84.7)
Duration of hospitalization, mean $\pm~\text{SD}$	11.42±8.91
Diagnosis Bipolar and related disorders Schizophrenia and related disorders Depressive disorders Others	251 (34.4) 192 (26.3) 134 (18.3) 153 (21.0)

Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise specified.

SD = standard deviation.

8

	Bipolar disorder (n=251)	Other diagnoses (n=479)	t/χ²	df	p-value
Gender (female)	124 (49.4)	187 (39.0)	7.23	1	0.007
Age (years), mean \pm SD	46.11±12.57	42.01±14.37	-3.82	728	< 0.001
Education level					
Elementary	14 (5.6)	53 (11.1)	25.46	3	< 0.001
Middle school	102 (40.6)	250 (52.2)			
High school	105 (41.8)	152 (31.7)			
Higher education	30 (12.0)	24 (5.0)			
Marital status					
Single	113 (45.0)	293 (61.2)	17.96	3	< 0.001
Married	79 (31.5)	111 (23.2)			
Divorced	48 (19.1)	58 (12.1)			
Widowed	11 (4.4)	17 (3.5)			
Employment status: currently employed	98 (39.0)	147 (30.7)	5.16	1	0.023
Age at onset (years), mean \pm SD	28.76±11.89	28.32±13.99	-0.42	728	0.676
Suicide					
Ideation	44 (17.5)	78 (16.3)	0.18	1	0.668
Attempt	31 (12.4)	46 (9.6)	1.32	1	0.251
Admission					
Involuntary	57 (22 7)	55 (11 5)	15 98	1	< 0.001
Voluntary	194 (77.3)	424 (88.5)		•	. 0.001
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			0.05
Duration of hospitalization (days), mean \pm SD	14.72±8.65	9.68±8.56	-7.52	728	< 0.001

Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise specified.

df = degrees of freedom; SD = standard deviation.



Figure 1 Inpatient admission rates by month: comparison between bipolar and other mental disorders.

patients with bipolar disorder included more females (49.4 vs. 39.0%, p = 0.007) and had a significantly higher mean age (46.1 \pm 12.6 vs. 42.0 \pm 14.4 years, p < 0.001). Additionally, patients with bipolar disorder had a higher education level (41.8 vs. 31.7%, p < 0.001) and were more likely to be employed (39.0 vs. 30.7%, p = 0.023) and married (31.5 vs. 23.2%, p < 0.001).

Regarding the clinical characteristics, the bipolar group was admitted involuntarily more frequently (22.7 vs. 11.5%, p < 0.001) and for significantly longer durations (14.7 \pm 8.6 vs. 9.7 \pm 8.6 days, p < 0.001). No significant diferences were found with respect to suicide ideation and/or attempts.

Figure 1 shows the monthly admission prevalence according to longitudinal diagnosis. The hospitalization of bipolar patients showed significant peaks during the months with more sunlight: the greatest differences with the mixed control group were in May (8.0 vs. 5.8%), June (12.7 vs. 5.6%), and July (10.4 vs. 6.3%).

No significant differences were found for seasonality, despite the slightly higher admission prevalence in spring for patients with bipolar disorder, as shown in Table 3. However, patients with bipolar disorder reported a significantly higher prevalence of (hypo)manic episodes during spring-summer (i.e., the greatest period of solar intensity) than the mixed control group (51.4 vs. 42.4%, p = 0.020).

	Bipolar disorder (n=251)	Other diagnoses (n=479)	t/χ²	df	p-value
Season	67 (06 7)	00 (00 7)	E 74	0	0.105
Summer	62 (24.7)	104 (21.7)	5.74	3	0.125
Autumn	61 (24.3)	139 (29.0)			
Winter	61 (24.3)	137 (28.6)			
Photoperiod					
Spring-summer	129 (51.4)	203 (42.4)	5.40	1	0.020
Autumn-winter	122 (48.6)	276 (57.6)			
	Manic episode (n=140)	MDE (n=111)			
Season					
Spring	46 (32.8)	21 (18.9)	7.73	1	0.049
Summer	36 (25.7)	26 (23.4)			
Autumn Winter	28 (20.0)	33 (29.7) 31 (27.9)			
Winter	00 (21.4)	01 (27.0)			
Photoperiod Spring-summer Autumn-winter	82 (58.5) 58 (41.5)	47 (42.3) 64 (57.7)	6.27	1	0.012

Table 3 Number of admissions divided by season and photoperiod

Data presented as n (%).

df = degrees of freedom; MDE = major depressive episode.

When the analyses were restricted to the bipolar group, patients undergoing a (hypo)manic episode were more frequently hospitalized during spring (32.8 vs. 18.9%, p = 0.049) and during longer daylight periods (58.5 vs. 42.3%, p = 0.012) than those undergoing a major depressive episode.

Analyses adjusted for age and gender confirmed these findings.

Discussion

The primary aim of our study was to increase understanding about the influence of photoperiod variation by following a sample of Italian bipolar patients over a period of 24 months, focusing on inpatients.

The first difference that should be highlighted was gender: bipolar patients were more frequently female than patients in the mixed control group. This result agrees with a recent epidemiological study²⁴ and is likely due to a strong link between the female reproductive hormonal axis and regulatory mechanisms of sunlight sensitivity.¹⁷

Second, a difference in mean age was found. Although substance intoxication usually involves adolescent patients, the greater age observed for the bipolar group could be attributed to the peculiar course of the disorder, with long free intervals and a progressive worsening of the symptoms after every affective recurrence; thus, treatment is often delayed. During the first (hypo)manic and/or major depressive episode, for example, patients with bipolar disorder usually do not feel the need to be treated. Moreover, bipolar patients usually achieve better social and work functioning than patients with other diagnoses (such as schizophrenia, personality disorder or substance abuse g

disorder), which is corroborated by the overall higher education level and prevalence of married and working subjects.²⁵⁻²⁷

Regarding suicide attempts in the bipolar group, our results were similar to international averages, which range from 11 to 19%.²⁸⁻³⁰ However, we found no significant difference between bipolar patients and those with other diagnoses, in contrast with the literature.^{30,31} This might be explained by the different suicide risk rates of the psychiatric disorders included in the mixed control group.

Finally, higher involuntarily admission rates were observed for bipolar patients. This also agrees with the international data, which indicates that bipolar disorder is one of the main causes of involuntary admission.^{10,15,32}

The focus of our study, however, was on analyzing admission rates during different months and seasons among the two subgroups. Seasonality has been defined as "a driving force that has a major effect on the spatio-temporal dynamics of natural systems and their populations."³³ The fact that our results showed a slightly higher prevalence in admission rates during autumn and winter months could be explained by two factors: on the one hand, a slightly higher rate of admission in autumn-winter for unipolar major depression (17.2 vs. 19.3%) and for schizophrenic and other psychoses (23.8 vs. 28.4%) and, on the other hand, the greater length of admissions for manic episodes during spring-summer, which reduced hospital bed turnover and, consequently, the number of admissions in these months.

Numerous studies have indicated that sunlight intensity is positively correlated with the number of mania admissions and negatively correlated with bipolar depression admissions.^{8,14,21} Considering monthly admission rates, our results agreed with the international literature: the most interesting finding was the peak of admissions during May, June and July for patients with bipolar disorder. This result underscores the higher probability of admission during the pronounced photoperiod change between spring and summer, which agrees with numerous recent studies confirming a strong seasonal pattern in bipolar disorder.^{9-16,21,34-37}

This finding, in light the DSM-5's focus on seasonal pattern in bipolar disorder, prompted the following question: is seasonality really the most incisive clinical parameter for assessing the onset of bipolar disorder, or is it, rather, greater exposure to sunlight?

The answer is both, if we consider the current affective recurrence in bipolar disorder, namely subdividing the bipolar group into (hypo)manic and major depressive episodes. Our study showed that (hypo)manic episodes were significantly more sensitive to photoperiod variation, since admissions peaked during maximum sunlight exposure (i.e., spring-summer). When we assessed the effect of seasonality (admission rates by single season), the results showed that patients with (hypo)manic episodes were admitted more frequently in spring than bipolar patients with depressive recurrences.

This result agrees with recent reviews^{9,38} and clinical trials.^{8,14,21} Manic episodes peak during spring/summer and, to a lesser extent, in the autumn, depending on climatic variations, whereas depressive episodes peak

during early winter and, to a lesser extent, in summer, with mixed episodes peaking in early spring or mid/late summer.⁹ Furthermore, Yang et al. conducted a population-based study showing that young adults presented a higher degree of seasonality in acute admissions than middle-aged adults, and the polarity of a patient's admission index predicted the seasonality of relapse admissions.¹⁶ Symptom dimensions, such as psychosis, suicidality/aggression, or sex differences follow seasonal variations and are also influenced by climatic conditions.⁹ Finally, a recent study conducted on 148 bipolar I patients found that a seasonal pattern of manic episode admissions was associated with male gender and psychotic features.¹³

However, when we compared the bipolar group with the mixed-diagnosis control group, we found no differences in seasonality, which was probably due to the counterbalancing effect of depressive recurrences in bipolar disorder, whose admissions particularly increased in autumn.

We could conclude that if bipolar disorder is considered as single affective recurrences, it shows both seasonality and photoperiodic patterns. When we consider the diagnosis of bipolar disorder as a whole, the significant clinical variable for the onset of an affective episode is not seasonal pattern but, rather, greater sunlight exposure, which has also been shown in recent reviews^{9,36} and clinical trials.^{14,21,37}

In a clinical study assessing climatic variables and admissions for mania, Volpe et al., concluded that the most frequent association is with luminosity: higher temperatures were only significantly involved in regions where the hottest months coincide with the more day-light.³⁹ So, it is important to point out that exposure to sunlight could be considered a useful and significant clinical parameter for evaluating the course of the illness and affective recurrences in patients with bipolar disorder rather than seasonality.

Furthermore, there is emerging evidence that seasonal effects may vary with latitude, varying more strongly in the northern hemisphere than in the southern hemisphere.⁴⁰ Therefore, photoperiod length has a primary mood-altering role: its variation during different seasons leads to biorhythm adaptation in humans and animals. The photoperiod reaches its maximum extension during summer and its minimum during winter; this environmental pattern reveals biological and clinical implications for human beings, since the light stimulus is received by the retina and transformed into an electrical signal that interacts with the suprachiasmatic nucleus of the hypothalamus (SCN), known as the main endogenous pacemaker. The SCN regulates the activity of many organs, the pineal gland above all, in order to modify biorhythms to better fit seasonal variations.^{41,42} Bipolar subjects present circadian-related gene mutations that compromise normal synchronization to environmental stimuli, such as sunlight, which ultimately leads to neurotransmitter dysregulation that mainly affects the noradrenergic, serotoninergic, dopaminergic and melatoninergic systems. The timing of melatonin secretion interacts with gene transcription in the pituitary pars tuberalis to modulate the production of TSH (thyrotropin), hypothalamic T3

(triiodothyronine), and tuberalin peptides, which modulate the production of regulatory gonadotropins and other hormones in the pituitary gland. Pituitary hormones largely mediate seasonal physiological and behavioral variations. Thus, altered interaction between the SCN and the rest of the body could have repercussions on every level, from metabolic, circadian and sleep-wake rhythm dysregulations (due to hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal gland axis malfunction), to altered and compromised immune response, to increased oxidative stress on a cellular level.^{1,43}

Furthermore, certain authors have indicated other climatic factors, such as humidity, day length, ultraviolet radiation and temperature, which represent a significant role in the admission of patients with bipolar disorder, particularly for (hypo)manic episodes.^{21,35}

Our study has several limitations: first, seasonal, environmental and/or psychological factors that could contribute to the onset of an acute clinical event (e.g., holidays, stressful life events, general medical condition, poor adherence to treatment, humidity, temperature, ultraviolet radiation) have not been taken into consideration and could not be ruled out as contributing factors. Second, our findings on seasonality are based on hospital admission date, rather than actual onset of the acute episode. Third, our data are limited to a single hospital, and the control group was a mixed sample of psychiatric diagnoses. Fourth, clinical variables, such as the number of previous hospitalizations, predominant polarity and a structured interview for diagnoses are lacking.

In conclusion, bipolar disorder seems to be strongly linked to compromised communication between biorhythm pathways, since these patients exhibited an increased probability of (hypo)manic episodes during maximum sunlight exposure. Infradian rhythm abnormalities, such as seasonal aspects in bipolar patients, are well documented. However, the mechanisms underlying the effects of the natural seasonal environment on bipolar symptoms remain unclear. Various aspects, such as the nature and intensity of environmental factors or the temporal relationship between symptoms and these environmental factors, need to be investigated.

Identifying patients with such susceptibilities would enable the development of personalized therapeutic strategies to prevent affective recurrences³⁸ or of chronotherapeutic interventions such as sleep deprivation, the blue-blocking regime in mania ("a virtual darkness therapy"), or interpersonal or social rhythm therapy.^{6,38}

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1 Muneer A. The neurobiology of bipolar disorder: an integrated approach. Chonnam Med J. 2016;52:18-37.
- 2 Bauer M, Glenn T, Grof P, Rasgon NL, Marsh W, Sagduyu K, et al. Relationship among latitude, climate, season and self-reported mood in bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. 2009;116:152-7.
- 3 Belvederi Murri M, Prestia D, Mondelli V, Pariante C, Patti S, Olivieri B, et al. The HPA axis in bipolar disorder: systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2016;63:327-42.

- 5 Diaz-Morales JF, Escribano C, Jankowski KS. Chronotype and timeof-day effects on mood during school day. Chronobiol Int. 2015; 32:37-42.
- 6 Melo MC, Abreu RL, Linhares Neto VB, de Bruin PF, de Bruin VM. Chronotype and circadian rhythm, in bipolar disorder: a systematic review. Sleep Med Rev; 2016 Jul 1. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2016.06.007. [Epub ahead of print].
- 7 Moreira J, Geoffroy PA. Lithium and bipolar disorder: impacts from molecular to behavioural circadian rhythms. Chronobiol Int. 2016; 33:351-73.
- 8 Parker GB, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Graham RK. Examining for any impact of climate change on the association between seasonality and hospitalization for mania. J Affect Disord. 2017;208:431-5.
- 9 Geoffroy PA, Bellivier F, Scott J, Etain B. Seasonality and bipolar disorder: a systematic review, from admission rates to seasonality of symptoms. J Affect Disord. 2014;168:210-23.
- 10 Amr M, Volpe FM. Seasonal influences on admissions for mood disorders and schizophrenia in a teaching psychiatric hospital in Egypt. J Affect Disord. 2012;137:56-60.
- 11 Akther A, Fiedorowicz JG, Zhang T, Potash JB, Cavanaugh J, Solomon DA, et al. Seasonal variation of manic and depressive symptoms in bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 2013;15:377-84.
- 12 Wang B, Chen D. Evidence for seasonal mania: a review. J Psychiatr Pract. 2013;19:301-8.
- 13 Hochman E, Valevski A, Onn R, Weizman A, Krivoy A. Seasonal pattern of manic episode admissions among bipolar I disorder patients is associated with male gender and presence of psychotic features. J Affect Disord. 2016;190:123-7.
- 14 Parker GB, Graham RK. Seasonal variations in rates of hospitalisation for mania and hypomania in psychiatric hospitals in NSW. J Affect Disord. 2016;191:289-91.
- 15 Lee HC, Tsai SY, Lin HC. Seasonal variations in bipolar disorder admissions and the association with climate: a population-based study. J Affect Disord. 2007;97:61-9.
- 16 Yang AC, Yang CH, Hong CJ, Liou YJ, Shia BC, Peng CK, et al. Effects of age, sex, index admission, and predominant polarity on the seasonality of acute admissions for bipolar disorder: a populationbased study. Chronobiol Int. 2013;30:478-85.
- 17 Dominiak M, Swiecicki L, Rybakowski J. Psychiatric hospitalizations for affective disorders in Warsaw, Poland: effect of season and intensity of sunlight. Psychiatry Res. 2015;229:287-94.
- 18 Bauer M, Glenn T, Alda M, Andreassen OA, Ardau R, Bellivier F, et al. Impact of sunlight on the age of onset of bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 2012;14:654-63.
- 19 Bauer M, Glenn T, Alda M, Andreassen OA, Angelopoulos E, Ardau R, et al. Relationship between sunlight and the age of onset of bipolar disorder: an international multisite study. J Affect Disord. 2014;167:104-11.
- 20 Bauer M, Glenn T, Alda M, Andreassen OA, Angelopoulos E, Ardau R, et al. Influence of light exposure during early life on the age of onset of bipolar disorder. J Psychiatr Res. 2015;64:1-8.
- 21 Medici CR, Vestergaard CH, Hadzi-Panlovic D, Munk-Jorgensen P, Parker G. Seasonal variation in hospital admissions for mania: examining for associations with weather variables over time. J Affect Disord. 2016;205:81-6.
- 22 Zhang S, Mellsop G, Brink J, Wang X. Involuntary admission and treatment of patients with mental disorder. Neurosci Bull. 2015;31:99-112.
- 23 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5).Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.

Bipolar disorders and photoperiod

11

- 24 Ferrari AJ, Stockings E, Khoo JP, Erskine HE, Degenhardt L, Vos T, et al. the prevalence and burden of bipolar disorder: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Bipolar Disord. 2016;18: 440-50.
- 25 Yamashita C, Mizuno M, Nemoto T, Kashima H. Social cognitive problem-solving in schizophrenia: associations with fluency and verbal memory. Psychiatry Res. 2005;134:123-9.
- 26 Zanello A, Perrig L, Huguelet P. Cognitive functions related to interpersonal problem-solving skills in schizophrenic patients compared with healthy subjects. Psychiatry Res. 2006;142:67-78.
- 27 Mueser KT, Pratt SI, Bartels SJ, Forester B, Wolfe R, Cather C. Neurocognition and social skill in older persons with schizophrenia and major mood disorders: an analysis of gender and diagnosis effects. J Neurolinguistics. 2010;23:297-317.
- 28 Abreu LN, Lafer B, Baca-Garcia E, Oquendo MA. Suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in bipolar disorder type I: an update for the clinician. Rev Bras Psiguiatr. 2009;31:271-80.
- 29 Parmentier C, Etain B, Yon L, Misson H, Mathieu F, Lajnef M, et al. Clinical and dimensional characteristics of euthymic bipolar patients with or without suicidal behavior. Eur Psychiatry. 2012;27:570-6.
- 30 Costa Lda S, Alencar AP, Nascimento Neto PJ, dos Santo Mdo S, da Silva CG, Pinheiro Sde F, et al. Risk factors for suicide in bipolar disorder: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2015;170: 237-54.
- 31 Goldstein TR, Ha W, Axelson DA, Goldstein BI, Liao F, Gill MK, et al. Predictors of prospectively examined suicide attempts among youth with bipolar disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2012;69:1113-22.
- 32 Schuepbach D, Novice D, Haro JM, Reed C, Booker H, Noda S, et al. Determinants of voluntary vs. involuntary admission in bipolar disorder and the impact of adherence. Pharmacopsychiatry. 2008; 41:29-36.
- 33 Stone L, Olinky R, Huppert A. Seasonal dynamics of recurrent epidemics. Nature. 2007;446:533-6.
- 34 Salvatore P, Ghidini S, Zita G, De Panfilis C, Lambertino S, Maggini C, et al. Circadian activity rhythm abnormalities in ill and recovered bipolar I disorder patients. Bipolar Disord. 2008;10:256-65.
- 35 Volpe FM, Tavares A, Del Porto JA. Seasonality of three dimensions of mania: psychosis, aggression and suicidality. J Affect Disord. 2008;108:95-100.
- 36 Abreu T, Bragança M. The bipolarity of light and dark: a review on bipolar disorder and circadian cycles. J Affect Disord. 2015;185: 219-29.
- 37 Rajkumar PR, Sarkar S. Seasonality of admissions for mania: results from a general hospital psychiatric unit in Pondicherry, India. Prim Care Companion CNS Disord.2015;17(3).
- 38 Young JW, Dulcis D. Investigating the mechanism(s) underlying switching between states in bipolar disorder. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015;759:151-62.
- 39 Volpe FM, da Silva EM, dos Santos TN, de Freitas DE. Further evidence of seasonality of mania in the tropics. J Affect Disord. 2010;124:178-82.
- 40 Friedman E, Gyulai L, Bhargava M, Landen M, Wisniewski S, Foris J, et al. Seasonal changes in clinical status in bipolar disorder: a prospective study in 1000 STEP-BD patients. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2006;113:510-7.
- 41 Maronde E, Stehle JH. The mammalian pineal gland: known facts, un-known facets. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2007;18:142-9.
- 42 Dibner C, Schlibler U, Albrecht U. The mammalian circadian timing system: organization and coordination of central and peripheral clocks. Ann Rev Physiol. 2010;72:517-49.
- 43 Nathan PJ, Burrows GD, Norman TR. Melatonin sensitivity to dim white light in affective disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology. 1999; 21:408-13.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Analysis of suicide mortality in Brazil: spatial distribution and socioeconomic context

Ana P. Dantas,¹ Ulicélia N. de Azevedo,² Aryelly D. Nunes,² Ana E. Amador,² Marilane V. Marques,³ Isabelle R. Barbosa⁴

¹Departamento de Medicina Clínica, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte (UFRN), Natal, RN, Brazil. ²Programa de Pós-graduação em Saúde Coletiva, UFRN, Natal, RN, Brazil. ³Secretaria Municipal de Saúde de Natal, Natal, RN, Brazil. ⁴Faculdade de Ciências da Saúde do Trairi (FACISA), UFRN, Natal, RN, Brazil.

Objective: To perform a spatial analysis of suicide mortality and its correlation with socioeconomic indicators in Brazilian municipalities.

Methods: This is an ecological study with Brazilian municipalities as a unit of analysis. Data on deaths from suicide and contextual variables were analyzed. The spatial distribution, intensity and significance of the clusters were analyzed with the global Moran index, MoranMap and local indicators of spatial association (LISA), seeking to identify patterns through geostatistical analysis.

Results: A total of 50,664 deaths from suicide were registered in Brazil between 2010 and 2014. The average suicide mortality rate in Brazil was 5.23/100,000 population. The Brazilian municipalities presenting the highest rates were Taipas do Tocantins, state of Tocantins (79.68 deaths per 100,000 population), Itaporã, state of Mato Grosso do Sul (75.15 deaths per 100,000 population), Mampituba, state of Rio Grande do Sul (52.98 deaths per 100,000 population), Paranhos, state of Mato Grosso do Sul (52.41 deaths per 100,000 population), and Monjolos, state of Minas Gerais (52.08 deaths per 100,000 population). Although weak spatial autocorrelation was observed for suicide mortality (I = 0.2608), there was a formation of clusters in the South. In the bivariate spatial and classical analysis, no correlation was observed between suicide mortality and contextual variables.

Conclusion: Suicide mortality in Brazil presents a weak spatial correlation and low or no spatial relationship with socioeconomic factors.

Keywords: Suicide; epidemiology; social and political issues; community mental health; statistics

Introduction

Suicide is the act of taking one's life in a deliberate and voluntary manner in the full knowledge of its fatal outcome.¹ Suicidal behavior ranges from the ideation of killing oneself to forming a plan and obtaining the means to execute the act; it is currently a major public health problem worldwide, causing more deaths than homicides and wars together.² Ingestion of pesticides, hanging and firearms are among the most common suicide methods.³

It is estimated that about one million people committed suicide in the year 2000, with suicide among the ten leading causes of death in all countries. One in three of these suicides was in the 15 to 35 age group.⁴ In 2012, there were approximately 800,000 deaths from suicide worldwide, representing an annual global age-standardized rate of 11.4 per 100,000 population (15.0 for males and 8.0 for females).³ In Brazil, suicide rates are low compared to most countries, ranging from 3.50 to 4.00 per 100,000 population, in contrast with its much higher homicide rates. $^{\rm 5}$

The literature indicates that suicide statistics are unevenly distributed around the world, within countries, between genders, and between age groups.

In richer countries, the suicide rate is three times higher among men, but in low- and middle-income countries, the male-to-female ratio is much lower, at 1.5 men to each woman.³ There is a discrepancy between the number of suicides and attempted suicides, with one possible explanation being the preferred methods of each gender: despite more suicide attempts, women use less efficacious methods than men.⁶

Although suicide rates are higher among young people, ranking as the second leading cause of death among 15- to 29-year-olds, a considerable increase has recently been observed among the elderly in almost every region of the world.⁵

The suicide rate is significantly higher among men than women in Brazil, with a 3.7:1 ratio in 2012. People over 60 have the highest suicide rate in Brazil: in 2012, the mortality in this group was 8.0/100,000 population. The greatest rise in mortality, however, occurred in the 25 to 59 and the 10 to 24 age groups, increasing 22.7% and 21.8, respectively, over rates from year 2000. The major causes of suicide in Brazil are hanging, firearm injury, and

Correspondence: Isabelle Ribeiro Barbosa, Faculdade de Ciências da Saúde do Trairi, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte (UFRN), Rua Vila Trairi, s/n, Centro, CEP 59200-000, Santa Cruz, RN, Brazil.

E-mail: isabelleribeiro@oi.com.br

Submitted Jan 30 2017, accepted Mar 16 2017, Epub Aug 21 2017.

deliberate self-poisoning with pesticides, which account for approximately 80% of the cases.⁷

According to official statistics, Brazil's suicide rate is far below the world's highest, which is over 16/100,000 population in France, China, Switzerland, Belgium, Austria, the United States, Eastern Europe and Japan. Its current world raking is 71st in rate and 9th in absolute number of deaths from suicide.⁸ However, even in countries with good vital registration data, suicide can often be mistakenly attributed to accidents or other causes of death. Although it is relatively easy to measure mortality in a well-organized country, including mortality from injury, diagnosing suicide involves determining intent, which makes unambiguous statistical data more difficult to obtain.⁹

To a large extent in Brazil, only the mode of death (e.g. falls or drownings) – not the intent – is recorded for deaths from external causes. Such recordkeeping practices can mask a considerable proportion of suicide cases, especially among young male adults.⁷ However, national mortality records show that the incidence of suicides among young adults, particularly males, is increasing, even considering possible underreporting.⁸

The risk of suicidal behavior is usually calculated according to sociodemographic and clinical indicators.¹⁰ There are also genetic factors, whose accuracy is still subject to speculation, though such data can be considered in light of an individual's family history.¹¹ Risks associated with community and relationships include war and disasters, acculturation stress (e.g. among indigenous or displaced people), discrimination, affective separation, isolation, abuse, violence, and conflicting relationships.³

Among the individual risk factors, mental disorders stand out as an important cause of suicide.¹² Patients with a long history of mental or physical illness are at higher risk of committing suicide. Other risk factors on an individual level include previous suicide attempts, alcohol abuse, financial loss, chronic pain, and a family history of suicide.¹³

Social, psychological, cultural, and other factors may interact to lead a person to suicidal behavior, but the stigma associated with mental disorders and suicide prevents many people from seeking help. In recent decades, and particularly since 2000, a number of suicide prevention strategies have been developed.

In 1999 the WHO launched its Suicide Prevention Program (Supre), which is a worldwide suicide prevention initiative aimed at reducing the morbidity and mortality associated with suicidal behavior.⁴ In in 2006, the Brazilian Ministry of Health inaugurated its National Strategy for Suicide Prevention, whose purpose is to reduce deaths, attempts, associated damage and impacts on families. Also in 2006, a Suicide Prevention Handbook for Mental Health Professionals was published in Brazil, whose objective is early detection of associated conditions and implementation of preventive measures.¹⁴ Short-term measures have also been proposed, such as expanding mental health service coverage and increasing social and spatial accessibility to Psychosocial Care Centers (Centros de Atenção Psicossocial - CAPS). Longterm proposals include educational initiatives promoting holistic health for individuals and communities.¹⁵ In 2009, the Brazilian Ministry of Health began its National Strategy for Suicide Prevention, whose purpose is to reduce the incidence of cases in Brazil, thus reducing the suicide death rate and the damage caused to those directly and indirectly involved.⁸

Studies on suicide in Brazil have described different scenarios and associated factors that, taken together with other results, may contribute to a better understanding of the phenomenon. Nevertheless, few studies have addressed the phenomenon's spatial behavior or its geographic relationship with extrinsic factors, data that could be applied to health services management and contribute to strategies for reducing the morbidity/mortality of the population. Considering both the importance of suicide as a cause of death in Brazil and the need to strengthen understanding of this phenomenon, this study's purpose was to evaluate the distribution of mortality from suicide in Brazilian municipalities and correlate it with socioeconomic indicators.

Methods

This is an ecological study of multiple groups, using Brazilian municipalities as a unit of analysis. The dependent variable or response was mortality from self-inflicted injuries, represented by the standardized mortality rate (SMR). Deaths occurring from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2014 were used to calculate the SMR. The number of deaths was obtained from the Mortality Information System of the Brazilian Unified Health System's IT Department (Sistema de Informação sobre Mortalidade, Departamento de Informática, Sistema Único de Saúde – SIM/ DATASUS).

Municipal population and age data were obtained from the 2010 Census and projections published on the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics website. The gross rates were standardized through the direct method, considering the total Brazilian population and expressed per 100,000 population per year.¹⁶

The independent variables were the socioeconomic indicators of the Brazilian municipalities: (V1) Municipal Human Development Index (HDI-M); (V2) dependency ratio; (V3) aging rate; (V4) illiteracy rate among those \geq 25 years of age; (V5) percentage of vulnerable poor; (V6) income ratio between the richest 10% and the poorest 40%; (V7) Gini index; (V8) unemployment rate among those \geq 18 years of age; (V9) percentage of the population living in households with a density >2. The socioeconomic indicators for the year 2010 were collected from the United Nations Development Programme's (UNDP) Atlas of Human Development in Brazil (www. atlasbrasil.org.br).

A descriptive analysis of the variables used in the study was conducted and, to evaluate of the relationship between the selected socioeconomic indicators and the suicide SMR in Brazil, Pearson's correlation and Simple Linear Regression tests were applied. SPSS version 22.0 was used for data processing and statistical analysis.

The spatial dependence analysis was performed with the global Moran index, which estimates the spatial autocorrelation on a scale of -1 to +1. After the general analysis, the presence of clusters was evaluated using local indicators of spatial association (LISA), which were then presented in BoxMap regardless of their statistical significance. To validate the global Moran index, a random permutation test with 99 permutations was employed.¹⁷

Bivariate LISA analysis was performed to evaluate the spatial correlation between the outcome variable (suicide SMR) and the independent variables. To do this, thematic maps were constructed with each pair of variables and their autocorrelation value was verified. These analyses were performed in GeoDa version 1.6.61.

Since this study used secondary data available on Brazilian Ministry of Health official websites, which does not identify individuals, it was exempt from evaluation by a research ethics committee, in accordance with Resolution 466/2012 of the National Health Council.

Results

The mean suicide mortality rate in Brazil from 2010 to 2014 was 5.23/100,000 population. The five Brazilian municipalities with the highest rates were: Taipas do Tocantins, state of Tocantins (79.68 deaths per 100,000 population); Itaporã, state of Mato Grosso do Sul (75.15 deaths per 100,000 population); Mampituba, state of Rio Grande do Sul (52.98 deaths per 100,000 population); Paranhos, state of Mato Grosso do Sul (52.41 deaths per 100,000 population); and Monjolos, state of Minas Gerais (52.08 deaths per 100,000 population).

The Midwest and the South had the highest mean suicide mortality rates. Of the socioeconomic indicators analyzed, the worst conditions were concentrated in the North and Northeast, which are characterized by low life expectancy, income inequalities, low education and low income. The most developed regions of the country, South and Southeast, were considerably different from the poorest ones (Table 1).

A weak correlation, very close to zero, was found between all independent variables and the dependent variable (Table 2).

The bivariate linear regression analysis between sociodemographic variables and suicide SMR confirmed that these variables have low explanatory power over SMR, as evident in the adjusted R² values obtained. On the other hand, in the spatial autocorrelation analysis, all sociodemographic variables had global Moran index values above 0.5, which shows a moderate to strong spatial autocorrelation distributed in clusters. The highest autocorrelation values were recorded for illiteracy rate among those ≥ 25 years of age (I = 0.87359) and percentage of vulnerable poor (I = 0.87359) (Table 3).

A pattern of spatial autocorrelation was not confirmed for suicide SMR. The global Moran index values showed a weak spatial autocorrelation (I = 0.2608) (Figure 1). Figure 1A shows that the highest municipal suidcide SMRs were in the Midwest and the South, along with a grouping in the Northeast and the North. In the mortality rate cluster analysis, shown as a MoranMap in Figure 1B,

 Table 1
 Descriptive analysis of socioeconomic indicators and suicide SMR (per 100,000 population) in Brazil and its macroregions: 2010-2014

Variables*	Geographical area								
	Brazil	North	Northeast	Midwest	Southeast	South			
suicide SMR	5.23	5.43	5.14	7.34	6.13	10.74			
V1 – HDI-M	0.727	0.607	0.590	0.689	0.698	0.714			
V2 – Dependency	45.92	63.35	57.39	47.55	47.05	45.83			
V3 – Aging	7.36	5.23	8.08	7.14	9.08	9.58			
V4 – Illiteracy	11.82	22.38	34.97	15.38	13.58	9.76			
V5 – Vulnerable poor	32.56	61.99	66.93	33.46	32.04	23.43			
V6 – Income ratio	22.78	25.35	17.13	13.66	11.20	11.01			
V7 – Gini	0.600	0.567	0.525	0.495	0.465	0.459			
V8 – Unemployment	7.29	7.36	8.30	5.52	6.00	3.09			
V9 – Density	27.83	45.13	33.06	20.78	20.45	13.83			

HDI-M = Municipal Human Development Index; SMR = standardized mortality rate.

* Mean observed values.

Table 2 Correlation between suicide SMR (per 100,000 population) and socioeconomic v	ariables in Brazil from 2010-2014
--	-----------------------------------

	SMR suicide	HDI-M	Dependency	Aging	Illiteracy	Vulnerables	Income ratio	Gini	Unemployment	Density
SMR suicide	1									
HDI-M	0.163	1								
Dependency	-0.144	-0.811	1							
Aging	0.222	0.238	-0.285	1						
Illiteracy	-0.181	-0.889	0.720	-0.134	1					
Vulnerables	-0.210	-0.936	0.832	-0.279	0.883	1				
Income ratio	0.048	-0.391	0.544	-0.308	0.330	0.455	1			
Gini	-0.113	-0.424	0.551	-0.345	0.401	0.562	0.775	1		
Unemployment	-0.260	-0.322	0.285	-0.299	0.342	0.445	0.189	0.296	1	
Density	-0.259	-0.645	0.774	-0.605	0.554	0.709	0.532	0.552	0.442	1

HDI-M = Municipal Human Development Index; SMR = standardized mortality rate.

All results were statistically significant (p < 0.001).

15

 Table 3
 Global Moran index and bivariate linear regression between socioeconomic indicators and suicide SMR (per 100,000 population) in Brazil from 2010-2014

		Bivariate and					
Variable	Coefficient	Default error	p-value	F	Adjusted R ²	Moran Index	
HDI-M	14.303	1.162	< 0.001	151.5	0.026	0.71075	
Dependency	-0.102	0.009	< 0.001	117.7	0.021	0.77160	
Aging	0.508	0.034	< 0.001	289.0	0.049	0.63707	
Illiteracy	-0.090	0.017	< 0.001	189.4	0.033	0.87359	
Vulnerables	-0.059	0.004	< 0.001	14.009	0.044	0.88896	
Income ratio	3.016	0.350	< 0.001	74.2	0.013	0.44526	
Gini	-10.84	1.27	< 0.001	72.3	0.013	0.46629	
Unemployment	-0.449	0.022	< 0.001	402.6	0.067	0.51899	
Density	-0.126	0.006	< 0.001	400.4	0.067	0.85111	

HDI-M = Municipal Human Development Index.



Figure 1 Analysis of suicide mortality in Brazil. A) Spatial distribution of suicide SMR in Brazilian municipalities; B) Spatial distribution of clusters of suicide SMRs with statistically significant local indicators of spatial association (LISA) (MoranMap), Brazil, 2010-2014.

a cluster of high mortality rates was identified in the South.

In the bivariate spatial analysis, the LISA/Moran's I value of all variables was close to zero, which indicates no spatial autocorrelation between the socioeconomic variables and suicide SMR (Figure 2). Even without spatial autocorrelation, cluster formations were observed in the distribution pattern of these variables. Outstanding among these cluster results was the formation of high mortality rate clusters with the variables dependency ratio, HDI-M, and aging rate, all in the South. Conversely, in the Northeast, SMR clusters were formed with the variables illiteracy, vulnerabe poor and Gini.

Discussion

Although this study on the spatial distribution of suicide mortality in Brazil found high mortality cluster formations in the South, there were neither significant spatial autocorrelation values nor associations with the analyzed socioeconomic factors.

Results that corroborate the findings of the present study were observed in a study on the spatial and socioeconomic determinants of suicide in Brazil between 1998 and 2002. This exploratory analysis found a strong global spatial association for mean suicide rate, with the Moran index values indicating a positive spatial autocorrelation that included cluster formation in the South and Midwest, where the two highest mortality rates in the country are found.¹⁸

However, it should be noted that in recent years different regional suicide mortality trends have been observed, especially in the Northeast and the North. Machado & Santos found that between 2000 and 2012, suicide mortality increased by 37.2% in the North, from 3.8 to 5.3 per 100,000 population. The Northeast, however, had the highest increase in suicide rate during the same period,



Figure 2 Bivariate local indicators of spatial association (LISA)/Moran's I between suicide SMR and socioeconomic variables in Brazilian municipalities, 2010-2014. A) Municipal Human Development Index (HDI-M); B) dependency ratio; C) aging rate; D) illiteracy rate; E) vulnerable poor; F) Gini index; G) population in households with density >2; H) income ratio between the richest 10% and the poorest 40%; I) unemployment rate.

rising 72.4% (from 3.0 in 2000 to 5.2 in 2012).¹⁹ This is reinforced by the Map of Violence in Brazil (2014), which shows that suicide has been progressively increasing in the country: the rate rose 2.7% between 1980 and 1989, another 18.8% by 1999, and a further 33.3% by 2012.²⁰

These data were corroborated in a study by Mota that mapped suicide in Brazil.¹⁵ The author's spatiotemporal analysis of suicide considered groupings of deaths in three-year periods from 1979 to 2011, finding that the highest suicide rates were concentrated in the South and Southeast between 1979 to 1990, which subsequently expanded to the Northeast and Midwest in the following triennia and increased in certain microregions of the North and Northeast beginning in 2004-2006. These results indicate that suicide has become an important public health problem the Northeast and North, which was also demonstrated in the present study.

The suicide phenomenon is studied in several fields, being approached with two main types of analysis: the first involves factors related to the social and interpersonal contexts of the victims, i.e., the intrinsic determinants, while the second focuses on extrinsic determinants such as social and economic factors; the latter are the main focus of the present study.

One point to be considered is that no consensus exists in the literature about the relationship between suicide and socioeconomic status. High quality studies have proposed a direct relationship between high suicide rates and high regional socioeconomic status, while others have proposed an inverse relationship (low suicide rates in an area of high socioeconomic status) or no relation.²¹

The ecological proposal of the present study emphasizes multiple causes of violence and an interaction of risk factors that operates in a broader community context,

17

including social, cultural and economic dimensions. In such a developmental context, the ecological model shows how violence can stem from different factors at different stages of life.

Other ecological studies conducted in Brazil present important contextual factors related to suicide mortality. One study conducted in the state of Rio de Janeiro found an inverse correlation between suicide mortality rates and factors such as the percentage of Pentecostal residents, an individual's mean years of schooling, the percentage of people living on minimum wage, and the percentage of unmarried individuals.¹

Lovisi et al.²² claimed that sociodemographic characteristics such as poverty, unemployment and low education level are important factors that may be associated with suicide, especially in countries with serious socioeconomic problems, such as Brazil. These authors found that suicide was associated with sociodemographic characteristics such as low education level and lack of a partner.

In a study using data from Porto Alegre (state of Rio Grande do Sul), Recife (state of Pernambuco), Salvador (state of Bahia), Belo Horizonte (state of Minas Gerais), Rio de Janeiro and São Paulo – all with populations over one million and among the ten largest metropolitan areas of the country – a correlation was observed between suicide and certain work-related variables, such as occupation, sub-minimum wage income, and employment in the private sector or in construction, i.e., the suicide rate was inversely associated with unemployment.²³

According to Durkheim,²⁴ society plays a fundamental role in the construction of the individual. Social factors²⁴ such as family, school, social groups, and friends have an acute positive or negative influence on the occurrence of suicidal episodes. The proposition that individuals are integrated into a social group regulated by norms and conventions has influenced the development of control theory. Durkheim's work is often referred to as a classic sociological study on suicide.

A relationship between lower education level and suicide was found in one Brazilian study,¹⁹ which agrees with the findings of the present study, mainly due to the relationship between suicide SMR and illiteracy. In different regions of the world, there has been an increase in suicide rates among younger⁹ and older populations,⁵ data that may be related to the income and dependency ratios. Loureiro et al.²⁵ emphasize that purely economic factors, such as unemployment and income, have a greater impact on the suicide rate of younger people in society and that high occupational pressure and job market competitiveness are factors that make the young Brazilian population particularly vulnerable to the risk of suicide.

However, according to Durkheim,²⁴ there is a positive relationship between advancing age and suicide. He explained that old age is associated with the highest suicide rate due to the fact that devastating situations, such as social isolation, unemployment, economic setbacks and loss of loved ones, are experienced in this period.

A study carried out in Campinas, SP found a higher suicide mortality rate among men. In deaths from suicide, although the victim's underlying mental health is frequently compromised, family or economic relationship problems are often present. In situations of economic crisis and unemployment, a man's failure to perform as a provider could lead to family friction, exacerbated alcohol and drug consumption and even to family dissolution, which could be associated with suicide.²⁶

The results of a study on the economic determinants of suicide suggest that economic factors are relevant as an explanation for suicide in Brazil. It is noteworthy that income was found to have a negative effect on the suicide rate, while inequality and unemployment had a positive impact. Poverty, moreover, was negatively correlated with suicide.²⁵

Some analyses point out that the higher the income, the greater the consumerism, which creates a high degree of personal satisfaction and lowers the risk of suicide.²⁷ Durkheim, however, refuted this idea, claiming that increased income intensifies the suicide rate, since it increases personal independence and, thus, family degeneration.²⁸

Mapping the distribution of suicide cases in Brazil by municipality makes it possible identify suicide risk areas, an approach currently relevant in the social determinants of health field, which seeks explanations for suicide index variations in their local context. There is a need for more organized epidemiological surveillance and research focused on higher occurrence areas to better understand this serious public health problem, as well as to improve the possibility of prevention.

In this perspective, when analyzing the spatial distribution results for suicide in Brazil and their relationship with social and economic indicators, it should be considered that there are multiple risk factors for suicide, which may be defined through epidemiological studies that utilize individualized information, such as suicide method, demographic factors, psychiatric factors, medical factors, factors related to suicidal behavior, hospitalization and medical treatment; further research addressing other aspects not identified in the present study can thus be developed.

This study's main limitation the use of secondary mortality data, which is subject to underreporting, although in recent years it has been recognized that the Mortality Information System in Brazil has substantially increased in quality. Other limitations involve the study design: although an ecological association may correctly reflect a causal association between exposure and a health-related condition/ disease, the possibility of ecological bias is always perceived as a limitation on the use of ecological correlations.

This study's contribution, however, lies in the data provided for preventive territorially-determined campaigns that can more equitably distribute public resources by prioritizing regions with the worst indicators.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

1 Bezerra Filho JG, Werneck GL, Almeida RLFd, Oliveira MIVd, Magalhães FB. Estudo ecológico sobre os possíveis determinantes

18 AP Dantas et al.

socioeconômicos, demográficos e fisiográficos do suicídio no Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brasil, 1998-2002. Cad Saude Publica. 2012;28: 833-44.

- 2 Pinto LW, Pires Tde O, Silva CM, Assis SG. [Suicide mortality temporal trends in people aged 60 years or more in the Brazilian states: 1980 to 2009]. Cien Saude Colet. 2012;17:1973-81.
- 3 World Health Organization. Preventing suicide: a global imperative. Geneva: WHO; 2014.
- 4 Ramos INB, Falcão EBM. Suicídio: um tema pouco conhecido na formação médica. Rev Bras Educ Med. 2011;35:507-16.
- 5 Minayo MCdS, Cavalcante FG. Suicídio entre pessoas idosas: revisão da literatura. Rev Saude Publica. 2010;44:750-7.
- 6 Baptista MN, Carneiro AM, Gomes JO, Cardoso HF. Análise epidemiológica do suicídio em duas regiões do estado de São Paulo entre 2004 e 2008. Psicol Pesq. 2012;6:2-12.
- 7 Botega NJ. Comportamento suicida: epidemiologia. Psicol USP. 2014;25:231-6.
- 8 Souza VdS, Silva LA, Lino DCSF, Alves MdS, Casotti CA, Nery AA. Tentativas de suicídio e mortalidade por suicídio em um município no interior da Bahia. J Bras Psiquiatr. 2011;60:294-300.
- 9 Värnik P. Suicide in the world. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2012;9:760-71.
- 10 Qin P, Agerbo E, Mortensen PB. Suicide risk in relation to socioeconomic, demographic, psychiatric, and familial factors: a national register-based study of all suicides in Denmark, 1981-1997. Am J Psychiatry. 2003;160:765-72.
- 11 Bertolote JM, Mello-Santos Cd, Botega NJ. Detecção do risco de suicídio nos serviços de emergência psiquiátrica. Rev Bras Psiquiatr201032S87-S95.
- 12 Cho SE, Na KS, Cho SJ, Im JS, Kang SG. Geographical and temporal variations in the prevalence of mental disorders in suicide: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2016;190:704-13.
- 13 Fegg M, Kraus S, Graw M, Bausewein C. Physical compared to mental diseases as reasons for committing suicide: a retrospective study. BMC Palliat Care. 2016;15:14-14.
- 14 Conte M, Meneghel SN, Trindade AG, Ceccon RF, Hesler LZ, Cruz CW, et al. [Suicide prevention program: case study in a

municipality in the south of Brazil]. Cien Saude Colet. 2012;17: 2017-26.

- 15 Mota AA. Cartografia do suicídio no Brasil no período 1979-2011. Hygeia Rev Bras Geogr Med Saude. 2015;11:85-98.
- 16 Doll R, Payne P, Waterhouse JAH. Cancer incidence in five continents Geneva: Union Internationale Contre le Cancer; 1966.
- 17 Anselin L. Interactive techniques and exploratory spatial data analysis. In: Longley P, Goodchild M, Maguire D, Rhind D, editors. Geographical information systems: principles, techniques, management and applications. Cambridge: John Wiley & Sons, 1999. p. 251-64.
- 18 Gonçalves LRC, Gonçalves E, Oliveira Júnior LB. Determinantes espaciais e socioeconômicos do suicídio no Brasil: uma abordagem regional. Nova Econ. 2011;21:281-316.
- 19 Machado DB, Santos DN. Suicídio no Brasil, de 2000 a 2012. J Bras Psiquiatr. 2015;64:45-54.
- 20 Waiselfisz JJ. Juventude Viva: homicídios e juventude no Brasil. Mapa da Violência 2014 [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2017 Mar 30]. mapadaviolencia.org.br/pdf2014/Mapa2014_AtualizacaoHomicidios.pdf
- 21 Rehkopf DH, Buka SL. The association between suicide and the socioeconomic characteristics of geographical areas: a systematic review. Psychol Med. 2006;36:145-57.
- 22 Lovisi GM, Santos SA, Legay L, Abelha L, Valencia E. [Epidemiological analysis of suicide in Brazil from 1980 to 2006]. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2009;31:S86-94.
- 23 Ceccon RF, Meneghel SN, Tavares JP, Lautert L. [Suicide and work in Brazilian metropolises: an ecological study]. Cien Saude Colet. 2014;19:2225-34.
- 24 Durkheim EO suicídio. São Paulo: Martin Claret; 2003.
- 25 Loureiro PRA, de Mendonça MJC, Sachsida A. Os determinantes econômicos do suicídio: um estudo para o Brasil. Brasília: Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada; 2010. Textos para Debate nº 1487.
- 26 Marín-León L, Barros MB. [Suicide mortality: gender and socioeconomic differences]. Rev Saude Publica. 2003;37:357-63.
- 27 Hamermesh D, Soss NM. An economic theory of suicide. J Polit Econ. 1974;82:83-98.
- 28 Durkheim E. O suicídio: estudo sociológico 3ª ed. Lisboa: Presença; 2001.



Atenção, federada: quer o apoio da ABP para o seu evento científico? Saiba mais sobre o FADEF em nosso site: www.abp.org.br

Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40(1)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Telomere length and hTERT in mania and subsequent remission

Rugül Köse Çinar

Department of Psychiatry, Trakya University Faculty of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey.

Objective: The findings of telomere length (TL) studies in bipolar disorder (BD) are controversial. The aim of the present study was to detect TL, human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT), and brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in severe mania and subsequent remission.

Methods: Twenty-one medication-free male patients and 20 age and gender matched controls were recruited. The patients were followed in the inpatient clinic, and comparisons were made between the same patients in their remission state and controls. Patients received lithium plus antipsychotics during the follow-up period. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction was performed to verify leukocyte TL and whole blood hTERT gene expression levels. Serum BDNF levels were verified by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).

Results: Compared to controls, manic patients presented shorter telomeres (p < 0.001) whose length increased with treatment (p = 0.001). Patients in the late stages showed shorter TL than those in the early stages and controls (p < 0.001). hTERT gene expression levels were up-regulated in mania and remission compared to controls (p = 0.03 and p = 0.01, respectively). BDNF changes did not reach statistically significant levels.

Conclusions: TL and hTERT gene expression might reflect a novel aspect of BD pathophysiology and TL might represent a novel biomarker for BD staging.

Keywords: Bipolar disorder; telomere; TERT protein

Introduction

Bipolar disorder (BD) is characterized by alternating manic and depressive episodes.¹ Neuroprogression in BD results in worsening cognitive performance and increased risk of suicide.² Cumulative damage to the brain and body caused by stress and/or inefficient stress management in an effort to maintain homeostasis is called the "allostatic load,"³ and is hypothesized to influence neuroprogression in BD.⁴ In patients with BD, recurrent mood episodes may be responsible for allostatic load, which, in turn, may result in accelerated aging.⁵ BD is associated with reduced life expectancy, premature mortality, and high prevalence of comorbid age-related disorders, such as cardiovascular conditions, metabolic imbalance, and immunosenescence.⁶ In light of these findings, clarifying the dynamics of stress response is important for improving both clinical and psychiatric prognosis.

Telomere length (TL) is an important biological marker of cellular aging.⁷ Telomeres are nucleoprotein structures present at the ends of eukaryotic chromosomes formed of long nucleotide repeats (TTAGGG) that protect chromosome ends from depredation and fusion. They shorten with each cell division and prevent replication of damaged or genomically unstable cells. Accelerated telomere shortening can be caused by exposure to stress and has been observed in several chronic and age-related disorders, including psychiatric disorders.^{8,9} Telomerase, an enzyme that extends telomeric nucleotide repeats, consists of two core components: telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) and telomerase RNA component (TERC). Telomerase, with its catalytic subunit TERT, counteracts telomere shortening.⁷ Human TERT (hTERT), a catalytic subunit bearing the enzymatic activity of telomerase, is the rate-limiting determinant of human telomerase activity, whereas the other subunits are constitutively expressed.¹⁰

hTERT and brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) are both neurotrophic factors that have roles in neuronal survival, inhibition of apoptosis, and reduction of excito-toxicity.¹¹ hTERT has been demonstrated to successfully immortalize various types of cells.¹² TERT mediates the neuroprotective effects of BDNF via inhibiting apoptotic pathways.¹³ Lithium promotes the expression of BDNF, which, in turn enhances TERT expression.¹⁴ Even TERT- and BDNF-modified umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells may promote the recovery of neurological function following hypoxic-ischemic brain damage.¹¹

Shorter leukocyte TL(LTL) has been associated with major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and anxiety disorders (especially post-traumatic stress disorder).⁹ In a meta-analysis of the association between psychiatric disorders and TL, a robust effect size was observed, with a smaller effect size for BD than depressive and anxiety disorders.¹⁵ A recent meta-analysis about TL in BD found no differences between patients and controls,

Correspondence: Rugül Köse Çinar, Department of Psychiatry, Trakya University Faculty of Medicine, 22030 Balkan Campus Edirne, Turkey.

E-mail: rugulkose@hotmail.com

Submitted Jan 05 2017, accepted Mar 22 2017, Epub Jul 06 2017.

and concluded that studies should control for potential confounders such as clinical characteristics, the assays used to measure TL, and age-gender matching of BD patients with healthy control samples.¹⁶

The purpose of this study was to compare LTL in unmedicated patients with mania and matched healthy controls, and to determine whether the stage of the disorder has any effect on LTL. To assess whether TL change is due to increased shortening or decreased length replenishment by telomerase, we determined hTERT gene expression levels. Serum BDNF was also assessed due to known interaction with TERT. LTL, hTERT, and BDNF were also evaluated during the same patients' subsequent remission state.

Methods

Sample

The sample comprised 21 medication-free, manic male patients and 20 age and gender matched healthy control subjects who resided in the same region as the patients. Males were selected for the study group to eliminate menstrual cycle effects on the studied parameters. Clinical diagnosis of BD type I was ascertained using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID-I). Inclusion criteria for the manic patients were a Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) total score \geq 25 (signifying that a patient is markedly ill)¹⁷ and lithium response documentation. Remission was defined as a YMRS total score of < 4.¹⁸ Early stage BD was defined as having less than 5 previous episodes, and late stage BD was defined as having more than 10 episodes.¹⁹ The control subjects were volunteers with no history of psychiatric disorder or medical illness and who had no first-degree relatives with BD, schizophrenia, or other psychotic disorders.

Patients who had used oral psychotrophic drugs within the last 2 weeks or parenteral psychotrophic drugs within the last month were excluded. Patients who used mood stabilizers were not accepted for the study unless their blood levels were 0. Patients with comorbid axis I disorders (except from nicotine dependence), mental retardation, neurological and/or medical illnesses including metabolic syndrome were excluded. An attempt was made to minimize the factors affecting TL by excluding females, people below age 20 or above 40, and patients with body mass index (BMI) scores below 18.5 kg/m² or above 24.9 kg/m².

All of the patients and controls stated that they were not on a diet, had not recently engaged in heavy exercise, and were not on any kind of medication, including vitamins, dietary supplements, and/or energy drinks. Selected patients also stated that they had not been exposed to viral or bacterial pathogens or radiation or had used alcohol or illegal substances in the past week. Patients or controls with abnormal blood analyses (complete blood count, alkaline phosphatase, aspartate aminotransferase, gama glutamil transpeptidase, blood urea nitrogen, creatinine, uric acid, total protein, albumin, sodium, potassium, chloride, c-reactive protein, sedimentation rate, or thyroid function tests) were also excluded from the study. The study was approved by the local ethics committee (TÜTF-BAEK 2014/198) and was supported by the Trakya University Scientific Research Project Committee (TÜBAP 2015/08). The study conforms to the provisions of the Declaration of Helsinki; only subjects who gave informed consent participated in the study.

Measures

All 41 participants completed the study. Blood samples were taken from the patients and controls by trained nurses between 08:00 and 10:00 a.m. The patients' first blood samples were taken the day after they were admitted to the inpatient clinic. Only lorazepam was allowed before blood collection. The second blood samples were taken when the patients had fulfilled the remission criteria. The patients were followed in the inpatient clinic and comparison between the same patients in their remission state and controls were made. The patients received lithium and antipsychotics during the follow-up period.

The measurements were done at the laboratories of the Technology Research and Development Center of Trakya University (TÜTAGEM). For TL measurement and hTERT gene expression analysis, peripheral blood samples were collected in tubes with ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid.

For TL measurements, DNA was extracted from frozen whole blood using standard methods. TL was measured using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) via a previously used and described method.²⁰ The beta-hemoglobin gene (36B4) served as a reference single-copy gene. TL was expressed as a ratio of telomere copy number over single gene copy number (T/S). SYBR Select Master Mix (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) on an ABI Step One Plus Real-Time PCR system was used for TL and hTERT gene expression measurements. Cycle threshold 21 calculations were made. The relative amounts of TL and hTERT were calculated according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method.²¹ Each reaction was performed in triplicate for each sample.

For hTERT gene expression measurements, total RNA was isolated using a PureLink RNA Mini Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) according to manufacturer instructions. The extracted RNA concentrations were measured with a Qubit Fluorometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The first strand of cDNA was synthesized using a High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) in a Veriti[™] 96-well thermal cycler (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). TERT gene expressions were determined as fold changes compared to controls.

For determination of BDNF serum level, peripheral blood samples were collected in tubes with heparin. BDNF serum levels were assessed using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kits (Boster Biological Technologies, Fremont, CA, USA) according to manufacturer instructions.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted with SPSS version 20.0 for Windows with α = 0.05. The statistics were done on the level of Δ Ct (cycle treshold) values for the analysis

of TL and hTERT gene expression measurements. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to check for normal sample distribution. The demographic variable with normal distribution (age) was tested using an independent samples *t*-test. Demographic variables without normal distribution (BMI, smoking, years of education, paid employment) were tested using the Mann-Whitney test. Comparisons of studied parameters between groups were made using an independent samples *t*-test. The manic and remission samples were compared to controls using a paired samples *t*-test. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare early-BD, late-BD, and controls. Correlations between variables were assessed using Pearson's or Spearman's correlation coefficients.

Results

Demographics

Both patient (n=21) and control (n=20) groups were composed of male subjects. No subject from either group had comorbid diseases. The mean age between groups was similar (t = -0.66, p = 0.50). Both the patients and the controls had BMI within the normal range (z = -0.69, p = 0.48). The smoking rate between groups was similar (z = -0.76, p = 0.44). Years of education between groups were similar (z = -1.72, p = 0.08). Occupational status between the groups was similar (z = -1.38, p = 0.16) (Table 1). All patients were treated with lithium plus one antipsychotic drug and none of the patients received electroconvulsive therapy. All patients fullfilled the remission criteria. Demographic characteristics, including BD duration and number of manic and depressive episodes, are shown in Table 1.

Baseline (manic sample) comparison with controls

Baseline LTL was significantly shorter in the manic sample (mean \pm standard error of mean [SEM] = 311.27 \pm 22.94)

than in controls (430.43 ± 91.01) (independent samples *t*-test: *t* = -3.89, p < 0.001, d = 1.79) (Figure 1A). Baseline LTL correlation with baseline YMRS scores was not significant (r = 0.33, p = 0.16), but when the staging effect was removed the negative correlation became significant (r = -0.63, p = 0.02). A significant negative relationship existed between smoking and LTL (rho = -0.39, p = 0.01). The number of depressive and manic episodes and the number of suicide attempts showed no significant relationship with LTL or other studied parameters. Age, BMI, years of education, and occupational status also showed no significant relationship with LTL or other studied parameters.

Baseline hTERT gene expression in the manic sample was 2.2 fold (120%) higher than the controls, calculated according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. This difference was significant (mean \pm SEM manic sample hTERT = 10.16 \pm 0.43; control sample hTERT = 11.36 \pm 0.34; independent samples *t*-test: *t* = -2.19, p = 0.03, d = 3.09) (Figure 2).

Baseline serum BDNF level (ng/ml) in the manic sample was lower (mean \pm SEM = 18.25 \pm 3.17) than the controls (27.23 \pm 4.96), but this difference was not statistically significant (independent samples *t*-test: *t* = -1.52, p = 0.13). There were no significant correlations between baseline manic hTERT or BDNF and the other variables. Baseline LTL, hTERT, and BDNF levels were not significantly correlated with each other.

Treatment-associated changes

LTL was significantly longer in the remission state (mean \pm SEM = 400.68 \pm 24.01) than in the baseline manic state of the same patients (311.27 \pm 22.94) (paired samples *t*-test: *t* = -3.94, p = 0.001) (Figure 1B). YMRS ratings significantly declined over the course of treatment, demonstrating an improvement (mean \pm standard deviation YMRS scores at baseline = 27.57 \pm 8.62; YMRS scores at week 8 = 2.10 \pm 1.22; paired samples *t*-test: *t* = 15.20, p < 0.001). The correlation between remission

Tabla	1	Domographia	obaractoristics	of the	nationta	and	controle
lable	Ι.	Demographic	characteristics	or the	pallents	anu	controis

	Patient group (n=21)	Control group (n=20)	p-value
Age in years	30.64 (8.07)	32.30 (7.54)	0.50*
Body mass index	24.34 (3.98)	24.85 (2.11)	0.48^{+}
Cigarette smoking, %	71 (6Ò ´	0.44^{\dagger}
Years of education	8.47 (3.77)	10.50 (3.59)	0.08^{\dagger}
Current paid employment, %	38	6Ò ´	0.16 [†]
BD duration (years)	8.10 (1.86)	-	
Number of manic episodes	4.57 (3.31)	-	
Number of depressive episodes	3.57 (3.26)	-	
Subjects with previous suicide attempts, n (%)	8.00 (38.09́)	-	
Time until remission (weeks)	8.04 (1.93)	-	
Baseline YMRS	27.57 (8.62)	-	
Endpoint YMRS	2.10 (1.22) [´]	-	
Antipsychotics used, n (%)			
Olanzapine	2.00 (9.52)	-	
Quetiapine	9.00 (42.85́)	-	
Risperidone	7.00 (33.33)	-	
Haloperidol	3.00 (14.28)	-	

Data presented as mean (standard deviation), unless otherwise specified.

BD = bipolar disorder; YMRS = Young Mania Rating Scale.

* Independent samples t test; [†] Mann-Whitney test.



Figure 1 A) Leucocyte telomere length (T/S) comparison between mania and controls; B) leucocyte telomere length (T/S) comparison between mania and remission.

state LTL and YMRS scores at week 8 was not significant (r = 0.16, p = 0.46). However, a positive relationship existed between antipsychotic use and remission state LTL (r = 0.52, p = 0.01).

hTERT gene expression in the remitted patients was 3.2 fold (220%) higher than in controls, which was statistically significant (mean \pm SEM remission sample hTERT = 9.66 \pm 0.55; control sample hTERT = 11.36 \pm 0.34; independent samples *t*-test: *t* = -2.60, p = 0.01) (Figure 2).

Although serum BDNF level (ng/mL) in the remission sample was higher (mean \pm SEM 22.41 \pm 4.03) than the baseline (18.25 \pm 3.17), the difference was not statistically significant (paired samples *t*-test: *t* = -0.08, p = 0.40) (Figure 2B). There were no significant correlations between remission state hTERT or BDNF and the other variables. Post-treatment LTL, hTERT, and BDNF levels were not significantly correlated with each other.

Early vs. late stage comparison with controls

Baseline measurements from early stage (n=9) and late stage (n=12) patients and controls were compared. The LTL results were significant: late stage patients had the shortest LTL (mean \pm SEM = 270.33 \pm 17.82) in comparison with early stage patients (356.76 \pm 40.14) and controls (430.43 \pm 20.35) (one way ANOVA F = 10.35, p < 0.001, ηp^2 = 0.18) (Figure 3). hTERT gene expression



Figure 2 A) hTERT gene expression as fold changes relative to controls in mania; B) hTERT gene expression as fold changes relative to controls in remission.



Figure 3 Leucocyte telomere length (T/S) comparison between early-stage patients, late-stage patients and controls.

and serum BDNF level were lower in late stage patients than in early stage patients and controls, although not statistically significant (one way ANOVA F = 3.03, p = 0.06, and F = 1.25, p = 0.29, respectively). The only significant correlation between the variables was a positive correlation between years with the disorder and baseline YMRS scores (r = 0.76, p < 0.001).
Discussion

We found that LTL was significantly lower in unmedicated manic patients than in age- and gender-matched healthy controls. Late-stage patients had the shortest LTL compared to early-stage patients and controls. LTL significantly increased with treatment (lithium + antipsychotics) but did not reach healthy control levels. hTERT gene expression levels were significantly higher in manic subjects than in controls and were even higher in the remission state. These results were interpreted as increased hTERT levels in mania and remission, possibly to counteract LTL decreases. LTL and hTERT gene expression might reflect a novel aspect of BD pathophysiology, and LTL might represent a novel biomarker for BD staging.

Several studies have found evidence for accelerated cell aging in bipolar patients, as demonstrated by the shortened telomeres.²²⁻²⁶ These studies differed in terms of methodology and patient selection. TL was measured in DNA isolated from either leucocytes or peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). Euthymic or depressed patients with various different disease durations, episode numbers and treatment protocols constituted the majority of the participants. BD type was not specified in some of the studies, so the association between TL and BD I is still unclear. The first study reported lower LTL in patients with chronic mood disorder (major depressive disorder and bipolar disorder-state not specified) than in controls.²² Rizzo et al. found shorter PBMC TL in 22 euthymic female BD type I patients than in 17 age-matched controls.²⁴ Lima et al.²³ found shorter PBMC TL in (moderately depressed) BD patients than in age, gender and, educational-level matched controls.

The impact of the number of BD episodes on TL has also been studied. The hypothesis is that if recurrent mood episodes constitute key stressors in the allostatic load model, patients with more episodes should present shorter telomeres. We found no significant association between the number of episodes or suicide attempts and the studied parameters. Our data is supported by the findings of previous studies investigating the effects of the number of manic/hypomanic episodes or suicide attempts on TL.^{23,27} Elvsåshagen et al.²⁶ found that lifetime number of depressive episodes positively correlated with the load of short telomeres (PBMC) in BD type II (euthymic and mildly/moderately depressed patients). In a study by Martinsson et al.,²⁸ patients (outpatients

In a study by Martinsson et al.,²⁸ patients (outpatients diagnosed with BD type I or II) who had experienced more than five episodes were grouped together and compared with those who had experienced fewer episodes. The findings showed that LTL was significantly shorter in patients who had experienced a larger number of depressive episodes, and that this effect was even more pronounced for males. The results of the present study support this finding, since early-stage patients had longer LTL than late-stage patients. Barbé-Tuana et al.²⁵ compared TL in early- and late-stage euthymic BD patients with controls in a cross-sectional study and found that TL was shorter in both the early and late stages of the disorder. These results were similar to those of the present study, and suggest that telomere shortening occurs

early in the course of BD and could precede and lead to all of oxidative stress changes and inflammatory responses in BD.

Martinsson et al.²⁸ also found that LTL was higher in lithium-treated BD patients than in healthy controls. In this study, almost all of the patients were treated with lithium, an important factor not controlled for in previous studies. LTL was positively correlated with duration of lithium treatment. After correcting for age, number of depressive episodes, and duration of lithium treatment, LTL was 10% greater in lithium responders than in non-responders. Lima et al.²³ found no difference in LTL between patients treated with lithium versus patients treated with valproic acid or other medications. The present study found that post-treatment LTL and hTERT levels were greater than pre-treatment levels. All of the patients were taking lithium + antipsychotics, so it was not possible to rule out the effects of antipsychotics. Use of psychotropic drugs had been shown to have antioxidative effects and, thus, a protective effect on telomeres.²⁹

Mechanistic support for an association between lithium treatment and TL has recently been provided. A correlation may exist between lithium, β -catenin, and telomerase activity. β -Catenin is indirectly regulated by lithium, with the main mediator between lithium and β -catenin being glycogen synthase kinase- 3β .³⁰ Lithium has also been reported to promote expression of BDNF, which, in turn, enhances TERT expression.^{14,31} In general, hTERT is considered to be regulated primarily on the transcriptional level. Specifically, transcription of hTERT has been found to be activated by β -catenin, resulting in increased telomerase activity and longer TL in human cancer cell lines and human embryonic kidney cells.³¹

In studies measuring telomerase in stressed individuals, post-treatment (approximately 3 months) telomerase activity was found to be greater than pre-treatment levels. Epel³² concluded that an increase in telomerase activity may be due to cessation of stress and/or change in circulating blood cells. Recently, Li et al.³³ found a protein (telomeric zinc finger-associated protein [TZAP]) that triggers deletion of telomeric repeats and seems to be involved in TL regulation in mammalian cells. The binding of TZAP to long telomeres triggers telomere trimming, setting the upper limit for TL. In the present study, the TL difference found between BD and controls may be controlled by hTERT as well as other proteins in the telomere system, one of which is TZAP.

The present study found a significant negative relationship between smoking and LTL. Years of disorder and baseline YMRS scores also demonstrated a significant positive relationship. Factors such as BMI and smoking have an influence on TL and telomerase activity, and these factors could have hypothetically added to oxidative and inflammatory stress states, which may trigger cellular responses that ultimately lead to senescence and telomere shortening. It has thus been suggested that TL may be a response to cellular stress.³⁴ Shorter LTL has been reported to be associated with smoking, obesity, inflammation, and several somatic diseases.^{35,36} The present study focused on male participants because TL is also effected by gender.³⁷ A major strength of the present study was the selection of physically healthy, middle-aged men as participants. Although the patients were medication-free for the first measurements, it was not possible to control for the medication effect in the latter measurements. Previous treatments (before the medication-free period) were not analyzed, and these treatments could have affected LTL. It should also be noted that cognitive evaluations were not performed. The sample size was small for a study evaluating LTL using qPCR, and larger samples with prolonged follow-up periods must be considered in future studies. LTL and hTERT might even be biomarkers of treatment response. This is a question arising from our findings that could be resolved through proper study designs.

There does not appear to be any data about medication-free bipolar manic patients, their remission states, and TL. Studies postulating that decreased TL could be a marker of BD could not demonstrate whether or not this is truly the case based upon their data, since a wide variety of traumas and pathologies reduce TL. Considering that only a few studies have investigated TL in BD and even fewer have analyzed the clinical features related to it, it is important to target these aspects. Although the findings of the present study are novel and should be replicated, they still raise the possibility that LTL is involved with hTERT in BD. Whether a shorter LTL in mania reflects shorter brain tissue TL in bipolar individuals is unknown, but blood TL measurement is easy and may be useful as a state marker.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Trakya University Scientific Research Project Committee (TÜBAP 2015/08).

Disclosure

The author reports no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1 Belmaker RH. Bipolar disorder. N Engl J Med. 2004;351:476-86.
- 2 Fries GR, Pfaffenseller B, Stertz L, Paz AV, Dargel AA, Kunz M, et al. Staging and neuroprogression in bipolar disorder. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2012;14:667-75.
- 3 McEwen BS. Stress, adaptation, and disease. Allostasis and allostatic load. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1998;840:33-44.
- 4 Kapczinski F, Vieta E, Andreazza AC, Frey BN, Gomes FA, Tramontina J, et al. Allostatic load in bipolar disorder: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2008;32: 675-92.
- 5 Kapczinski F, Magalhaes PV, Balanza-Martinez V, Dias VV, Frangou S, Gama CS, et al. Staging systems in bipolar disorder: an international society for bipolar disorders task force report. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2014;130:354-63.
- 6 Rizzo LB, Costa LG, Mansur RB, Swardfager W, Belangero SI, Grassi-Oliveira R, et al. The theory of bipolar disorder as an illness of accelerated aging: implications for clinical care and research. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2014;42:157-69.
- 7 Savage SA, Bertuch AA. The genetics and clinical manifestations of telomere biology disorders. Genet Med. 2010;12:753-64.
- 8 Armanios M, Blackburn EH. The telomere syndromes. Nat Rev Genet. 2012;13:693-704.
- 9 Lindqvist D, Epel ES, Mellon SH, Penninx BW, Revesz D, Verhoeven JE, et al. Psychiatric disorders and leukocyte telomere length:

underlying mechanisms linking mental illness with cellular aging. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2015;55:333-64.

- 10 Hartwig FP, Nedel F, Collares TV, Tarquinio SB, Nor JE, Demarco FF. Telomeres and tissue engineering: the potential roles of TERT in VEGF-mediated angiogenesis. Stem Cell Rev. 2012;8:1275-81.
- 11 Zhao F, Qu Y, Liu H, Du B, Mu D. Umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells co-modified by TERT and BDNF: a novel neuroprotective therapy for neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain damage. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2014;38:147-54.
- 12 Terai M, Uyama T, Sugiki T, Li XK, Umezawa A, Kiyono T. Immortalization of human fetal cells: the life span of umbilical cord bloodderived cells can be prolonged without manipulating p16INK4a/RB braking pathway. Mol Biol Cell. 2005;16:1491-9.
- 13 Niu C, Yip HK. Neuroprotective signaling mechanisms of telomerase are regulated by brain-derived neurotrophic factor in rat spinal cord motor neurons. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2011;70:634-52.
- 14 Fu W, Lu C, Mattson MP. Telomerase mediates the cell survivalpromoting actions of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and secreted amyloid precursor protein in developing hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci. 2002;22:10710-9.
- 15 Darrow SM, Verhoeven JE, Revesz D, Lindqvist D, Penninx BW, Delucchi KL, et al. The association between psychiatric disorders and telomere length: a meta-analysis involving 14,827 persons. Psychosom Med. 2016;78:776-87.
- 16 Colpo GD, Leffa DD, Köhler CA, Kapczinski F, Quevedo J, Carvalho AF. Is bipolar disorder associated with accelerating aging? A metaanalysis of telomere length studies. J Affect Disord. 2015;186: 241-8.
- 17 Lukasiewicz M, Gerard S, Besnard A, Falissard B, Perrin E, Sapin H, et al. Young mania rating scale: how to interpret the numbers? Determination of a severity threshold and of the minimal clinically significant difference in the EMBLEM cohort. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res. 2013;22:46-58.
- 18 Berk M, Ng F, Wang WV, Calabrese JR, Mitchell PB, Malhi GS, et al. The empirical redefinition of the psychometric criteria for remission in bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. 2008;106:153-8.
- 19 Magalhaes PV, Dodd S, Nierenberg AA, Berk M. Cumulative morbidity and prognostic staging of illness in the Systematic Treatment Enhancement Program for Bipolar Disorder (STEP-BD). Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2012;46:1058-67.
- 20 Cawthon RM. Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 2002;30:e47.
- 21 Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods. 2001;25:402-8.
- 22 Simon NM, Smoller JW, McNamara KL, Maser RS, Zalta AK, Pollack MH, et al. Telomere shortening and mood disorders: preliminary support for a chronic stress model of accelerated aging. Biol Psychiatry. 2006;60:432-5.
- 23 Lima IM, Barros A, Rosa DV, Albuquerque M, Malloy-Diniz L, Neves FS, et al. Analysis of telomere attrition in bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. 2015;172:43-7.
- 24 Rizzo LB, Do Prado CH, Grassi-Oliveira R, Wieck A, Correa BL, Teixeira AL, et al. Immunosenescence is associated with human cytomegalovirus and shortened telomeres in type I bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 2013;15:832-8.
- 25 Barbe-Tuana FM, Parisi MM, Panizzutti BS, Fries GR, Grun LK, Guma FT, et al. Shortened telomere length in bipolar disorder: a comparison of the early and late stages of disease. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2016;38:281-6.
- 26 Elvsashagen T, Vera E, Boen E, Bratlie J, Andreassen OA, Josefsen D, et al. The load of short telomeres is increased and associated with lifetime number of depressive episodes in bipolar II disorder. J Affect Disord. 2011;135:43-50.
- 27 Squassina A, Pisanu C, Congiu D, Caria P, Frau D, Niola P, et al. Leukocyte telomere length positively correlates with duration of lithium treatment in bipolar disorder patients. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2016;26:1241-7.
- 28 Martinsson L, Wei Y, Xu D, Melas PA, Mathe AA, Schalling M, et al. Long-term lithium treatment in bipolar disorder is associated with longer leukocyte telomeres. Transl Psychiatry. 2013;3:e261.
- 29 Nieratschker V, Lahtinen J, Meier S, Strohmaier J, Frank J, Heinrich A, et al. Longer telomere length in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2013;149:116-20.

TL and hTERT in bipolar disorder

- 30 Wei YB, Backlund L, Wegener G, Mathe AA, Lavebratt C. Telomerase dysregulation in the hippocampus of a rat model of depression: normalization by lithium. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2015;18: pyv002. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyv002.
- 31 Zhang Y, Toh L, Lau P, Wang X. Human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) is a novel target of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in human cancer. J Biol Chem. 2012;287:32494-511.
- 32 Epel E. How "reversible" is telomeric aging? Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2012;5:1163-8.
- 33 Li JS, Miralles Fuste J, Simavorian T, Bartocci C, Tsai J, Karlseder J, et al. TZAP: a telomere-associated protein involved in telomere length control. Science. 2017;355:638-41.
- 34 Valdes AM, Andrew T, Gardner JP, Kimura M, Oelsner E, Cherkas LF, et al. Obesity, cigarette smoking, and telomere length in women. Lancet. 2005;366:662-4.
- 35 Barrett JH, Iles MM, Dunning AM, Pooley KA. Telomere length and common disease: study design and analytical challenges. Hum Genet. 2015;134:679-89.
- 36 Kordinas V, Ioannidis A, Chatzipanagiotou S. The telomere/telomerase system in chronic inflammatory diseases. Cause or effect? Genes (Basel). 2016;7. pii:E60. doi: 10.3390/genes7090060.
- 37 Gardner M, Bann D, Wiley L, Cooper R, Hardy R, Nitsch D, et al. Gender and telomere length: systematic review and meta-analysis. Exp Gerontol. 2014;51:15-27.



ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Effectiveness evaluation of mood disorder treatment algorithms in Brazilian public healthcare patients

Ana F. Lima,¹ Sandro R. Miguel,¹ Mírian Cohen,¹ Jacques J. Zimmermann,¹ Flávio M. Shansis,² Luciane N. Cruz,¹ Patrícia K. Ziegelmann,^{1,3,4} Carisi A. Polanczyk,^{1,4} Marcelo P. Fleck⁵

¹Instituto de Avaliação de Tecnologia em Saúde (IATS), Hospital de Clínicas de Porto de Alegre (HCPA), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ²Hospital Psiquiátrico São Pedro, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ³Departamento de Estatística, Instituto de Matemática, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ⁴Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde: Cardiologia e Ciências Cardiovasculares, UFRGS, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ⁵Departamento de Psiquiatria e Medicina Legal, Faculdade de Medicina, UFRGS, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.

Objective: To assess the effectiveness of three mood disorder treatment algorithms in a sample of patients seeking care in the Brazilian public healthcare system.

Methods: A randomized pragmatic trial was conducted with an algorithm developed for treating episodes of major depressive disorder (MDD), bipolar depressive episodes and mixed episodes of bipolar disorder (BD).

Results: The sample consisted of 259 subjects diagnosed with BD or MDD (DSM-IV-TR). After the onset of symptoms, the first treatment occurred ~ 6 years and the use of mood stabilizers began ~ 12 years. All proposed algorithms were effective, with response rates around 80%. The majority of the subjects took 20 weeks to obtain a therapeutic response.

Conclusions: The algorithms were effective with the medications available through the Brazilian Unified Health System. Because therapeutic response was achieved in most subjects by 20 weeks, a follow-up period longer than 12 weeks may be required to confirm adequate response to treatment. Remission of symptoms is still the main desired outcome. Subjects who achieved remission recovered more rapidly and remained more stable over time.

Clinical trial registration: NCT02901249, NCT02870283, NCT02918097

Keywords: Mood disorders; bipolar; mood disorders; unipolar; clinical drug studies; economic issues; epidemiology

Introduction

Mood disorders are highly prevalent and are related to psychological, social and functional impairment. A number of studies have associated mood disorders with high economic costs and public healthcare system overload.^{1,2} Major depressive disorder (MDD) is one of the main causes of morbidity in the world,³ with lifetime prevalence rates varying from 3% in Japan to 17% in the United States to 18.3% in Brazil.⁴ According to the Global Burden of Disease Study, unipolar depression is currently considered the third leading cause of medical conditions and is predicted to be the leading cause in 2030.³ Bipolar disorder (BD) is the eighth leading cause of disability worldwide, with prevalences of about 3% globally⁵ and 0.9% in Brazil.⁶

Brazil is the largest country in South America, with a population of approximately 190 million.⁷ About 70% of the population uses the public healthcare system, called the Sistema Único de Saúde (Unified Health System), or SUS, which provides free medical care to all citizens. According to DATASUS, the National Database of Healthcare Services, health care expenditures have increased significantly in recent years. Between 1995 and 1996 the total cost was R\$ 12 billion (~US\$ 7 billion), while in 2006 it reached R\$ 40 billion (~US\$ 23 billion).⁸ Despite this growth, the resources devoted to health care are still insufficient for the demands of the population, causing serious equity problems.⁹ In 2010, only I\$ 1.06 million of the I\$ 36.7 million spent on healthcare in Brazil, about 3% of the total, went to mental health care.¹⁰

In addition to limited financial resources, there are still few treatment guidelines for mood disorders that take the specificities of the Brazilian public health care system into account.¹¹ Due to insufficient financial resources, the Brazilian government developed a family health care strategy for primary health care units that provides greater coverage for mental health care, reaching 95% of Brazilian municipalities and more than 50% of the population.¹² The strategy includes a basic list of free medications that can be prescribed to patients.

A high prevalence of mental disorders has been observed among patients at Brazilian primary health care clinics, with around 52% presenting symptoms suggestive of a mental disorder and 25% presenting symptoms suggestive of depression, although the recognition of mood disorders is still precarious.¹² According to Castelo et al., 7.6% of patients seeking primary healthcare at clinics in a large Brazilian city screened positively for BD, although

Correspondence: Ana Flávia Barros da Silva Lima, Instituto de Avaliação de Tecnologia em Saúde (IATS), Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Rua Ramiro Barcelos, 2350, CEP 90035-903, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. E-mail: afbslima@gmail.com

Submitted Oct 25 2016, accepted Mar 06 2017, Epub Aug 21 2017.

only 3.6% were actually diagnosed the disorder.¹³ There are few guidelines for primary health care practitioners regarding mental health, and no data are available to evaluate the impact of interventions.¹⁴

In order to systematically study the effectiveness of treatment choices for patients with mood disorders in the Brazilian public health system, the authors developed pharmacological treatment algorithms for unipolar depressive episodes, bipolar depressive episodes, and mixed episodes based on the list of drugs provided by SUS (Figure 1).

Major depressive disorder

The aim of this study was to verify the effectiveness of these three algorithms for treating mood disorders in a sample of patients seeking care in the Brazilian public health care system.

Methods

A quasi-experimental study design was developed to evaluate the effectiveness of treatments for mood disorders in a public health care context in the city of Porto Alegre, RS,



Figure 1 Treatment algorithms. CZ = carbamazepine; LT = lithium; LSL = lithium serum level; RD = risperidone; VA = valproic acid.* Response was considered a 50% decrease in Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression baseline scores for major depressive disorder and bipolar depressive episodes, and a 50% decrease in Hamilton Scale and Young Mania Rating Scale baseline scores for mixed episode bipolar disorder.

southern Brazil. Patients with mood disorders were enrolled through general practitioner referrals or social media advertisements. The evaluations were performed between October 2010 and October 2014 at a public health outpatient clinic in Porto Alegre (Hospital Psiguiátrico São Pedro). Trained medical students and psychiatry residents provided clinical care and conducted the evaluations. Three algorithms were originally developed for treating mood disorders: one each for unipolar depressive episodes, bipolar depressive episodes, and mixed episodes. For unipolar and bipolar depressive episodes, a singlegroup, pretest-posttest trial approach was employed. For mixed bipolar episodes, a multi-arm, randomized, non-blinded, crossover, pragmatic trial was conducted. Following simple randomization procedures (i.e., computer-generated random numbers), mixed bipolar episode patients were assigned to 1 of 3 treatment groups in a 1:1:1 allocation ratio to initially receive lithium, valproic acid or carbamazepine. The algorithms were developed by a Delphi panel of experts. The treatment sequence was carried out according to episode status, as described in Figure 1. Only medications available in the Brazilian public healthcare system were used: a) sertraline, nortriptyline, and lithium for unipolar depressive episodes; b) lithium (or valproic acid when the use of lithium was contraindicated), sertraline, nortriptyline, and risperidone for bipolar depressive episodes; c) lithium, carbamazepine, valproic acid, and risperidone for mixed bipolar episodes (Figure 1).

All participants provided written informed consent prior to participation in this study protocol. The institutional ethics committee approved all ethical aspects of this human subject study. The clinical trial registry numbers are NCT02901249, NCT02870283 and NCT02918097.

Sample

The following eligibility criteria applied to all participants: a) aged between 18 and 65 years; b) current acute episode of BD or MDD; c) full capacity to understand and answer self-applied instruments; d) the presence of symptoms in the last 30 days; e) at least 30 days of abstinence for drug addicts. The exclusion criteria included: a) the presence of organic brain syndrome (OBS); b) pregnancy or lactation; c) fulfilling the criteria for psychiatric hospitalization.

Procedures and measurements of the study

The study procedures were as follows: 1) sample selection began by referral from primary municipal health care clinics; 2) potential participants were given an informative lecture regarding mood disorders and the parameters of this study, after which the informed consent forms were distributed; 3) screening was conducted for BD or MDD symptoms with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) for depressive symptoms and the Hypomania Symptom Checklist Brazilian Version (HCL-32-BV) for manic/hypomanic symptoms; 4) diagnostic evaluation was through a Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) and a clinical interview for individuals whose screening results indicated BD or MDD; 5) patients with OBS were excluded (as recommended by the Mini-Mental State Examination); 6) participants were assigned to a treatment algorithm upon confirmation of diagnosis; 7) mixed-episode BD participants were randomized into one of three treatment alternatives in that algorithm; 8) baseline and demographic assessments were conducted using standardized semi-structured interviews during the first and second visits; 9) in each clinic visit, the severity of the symptoms were evaluated using the Clinical Global Impression Scale (CGI), the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD), and the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS), although individuals diagnosed with MDD were only evaluated with the CGI and HRSD; 10) participants were followed-up biweekly and then monthly after stabilization (the maximum follow-up period was 52 weeks).

The individuals included in the treatment protocols received medications that were already available in the public healthcare system, obtaining them from the hospital's dispensing pharmacy according to the previously-described algorithms (Figure 1).

Instruments and measures

Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9)

The PHQ-9 is derived from the Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders (PRIME-MD) instrument, which was originally developed to identify five common mental disorders in primary healthcare: depression, anxiety, alcohol abuse, somatoform disorders, and eating disorders. The PHQ-9 contains nine self-applied questions and is considered a relatively quick instrument. It has been validated for the Brazilian population with adequate sensitivity and specificity.¹⁵

Hypomania Checklist-32 (HCL-32)

The HCL-32, consisting of 32 questions, is a self-administered instrument that screens for symptoms suggestive of lifelong hypomania. It is a widely used tool for research and has demonstrated adequate psychometric characteristics regarding reliability and validity for the Brazilian population.¹⁶

Mini-Mental State Examination

This instrument is widely used to assess cognitive impairment for clinical and research purposes. The first two sections explore questions regarding orientation, memory, and attention. The second section tests the ability to name objects, follow verbal and written commands, and copy a polygon. This instrument is easily applied, lasting 5-10 minutes. It has demonstrated reliability, validity, and acceptance in the clinical field.¹⁷

Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) version 5.0

This is a short (15-30 minutes) semi-structured diagnostic instrument that allows diagnoses consistent with the DSM-IV-TR and ICD-10. It is available in over 30 languages, including Brazilian Portuguese.¹⁸

Demographic data sheet

The demographic data included age, gender, education (number of years of schooling), and socioeconomic status. To determine the latter, the Critério Brasil economic classification system was used. This system estimates the purchasing power of urban individuals and families based on a socioeconomic survey. It characterizes the physical characteristics of each respondent's dwelling, the demographics of all residents, the various household goods possessed, the public services available (e.g., sewer, water, power etc.), and household income according to a points system that determines the economic class.¹⁹

Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD)

This scale was developed to evaluate and quantify depression in patients with mood disorders. Its validity and reliability are well established, being of worldwide use. Its abbreviated version, which was used in this study, consists of 17 items. The cutoff points are: 7-17 for mild depression, 18-24 for moderate depression, and 25 or more for severe depression.²⁰

Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS)

This is the most widely used assessment tool for manic symptoms. The scale consists of 11 items and is based on a patient's subjective report of his or her clinical condition over the past 48 hours. Additional information is obtained from clinical observations made during the course of the interview. Each item is related to a severity score. Four items are graded 0-8 (irritability, speed/amount of speech, thought contents, and aggressive and disruptive behavior), while the remaining seven items are graded 0-4 (elevated mood, increased activity and energy, sexual interest, sleep, language-thought disorder, appearance, and insight). Although baseline scores can vary, it is assumed that a YMRS score of 12 indicates mania. Clinical trials generally require YMRS ≥ 20 for inclusion.²¹

Outcomes

The main outcomes were response to treatment and remission of symptoms. Treatment response for each diagnostic protocol was measured in aggregate steps; individual steps were not assessed. Response to treatment was defined as a 50% reduction of baseline HRSD results for MDD and BD depressive episodes, and 50% reductions in both scales (HRSD and YMRS) for mixed episode BD. Remission was considered as obtaining three consecutive asymptomatic scores on the HRSD scale (< 7 points) for MDD and BD depressive episodes, and on both scales (HRSD < 7 points and YMRS < 6 points) for mixed bipolar episodes. Participants who remained asymptomatic for 6-8 months were considered to be in remission, in agreement with the DSM-IV-TR criteria for partial and complete remission.²²

The sample size was calculated to detect a response to pharmacological intervention with a confidence level of 95% and a statistical power of 90%. Power calculations revealed that a minimum sample size of 39 patients was 29

needed in each drug treatment group (total 117 patients). For mixed bipolar episodes, the expected response rates were 50% in the lithium group, 50% in the valproic acid group, and 20% in carbamazepine group. For bipolar depression treatment, a minimum sample of 93 patients was calculated to provide an expected response rate of \sim 30-40%. For unipolar depression treatment, a minimum sample of 81 patients was calculated to provide an expected response rate of 70%. These expected response rates were based on major clinical trials and diagnostic guidelines. An alpha level of .05 determined significance in all statistical analyses, which were performed in SPSS version 19 for Windows. The chi-square test was used to evaluate categorical variables. Continuous variables were analyzed using Student's t-test or ANOVA. Kaplan-Meier time-event curves were used to analyze response to treatment and remission of symptoms. The response maintenance and remission results were obtained through intent-to-treat analysis, using a marginal approach for handling missing data through generalized estimating equations. The HRSD and YMRS ratings over time were weighted by the inverse of the estimated probability of being observed. Changes in scores were compared to baseline.

Results

The sample consisted of 259 subjects, the majority of whom were female. The average age was ~40 and the average schooling was nine years. The most common marital status was cohabitation and the most prevalent socioeconomic category was class C (lower middle). The diagnostic prevalences were n=68 (26%) for major depression, n=78 (30%) for bipolar depression, and n=113 (44%) for mixed episode BD.

Regarding clinical variables, there was a delay of approximately six years between the onset of symptoms and the first treatment. After bipolar symptoms had been identified, there was an additional \sim 6-year delay until mood stabilizers were used. Although most patients had moderate depressive symptoms according to HRSD scores, at least 46% had been hospitalized at least once due to mood symptoms. All subjects were similar in terms of educational level, occupational status, clinical characteristics and baseline symptom scores. These characteristics are described in Table 1.

Regarding the response to treatment over time, there was a satisfactory response to the protocols used (Figure 2). By approximately 20-30 weeks, $\sim 80\%$ of the mixed episode BD patients, $\sim 83\%$ of bipolar depression patients, and $\sim 85\%$ of the unipolar depression patients had responded to treatment. The data suggest that patients with mixed episode BD take longer than those with depression to respond. It should be noted that the rates for change in mental state (mood elevation) were around 13\% in subjects with bipolar depression.

With respect to maintaining treatment gains (Figure 3), the unipolar depression patients remained more stable and had lower HRSD scores than those with other disorders. Around 71% of the unipolar depression patients maintained their response over time, which was higher

Table 1	Clinical	and	demographic	characteristics
	Unincar	anu	uernographic	unanaciensiios

	Unipolar depression	Bipolar depression	Mixed episode	p-value*
Age	40.4 (11.4)	41.9 (14.7)	41.7 (11.5)	0.736
Education (years)	8.6 (3.5)	9.9 (3.9)	9.4 (3.8)	0.116
Onset of symptoms (age)	25.2 (13.9)	20.5 (8.1)	22.9 (11.1)	0.081
First treatment (age)	32.4 (12.7)	30.4 (10.9)	30.6 (9.6)	0.567
Time between onset of symptoms and first treatment (years), median (IQR)	4 (0-12)	7 (1-15)	6 (0-14)	0.564
Time between onset of symptoms and first use of mood	-	12 (4-24)	13 (5-23)	0.808
stabilizers (years), median (IQR)		. ,	. ,	
YMRS (baseline)	3.2 (2.7) [†]	4.0 (3.1) [†]	10.1 (5.7) [‡]	< 0.001 [§]
HRSD (baseline)	20.5 (6.6)	19.1 (5.9)	19.7 (7.2)	0.418
Female, n (%)	53 (77.9)	61 (78.2)	90 (80.4)	0.905
Marital status (with partner), n (%)	45 (67.2)	54 (71.1)	81 (74.3)	0.593
Employment, n (%)				
Unemployed	26 (38.8)	17 (22.4)	38 (34.9)	0.279
Employed	19 (28.4)́	27 (35.5)	32 (29.4)	
Retired/on leave	22 (32.8)	32 (42.1)	39 (35.8)	
Socioeconomic status ¹⁹ , n (%)				
A and B	20 (29.9)	15 (19.7)	24 (22.0)	0.196
С	43 (64.2)	47 (61.8)	70 (64.2)	
D and E	4 (6.0)	14 (18.4)	15 (13.8)	
History of psychiatric hospitalization, n (%)	28 (56.0)	28 (60.9)	33 (46.5)	0.282
Family history of psychiatric disorder, n (%)	53 (94.6)	50 (89.3)	83 (95.4)	0.322

Data presented as mean (standard deviation), unless otherwise specified.

HRSD = Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; IQR = interquartile range; SD = standard deviation; YMRS = Young Mania Rating Scale. * Quantitative variables with symmetrical distribution are described as mean (standard deviation) and compared with ANOVA, followed by the Tukey test. Quantitative variables with asymmetric distribution are described by median (IQR) and compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test. Categorical variables are described by n (%) and compared with the chi-square test.

* No significant statistical difference between unipolar and bipolar depression YMRS scores.

[‡]Mixed episode YMRS scores were significantly different from unipolar and bipolar depression YMRS scores.

p < 0.05.



Figure 2 Kaplan-Meier time-event curves (treatment response).

than those with mixed episode BD (47%) or bipolar depression (66%). There was a statistically significant difference between unipolar and mixed episode BD response maintenance (chi-square p < 0.05).

The time-event curves in Figure 4 show the number of weeks required for the subjects to present a single asymptomatic measurement on the symptom scales. For the protocols used in this study, this was expected to occur at around 20 weeks for 60% of the subjects. However, regarding the remission maintenance curves (Figure 5), it was evident that subjects who fulfilled the remission criteria did so at around 10 weeks, remaining stable thereafter. Of all the participants in the study, 34.5% achieved complete remission. Of these, 47.1% had MDD, 34.2% had depressive episode BD, and 26.9% had mixed episode BD; the difference between MDD and mixed episode BD was statistically significant (chi-square p < 0.05).

Discussion

Our findings show that the proposed treatment algorithms for these three mood disorder subtypes were effective as a whole, with response rates around 80%. This is the first study using Brazilian data to evaluate an algorithm for treating mood disorders with medication available in the public health care system. Although the effectiveness of these medications has already been demonstrated in several studies, it is relevant to search for interventions that are appropriate for Brazil's economic and social conditions.²³⁻²⁶ These data suggest that the public health-care system still has major difficulties in treating these disorders properly, which is probably due to problems of access, equity, and/or identifying such cases. Despite the

31



Figure 3 Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD) and Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) mean scores (follow-up).



Figure 4 Kaplan-Meier time-event curves (first asymptomatic measure).

satisfactory results obtained in this study, it was surprising to find that after symptom onset, the subjects had taken an average of six years to begin treatment and an average of 12 years to begin taking mood stabilizers.

A recent study of 5,037 adult residents of the city of São Paulo found that the prevalence of mental disorders in the 12 months prior to the evaluation was \sim 30%. Mood disorders were the second most frequent type of disorder, affecting 11% of the population. We observed higher prevalence rates for mood disorders than Andrade et al.²⁷ In our study, around 44% of subjects had mixed episode BD, followed by 30% with bipolar depression, and 26% with major depression. This was probably due to the sample type, which was derived from a secondary healthcare service involving psychiatry specialists. The lower percentages of major depression patients were probably due to the ease of identification and treatment of these subjects in primary healthcare clinics, which is in accordance with previous findings. Castelo et al. observed that doctors more easily recognized depressive symptoms in patients who tested positive on a BD screening at a primary healthcare clinic. Depressive symptoms were observed in 18.1% of the bipolar patients, while symptoms suggestive of BD were recognized in only 2 subjects (3.6%).¹³ It is also surprising that, in spite of the high prevalence of psychiatric disorders in big cities like São Paulo, healthcare resources are still scarce. According to Andrade et al., only 8.7% of the Brazilian population has ever received treatment for psychiatric disorders, and only 5.3% have received treatment from a sector employing mental health experts.²⁷ These data help explain the treatment delay observed in our study.

Regarding the effectiveness of the algorithms, high response rates were found for the different subtypes of mood disorders. However, since the algorithms are sequential interventions, featuring combinations of more than one pharmacological option, the response rates are justified for being as high as 85% for unipolar depressive episodes. 83% for bipolar depressive episodes, and 80% for mixed episode BD. According to the (UK) National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, combining different classes of antidepressants and adjusting doses are effective strategies in depression treatment, with response rates to the first antidepressant ranging from 50 to 75%. 28,29 A number of medications are used to treat BD³⁰: ample evidence indicates that lithium is effective in treating acute manic episodes and for preventing relapses, while valproate is becoming more commonly prescribed and also represents an effective treatment.³¹⁻³³ Studies on carbamazepine, however, suggest that it is less effective in preventing relapse than lithium or valproate.³⁴

The literature on bipolar depressive disorder is still very controversial.^{35,36} Some studies do not recommend using antidepressants, since they do not accelerate recovery



Figure 5 Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD) and Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) mean remission scores (follow-up).

time compared to monotherapy and may increase the risk of manic symptom onset.²⁶ Several studies have suggested monotherapy treatment with drugs such as lamotrigine and quetiapine as the first choice for treating bipolar depression.^{24,37,38} On the other hand, The International Society for Bipolar Disorders (ISBD) set up a task force in 2013 featuring experts on antidepressant use in BD patients, which found that antidepressants can bring some benefit to patients who have responded to them previously during the acute phase of treatment.39,40 For the purposes of our study, however, given that neither of these medications are made available by SUS, we started patients on lithium. If they were unresponsive after 8 weeks, lithium was associated with sertraline and so forth, as described above. The mood symptom change rate was around 13% in subjects with bipolar depression. This finding is similar to those described by the ISBD, in which changes in mood state due to antidepressant use ranged from 3.7 to 29%. According to the consensus, the tri- or tetracyclic classes, as well as the use of venlafaxine, are most associated with changes in mood state.⁴⁰

Another important finding was the time necessary to obtain a therapeutic response. Our findings indicate that most subjects responded by the 20th weeks of treatment. Since this was a sample of individuals who had undergone previous treatment, the results may be due to their more chronic profile, in which an association of different pharmacological strategies was necessary. Subjects with mixed bipolar episodes took longer than subjects with major depression to respond to the treatment algorithms. Most obtained a response within 30 weeks. This could be because the response to treatment was only considered valid if there was a 50% reduction in both the HRSD and YMRS scales. No other study with this criterion could be found in the literature. Thus, the response may seem delayed in comparison to studies that assessed only manic or depressive symptoms.

In addition to the response to therapy, our findings suggest that obtaining complete remission is an important outcome for individuals with mood disorders. In our study, the complete remission rates were not high (47.1% of MDD, 34.2% of depressive episode BD, and 26.9% of mixed episode BD, with significant differences between MDD and mixed episode BD). These data are similar to those found in the literature.^{23,24,38} Nonetheless, participants who achieved complete remission did so in approximately 10 weeks and were more stable over time than those whose symptoms did not go into remission.

Our findings should be considered in light of the study limitations: i) the study design did not provide comparisons with a control or placebo group; ii) neither the interventions nor the outcomes were blinded; iii) the study protocol was developed so that only the entire algorithm could be evaluated rather than individual steps; iv) due to missing cases , there is a level of uncertainty about longitudinal data; v) there were no dose-dependent or side effect evaluations. Despite these limitations, as a real-life assessment, many of the challenges found in clinical mental health practice were present, and the limited therapeutic choices provided by SUS were addressed. Hence, the results could contribute to the body of knowledge on public health and mental disorders, especially regarding mood disorder treatments for primary care providers.

In conclusion, great strides have recently been made in understanding mood disorders. Since these disorders have extremely heterogeneous presentations, identifying cases and prescribing appropriate treatment can still be a challenge. Our study showed response rates around 80%, suggesting that treatments can be more effective if they are coupled with longer follow-up periods. The remission of symptoms is still the main desired outcome. In our findings, participants who achieved remission recovered more rapidly and remained more stable over time. In a country of continental dimensions such as Brazil, in which at least 11% of the population is affected by mood disorders, the development of guidelines to assist in obtaining proper treatment for these symptoms should be highly beneficial and could provide better quality of life for these people. It is our expectation that the findings of this pragmatic trial could facilitate the development of future studies and guidelines, providing useful hypotheses toward the implementation of mental health policies for SUS users.

Acknowledgements

The study was part of a postdoctoral fellowship funded by Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES; project no. 017/2009).

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- Parker G, McCraw S, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Fletcher K. Costs of the principal mood disorders: a study of comparative direct and indirect costs incurred by those with bipolar I, bipolar II and unipolar disorders. J Affect Disord. 2013;149:46-55.
- 2 Ekman M, Granstrom O, Omerov S, Jacob J, Landen M. The societal cost of bipolar disorder in Sweden. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2013;48:1601-10.
- 3 Vos T, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, Lozano R, Michaud C, Ezzati M, et al. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012;380:2163-96.
- 4 Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62:593-602.
- 5 Merikangas KR, Jin R, He JP, Kessler RC, Lee S, Sampson NA, et al. Prevalence and correlates of bipolar spectrum disorder in the world mental health survey initiative. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2011;68: 241-51.
- 6 Dell'Aglio JC Jr, Basso LA, Argimon II, Arteche A. Systematic review of the prevalence of bipolar disorder and bipolar spectrum disorders in population-based studies. Trends Psychiatry Psychother. 2013;35: 99-105.
- 7 Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE). Censo 2010 [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2015 Feb 12]. censo2010.ibge.gov.br/
- 8 Brasil, Ministério da Saúde, Departamento de Informática do SUS (DATASUS). Informações de Saúde (TABNET) [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2015 May 29]. http://www2.datasus.gov.br/DATASUS/index. php?area=02
- 9 Banta D, Almeida RT. The development of health technology assessment in Brazil. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 2009;25:255-9.
- 10 Brasil, Ministério da Saúde, Secretaria de Atenção à Saúde, Departamento de Ações Programáticas Estratégicas, Coordenação Geral de Saúde Mental, Álcool e Outras Drogas. Saúde mental em dados 8 [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2015 May 29]. http://bvsms.saude.gov. br/bvs/periodicos/saude_mental_dados_v8.pdf
- 11 Brasil, Ministério da Saúde (MS). Consulta pública nº 24, de 16 de dezembro de 2014 [Internet].16 Dec 2014 [cited 2015 May 29]. http:// portalarquivos.saude.gov.br/images/pdf/2014/dezembro/18/consulta-publica-sas-ms-24-2014-trans-afetivo-bipolar.pdf
- 12 Goncalves DA, Mari Jde J, Bower P, Gask L, Dowrick C, Tofoli LF, et al. Brazilian multicentre study of common mental disorders in primary care: rates and related social and demographic factors. Cad Saude Publica. 2014;30:623-32.

- 13 Castelo MS, Hyphantis TN, Macedo DS, Lemos GO, Machado YO, Kapczinski F, et al. Screening for bipolar disorder in the primary care: a Brazilian survey. J Affect Disord. 2012;143:118-24.
- 14 Mateus MD, Mari JJ, Delgado PG, Almeida-Filho N, Barrett T, Gerolin J, et al. The mental health system in Brazil: policies and future challenges. Int J Ment Health Syst. 2008;2:12-12.
- 15 Santos IS, Tavares BF, Munhoz TN, Almeida LS, Silva NT, Tams BD, et al. [Sensitivity and specificity of the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) among adults from the general population]. Cad Saude Publica. 2013;29:1533-43.
- 16 Soares OT, Moreno DH, Moura EC, Angst J, Moreno RA. Reliability and validity of a Brazilian version of the Hypomania Checklist (HCL-32) compared to the Mood Disorder Questionnaire (MDQ). Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2010;32:416-23.
- 17 Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res.1975;12:189-98.
- 18 Amorim P. Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI): validação de entrevista breve para diagnóstico de transtornos mentais. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2000;22:106-15.
- 19 Associação Brasileira de Empresas de Pesquisa (ABEP). Critério de classificação econômica Brasil [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2015 May 29]. http://www.abep.org/Servicos/Download.aspx?id=04
- 20 Hamilton M. Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. Br J Soc Clin Psychol. 1967;6:278-96.
- 21 Young RC, Biggs JT, Ziegler VE, Meyer DA. A rating scale for mania: reliability, validity and sensitivity. Br J Psychiatry. 1978;133: 429-35.
- 22 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR). Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2000.
- 23 Trivedi MH, Rush AJ, Wisniewski SR, Nierenberg AA, Warden D, Ritz L, et al. Evaluation of outcomes with citalopram for depression using measurement-based care in STAR*D: implications for clinical practice. Am J Psychiatry. 2006;163:28-40.
- 24 Yatham LN, Kennedy SH, Schaffer A, Parikh SV, Beaulieu S, O'Donovan C, et al. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) and International Society for Bipolar Disorders (ISBD) collaborative update of CANMAT guidelines for the management of patients with bipolar disorder: update 2009. Bipolar Disord. 2009;11:225-55.
- 25 Lam RW, Kennedy SH, Grigoriadis S, McIntyre RS, Milev R, Ramasubbu R, et al. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) clinical guidelines for the management of major depressive disorder in adults. III. Pharmacotherapy. J Affect Disord. 2009;117:S26-43.
- 26 Goldberg JF, Perlis RH, Ghaemi SN, Calabrese JR, Bowden CL, Wisniewski S, et al. Adjunctive antidepressant use and symptomatic recovery among bipolar depressed patients with concomitant manic symptoms: findings from the STEP-BD. Am J Psychiatry. 2007;164: 1348-55.
- 27 Andrade LH, Wang YP, Andreoni S, Silveira CM, Alexandrino-Silva C, Siu ER, et al. Mental disorders in megacities: findings from the Sao Paulo megacity mental health survey, Brazil. PloS One. 2012;7: e31879.
- 28 Leucht C, Huhn M, Leucht S. Amitriptyline versus placebo for major depressive disorder. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;12: CD009138.
- 29 Bipolar disorder: the management of bipolar disorder in adults, children and adolescents, in primary and secondary care. national institute for health and clinical excellence.Leicester: Guidance; 2006.
- 30 Geddes JR, Miklowitz DJ. Treatment of bipolar disorder. Lancet. 2013;381:1672-82.
- 31 Brown KM, Tracy DK. Lithium: the pharmacodynamic actions of the amazing ion. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol. 2013;3:163-76.
- 32 Cipriani A, Hawton K, Stockton S, Geddes JR. Lithium in the prevention of suicide in mood disorders: updated systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2013;346:f3646.
- 33 Rapoport SI, Basselin M, Kim HW, Rao JS. Bipolar disorder and mechanisms of action of mood stabilizers. Brain Res Rev. 2009;61: 185-209.
- 34 Post RM, Ketter TA, Uhde T, Ballenger JC. Thirty years of clinical experience with carbamazepine in the treatment of bipolar illness: principles and practice. CNS Drugs. 2007;21:47-71.

- 34 AF Lima et al.
 - 35 Gijsman HJ, Geddes JR, Rendell JM, Nolen WA, Goodwin GM. Antidepressants for bipolar depression: a systematic review of randomized, controlled trials. Am J Psychiatry. 2004;161: 1537-47.
 - 36 Sidor MM, Macqueen GM. Antidepressants for the acute treatment of bipolar depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry. 2011;72:156-67.
 - 37 Suppes T, Dennehy EB, Hirschfeld RM, Altshuler LL, Bowden CL, Calabrese JR, et al. The Texas implementation of medication algorithms: update to the algorithms for treatment of bipolar I disorder. J Clin Psychiatry. 2005;66:870-86.
- 38 McElroy SL, Weisler RH, Chang W, Olausson B, Paulsson B, Brecher M, et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of quetiapine and paroxetine as monotherapy in adults with bipolar depression (EMBOLDEN II). J Clin Psychiatry. 2010;71:163-74.
- 39 Tundo A, Calabrese JR, Proietti L, de Filippis R. Short-term antidepressant treatment of bipolar depression: are ISBD recommendations useful in clinical practice? J Affect Disord. 2015;171:155-60.
- 40 Pacchiarotti I, Bond DJ, Baldessarini RJ, Nolen WA, Grunze H, Licht RW, et al. The International Society for Bipolar Disorders (ISBD) task force report on antidepressant use in bipolar disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 2013;170:1249-62.



ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Schizophrenia and work: aspects related to job acquisition in a follow-up study

Larissa C. Martini,¹ Jair B. Barbosa Neto,² Beatriz Petreche,¹ Ana O. Fonseca,¹ Fernanda V. dos Santos,¹ Lílian Magalhães,³ Alessandra G. Marques,⁴ Camila Soares,⁴ Quirino Cordeiro,^{1,4} Cecília Attux,¹ Rodrigo A. Bressan¹

¹Departamento de Psiquiatria, Universidade Federal de São Paulo (UNIFESP), São Paulo, SP, Brazil. ²Departamento de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Carlos (UFSCar), São Carlos, SP, Brazil. ³Departamento de Terapia Ocupacional, UFSCar, São Carlos, SP, Brazil. ⁴Departamento de Psiquiatria, Faculdade de Ciências Médicas da Santa Casa de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brazil.

Objective: Work is considered one of the main forms of social organization; however, few individuals with schizophrenia find work opportunities. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the relationship between schizophrenia symptoms and job acquisition.

Method: Fifty-three individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia from an outpatient treatment facility were included in an 18-month follow-up study. After enrollment, they participated in a prevocational training group. At the end of training (baseline) and 18 months later, sociodemographic, clinical data and occupational history were collected. Positive and negative symptoms (Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale – PANSS), depression (Calgary Depression Scale), disease severity (Clinical Global Impression – CGI), functionality (Global Assessment of Functioning – GAF), personal and social performance (Personal and Social Performance – PSP) and cognitive functions (Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia – MATRICS battery) were applied at baseline and at the end of the study.

Results: Those with some previous work experience (n=19) presented lower scores on the PANSS, Calgary, GAF, CGI and PSP scales (p < 0.05) than those who did not work. Among those who worked, there was a slight worsening in positive symptoms (positive PANSS).

Conclusions: Individuals with less severe symptoms were more able to find employment. Positive symptom changes do not seem to affect participation at work; however, this calls for discussion about the importance of employment support.

Keywords: Schizophrenia; work; symptom; support

Introduction

An essential characteristic of schizophrenia is its impact on psychosocial functioning, which includes impairment of self-care, independent life skills, quality of social relations and the capacity to work or study.¹ Although multiple facets of the disorder may contribute to functional incapacity, cognitive functioning and the severity of negative symptoms have been more commonly associated with impaired performance in activities related to social functioning, work or study.²⁻⁴ In a systematic review, Shamsi et al.⁵ reviewed predictors of functional incapacity in schizophrenia and found that attention, processing speed, language and memory are predictors of employability and impairments in social functioning and social skills.

According to several studies, schizophrenics who are employed report greater life satisfaction than those who are unemployed.⁶⁻⁸ One of the main goals of people with mental disorders is access to activities that are satisfying and give meaning to life, including work. Most people with severe mental disorders are willing and able to work⁹; however, unemployment rates in this population remain excessively high, ranging from 80 to 90%.¹ These numbers reflect a combination of psychological and social barriers, such as stigma and lack of support and professional guidance.¹⁰⁻¹⁴

In a review, Bond & Drake¹⁰ highlight a schizophrenia diagnosis and psychiatric symptoms as predictors of low employability, while remission is a predictor of favorable work outcomes. They emphasize that attitudes towards individuals with schizophrenia, especially from employers, and lack of access to support services act as barriers to employment.

A preparatory group is a type of prevocational training to improve work habits and personal skills. This model considers that people with mental disorders need a preparation period before seeking competitive jobs. This strategy includes participation in sheltered workshops, transition jobs, skills training and other preparatory activities.¹⁵

It has been argued that using support strategies during the employment process of individuals with schizophrenia is important.^{11,14,16} However, most individuals with serious mental disorders do not receive supported

Correspondence: Larissa Campagna Martini, Rua Machado Bitencourt, 222, Vila Clementino, CEP 04044-000, São Paulo, SP, Brazil. E-mail: larissacampagna@gmail.com

Submitted Oct 28 2016, accepted Apr 03 2017, Epub Aug 21 2017.

employment.^{10,16} According to Boycott et al.,¹⁷ the main obstacles to implementing supported employment are organizational and systemic barriers, as well as barriers related to employment specialist competencies and attitudes. Due to policy and funding restrictions within the current Brazilian mental health care system, supported employment for individuals with schizophrenia is still in its incipient phase. Since supported employment programs are generally unavailable, prevocational programs can be a promising strategy for those who want to work.¹⁸

This study aimed to identify and analyze the relationship between symptomatology and job acquisition and retention. Individuals with schizophrenia were enrolled in a prevocational training group and then followed up for 18 months to analyze the relationship between achievement and permanence at work and the central features of the disorder, such as symptomatology, functionality, social functioning and cognitive aspects. We hypothesized that more favorable symptomatology profiles would present higher rates of job acquisition and retention.

Materials and methods

Participants

All individuals undergoing treatment in the Schizophrenia Program (Programa de Esquizofrenia – PROESQ) of Universidade Federal de São Paulo (UNIFESP) and the Integrated Center for Mental Health (Centro de Atenção Integrada à Saúde Mental – CAISM) of Santa Casa de São Paulo who expressed a desire for employment were invited by their psychiatrist to participate in the study. The psychiatrists were previously informed of the study's inclusion and exclusion criteria: age between 18 and 45 years (mean age: 34.24 ± 7.42), stable psychiatric symptoms for at least 2 months prior to enrollment, and good treatment adherence in the psychiatrist's opinion. The referring psychiatrists used DSM-IV criteria for schizophrenia to determine the diagnosis.

All prospective participants were interviewed and allocated into groups for prevocational training. Groups of 10 to 15 individuals were formed until a 1-year preset deadline had expired (2012-2013). Those who had participated in at least 6 meetings were included in the study.

A convenience sample was formed of 53 of schizophrenics desiring employment, each of whom was followed up for 18 months. All participants were informed that participation in this study was voluntary and would not affect his/her treatment. All participants provided voluntary written informed consent, and the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Universidade Federal de São Paulo (180.554/12).

Instruments

Clinical diagnosis data

Clinical data included onset age and duration of the disorder, medications, and alcohol and drug use.

Socio-occupational background

Information was obtained about the participant's last three periods of employment, including work hours and type of work, social security benefits and participation in interviews.

Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS)

This scale is used to identify and quantify positive and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. The scale is divided into three sections: a) positive symptoms: 7 items; b) negative symptoms: 7 items; c) general symptoms: 16 items. All items are rated from 1 to 7 according to symptom severity (1 = absent; 2 = minimal; 3 = mild; 4 = moderate; 5 = moderately severe; 6 = severe; 7 = very severe). Higher scores indicate greater severity.¹⁹

Remission criteria

Eight items on the PANSS scale are used to define remission in schizophrenia (P1 – delusions; P2 – conceptual disorganization; P3 – hallucinatory behavior; N1 – affective blunting; N4 – social withdrawal passive/apathetic; N6 – lack of spontaneity and fluency; G5 – mannerism/ posture; G9 – unusual thought content). Two factors are considered necessary to fulfill remission criteria: 1) symptomatic, all eight items must present scores \leq 3; 2) temporal, remission should be sustained for 6 months.²⁰ In the present study, both criteria were used, except that the temporal criterion was extended to 18 months.

Calgary Depression Scale

This nine-item scale assesses depression in schizophrenia. For each item, the symptom is scored as absent, mild, moderate or severe. Higher scores indicate greater severity of depression.²¹

Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF)

This numeric scale (0 to 100) is used as a scoring system for the severity of psychiatric disorders. It is a subjective assessment of the social, occupational and psychological functioning of patients. The scale is shown and described in the DSM-IV-TR. The score is often given in intervals of ten points.²²

Clinical Global Impression (CGI)

This well-established rating tool is applicable to all psychiatric disorders and can be easily used by practicing clinicians.²³ The CGI has two components: CGI-Severity (CGI-S), which rates illness severity, and the CGI-Improvement (CGI-I), which rates change from baseline. The CGI-S rates the severity of a patient's illness on a 7-point scale ranging from 1 (normal) to 7 (extremely ill), according to the clinician's experience of patients suffering from the same condition. The CGI-I assesses the extent of a patient's clinical change at the point of assessment compared to baseline and also involves a 7-point range, from 1 (very much improved) to 7 (very much worse).²⁴

37

Personal and Social Performance (PSP)

This scale measures four areas of individual functioning and social performance (usual social activities, personal and social relationships, self-care, aggressive and disturbed behavior). Higher scores indicate better performance.²⁵

The Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia (MATRICS) cognitive battery

This recently validated instrument was an initiative to develop a standard battery of cognitive tests for use in clinical trials on schizophrenia.²⁶ It consists of a set of 10 tests developed through a consensus of experts and was designed to establish an acceptable way to evaluate cognition-enhancing agents, thereby providing a pathway for the approval of new medications by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). It was also meant to aid standardized evaluations of other interventions to treat the core cognitive deficits of schizophrenia. The battery should be completed in about an hour and a half. Grouped by cognitive domains, the battery consists of the following tests (9 of the 10 tests were used): processing speed - Trail Making Test, Digit Symbol Coding Subtest, and Category Fluency Test; attention/vigilance -Continuous Performance Test (CPT); working memory -Letters and Numbers Span Test (SPAN L N) and Spatial Span Subtest (SPAN S); verbal learning – Hopkins Verbal Learning Test (HVLT); visual learning - Brief Visuospatial Memory Test (BVMT); reasoning and problem solving -Mazes. The social cognition test was not used due to lack of reasonable reliability in the Brazilian version.^{26,27}

Study design

An exploratory study involving an 18-month follow-up was conducted. The initial evaluation took place at the end of participation in the prevocational training group (baseline), with a subsequent evaluation 18 months later. The participants' clinical, sociodemographic and employment history were assessed through a socio-occupational questionnaire.

Over the 18 months, all individuals were followed monthly through in-person meetings or telephone calls to report their participation in job interviews, study and work. Specific interventions to support job retention were not performed during the study. All individuals continued psychosocial treatment in the aforementioned services throughout the study period. Of the 53 participants, 45 were followed up for 18 months by phone, email or in person to report the circumstances of their job search. All participated in initial clinical evaluations and 41 participated in a final evaluation. Among those who did not do undergo the final clinical evaluation, three were employed and could not miss work, and one was incarcerated. However, there was a greater dropout rate with the MATRICS battery, eight unexcused absences, which left only 37 evaluations at the end of the study.

Prevocational training

The prevocational training program was carried out in three stages: 1) weekly 1-hour meetings with those who were as yet unsuccessful in their job search (the main barriers identified were lack of documentation, insecurity and fear about revealing their diagnosis); 2) support material about the issues raised in the previous stage was developed and shared in eight 90-minute sessions; 3) a pilot project was carried out, followed by support team training.

The main topics of the eight support sessions were: 1) the goals of the group; 2) how to communicate assertively; 3) the importance of a good résumé; 4) how to write a résumé; 5) how to behave in an interview; 6) stigma, stressors and group work; 7) the importance of relationships at work; 8) a farewell meeting.

All participants (n=53) completed the prevocational training group, produced a new résumé and acquired the necessary documentation to be hired for a formal job. It was outside the scope of the program to offer or recommend jobs.

Data analysis

For the analysis, baseline clinical and neuropsychological data were compared between those who worked for at least 1 month during the 18-month follow up (employed group [EG]) and those who did not (unemployed group [UG]). Previous studies have considered 1 day^{12,14} or 1 week¹¹ as the job acquisition criterion, although Vauth et al.,²⁸ used a 3-month cutoff point. In the present study, job acquisition was defined as 1 month of employment to enable analysis of the relationship between work experience and possible changes in symptomatology. To analyze symptom changes in both groups during follow-up, assessments from two different points (baseline and 18 months later) were compared.

Statistical analysis

The sample was divided into two groups based on job acquisition: those who obtained any kind of paid work, either formal or informal, for at least 30 days (EG), n=19, and those who did not (UG), n=26. Analysis included a frequency analysis and chi-square test for categorical data, as well as the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test to determine sample distribution. To compare means, an independent *t*-test for parametric data and the Mann-Whitney test for nonparametric data were used. For repeated measures, a paired *t*-test was used for parametric data. Binomial logistic regression analysis was performed to analyze job acquisition predictors.

Results

Sociodemographic data

The mean age of the original sample (n=53) was 34.23 (standard deviation [SD] = 7.42) years; the majority of participants were men, n=38 (71.7%); 45 were single (84.9%); the mean years of schooling were 12.51 (SD = 3.34); 37.7% had completed high school and 35.9% had

enrolled in higher education. The mean disorder duration was 11.92 (SD = 6.66) years. A total of 45 patients completed the study; of those, 19 (35.8%) acquired a job, with 10 (52.6%) earning \geq minimum wage. There was no statistical difference between EG and UG regarding gender, marital status, education, age or disorder duration (Table 1).

Job acquisition analysis

Statistically significant differences between EG and UG were found in most of the scales (Table 2), although there were no significant differences in the MATRICS cognitive battery.

At the beginning of the study, 14 (73.7%) participants from the EG met the criteria for remission and 5 (26.3%) did not. In the UG, 8 (30.8%) were in remission and 18 (69.2%) were not; this difference was statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 1$ -8.091, p = 0.004). At the end of the study, 15 (93.7%) individuals from EG met the remission criteria and 14 (56%) from UG were in remission, a statistically significant difference ($\chi^2 = 1$ -6.716, p = 0.01).

Baseline PANSS, CGI, GAF and PSP were included in a binomial logistic regression model. An association was

found between job acquisition and total PANSS score (OR = 1.15, 95% confidence interval 1.06-1.25, p = 0.001).

The average length of employment in the EG was 11.55 months (SD = 6.48). Three individuals remained employed for less than 6 months (6.8%); six (13.6%) remained employed between 6 and 12 months and 10 (22.7%) for more than 12 months.

Symptomatic changes

The mean baseline and final evaluations were compared to identify changes in symptoms and neuropsychology over the follow-up period. Among the EG (n=16), the mean PANSS positive scale was 8.31 (SD = 1.74) at baseline and 9.69 (SD = 2.27) at the final evaluation; this result was statistically significant (t = -2.18, degrees of freedom = 15, p = 0.046). There were no significant changes in PANSS negative, general psychopathology or total score, or in Calgary, GAF, PSP or MATRICS measures. No significant results were found in the UG.

Discussion

Fifty-three individuals with schizophrenia who participated in a prevocational training program were followed for

Table 1 Sociodemographic comparison of e	employed and unemployed sch	izophrenics followed up for 18 n	nonths.
	Employed	Unemployed	p-value
Gender			
Male	14 (73.7)	18 (69.2)	0.745
Female	5 (26.4)	8 (30.8)	
Marital status			
Single	15 (78.9)	23 (88.5)	0.665
Married	1 (5.3)	1 (3.8)	
Divorced	3 (15.8)	2 (7.7)	
Educational (complete or incomplete)			
Elementary school	1 (5.3)	3 (11.5)	0.102
High school	11 (57.9)	15 (57.7)	
Higher education	7 (36.8)	8 (30.8)	
Age, mean (SD)	33.26 (7.1)	34.54 (7.6)	0.570
Disorder duration, mean (SD)	10.5 (6.6)	12.9 (6.81)	0.243

Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise specified.

The chi square test was used for comparison between groups, p \leqslant 0.05.

SD = standard deviation.

Table 2	Comparison	of baseline	assessments	for the	employed	and	unemployed	groups
---------	------------	-------------	-------------	---------	----------	-----	------------	--------

Employed (n=19)	Unemployed (n=26)	Test result*
PANSS P 8 (7/12)	12 (7/24)	<i>U</i> = 103.5
PANSS N 14 (9/25)	21 (9/28)	<i>U</i> = 130
PANSS G [†] 23 (3.94)	29 (5.81)	<i>t</i> = -3.979
PANSS T 44 (36/66)	61.5 (42/94)	<i>U</i> = 74
Calgary 0 (0/2)	0.5 (0/10)	<i>U</i> = 154
GAF 65 (55/85)	60 (20/80)	<i>U</i> = 115.5
CGI-S 3 (2/4)	4 (2/5)	<i>U</i> = 161
PSP 70 (50/90)	60 (40/80)	<i>U</i> = 138

Data presented as median (minimum/maximum), unless otherwise specified.

Calgary = Calgary Depression Scale; CGI-S = Clinical Global Impression-Severity Scale; GAF = Global Assessment of Functioning; PANSS = Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (G = General Psychopathology Scale; N = Negative Scale; P = Positive Scale; PANSS T = Total Score); PSP = Personal and Social Performance.

* Independent *t*-test or Mann-Whitney U test. All results were significant ($p \le 0.05$).

[†]Mean (standard deviation).

18 months. The purpose of the study was to evaluate factors related to finding and keeping employment and symptom changes during the follow-up period.

We found less clinical impairment among patients in the EG than the UG. Among those who found work (EG), 73.7% met the remission criteria at the beginning of the study. The group also presented fewer symptoms in all PANSS subscales, fewer depressive symptoms, better functionality and better social performance. These results corroborate previous studies¹⁰⁻¹⁴ claiming that individuals with controlled symptoms have better performance in finding work. These results point to remission as a predictor of favorable work outcome.^{13,20}

In the binomial regression analysis, total PANSS score was strongly associated with employment, since less symptomatic individuals performed better at finding work. This corroborates the results of previous studies²⁹⁻³² indicating that cognitive functioning may be decisive for job acquisition²; however, in the present study no statistically significant results were found in the neuropsychological evaluations. This might be explained by the relatively small sample size.

The results suggest a worsening of positive symptoms over time in the EG; however, this worsening – from 8.31 to 9.69 in the positive PANSS scale – is not clinically relevant. In fact, Leddy-Stacy & Rosenheck³³ suggest that further evaluation should be performed to estimate the minimum clinically important difference (MCID) for these symptoms.

Considering that the employment rate for individuals with schizophrenia ranges from 10 to 20%, our results are encouraging, with 35.8% of all individuals gaining some work experience during the follow-up period. These results could be explained by the participants' high level of formal education,³⁴ as well as their motivation to work³⁵ and group support.¹⁸ However, simply obtaining a position with satisfying work hours and wages is probably not enough, since job retention remained problematic. At the end of the study, only 7 EG participants (36.8%) were still working.

Despite efforts to improve its rigor, this study has some limitations. The sample size made it impossible to analyze predictors of job retention. The sample size may have also limited analysis of the relationship between changes in positive symptoms and work experience, as well as the cognitive analyses. Moreover, this is a convenience sample of individuals with high education levels and favorable symptomatology who were undergoing treatment at university outpatient clinics, which sets the analysis within a particular context. Another limitation is related to strategy: prevocational training is associated with lower job acquisition rates than supported employment. However, the barriers to implementing supported employment in Brazil made prevocational training more feasible.

This study's findings are an important contribution, especially the favorable symptomatology among patients who found employment. Thus, it is evident that treatment to control symptoms and increase functional capacity is essential. Moreover, the prevocational training program was important for overcoming initial barriers, such as lack of official documents, fear and insecurity. The meeting format increased motivation among members and facilitated an exchange of work-related experiences.³⁵ Thus, prevocational programs can be considered a feasible strategy for the social insertion of similar populations.

To promote the professional inclusion of individuals with schizophrenia, certain actions are important, such as encouraging new ways to understand schizophrenia and to deal with the stigma and lack of information about the disorder.^{36,37} Furthermore, work engagement requires understanding of the disorder's impact on job acquisition and retention, perception of how occupational stress interferes in the disorder's evolution, and consideration of the specificity and combination of choices involved in the job. Finally, job acquisition support entails avoiding occupational risks and minimizing the worsening of symptoms due to the effects of employment. In light of such conditions, a case can be made for developing treatment strategies that enable social participation, normalize social status and advocate for these individuals.^{38,39}

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the Programa de Esquizofrenia (PROESQ), the Centro de Atenção Integrada à Saúde Mental (CAISM), the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP) (grant 2011/ 50740-5), and the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) (scholarship grant for LCM).

RAB is supported by FAPESP, Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), and CAPES.

Disclosure

RAB has received honoraria for educational input and non-financial support from Ache; honoraria for educational input from Lundbeck; grants, honoraria for educational input, and non-financial support from Janssen. The other authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- Mueser KT, Deavers F, Penn DL, Cassisi JE. Psychosocial treatments for schizophrenia. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2013;9:465-97.
- 2 McGurk SR, Mueser KT, Harvey PD, LaPuglia R, Marder J. Cognitive and symptom predictors of work outcomes for clients with schizophrenia in supported employment. Psychiatr Serv. 2003;54:1129-35.
- 3 Ventura J, Hellemann GS, Thames AD, Koellner V, Nuechterlein KH. Symptoms as mediators of the relationship between neurocognition and functional outcome in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Schizophr Res. 2009;113:189-99.
- 4 Lexén A, Hofgren C, Stenmark R, Bejerholm U. Cognitive functioning and employment among people with schizophrenia in vocational rehabilitation. Work. 2016;54:735-44.
- 5 Shamsi S, Lau A, Lencz T, Burdick KE, DeRosse P, Brenner R, et al. Cognitive and symptomatic predictors of functional disability in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2001;126:257-64.
- 6 Mueser KT, Becker DR, Torrey WC, Xie H, Bond GR, Drake RE, et al. Work and nonvocational domains of functioning in persons with severe mental illness: a longitudinal analysis. J Nerv Ment Dis. 1997;185:419-26.
- 7 Priebe S, Warner R, Hubschmid T, Eckle I. Employment, attitudes toward work, and quality of life among people with schizophrenia in three countries. Schizophr Bull. 1998;24:469-77.

40 LC Martini et al.

- 8 Skantze K, Malm U, Dencker SJ, May PR, Corrigan P. Comparison of quality of life with standard of living in schizophrenic out-patients. Br J Psychiatry. 1992;161:797-801.
- 9 Eklund M. Work status, daily activities and quality of life among people with severe mental illness. Qual Life Res. 2009;18:163-70.
- 10 Bond GR, Drake RE. Predictors of competitive employment among patients with schizophrenia. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2008;21:362-9.
- 11 Campbell K, Bond GR, Drake RE, McHugo GJ, Xie H. Client predictors of employment outcomes in high-fidelity supported employment: a regression analysis. J Nerv Ment Dis. 2010;198:556-63.
- 12 Catty J, Lissouba P, White S, Becker T, Drake RE, Fioritti A, et al. Predictors of employment for people with severe mental illness: results of an international six-centre randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry. 2008;192:224-31.
- 13 Drake RE, McHugo GJ, Becker DR, Anthony WA, Clark RE. The New Hampshire study of supported employment for people with severe mental illness. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1996;64:391-9.
- 14 Kinoshita Y, Furukawa TA, Kinoshita K, Honyashiki M, Omori IM, Marshall M, et al. Supported employment for adults with severe mental illness. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;9:CD008297.
- 15 Crowther RE, Marshall M, Bond GR, Huxley P. Helping people with severe mental illness to obtain work: systematic review. BMJ. 2001;322:204-8.
- 16 Mueser KT, Drake RE, Bond GR. Recent advances in supported employment for people with serious mental illness. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2016;29:196-201.
- 17 Boycott N, Schneider J, Osborne M. Creating a culture of employability in mental health. Ment Health Soc Incl. 2014;18:29-34.
- 18 Chuang WF, Hwang E, Lee HL, Wu SL. An in-house prevocational training program for newly discharged psychiatric inpatients: exploring its employment outcomes and the predictive factors. Occup Ther Int. 2015;22:94-103.
- 19 Kay SR, Flszbein A, Opfer LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. 1987;13:261-76.
- 20 Andreasen NC, Carpenter WT Jr, Kane JM, Lasser RA, Marder SR, Weinberger DR. Remission in schizophrenia: proposed criteria and rationale for consensus. Am J Psychiatry. 2005;162:441-9.
- 21 Bressan RA, Chaves AC, Shirakawa I, de Mari J. Validity study of the Brazilian version of the Calgary Depression Scale for schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 1998;32:41-9.
- 22 Spitzer RGM, Williams J, Endicott J. Global assessment of functioning (GAF) scale. In: Sederer LI, Dickey B, editors. Outcomes assessment in clinical practice.Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins; 1996. p. 76-8.
- 23 Busner J, Targum SD. The clinical global impressions scale: applying a research tool in clinical practice. Psychiatry (Edgmont). 2007;4:28-37.
- 24 Berk M, Ng F, Dodd S, Callaly T, Campbell S, Bernardo M, et al. The validity of the CGI severity and improvement scales as measures of

clinical effectiveness suitable for routine clinical use. J Eval Clin Pract. 2008;14:979-83.

- 25 Menezes AKPM, Macedo GC, Mattos P, de Sá AR Jr, Louza M. Personal and Social Performance (PSP) scale for patients with schizophrenia: translation to Portuguese, cross-cultural adaptation and interrater reliability. J Bras Psiquiatr. 2011;61:176-80.
- 26 Fonseca AO, Berberian AA, Meneses-Gaya C, Gadelha A, Vicente MO, Nuechterlein KH, Bressan RA, Lacerda ALT. The Brazilian standardization of the MATRICS consensus cognitive battery (MCCB): psychometric study. Schizophr Res. 2017;185:148-53.
- 27 Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, Baade LE, Cohen JD, Essock S, et al. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, part 1: test selection, reliability, and validity. Am J Psychiatry. 2008;165:203-13.
- 28 Vauth R, Corrigan PW, Clauss M, Dietl M, Dreher-Rudolph M, Stieglitz RD, et al. Cognitive strategies versus self-management skills as adjunct to vocational rehabilitation. Schizophr Bull. 2005; 31:55-66.
- 29 Cook JA, Blyler CR, Leff HS, McFarlane WR, Goldberg RW, Gold PB, et al. The employment intervention demonstration program: major findings and policy implications. Psychiatr Rehabil J. 2008;31: 291-5.
- 30 Mueser KT, McGurk SR. Schizophrenia. Lancet. 2004;363:2063-72.
- 31 Nordt C, Müller B, Rössler W, Lauber C. Predictors and course of vocational status, income, and quality of life in people with severe mental illness: a naturalistic study. Soc Sci Med. 2007;65:1420-9.
- 32 Salkever DS, Karakus MC, Slade EP, Harding CM, Hough RL, Rosenheck RA, et al. Measures and predictors of community-based employment and earnings of persons with schizophrenia in a multisite study. Psychiatr Serv. 2007;58:315-24.
- 33 Leddy-Stacy MA, Rosenheck R. Obtaining employment as an anchor for estimating the minimum clinically important difference on the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. 2016;238:304-9.
- 34 Mueser KT, Salyers MP, Mueser PR. A prospective analysis of work in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. 2001;27:281-96.
- 35 Reddy LF, Llerena K, Kern RS. Predictors of employment in schizophrenia: the importance of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Schizophr Res. 2016;176:462-6.
- 36 Stuart H. Stigma and work. Healthc Pap. 2004;5:100-11.
- 37 Stuart H. Mental illness and employment discrimination. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2006;19:522-6.
- 38 Martini LC, Marques AG, Soares C, Montebelo AOF, Petreche MB, Lima FVS, et al. Experiência clínica da inserção no mercado de trabalho de pacientes com transtornos mentais graves. In: Razzouk D, Lima MGA, Cordeiro Q. Saúde mental e trabalho. São Paulo: CREMESP; 2016. p. 225-33.
- 39 Salis ACA. Projeto gerência de trabalho e inclusão social de usuários de saúde mental. Psicol Cienc Prof. 2013;33:758-71.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Indirect self-destructiveness in individuals with schizophrenia

Konstantinos Tsirigotis

Department of Psychology, The Jan Kochanowski University in Kielce, Piotrków Trybunalski Branch, Poland.

Objective: To explore the indirect self-destructiveness syndrome in patients with schizophrenia. **Methods:** Two hundred individuals with paranoid schizophrenia (117 men and 83 women, mean age 37.15 years), all in remission, were examined using the Polish version of the Chronic Self-Destructiveness Scale. Two hundred well-matched healthy individuals served as a control group.

Results: The intensity of indirect self-destructiveness was greater in the schizophrenia group than in controls. The intensity of each manifestation was as follows (in decreasing order): helplessness and passiveness in the face of difficulties (A5), personal and social neglects (A3), lack of planfulness (A4), poor health maintenance (A2), transgression and risk (A1).

Conclusion: Patients with schizophrenia displayed more behaviors that were indirectly self-destructive than healthy controls; they scored better than healthy controls only on caring for their own health. The patients showed the lowest intensity of behaviors connected with the active form of indirect self-destructiveness, and the highest intensity of behaviors connected with the passive form. These findings may enable delivery of more effective forms of pharmacological and psychosocial help to patients with schizophrenia.

Keywords: Schizophrenia; indirect self-destructiveness; health maintenance; neglects; planfulness; helplessness

Introduction

Behaviors causing harm to the individual, regardless of the intention, aim, awareness of their negative consequences, and time perspective (i.e., harm occurring immediately vs. later) and object of harm (physical or psychological existence of the individual), can be referred to as self-destructive behaviors. A majority of authors understand the term self-destructive behaviors to mean direct or acute self-destructiveness, i.e., self-injury, selfmutilation, and attempted and completed suicides.

However, there is a distinction between direct and indirect threat and/or harm. The subject of this work is indirect (chronic) self-destructiveness. This category is important because the behaviors it encompasses, although many are considered normal by most people, generate undesired and harmful effects in an almost imperceptible way.¹ To date, research on indirect or chronic self-destructiveness has focused mainly, if not solely, on mentally healthy people.

Kelley defines chronic self-destructiveness as behaviors involving a generalized tendency to engage in acts that increase the probability of experiencing negative future consequences and/or reduce the probability of attaining positive future ones; perhaps some individuals are constitutionally more responsive to affectively toned sensations than to information-oriented cognition.^{2,3}

The present work assumes that indirect self-destructiveness refers to behaviors with negative outcomes intermediated by additional factors, relating behavior and harm. Thus defined, indirect self-destructiveness includes not only undertaking but also abandoning actions (commission and omission); it concerns engaging in dangerous and risky situations (i.e., active form) or neglecting one's own safety or health (i.e., passive form). Furthermore, indirect self-destructiveness involved a great distance between the action and its outcome. Whereas acute/direct selfdestructive behavior involves conscious and willful intent to self-inflict painful and injurious acts, sometimes with fatal consequences, chronic/indirect self-destructiveness refers to actions extended over time and across situations, with the individual being unaware of or disregarding their long-term harmful effects.^{4,5} Kelley et al.² states that "impulsive" individuals, who are mainly motivated by current emotional factors, are more likely to engage in acts that are ultimately self-destructive than are individuals motivated by more distant cognitive considerations. The term indirect refers not only to the time distance between an action and its harmful consequences, but also to the psychological distance between the type of behavior and its psychological and physical consequences.⁴

This phenomenon is of major importance, as manifestations of self-aggression and self-destruction are also observed in individuals with schizophrenia. These patients self-impose changes in their physical appearance, which also causes various self-mutilations. Self-injury and selfmutilation take various forms, concern different parts of their bodies, and are performed in various ways and with different "tools."⁶⁻⁹ Attempted and completed suicides belong to the behavioral category of actions of greater

Correspondence: Prof. Konstantinos Tsirigotis, Department of Psychology, Jan Kochanowski University, Piotrków Trybunalski Branch, Słowackiego 114/118 str., 97-300 Piotrków Trybunalski, Poland. E-mail: psyche1@onet.eu

Submitted May 28 2016, accepted Feb 27 2017, Epub Jun 22 2017.

significance, because their outcomes are more important and often ultimate. $^{\rm 10\mathchar`12}$

It has been assumed that the intensiveness of indirect self-destructiveness, both as a generalized behavioral tendency and of its discrete categories, is different in individuals with schizophrenia than in healthy individuals. However, there have been few studies on indirect self-destructiveness in individuals with schizophrenia using a holistic, comprehensive approach; the international literature is limited to studies of some discrete manifestations of the phenomenon. Within this context, the present study is a subsequent stage of an earlier project, the preliminary results of which have already been published.^{13,14} The aim of this work is to assess and explore indirect self-destructiveness in a holistic, comprehensive manner – i.e., addressing it as a syndrome rather than assessing its discrete symptoms – in individuals with schizophrenia.

Methods

Permission was obtained from the Bioethics Committee of the Medical University of Lodz, Poland (RNN/266/12/KB according to ICH GPC) before starting the research. The recommendations of the Declaration of Helsinki were followed. The survey was anonymous, participation was voluntary, and consent was obtained from patients beforehand.

Participants

A group of 200 patients (117 male, 83 female) meeting ICD-10 criteria for paranoid schizophrenia, aged 27-58 years (mean 37.15 years), was examined. All patients were clinically stable, had not been hospitalized in the preceding 12 months, and had been on the same medication for at least 6 months. None of the patients was considered acutely unwell or in relapse; all were in partial or complete remission, which facilitated work. The patients were diagnosed by experienced psychiatrists, using instruments such as the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) to measure symptoms, and recruited at Mental Health Centers, in Lodz voivodeship, Poland. The control group was well matched in terms of sociodemographic characteristics and consisted of 200 healthy individuals. The characteristics of both groups are presented in Table 1.

Examinations were anonymous and participation was voluntary. Consent was obtained from all patients before examination. An experienced clinical psychologist and psychotherapist examined patients and controls using the Chronic Self-Destructiveness Scale (CS-DS) and a sociodemographic questionnaire.

The exclusion criteria for the schizophrenia group were relapse and double diagnosis. Exclusion criteria for the control group were use of narcotic substances and need for psychological and/or psychiatric help on the basis of observation, clinical interview, and self-report on the sociodemographic questionnaire.

Materials

In order to assess indirect (chronic) self-destructiveness, the Polish version of Kelley's CS-DS, as adapted by

Table 1 Sociodemographic characteristics of the sample						
Variable	Schizophrenia	Healthy controls				
Sex Female Male	83 (41.50) 117 (58.50)	83 (41.50) 117 (58.50)				
Age, years Mean (SD) Range	37.15 (5.10) 27-58	37.50 (6.77) 26-59				
Educational level Elementary Vocational Secondary Higher	35 (17.50) 53 (26.50) 92 (46.00) 20 (10.00)	34 (17.00) 52 (26.00) 93 (46.50) 21 (10.50)				
Marital status Married Divorced Single Widowed	81 (40.50) 15 (7.50) 91 (45.50) 13 (6.50)	83 (41.50) 14 (7.00) 90 (45.00) 13 (6.50)				
Area of residence Urban Rural	110 (55.00) 90 (45.00)	111 (55.50) 89 (44.50)				

Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise specified.

SD = standard deviation.

Suchańska, was used. To examine chronic self-destructiveness as a generalized tendency, Kelley developed a research tool eliciting information for groups or categories of behaviors such as carelessness, poor health maintenance, evidence of transgression, and lack of planfulness. The ultimate version consists of an internally consistent set of 52 items scored on a Likert-type scale: the total score informs about the intensity of indirect self-destructiveness.² The Polish version of the scale is characterized by high reliability (Cronbach's alpha: 0.811) and validity (0.823), as was the original instrument, and includes the following subscales: transgression and risk (A1; example items: I like jobs with an element of risk: I have done dangerous things just for the thrill of it; Lots of laws seem made to be broken), poor health maintenance (A2; example item: I am familiar with basic first-aid practices), personal and social neglects (A3; example item: I usually meet deadlines with no trouble), lack of planfulness (A4; example item: I seldom have even minor accidents or injuries), and helplessness and passiveness in the face of difficulties (A5; example item: Sometimes I don't seem to care what happens to me). CS-DS scores between 52 and 104 are considered low, between 105 and 160 are rated as medium, and from 161 to 260 are considered high.¹⁵

Statistical analysis

Scores were analyzed statistically by calculation of means and standard deviations and application of the chi-square, Student's *t*, and Mann-Whitney *U* tests. Factor analysis, multiple regression analysis, and hierarchical cluster analysis were also conducted. To explore the factor structure of the indirect self-destructiveness syndrome in schizophrenia group, the scores obtained for the CS-DS subscales were analyzed using factor analysis by the principal components method with varimax normalized rotation and eigenvalue \geq 1.00. To explore relationships (associations) between the variables of interest, the correlation-regression procedure was applied. For all analyses, the maximum acceptable type I error was assumed at $\alpha = 0.05$. Asymptotic two-sided test probability p-values were calculated, and $p \leq 0.05$ considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS version 24.016 and Statistica version 13.0.17

Results

Description of the indirect self-destructiveness syndrome in patients with schizophrenia

Table 1 reports the characteristics of the case and control groups. Table 2 presents the rank order of patients' scores in particular CS-DS subscales.

As indicated by the data, the intensity of indirect selfdestructiveness in patients with schizophrenia remained within the range of mean scores. The intensity of indices of particularly indirectly self-destructive behavior categories seems to be of key importance for considerations in this work. The highest intensity was that of helplessness and passiveness in the face of difficulties and failures (A5). The second highest in intensity, but still much lower, was the score for personal and social neglects (A3), i.e., neglect of many things of various importance. The third highest in intensity was the score for lack of planfulness (A4), which may be related to negative events, apparently without connection with the individual's conduct. The intensity of poor health maintenance (A2) was lower; this scale includes,

Table 2	CS-DS	subscales	scores	rank	order	in the	patients'
populatio	on						

CS-DS s	ubscale	Mean	SD
Indirect s	self-destructiveness	126.257	21.815
Rank	CS-DS subscale	Mean ranks	Sum of ranks
1 2 3 4 5	 A5 - Helplessness and passiveness A3 - Personal and social neglects A4 - Lack of planfulness A2 - Poor health maintenance A1 - Transgression and risk 	4.228 3.144 2.950 2.517 2.161	380.500 283.000 265.500 226.500 194.500

CS-DS = Chronic Self-Destructiveness Scale; SD = standard deviation.

43

e.g., non-compliance with professionals' recommendations and advice, and was thus of special importance for the study sample. Among all the indirectly self-destructive behavior classes, the lowest intensity was that of transgression and risk (A1), including transgressive and even risky and dangerous acts.

To determine predictors of indirect self-destructiveness, stepwise multiple regression analysis was used. All five categories of indirectly self-destructive behaviors were included in the initial regression equation model. As shown in Table 3, all categories of indirectly self-destructive behaviors remained in the regression equation and explained 94.25% $(R^2 = 0.9425)$ of variance of the indirect self-destructiveness variable in patients with schizophrenia; in other words, the set of these variables best explained the indirect selfdestructiveness syndrome in patients with schizophrenia. Furthermore, it can be stated that all particular categories of behaviors had their own contribution to forming the indirect self-destructiveness tendency in patients with schizophrenia. As shown in Table 3, significant contributions to the prediction of indirect self-destructiveness in the study sample were made by transgressive and risky behaviors (A1) and personal and social neglects (A3), with standardized regression coefficients at 0.395 and 0.365 respectively.

The structure of indirect self-destructiveness in patients with schizophrenia

To explore the factor structure of indirect self-destructiveness in patients with schizophrenia, factor analysis of their scores in the CS-DS was conducted (principal components extraction method, varimax normalized rotation), Two factors emerged from this analysis (Table 4 and Figure 1). Factor I consisted of the following variables: lack of planfulness (A4), personal and social neglects (A3), and poor health maintenance (A2); as the highest factor loading was that of lack of planfulness (A4), factor I was named lack of planfulness. Factor II consisted of two. apparently opposite, variables: helplessness (A5) and transgression (A1); this factor was named helplessness. Similar results were obtained after different types of factor analysis, i.e., oblique, confirmatory, and hierarchical.

Factor analysis of healthy controls' scores yielded only one factor, comprising all the variables/indirect selfdestructiveness categories, as was the case in other studies.2,15

Table 3 Determinants of indirect	self-destructi	veness in patients	with schizophrenia			
Variables	Beta (β)	SE of Beta (β)	Standard B (β)	SE of B (β)	t (195)	p-level
 A1 - Transgression and risk A2 - Poor health maintenance A3 - Personal and social neglects A4 - Lack of planfulness A5 - Helplessness, passiveness 	0.395 0.194 0.365 0.297 0.157	0.029 0.031 0.032 0.030 0.029	0.724 0.818 1.069 1.201 1.267	0.053 0.133 0.099 0.120 0.238	13.155 6.105 10.662 9.957 5.285	$\begin{array}{l} p < 0.001 \\ p < 0.001 \end{array}$

SE = standard error.

Coefficient of multiple regression: R = 0.972. Coefficient of determination (R square): $R^2 = 0.9425$.

Corrected coefficient of determination (adjusted R square): $R^2 = 0.940$.

Significance of the regression equation: $F_{5,195} = 275.99$, p < 0.0000. Standard error of the estimate: 5.6305.

-	· ,	
Factors/variables	Factor loadings	
 I. Lack of planfulness A4 - Lack of planfulness A3 - Personal and social neglects A2 - Poor health maintenance 	(Eigenvalue = 3.239) 0.865 0.782 0.527	Explained variance = 53.97% Cumulative explained variance = 53.97%
 II. Helplessness A5 - Helplessness, passiveness A1 - Transgression and risk 	(Eigenvalue = 1.005) 0.876 0.694	Explained variance = 17.72% Cumulative explained variance = 71.69%



Factor load, factor I (Lack of planfulness) vs. factor II (Helplessness)





Indirect self-destructiveness in patients with schizophrenia and in healthy individuals

To compare the structure of indirect self-destructiveness in patients with schizophrenia and healthy individuals, the CS-DS subscales scores obtained by each group were compared using a *t*-test for normally distributed scores and the Mann-Whitney U test otherwise (shown in italic in tables). The results of comparisons are presented in Table 5.

As shown in Table 5, statistically significant differences were found in the following indices: indirect self-destructiveness (global index), poor health maintenance (A2), personal and social neglects (A3), lack of planfulness (A4), and helplessness (A5). Patients with schizophrenia scored higher on all of these (although not always with statistical significance) except poor health maintenance (A2).

Discussion

The findings of this study indicate that the psychotic process of schizophrenia causes indirectly self-destructive tendencies to be higher in patients with this condition than in healthy individuals. As a matter of fact, the contribution of psychotic experiences to the development of indirect self-destructiveness in patients with schizophrenia has been reported before. Schizophrenic disorders are a predictor of indirect self-destructiveness syndrome in these patients. Among schizophrenic and paranoid disorders and symptoms, persecutory ideas, especially the sense of injustice and experiencing life as an enormous effort, are an important factor in determining indirect self-destructiveness.¹⁴ The structure of indirect self-destructiveness, and which of its components (categories) make it stronger as a generalized behavioral tendency in patients with schizophrenia than in healthy individuals, have yet to be determined.

The highest CS-DS scores of patients with schizophrenia, significantly higher than those of healthy controls, were in the subscale of helplessness and passiveness in the face of difficulties (A5). This means that, more often than healthy controls, patients gave up on an activity in situations in which that activity could stop suffering or prevent a threat. This reflects effects of motivation deficits and learned helplessness, which is associated with attributional style.¹⁸

As was mentioned before, the indirectly self-destructive tendency includes not only commission of dangerous actions (active form), but also omission or neglect of actions which could improve quality of life (passive form). The situation of patients with schizophrenia is similar to learned helplessness because they often face events or situations which they cannot control (e.g., psychotic experiences, psychosis relapse, drug resistance, and other unpleasant life events).

The above are related to intentional and, at least, "serial" failures, defeats, and helplessness. Previous research has shown that a sense of inferiority seriously affected Abasement and Deference (using Murray's terms¹⁹) in patients with schizophrenia; furthermore, in patients with schizophrenia, the intensity of "will of power" and achievement was lower.^{20,21}

This is consistent with the idea that individuals with uncertain self-esteem may feel strongly threatened in conditions of high social expectations and more safe in conditions of low expectations and standards.¹⁵ Thus, it can be assumed that low motivation and low intensity of need for achievement may constitute a self-defense mechanism to protect the self from self-destructiveness. On the other hand, patients with schizophrenia may also be overwhelmed and exhausted by their struggle. Other studies have also found relationships between chronic (indirect) self-destructiveness and feelings of hopelessness and helplessness.^{15,22}

Personal and social neglects (A3) was the next category of indirectly self-destructive behaviors in which patients scored significantly higher. This means that, in the population of patients with schizophrenia, situations of personal and social failures occurred more often because of neglecting activities which could improve their social and

45

s of patients with schizop	onrenia vs. nealiny controls		
Schizophrenia	Controls	Signific	ance
Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	t or U	p-value
126.257 (21.815)	121.561 (18.005)	1.975*	0.05
39.202 (12.430)	39.151 (8.525)	<i>5326.000</i> †	ns
25.232 (5.361)	27.575 (6.369)	4423.500 [†]	0.01
30.958 (7.767)	28.356 (5.890)	4183.500 [†]	0.004
21.279 (5.616)	19.238 (4.831)	4210.000 [†]	0.004
7.658 (2.813)	5.879 (2.116)	4220.500 [†]	0.005
	Schizophrenia Mean (SD) 126.257 (21.815) 39.202 (12.430) 25.232 (5.361) 30.958 (7.767) 21.279 (5.616) 7.658 (2.813)	Schizophrenia Controls Mean (SD) Mean (SD) 126.257 (21.815) 121.561 (18.005) 39.202 (12.430) 39.151 (8.525) 25.232 (5.361) 27.575 (6.369) 30.958 (7.767) 28.356 (5.890) 21.279 (5.616) 19.238 (4.831) 7.658 (2.813) 5.879 (2.116)	Schizophrenia Controls Signific Mean (SD) Mean (SD) t or U 126.257 (21.815) 121.561 (18.005) 1.975* 39.202 (12.430) 39.151 (8.525) 5326.000 [†] 25.232 (5.361) 27.575 (6.369) 4423.500 [†] 30.958 (7.767) 28.356 (5.890) 4183.500 [†] 21.279 (5.616) 19.238 (4.831) 4210.000 [†] 7.658 (2.813) 5.879 (2.116) 4220.500 [†]

Fable F Ocean and a set OO DO as a set of a stight a stight a stight and the set of th

CS-DS = Chronic Self-Destructiveness Scale; ns = nonsignificant; SD = standard deviation.

* Student's *t* test; [†]Mann-Whitney's *U* test. Italic font indicates non-normal distribution.

life situations or interpersonal relations. This issue of serial failures, noted above, may be explained by the concept of cognitive dissonance: the individual who encounters failures seeks subsequent failures in order to avoid a cognitive dissonance situation which success could cause. This particularly dramatic form of aspiration expectation regulation by so-called strategic failures is evidence of a readiness to incur high psychological costs in order to preserve a feeling of safeness, which is disturbed in patients with schizophrenia.20,21,23

Omissions reflect passiveness in the face of negative events and seem to be the opposite of readiness for risktaking, sensation and stimulation seeking.4,15 This may be associated with lack of planfulness (A4), a subscale in which patients scored significantly higher than healthy controls. Planning behavior is largely dependent on cognitive functions, especially abstract thinking, an area known to be impaired in schizophrenia since Kraepelin's concept of dementia praecox.²⁴⁻²⁶ Motivation, the second type of function on which planning is dependent, is also assumed to be affected by dysfunctions, such as the so-called schizophrenic low motivation.^{21,27,28} Similarly to personal and social neglects (A3) and helplessness and passiveness in the face of difficulties and failures (A5), this category belongs to the passive form of indirect selfdestructiveness.

Attention should be paid to the category of behaviors in which patients with schizophrenia scored significantly lower than healthy controls, namely, poor health maintenance (A2). It can be assumed that patients comply with professionals' advice concerning therapy and even prevention (e.g., of psychosis relapse) to a greater degree. They accept immediate costs and inconveniences (regular and repeated: appointments with professionals, buying medications, taking medications despite their often unpleasant side effects, participation in socio- and psychotherapeutic activities) to reduce the probability of long-term costs (e.g., acuteness of psychotic symptoms, psychosis relapse, and hospitalization). This may reflect an attempt by patients to improve their own lives by at least avoiding and preventing unpleasant consequences, which is consistent with the statement that lack of punishment (negative reinforcement) is also a reward (positive reinforcement).²⁹

Patients with schizophrenia scored lowest in the A1 subscale (transgression and risk), which includes behaviors typically regarded as indirectly self-destructive. Behaviors violating norms are actions which result in the destruction of the status quo, i.e., a disturbance of some order. Patients with schizophrenia tend to avoid changes, especially the destruction of some order, because it may disturb their feeling of safeness.^{20,21,23}

Based on the findings of the present study, it can be stated that patients with schizophrenia show the lowest intensity of categories of behaviors connected with the active form of indirect self-destructiveness, and the highest intensity for those connected with its passive form; an explanation taking into account psychotic experiences, negative symptoms, and withdrawal seems to be appropriate. In the structure of the indirectly self-destructive tendency of patients with schizophrenia, there is a greater contribution of helplessness and passiveness in the face of difficulties. This finding is consistent with the low motivation and low activity - particularly, the low intensity of need for achievement – found in previous research.^{20,21,30}

The factor analysis conducted in this study yielded two factors, with variables belonging to the passive form of indirect self-destructiveness having the highest loading in both factors. Indirect self-destructiveness as a generalized tendency is idiosyncratic in individuals with schizophrenia; it is of a "dual" nature, as demonstrated by the factor analysis. Factor analysis of the scores obtained by healthy controls, as opposed to those of patients, revealed only one factor combining all the variables. This conforms to the results of other studies.^{2,15} Based on the foregoing, it can be stated that the specificity of the syndrome of indirect self-destructiveness in patients with schizophrenia consists in the prevalence of its passive form, with a particular contribution of helplessness and passiveness.

The helplessness and passiveness of patients with schizophrenia in the face of problems and difficulties may be determined by a psychological breakdown of defense mechanisms, which may constitute a certain aspect of indirect self-destructiveness, i.e., the deficit in defense. Some confirmation has been found for a deficit in the selfcare ego function. The issue of breakdown of the psychological defense system deserves special attention, since indirect self-destructiveness may be considered a manifestation of self-aggression as well as a deficit of the selfcare ego function.

Ego and self are important concepts for discussion in this work. Bleuler²⁵ coined the term schizophrenia (σχιζοφρενεια) from two Greek (Hellenic) words: schizein (σχιζειν, to split) and *phrēn* (φρην, mind), i.e., splitting of the mind; he considered autism (Gr. αυτος, self) as one of the fundamental symptoms of schizophrenia. According to some authors, schizophrenia is a self-disorder or an ipseity disturbance in which one finds certain characteristic distortions of the act of awareness and is best understood as a particular kind of disorder of consciousness and self-experience.³¹ (Ipseity refers to the experiential sense of being a vital and self-coinciding subject of experience, or the first-person perspective on the world, from the Latin *ipse*, self or itself³¹). Moreover, the abovementioned autism can be understood as an expression of disturbed selfhood, and it is the clinical essence of schizophrenia, in the sense of a detachment from reality. This disturbance of the basic sense of self may underlie the social cognition difficulties that result in the poor social functioning observed in schizophrenia, i.e., compromised social relationships, social behaviors, and social activities.³² Some concepts claim that difficulties in self-other processing lie at the core of schizophrenia and pose a problem for patients' daily social functioning - e.g., when confusing self and other, one may project one's own intentions and emotions onto others, or take over the intentions and emotions of others. Abnormal processing of self and other may be an important factor in explaining impaired social functioning in patients with schizophrenia.³³ The above may be reflected in the finding that, in patients with schizophrenia, indirect self-destructiveness was associated with a feeling of being harmed by life, which may cause a suspicious attitude toward people; on the other hand, a sense of injustice, a feeling of being misunderstood by others, and a feeling that life lacks meaning played very important roles in shaping indirectly self-destructive tendencies. Moreover, the perception of life as a tremendous effort, the feeling of being harmed by life, and lack of hope for improvement held great significance for indirect self-destructiveness.¹⁴

Attention should be paid to a research project implemented in Finland in 1994, in which 670 schizophrenic patients aged 15-64 were interviewed 3 years after discharge from psychiatric hospitals. Poor financial situation and history of alcohol misuse, among others, seemed to be associated with increased risk of violent victimization, with patients constituting a vulnerable subgroup in that respect. This subgroup may need additional care and protection from dangers posed to them by other members of society.³⁴ Although the topic of that study was not indirect self-destructiveness, the results were consistent with this syndrome: some forms of self-defeating, lack of resourcefulness, serial failure, and being a victim of violence could be considered manifestations of indirect self-destructiveness.

To conclude, it can be stated that indirect selfdestructiveness has a significant impact on individual management of everyday life and can lead to directly selfdestructive behaviors. It seems that, inasmuch as the pattern of indirect self-destructiveness in healthy individuals includes mainly searching for stimulation, strong sensations, and hedonistic motives, the pattern of indirect self-destructiveness in patients with schizophrenia is based on resignation, withdrawal, and protection of the "self" or a self-defense deficit. It might be assumed that

The results of this study may have preventive and therapeutic implications. As far as the prevention aspect is concerned, not only individuals who tend to engage in dangerous and high-risk situations (active form of indirect self-destructiveness), but also those who neglect their own safety or health (passive form of indirect self-destructiveness), should be the subject of experts' interest. The latter (passive) form, of neglects, is especially neglected in preventive and therapeutic work. In these patients, the motivation to undertake an effort to care for their health by these patients is an encouraging and buoyant result, since self-care is a factor that holds promise for patients, both as a prognostic factor and for the possibility of independent living. Moreover, it should be kept in mind that this is the only category in which patients demonstrate fewer self-destructive behaviors than healthy people do.

The findings of this study may contribute to the provision of more effective forms of pharmacological and psychosocial help to patients with schizophrenia. The differences found in categories of indirect self-destructiveness could provide insights into how patients manage their own illness, how their illness leads to problems in those behaviors, and even support the design of practice guidelines to help patients with their disease and indirect self-destructiveness.

Complex therapeutic (psychiatric, psychological, and social) actions should aim to enhance the defense-ofself and self-care functions in patients with schizophrenia, improve patients' self-image, and evaluate its adequacy and efficiency. Equally important within (psycho)therapy is to work with patients toward enhancing their sense of life, even though life did not spare them suffering. Mobilization and orientation of their activities toward actions that support their development and health seems just as vital.

The findings of this study do not differ substantially from the results obtained at an earlier stage of this research project.¹³ This may mean that the general regularities and direction of the relationships remain the same. Some limitations must also be mentioned. One may be the impact of antipsychotics (especially their side effects) on the psychological functioning of individuals with schizophrenia. However, this impact is unavoidable, since, in most cases, patients must take lifelong medication. Another possible limitation could be the self-report design of the study: the healthy controls may have intended to appear better than they actually were. However, this remark could apply to any self-report instrument; besides, social desirability has not been found to correlate significantly with CS-DS.² One could argue that this clinically stable sample could mean that patients had good adherence to treatment, which, in turn, could explain why these patients had better health maintenance than even the healthy controls did. On the other hand, some research designs, especially when seeking to address psychological functioning, actually require patients to be clinically stable and in remission. The aforementioned idea is interesting, but the actual relationship may well be inverse: good adherence to treatment may be caused by

low poor health maintenance. However, regardless of causal relationship, could it justify the fact that individuals with schizophrenia neglect their health less than healthy individuals do? Perhaps these patients simply want to be healthy, feel less ill, or both. Another limitation may be the fact that patients were not diagnosed with a specific instrument, (e.g., the Structured Clinical Interview [SCID]) but rather according to the ICD-10 criteria and by the means of PANSS (to measure symptoms). Finally, the scarcity of studies on this topic in the literature makes it difficult to compare and verify the findings of the present investigation.

Acknowledgements

The author thanks the patients and healthy controls for their kind cooperation and participation in the study, as well as the managers of the institutions in which this study was conducted for their permission.

Disclosure

The author reports no conflicts of interest.

References

- Tsirigotis K, Gruszczyński W. [Self-destructiveness in schizophrenia]. Anxiety Depress. 2008;13:190-7.
- 2 Kelley K, Byrne D, Przybyla DPJ, Eberly C, Eberly B, Greendlinger V, et al. Chronic self-destructiveness: conceptualization, measurement, and initial validation of the construct. Motiv Emot. 1985;9: 135-51.
- 3 Kelley K, Cheung FM, Singh R, Becker MA, Rodriguez-Carrillo P, Wan CK, et al. Chronic self-destructiveness and locus of control in cross-cultural perspective. J Soc Psychol. 1986;126:573-77.
- 4 Suchańska A. Teoretyczne i kliniczne problemy ukrytej autodestruktywności. In: Waligóra B, editor. Elementy psychologii klinicznej. Poznań: UAM; 1995. p. 117-43.
- 5 Suchańska A. W poszukiwaniu wyjaśnień samoniszczenia: samoniszczenie a kompetencje samoopiekuńcze. Forum Oświatowe. 2001;2:61-73.
- 6 Sweeny S, Zamecnik K. Predictors of self-mutilation in patients with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. 1981;138:1086-9.
- 7 Dean CE. Severe self-injurious behavior associated with treatmentresistant schizophrenia: treatment with maintenance electroconvulsive therapy. J ECT. 2000;16:302-8.
- 8 Mitsui K, Kokubo H, Kato K, Nakamura K, Aoki S, Taki T, et al. [A case of self-mutilation of testis]. Hinyokika Kiyo. 2002;48:281-3.
- 9 Kamolz LP, Andel H, Schmidtke A, Valentini D, Meissl G, Frey M. Treatment of patients with severe burn injuries: the impact of schizophrenia. Burns. 2003;29:49-53.

- 10 Kontaxakis V, Hamaki-Kontaxaki B, Margariti M, Stamouli S, Kollias C, Christodoulou G. Suicidal ideation in inpatients with acute schizophrenia. Can J Psychiatry. 2004;49:476-9.
- 11 Caldwell CB, Gottesman II. Schizophrenics kill themselves too: a review of risk factors for suicide. Schizophr Bull. 1990;16:571-89.
- 12 Pompili M, Amator XF, Girardi P, Harkavy-Friedman J, Harrow M, Kaplan K, et al. Suicide risk in schizophrenia: learning from the past to change the future. Ann Gen Psychiatry. 2007;6:10-10.
- 13 Tsirigotis K. Autodestruktywność pośrednia u chorych na schizofrenię. Piotrków Trybunalski: Naukowe Wydawnictwo Piotrkowskie; 2013.
- 14 Tsirigotis K, Gruszczyński W, Tsirigotis-Maniecka M. Psychopathological predictors of indirect self-destructiveness in patients with schizophrenia. Psychiatr Q. 2016;87:155-64.
- 15 Suchańska A. Przejawy i uwarunkowania psychologiczne pośredniej autodestruktywności. Pozna: Wydawnictwo Naukowe Uniwersytetu; 1998.
- 16 IBM Corp. SPSS for Windows User's Guide.New York: IBM Corp.; 2015.
- 17 StatSoft Polska. Statistica PL. Kraków: StatSoft; 2016.
- 18 Seligman MEP. Learned optimism. New York: Vintage Books; 2006. 19 Murray HA. Explorations in personality. New York: Oxford University;
- 2008.
- 20 Tsirigotis K, Gruszczyński W. The needs structure of outpatients with paranoid schizophrenia. Arch Psychiatry Psychother. 2001;3:53-66.
- 21 Tsirigotis K, Gruszczyński W. Schizofrenia psychologia i psychopatologia. Kraków: Polskie Towarzystwo Psychiatryczne; 2005.
- 22 Kelly DB, Rollings AL, Harmon JG. Chronic self-destructiveness, hopelessness, and risk-taking in college students. Psychol Rep. 2005;96:620-4.
- 23 Tsirigotis K, Gruszczyński W, Florkowski A. Lęk i depresja w schizofrenii paranoidalnej. Lek i Depresja. 2001;6:188-202.
- 24 Kraepelin E. Dementia praecox and paraphrenia. Edinburgh: Curchill Livingstone; 1919.
- 25 Bleuler E. Dementia praecox or the group of schizophrenias. New York: International Universities; 1950.
- 26 Frith C. The cognitive neuropsychology of schizophrenia. Hove: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1993.
- 27 Willerman LB, Cohen DB. Psychopathology. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1990.
- 28 Tsirigotis K, Gruszczyński W. Deficyt psychologiczny w schizofrenii. Curr Probl Psychiatry. 2001;III:223-36.
- 29 Skinner BF. Beyond Freedom and Dignity. New York: Knopf; 1971.
- 30 Tsirigotis K, Gruszczyński W. The values hierarchy of outpatients with paranoid schizophrenia. Arch Psychiatry Psychother. 2001;3:15-26.
- 31 Sass LA, Parnas J. Schizophrenia, consciousness, and the self. Schizophr Bull. 2003;29:427-44.
- 32 Nelson B, Sass LA, Thompson A, Yung AR, Francey SM, Amminger GP, et al. Does disturbance of self underlie social cognition deficits in schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders? Early Interv Psychiatry. 2009;3:83-93.
- 33 van der Weiden A, Prikken M, van Haren NE. Self-other integration and distinction in schizophrenia: a theoretical analysis and a review of the evidence. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2015;57:220-37.
- 34 Honkonen T, Henriksson M, Koivisto AM, Stengård E, Salokangas RK. Violent victimization in schizophrenia. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2004;39:606-12.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Prevalence, clinical correlates and maternal psychopathology of deliberate self-harm in children and early adolescents: results from a large community study

André R. Simioni,^{1,2,3} Pedro M. Pan,^{2,4} Ary Gadelha,^{2,4} Gisele G. Manfro,^{2,3} Jair J. Mari,^{2,4} Eurípedes C. Miguel,^{2,5} Luis A. Rohde,^{2,3,5} Giovanni A. Salum^{1,2,3}

¹Seção de Afeto Negativo e Processos Sociais, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (HCPA), Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ²Instituto Nacional de Psiquiatria do Desenvolvimento (INPD), Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), São Paulo, SP, Brazil. ³Departamento de Psiquiatria, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Psiquiatria e Ciências do Comportamento, UFRGS, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ⁴Departamento de Psiquiatria, Universidade Federal de São Paulo (UNIFESP), São Paulo, SP, Brazil. ⁵Departamento e Instituto de Psiquiatria, Universidade de São Paulo (USP), São Paulo, SP, Brazil.

Objectives: Little is known about the prevalence and correlates of deliberate self-harm (DSH) in children from low- and middle-income countries. We investigated the prevalence of DSH and its clinical and maternal psychopathological associations in Brazilian children (n=2,508, ages 6-14y) in a community-based study.

Methods: Participants of the High Risk Cohort Study for the Development of Childhood Psychiatric Disorders (HRC) and their mothers were assessed in structured interviews. Current (last month) and lifetime DSH were estimated, including analysis stratified by age groups. Logistic regressions were performed to investigate the role of the children's clinical diagnoses and maternal psychopathology on DSH prevalence estimates, adjusting for potential confounding factors.

Results: The prevalence of current DSH was 0.8% (children 0.6%, adolescents 1%) and lifetime DSH was 1.6% (1.8% and 1.5%, respectively). Current and lifetime DSH were more frequent in children with depression, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and oppositional defiant disorder (ODD), even in multiple models accounting for demographic variables and co-occurring psychiatric disorders. Maternal anxiety disorder was strongly associated with current and lifetime DSH in offspring; whereas current DSH, specifically in young children, was associated with maternal mood disorder.

Conclusion: Diagnoses of depression, ADHD and ODD were consistently associated with DSH, as was having a mother with anxiety disorder.

Keywords: Deliberate self-harm; self-injurious behavior; suicide attempt; community survey; family health; psychopathology

Introduction

Deliberate self-harm (DSH) is defined as any act of selfpoisoning or self-injury carried out by an individual, regardless of motivation or desire to die.¹ DSH is one of the strongest predictors of completed suicide,²⁻⁴ which is the second leading cause of death among 10- to 24-yearolds worldwide, accounting for 6.3% of all deaths.⁵ Suicide is the third leading cause of death among youth in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC), accounting for 8% of all deaths among 15- to 29-year-olds.⁶ According to the World Health Organization, 75% of suicide deaths worldwide occur in LMIC, which have limited resources to address the issue.⁶ This personal tragedy also has devastating consequences for families and the community.⁷

Correspondence: André Rafael Simioni, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Rua Ramiro Barcelos, 2350, sala 400N, CEP 90035-903, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. E-mail: andresimi@gmail.com Community studies have demonstrated that DSH is a set of increasingly common behaviors beginning at age 12 and peaking at around age 15, which then decline by young adulthood.⁸⁻¹⁰ Adolescents who deliberately self-harm are at increased risk for developing depression and anxiety disorders later, as well as for repeating DSH by 18 years of age.¹¹ It was also observed that individuals clustered into overlapping high-risk trajectories of DSH, other suicidal behaviors and substance abuse had high scores for borderline personality disorder criteria.¹² Youth DSH prevalence rates are highly variable, with world lifetime estimates ranging from 4 to 42% and 12-month estimates varying from 3 to 21%, depending on the instruments and methods used to assess suicidal behavior.¹³

In 32 LMIC, the pooled 12-month prevalences of suicide ideation among adolescent females and males, respectively, were 16.2% and 12.2%.¹⁴ The reported prevalence of suicide attempts by adolescents in LMIC ranges from 2.9 to 3.2%.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ In Brazil, the few available studies show a prevalence of suicide ideation in adolescents ranging from 8 to 14%,¹⁸⁻²⁰ suicide planning from 6 to 10%,^{20,21} and suicide attempts from 5.5 to 8.6%.^{20,22}

Submitted Sep 29 2016, accepted Apr 02 2017, Epub Aug 21 2017.

49

DSH varies substantially according to demographic, clinical and familial factors. Although suicide is more common in young males,²³ DSH is more common in young females.^{10,15,20,24-26} High rates of this behavior are also found in adolescents from lower socioeconomic groups.^{24,27,28} These findings are not consistent across ethnic groups.^{10,24,26,29-32} Furthermore, studies have shown a strong relationship between DSH and mood, anxiety, disruptive, substance use and eating disorders.^{9,10,24,27,33,34} Finally, DSH is more common among the offspring of individuals with psychiatric disorders.³⁵⁻³⁸

Despite the seriousness of the problem, little is known about the prevalence of DSH among children and early adolescents in LMIC or its demographic, clinical and familial correlates. No studies adjusted for the co-occurrence of DSH and psychiatric diagnosis have been conducted. More importantly, there is little information worldwide about suicidal behavior in children less than 10 years of age. In the present study, we investigated the prevalence of DSH in Brazilian children and adolescents as part of a large community-based study and explored the role of relevant clinical and familial factors related to DSH.

Methodology

Study design and participants

The High Risk Cohort Study for the Development of Childhood Psychiatric Disorders (HRC) is a large community school-based study of children aged 6 to 14 years from 57 schools in two Brazilian cities: Porto Alegre (n=22) and São Paulo (n=35). During the screening phase, which took place on school enrollment day, 9,937 respondents were interviewed using the Family History Survey.³⁹ From this pool, two subgroups were recruited using a random selection (n=958) or high-risk selection procedure (n=1.554), which resulted in 2.512 subjects. Four subjects were excluded from the analysis due to missing data for outcome variables, resulting in a total sample of 2,508 subjects with an average age of 9.7 years upon recruitment (standard deviation [SD] = 1.92). Details about the sample and the methodological procedures can be found in Salum et al.40 This study was approved by the ethics committee of the Universidade de São Paulo (protocol IORG0004884; CONEP no. 15.457; project IRB registration no. 1132/08). Written consent was obtained from all participants' parents, and verbal consent was obtained from all the children. All children with suicidal thoughts were offered consultation with trained psychiatrists and psychologists and were referred to proper services for treatment.

Instruments and measures

Outcomes

Interviews were conducted at home with the biological parents. We collected parental reports about current (last month) and lifetime DSH using the following yes/no questions from the suicidal behavior items of the Brazilian Portuguese version of Development and Well-Being Assessment (DAWBA), a structured interview administered by lay interviewers⁴¹: "Over the last 4 weeks, has s/he tried to harm or hurt himself/herself?" and "In his/her lifetime, has s/he ever tried to harm or hurt himself/ herself?."

Demographic variables

Age, gender, socioeconomic status and ethnicity data were collected. We adopted the 2009 Associação Brasileira de Empresas de Pesquisa (ABEP) criteria for calculating socioeconomic status and then merged classes A and B into a wealthy stratum, C into a middle stratum, and D and E into a poor stratum. Ethnic groups were divided into a majority group, which included Whites, and a minority group, which included Blacks, mixed-race, Asians, Native South Americans, and people of unknown ethnicity.

Child diagnosis

Current child psychiatric diagnoses were assessed using the DAWBA. The responses generated a computerized diagnosis according to DSM-IV-TR criteria. Child psychiatrists evaluated the responses and confirmed, refuted or altered the initial diagnosis proposed by DAWBA algorithms. Diagnoses used for data analysis were: any anxiety disorders (separation, social or generalized anxiety disorder), major depression, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), oppositional defiant disorder (ODD) and conduct disorder (CD). A second child psychiatrist rated a total of 200 interviews from the study, which resulted in a high interrater agreement (κ -value = 0.80, expected agreement = 54.6; rater agreement = 90.95).⁴⁰ Insufficient power prevented us from performing any analysis with specific diagnostic categories, such as post-traumatic stress disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, specific phobia, other depression, mania/bipolar disorder, other hyperactivity, psychosis or eating disorder. However, an 'any mental disorder' variable (present/absent) was created to encompass disorders included or excluded from the specific analysis.

Parental diagnosis

Current parental psychiatric diagnosis was assessed using the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI).⁴² Analyses were restricted to mothers, because they represented the vast majority of the respondents (92%). We investigated the following categories: any anxiety disorder (panic, agoraphobia, social or generalized anxiety disorder), any mood diagnosis (the presence of a depressive or manic episode) and psychotic diagnosis. Insufficient power prevented us from performing analyses with specific maternal diagnostic categories, such as substance use disorder and ADHD. An 'any mental disorder' variable (present/absent) was also created to encompass any current anxiety, mood, or substance use disorder, psychosis or ADHD. In eight subjects this variable could not be computed due to missing data regarding psychotic syndrome (n=11) and ADHD (n=16). This discrepancy occurred because the missing data did not impact the 'any mental disorder' value if another maternal disorder was present, since it would have been tagged as "present" nonetheless. In cases where all other disorders were tagged as "absent," the missing data prevented computation.

Data analysis

DSH prevalence rates were calculated using both unweighted and weighted samples for the oversampling procedure. For details about the HRC's weighting procedure, see Martel et al.43 Logistic regression models were performed using the survey package from R,44 taking school clusters into consideration and trimming the weights to fit into an interval between 0.3 and 3 to avoid the inflation of a few cases with too much weight.⁴⁵ Associations between DSH and child or parental psychopathology were estimated using three models: 1) bivariate associations (in which each predictor variable was considered individually); 2) multiple associations adjusted for demographic variables; 3) multiple associations adjusted for demographic variables and comorbidity (in which all predictor variables were considered simultaneously). Additional analysis stratified by age was also performed for children (6 to 9y) and early adolescents (10 to 14y). All significance tests were two-sided with a p-level of 0.05.

Table 1 Sample description according to age group and total sample

Results

The sample mainly consisted of white, middle-class boys, The most common diagnoses were ADHD and ODD, and the most common maternal diagnosis was anxiety disorder (Table 1).

Prevalence of deliberate self-harm in children and early adolescents

The lifetime DSH prevalence in the total sample was 1.6% (1.8% for children and 1.5% for adolescents). DSH prevalence in the last month was 0.8% (0.6% for children and 1% for adolescents). There were no significant differences in prevalence rate between the two age groups (odds ratio [OR] = 1.56, 95% confidence interval [95%CI] 0.8-3.05 for current DSH and OR = 0.86, 95%CI 0.47-1.57 for lifetime DSH).

Associations with demographic factors

The prevalence of lifetime and current DSH did not vary with age, gender or race. However, the chance of reporting a lifetime DSH episode was 70% lower among middleclass children than upper-class children. No associations

	6 to	9 years	(n=1,172)	10 to	10 to 14 years (n=1,336)			Total sample (n=2,508)		
	Unweighted		Weighted	Unweighted		Weighted	Unweighted		Weighted	
	n	%	%	n	%	%	n	%	%	
Gender										
Male	639	54.5	53.5	694	51.9	52.2	1,333	53.1	52.8	
Socioeconomic status										
A/B (the wealthiest)	239	20.4	19.5	287	21.5	21.4	526	21.0	20.5	
C ` ´	811	69.2	70.9	926	69.3	70.3	1,737	69.3	70.6	
D/E (the poorest)	122	10.4	9.5	123	9.2	8.3	245	9.8	8.9	
Ethnic aroup										
Majority (White)	699	59.6	58.3	816	61.1	60.3	1.515	60.4	59.4	
Minority (Black, mixed-race, Asian, Native South American or unknown)	473	40.4	41.7	520	38.9	39.7	993	39.6	40.6	
Outcomes										
Current DSH	10	0.9	0.6	18	1.3	1.0	28	1.1	0.8	
Lifetime DSH	26	2.2	1.8	30	2.2	1.5	56	2.2	1.6	
Psychiatric diagnoses (current)										
Ány mental disorder	298	25.4	22.2	352	26.3	21.0	650	25.9	21.6	
Anxiety disorder	58	4.9	3.8	75	5.6	4.3	133	5.3	4.0	
Maior depression	23	2.0	1.7	50	3.7	2.4	73	2.9	2.1	
ADHD	136	11.6	10.5	137	10.3	8.5	273	10.9	9.4	
ODD	71	6.1	5.7	60	4.5	3.8	131	5.2	4.7	
Conduct disorder	14	1.2	0.9	26	1.9	1.6	40	1.6	1.2	
Maternal psychiatric diagnoses (current)										
Any mental disorder	315	27.0	24.6	435	32.6	28.8	750	30.0	26.8	
Anxiety disorder	237	20.2	17.8	347	26.0	23.2	584	23.3	20.6	
Any mood disorder	205	17.5	16.2	285	21.3	17.4	490	19.5	16.8	

ADHD = attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; CI = confidence interval; DSH = deliberate self-harm; ODD = oppositional defiant disorder. Anxiety disorder includes generalized anxiety disorder, separation anxiety disorder and social anxiety. For children, any mental disorder includes disorders used in specific analysis and post-traumatic stress disorder, including obsessive-compulsive disorder, specific phobia, other depression, mania/bipolar disorder, other hyperactivity, psychosis or eating disorder. For mothers, any mental disorder encompasses any current anxiety, mood, substance abuse, psychotic or attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorders.

4.6

61

5.2

4.4

3.6

119

4.8

4.1

58

Psychotic syndrome

were found between current DSH and socioeconomic status. Associations between DSH and demographic factors were similar between child and adolescent subpopulations (Table 2).

Clinical associations

Current and lifetime DSH were more frequent in children with major depression, ADHD and ODD, after controlling for demographic variables and the co-occurrence of psychiatric disorders. For both current and lifetime DSH, there were significant associations with conduct disorders in bivariate and multiple models adjusted for demographic factors, although the associations were fully explained by other diagnoses in multiple models adjusted for comorbidity (Table 3). Stratified analysis according to age-group revealed the same pattern of associations for adolescents (Table 4). For children, current DSH was associated with major depression and ADHD in a fully adjusted model, while associations with ODD and conduct disorder were non-significant. In children, however, lifetime DSH was associated with major depression and conduct disorder, but not with ADHD or ODD (Table 4).

Associations with maternal diagnosis

Mothers with anxiety disorders were three times more likely than those without them to report a current or lifetime episode of DSH in their offspring. Current and lifetime associations between offspring DSH and maternal mood disorders were found in bivariate models and models adjusted for demographic factors, although the associations were fully explained by other diagnoses in multiple models adjusted for the co-occurrence of other psychiatric disorders. No associations were found for mothers with a psychotic syndrome (Table 3). According to the completely adjusted models presented in Table 5, with results stratified by age group, we can confirm that maternal anxiety is associated with lifetime DSH among children, as well as with current DSH among adolescents. On the other hand, maternal mood disorders predict current DSH, specifically in children.

Discussion

This study provides the prevalence rates of DSH, its clinical correlates and association with maternal psychopathology with in children and adolescents from a community sample. The current and lifetime DSH prevalences were 0.6% and 1.8%, respectively, with no significant differences regarding age, gender or race. The chance of reporting a lifetime DSH episode was lower among the middle-class than the upper-class. Major depression, ADHD and ODD were associated with DSH independently of co-occurring psychiatric syndromes. Moreover, maternal anxiety disorder was strongly associated with lifetime DSH in children and with current DSH in adolescents. However, maternal mood disorder was associated with current DSH specifically in younger children.

Our lifetime DSH estimate was lower than that of a recent systematic review, which reported an international

Table 2 Deliberate sel	f-harm	(DSH) prevalence	in su	bpopulations and	demog	raphic bivariate as	sociat	ions stratified by a	age			
		6 to 9 years	(n=1, ⁻	172)		10 to 14 year	s (n=1,	336)		Total sample	e (n=2,	508)
	Curre	nt DSH (last month)		Lifetime DSH	Currei	nt DSH (last month)		Lifetime DSH	Curre	nt DSH (last month)		Lifetime DSH
	%	Bivariate model OR (95%CI)	%	Bivariate model OR (95%CI)	%	Bivariate model OR (95%CI)	%	Bivariate model OR (95%CI)	%	Bivariate model OR (95%CI)	%	Bivariate model OR (95%CI)
Age		1.49 (0.77-2.86)		1.52 (0.86-2.67)		1.03 (0.77-1.38)		0.95 (0.75-1.19)		1.14 (0.95-1.37)		1.00 (0.86-1.17)
Gender Male Female	0.3	1 3.82 (0.84-17.29)	2.1 1.3	1 0.61 (0.23-1.63)	0.8 1.2	1 1.48 (0.49-4.45)	1.5 1.6	1 1.07 (0.46-2.50)	0.5 1.1	1 2.05 (0.89-4.75)	1.8 1.5	1 0.81 (0.46-1.43)
Socioeconomic Status A/B (the wealthiest) C D/E (the poorest)	1.5 0.4 0.3	1 0.28 (0.06-1.25) 0.20 (0.02-1.95)	4.7 1.5	1 0.20 (0.08-0.48)* 0.31 (0.07-1.35)	0.8 0.9 1.8	1 1.18 (0.25-5.44) 2.27 (0.32-16.05)	2.7 1.1 1.8	1 0.42 (0.18-0.96) [†] 0.67 (0.15-2.90)	1.1 0.7 1.0	1 0.62 (0.28-1.35) 0.92 (0.23-3.63)	3.6 1.1 1.6	1 0.29 (0.18-0.47)* 0.45 (0.16-1.25)
Race Majority (White) Minority (Black, mixed-race, Asian, Native South American or unknown)	0.7 0.6	1 0.85 (0.17-4.16)	1.4	1 0.73 (0.28-1.88)	1.2 0.6	1 0.50 (0.14-1.75)	1.9 0.9	1 0.45 (0.16-1.29)	1.0 0.6	1 0.61 (0.21-1.77)	2.0	1 0.59 (0.28-1.22)
* p < 0.001: [†] p < 0.05.												

Table 3 DSH prevale	nce and a	ssociations v	with currer	nt youth/mat	ternal psych	Jopathold	ogy in the tot	tal samp	e			
				Currer	nt DSH (last r	month)					Lifetime DSH	
		%	Bivaria OR (5	te model 35%CI)	Multiple mo OR (95%	odel 1 «CI)	Multiple mod OR (95%(del 2 CI)	%	Bivariate model OR (95%CI)	Multiple model 1 OR (95%CI)	Multiple model 2 OR (95%CI)
Youth psychiatric diagn Anxiety disorder Major depression ADHD Oppositional defiant Conduct disorder Any mental disorder	oses (n=2,{	508) 1.5 1.2.7 4.4 6.2 5.2 3.2 3.2	1.90 (0 25.75 (9. 10.20 (4) 7.16 (1. 19.57 (5.	.61-5.89) 29-71.31)* 52-23.03)* 10-34.30)* 53-33.50) [‡] 94 -64.52)*	1.79 (0.60- 25.89 (9.39- 12.20 (5.70- 14.39 (4.99- 8.76 (2.46- 20.95 (6.40-	-5.40) 71.40)* 26.11)* 41.48)* 31.27) [†]	0.96 (0.19-4 16.30 (4.98-55 6.57 (3.11-13 4.89 (1.61-14 1.06 (0.09-11	4.76) 3.36)* 1 3.89)* 4.87) [†] 2.50) 1	33.0 14.4 7.8 5.3 5.3 8 5.3	1.93 (0.77-4.82) 2.26 (5.28-28.51) 5.56 (3.42-12.59)* 3.30 (2.35-16.89)* 3.47 (2.84-25.28)* 3.93 (4.30-18.54)*	1.90 (0.73-4.91) 1.5.53 (6.62-36.41)* 7.24 (3.64-14.40)* 6.91 (2.60-18.38)* 11.45 (4.00-32.78)* 9.78 (4.50-21.27)*	1.41 (0.48-4.13) 9.03 (3.13-26.11)* 4.43 (2.12-9.24)* 2.97 (1.15-7.67) [‡] 2.97 (0.56-15.76)
Maternal psychiatric dia Anxiety Any mood Psychotic syndrome [§] Any mental disorder ^{II}	agnoses (n=	-2,295) 2.3 2.0 1.7	5.13 (2.0 3.44 (1. 2.84 (0. 3.57 (1.	01-13.09) [†] 68-7.06) [†] 73-11.01) 40-9.11) [†]	4.95 (1.94-1 3.37 (1.64- 2.77 (0.80- 3.46 (1.39-		3.08 (1.20-7 1.94 (0.98-3 1.08 (0.28-4	.87)‡ 3.86) 4.23)	4 6 6 6 0 4 4 6 0 4 7 6	3.72 (1.83-7.57)* 2.62 (1.43-4.81) [†] 1.50 (0.43-5.25) 2.91 (1.43-5.91) [‡]	3.88 (1.92-7.85)* 2.96 (1.57-5.59)⁺ 1.71 (0.52-5.61) 3.12 (1.53-6.36) [‡]	2.89 (1.37-6.08) [†] 1.72 (0.91-3.25) 0.74 (0.20-2.73)
95%CI = 95% confident Multiple model 1, contro Anxiety disorder include traumatic stress disorde mental disorder encomp 8 Psychotic syndrome de "In eight subjects this v * p < 0.001; [†] p < 0.01	ce interval; olled for aga se generaliz er, including passes any ata was mis ata was mis ata was mis ata was nis ata was nis $ata was nis$	ADHD = atter e, gender, soc ced anxiety dis obsessive-cor current anxie ssing in 11 cat ldh't be compi 5.	tion-deficit/ ioeconomic order, sepa mpulsive dis ty, mood, su ses, which v uted becaus	/hyperactivity : status and r tration anxiety sorder, specifi ubstance abu were excluder se of missing	disorder: DS ace: Multiple / disorder anc ic phobia, othe ic phobia, othe ic phobia, analys d from analys I psychotic sy	 H = delib model 2, d social at social arear er depress c or attent sis using l indrome (i 	erate self-harm controlled for vxiety. For chill sion, mania/bit listwise deletio n=11) and AD	n; OR = c age, gen dren, any olar diso olar diso rativity eractivity nn HD (n=16	odds rat der, soc mental rder, oth disorde) data.	io. iioeconomic statu disorder includes her hyperactivity, p rs.	is, race and other diagno s disorders used in specif osychosis or eating disorc	ses. ic analysis and post- ler. For mothers, any
Table 4 DSH prevale	nce and a	ssociations v	with curren	nt child psyc	chopathology	ly, stratifi	ed by age					
			Curren	it DSH (last m	ionth)						Lifetime DSH	
	%	Bivariate m OR (95%	odel CI)	Multiple m OR (95%	odel 1 «CI)	Multiple OR (9	t model 2 95%CI)	%	Biva OF	rriate model 3 (95%CI)	Multiple model 1 OR (95%CI)	Multiple model 2 OR (95%CI)
6 to 9y (n=1,172) Anxiety disorder Major depression ADHD Oppositional defiant Conduct disorder Any mental disorder	0. 13. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 4. 2. 2. 4. 2. 2. 4. 2. 2. 2. 4. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2.	1.27 (0.19-5 40.31 (8.33-15 7.89 (1.69-36 10.40 (2.18-4 5.78 (0.65-5 18.11 (2.16-15	3.44) 34.95) 3.70) [‡] 9.69) [†] 1.49) 52.03) [†]	1.26 (0.20 92.28 (15.01- 9.59 (1.94-4 16.48 (3.06- 21.18 (1.74-5 22.52 (3.05-1	-8.01) -6.67.13)* 47.29) [†] -88.88) [†] 258.59) [‡] 166.46) [†]	0.89 (0.0 67.02 (6.0 6.28 (1.3 4.85 (0.5 2.70 (0.0	03-25.61) 06-740.87) 38-28.58)‡ 95-24.63) 03-228.89)	2.0 5.6 4.7 21.9 4.5	1.13 12.99 4.47 3.07 17.46 4.73	(0.29-4.39) (3.63-46.56)* (1.48-13.54) [‡] (0.84-11.21) (3.65-83.57)* (1.87-11.96) [†]	1.21 (0.32-4.60) 18.48 (4.15-82.19)* 4.48 (1.38-14.54)* 3.33 (0.89-12.53) 40.57 (8.35-197.04)* 5.21 (2.01-13.54) [†]	0.96 (0.30-3.08) 11.80 (2.15-64.80) [†] 3.03 (0.76-12.11) 1.77 (0.56-5.56) 15.14 (1.03-221.51)
10 to 14y (n=1,336) Anxiety disorder Major depression ADHD Oppositional defiant Conduct disorder Any mental disorder	2.0 6.1 3.9 3.9	2.20 (0.66-7 18.89 (4.51-7 12.56 (4.01-3 14.47 (3.87-5 7.17 (0.89-5 20.81 (4.68-9)	7.42) 9.24)* 9.30)* 7.53) 2.44)*	2.09 (0.63 17.01 (4.04- 13.68 (4.44- 13.72 (3.64- 7.45 (1.17-4 20.79 (4.54-	-6.94) -71.62)* 42.15)* 51.73)* 47.44) [‡] 95.23)*	1.02 (0. 9.44 (1.) 7.11 (2.2 4.66 (1.) 1.32 (0.)	20-5.27) 05-85.20) 21-22.86)† 10-19.74)‡ 05-32.53)	3.8 13.1 8.1 6.1 6.1	2.77 12.11 9.63 (9.63 (12.36 4.47 21.50	(0.89-8.64) (3.37-43.52)* (4.29-21.64)* (3.81-40.09)* (0.57-34.89) (6.49-71.19)*	2.65 (0.81-8.67) 12.98 (3.57-47.21)* 10.67 (4.70-24.25)* 12.57 (3.92-40.32)* 5.35 (0.88-32.53) 23.09 (6.41-83.23)*	$\begin{array}{c} 1.82 \ (0.41 - 8.15) \\ 7.13 \ (1.06 - 48.10)^{\ddagger} \\ 5.88 \ (2.45 - 14.07)^{\ast} \\ 5.42 \ (1.51 - 19.47)^{\ddagger} \\ 5.42 \ (1.51 - 19.47)^{\ddagger} \\ 0.92 \ (0.04 - 20.22) \end{array}$

95%CI = 95% confidence interval; ADHD = attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; DSH = deliberate self-harm; OR = odds ratio. Multiple model 1, controlled for age, gender, socioeconomic status and race; Multiple model 2, controlled for age, gender, socioeconomic status, race and other diagnoses. Anxiety disorder includes generalized anxiety disorder, separation anxiety disorder and social anxiety. Any mental disorder includes disorders used in specific analysis and post-traumatic stress disorder, including obsessive-compulsive disorder, specific phobia, other depression, mania/bipolar disorder, other hyperactivity, psychosis or eating disorder.

		Curre	int DSH (last month)	-	ŝ		Lifetime DSH	
	%	Bivariate model OR (95%Cl)	Multiple model 1 OR (95%Cl)	Multiple model 2 OR (95%CI)	%	Bivariate model OR (95%CI)	Multiple model 1 OR (95%CI)	Multiple model 2 OR (95%Cl)
6 to 9y (n=1,079) Anxietv disorder	1.4	3.59 (0.76-16.93)	4.25 (0.94-19.16)	2.50 (0.83-7.55)	4.7	4.25 (1.43-12.67)*	5.17 (1.76-15.17) [†]	4.46 (1.24-16.03)*
Any mood disorder	1.5	3.92 (0.79-19.43)	4.83 (1.09-21.34) [*]	2.96 (1.15-7.59)*	3.8	2.75 (1.07-7.07)*	3.81 (1.58-9.15) [†]	1.54 (0.61-3.86)
Psychotic syndrome [‡] Any mental disorder [§]	0.7 1.0	1.26 (0.14-11.54) 2.34 (0.49-11.21)	1.42 (0.15-13.57) 2.78 (0.63-12.33)	0.51 (0.04-6.35) -	1.4 3.7	0.78 (0.16-3.91) 3.23 (1.11-9.40)*	1.02 (0.19-5.30) 4.25 (1.44-12.52)*	0.39 (0.06-2.47) -
10 to 14y (n=1,216) Anxietv disorder	2.9	5.77 (1.81-18.45) [†]	5.73 (1.79-18.36) [†]	3.66 (1.15-11.61)*	3.5	3.38 (1.48-7.75) [†]	3.35 (1.45-7.74) [‡]	2.17 (0.96-4.91)
Any mood disorder	2.4	3.14 (1.04-9.48) [*]	2.96 (0.95-9.26)	1.56 (0.40-5.98)	3.2	2.52 (1.04-6.09)*	2.51 (1.00-6.31)	1.74 (0.60-5.05)
Psýchotic syndrome ‡	3.5	4.08 (0.67-24.86)	3.93 (0.77-20.19)	1.57 (0.23-10.89)	3.5	2.45 (0.42-14.16)	2.50 (Ò.48-13.17)	1.24 (0.18-8.32)
Any mental disorder [§]	2.3	4.24 (1.33-13.51)*	4.20 (1.32-13.35)*		2.9	2.67 (1.19-6.01)*	2.66 (1.17-6.04)*	•
95%CI = 95% confidence Multiple model 1, controll includes generalized anxi	e interval; ed for ag∉ ety disord	ADHD = attention-deficit , gender, socioeconomic ler, separation anxiety dis	^{(hyperactivity} disorder; D status and race; Multiple sorder and social anxiety	SH = deliberate self-harr e model 2, controlled for ; any mental disorder enc	n; OR = c age, genc compasse	odds ratio. Jer, socioeconomic stat s any current anxiety, r	us, race and other diagno nood, substance abuse, r	ises. Anxiety disorder sychotic or attention-

supstal data. deficit/hyperactivity disorders. ^{*}Psychotic syndrome data was missing in 11 cases, which were excluded from the analysis using listwise deletion. ^{*}In eight subjects this variable couldn't be computed because of missing psychotic syndrome (n=11) and ADHD (n=16) c * p < 0.05; p < 0.01.

lifetime DSH prevalence of 12.2%.13 It was also lower than rates in other LMIC countries, such as Mexico (3.1% lifetime),¹⁵ China (2.9% lifetime),¹⁶ and South Africa (3.2% in the past-month).¹⁷ In Brazil, estimates of pastyear suicide attempts in 12- to 14-year-olds and 15- to 18-year-olds in Greater São Paulo public schools were 6.7% and 10%, respectively.²² Another study in the state of Sergipe reported a 6% suicide attempt prevalence in adolescents from 13 to 18 years old.²⁰ The differences between our findings and those of other studies might be related to: 1) our sample, which consisted of a mostly younger age-group; 2) different assessment methods (self-report vs. maternal report). However, like our study, U.S. community studies have reported a suicide attempt prevalence of 1.5% in children from 7 to 12 years old²⁴ and retrospectively estimated a DSH onset of less than 1% before 12 years of age, although this rate reached 4 to 5% in later adolescence,¹⁰ which was higher than our population.

Although DSH is commonly reported as higher among young girls, ^{10,15,20,24-26} some authors have reported comparable rates across genders,^{9,27} which is consistent with our findings. We found that middle class children have a lower risk than those of higher socioeconomic strata. Despite evidence that the socially disadvantaged are at greater risk of attempting suicide,²⁷ mixed results have been found in Brazil regarding this factor, 46,47 including a positive association with income inequality.⁴⁷ Previous research about neighborhood influence on antisocial behavior found that increased economic distance between a child and his/her neighbors was associated with increased antisocial behavior, not only for poor children growing up among wealthier neighbors but also for wealthier children growing up among poor neighbors.⁴⁸ Our study focused on public schools, and it is expected that only a small portion of wealthier students would be enrolled in them. This small number of upperclass individuals, besides being affected by social disintegration, could also have higher levels of psychopathology or cognitive problems. Additionally, it is possible that middle class children have stronger religious affiliations, resulting in more meaning in life, which has been found to be negatively associated with suicide rates in multinational studies. In fact, the higher suicide rates in wealthy nations seem to be associated with less religiosity and meaning in life.⁴⁹ Results in the literature regarding ethnicity are inconsistent: some studies have suggested a predominance of DSH in non-Caucasians^{26,29,30}: while other suggest a predominance in Caucasians, ^{10,31,50} and others, like ours, found no racial differences.24,32

Very few community studies on DSH have reported clinical correlates and adjusted for the co-occurrence of psychiatric diagnoses. Mood disorders (particularly depression) have been consistently associated with DSH, while anxious and disruptive disorders have shown conflicting results. Gould et al.24 found associations between adolescent suicide attempts and mood, anxiety and substance abuse/dependence, but not with disruptive disorder. Nock et al.¹⁰ corroborated the association with mood disorders, but found mixed results regarding anxiety and impulse control disorders. In longitudinal studies, DSH incidence

during adolescence was independently associated with depression, anxiety, antisocial behavior and a high risk of substance use.^{9,27} In a follow-up study of a clinical sample of individuals with ADHD who were initially assessed at 4 to 6 years old, it was found that they were at increased risk, relative to matched controls, for meeting depression criteria and attempting suicide by age 18.34 Our results align with previous research indicating that developmental trajectories involving a high level of disruptiveness are more consistently associated with lifetime self-harm than those with a high-level of anxiousness.⁵¹ It is also important to point out that suicidal behavior is a criterion of major depression, which could inflate statistics about its co-occurrence with DSH. Additionally, clinicians are more likely to ask about DSH in patients with other depression symptoms, and our results highlight the importance of actively inquiring about both internalizing and disruptive disorders, especially in children, who are less likely than adults to seek help in the year prior to the onset of suicidal behavior.¹

Previous studies have found associations between a wide range of parental mental disorders (such as depression, anxiety, substance abuse and antisocial personality disorders) and increased risk of lifetime suicide attempts by offspring.³⁵ Our results align with those of other LMIC studies, which found parental anxiety as the only familial psychopathology independently associated with offspring lifetime suicide attempts.³⁶⁻³⁸ However, reverse causation cannot be excluded: qualitative research indicates that parents can react with anxiety, shame, anger, guilt and depression after discovering DSH in their children.⁵²

Some limitations warrant consideration. First, due to its cross-sectional design, it is impossible to determine the direction of the relationship between DSH and maternal psychopathology. Second, evaluating only children who are being enrolled at school by a biological parent overlooks high-risk cases, such as adopted children and those avoiding, or being kept from, school. Finally, parental reports of psychopathology may either overlook covered self-harm behaviors or be influenced by overanxious parents who tend to overestimate symptoms in their children. Nevertheless, this study has certain strengths that should also be noted. First, the inclusion of young children from a large community sample fills a gap in DSH assessment in school-age children. Second, the use of a structured clinical interview to assess psychopathology with both children and mothers allowed us to assess psychopathology in a structured way, which is lacking in the current literature. Finally, our analysis included covariation for both demographic factors and co-occurring psychopathology, investigating both univariate and independent associations between maternal psychopathology and DSH, which fills a gap in the LMIC literature.

We conclude that DSH is an important problem in children and adolescents. Diagnoses of depression, ADHD and ODD are consistently associated with DSH, as is having a mother with anxiety disorder. Our results are relevant for clinicians and policy makers, since they reinforce the importance of a more comprehensive evaluation of DSH in children with the aforementioned mental disorders and since DSH is closely associated with suicide. Future longitudinal studies will be important for investigating the role of DSH as a predictor of psychopathological trajectories, which can facilitate the development of interventions.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Instituto Nacional de Psiguiatria do Desenvolvimento (INPD), a science and technology institute funded by the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPg; grant 573974/2008-0) and the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP; grant 2008/ 57896-8). The authors received scholarships from the following Brazilian government agencies: CNPg, FAPESP, the Coordenação de Aperfeicoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) and the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul (FAPERGS). ARS and PMP are recipients of CNPq/CAPES Masters/ PhD scholarships; GGM, JJM, and ECM are recipients of CNPq senior research scholarships (302463/2011-9); LAR receives research support from CNPg, FAPERGS, the Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (HCPA), and CAPES: GAS is the recipient of a CAPES/FAPERGS postdoctoral scholarship. Funders had no role in the study design, data collection/analysis, decision to publish or preparation of manuscript.

The authors would like to thank the children and families for their participation, which made this research possible.

Disclosure

AG and PMP have received continuous medical education support from Astra Zeneca, Eli-Lilly, and Janssen-Cilag. LAR has been a member of the speakers' bureau/ advisory board and/or acted as a consultant for Eli-Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis, and Shire in the last 3 years; he receives authorship royalties from Oxford Press and ArtMed; he has also received travel awards from Shire for his participation of the 2014 APA and 2015 WFADHD meetings; the ADHD and Juvenile Bipolar Disorder Outpatient Programs he chaired received unrestricted educational and research support from the following pharmaceutical companies in the last three years: Eli-Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis, and Shire. The other authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1 Turecki G, Brent DA. Suicide and suicidal behaviour. Lancet. 2016;387:1227-39.
- 2 Cooper J, Kapur N, Webb R, Lawlor M, Guthrie E, Mackway-Jones K, et al. Suicide after deliberate self-harm: A 4-year cohort study. Am J Psychiatry. 2005;162:297-303.
- 3 Hawton K, Bergen H, Cooper J, Turnbull P, Waters K, Ness J, et al. Suicide following self-harm: findings from the Multicentre Study of self-harm in England, 2000-2012. J Affect Disord. 2015;175:147-51.
- 4 Yoshimasu K, Kiyohara C, Miyashita K. Stress Research Group of the Japanese Society for Hygiene. Suicidal risk factors and completed suicide: meta-analyses based on psychological autopsy studies. Environ Health Prev Med. 2008;13:243-56.
- 5 Patton GC, Coffey C, Sawyer SM, Viner RM, Haller DM, Bose K, et al. Global patterns of mortality in young people: a systematic analysis of population health data. Lancet. 2009;374:881-92.
- 6 Vijayakumar L, Phillips MR, Silverman MM, Gunnell D, Carli V. Suicide. In: Patel V, Chisholm D, Dua T, Laxminarayan R, Medina-Mora

ME, editors. Disease control priorities. 3rd ed. Washington: World Bank; 2016. p. 163-81.

- 7 Corso PS, Mercy JA, Simon TR, Finkelstein EA, Miller TR. Medical costs and productivity losses due to interpersonal and self-directed violence in the United States. Am J Prev Med. 2007;32:474-82.
- 8 Plener PL, Schumacher TS, Munz LM, Groschwitz RC. The longitudinal course of non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm: a systematic review of the literature. Borderline Personal Disord Emot Dysregul. 2015;2:2.
- 9 Moran P, Coffey C, Romaniuk H, Olsson C, Borschmann R, Carlin JB, et al. The natural history of self-harm from adolescence to young adulthood: a population-based cohort study. Lancet. 2012;379:236-43.
- 10 Nock MK, Green JG, Hwang I, McLaughlin KA, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, et al. Prevalence, correlates, and treatment of lifetime suicidal behavior among adolescents: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication Adolescent Supplement. JAMA Psychiatry. 2013;70:300-10.
- 11 Mars B, Heron J, Crane C, Hawton K, Lewis G, Macleod J, et al. Clinical and social outcomes of adolescent self harm: population based birth cohort study. BMJ. 2014;349:g5954.
- 12 Nakar O, Brunner R, Schilling O, Chanen A, Fischer G, Parzer P, et al. Developmental trajectories of self-injurious behavior, suicidal behavior and substance misuse and their association with adolescent borderline personality pathology. J Affect Disord. 2016;197:231-8.
- 13 Muehlenkamp JJ, Claes L, Havertape L, Plener PL. International prevalence of adolescent non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate selfharm. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health. 2012;6:10.
- 14 McKinnon B, Gariépy G, Sentenac M, Elgar FJ. Adolescent suicidal behaviours in 32 low- and middle-income countries. Bull World Health Organ. 2016;94:340-50F.
- 15 Borges G, Benjet C, Medina-Mora ME, Orozco R, Nock M. Suicide ideation, plan, and attempt in the Mexican adolescent mental health survey. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2008;47:41-52.
- 16 Hu J, Dong Y, Chen X, Liu Y, Ma D, Liu X, et al. Prevalence of suicide attempts among Chinese adolescents: a meta-analysis of crosssectional studies. Compr Psychiatry. 2015;61:78-89.
- 17 Cluver L, Orkin M, Boyes ME, Sherr L. Child and adolescent suicide attempts, suicidal behavior, and adverse childhood experiences in South Africa: a prospective study. J Adolesc Health. 2015;57:52-9.
- 18 Souza LD, Silva RA, Jansen K, Kuhn RP, Horta BL, Pinheiro RT. Suicidal ideation in adolescents aged 11 to 15 years: prevalence and associated factors. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2010;32:37-41.
- 19 Souza LD, Ores L, Oliveira GT, Cruzeiro ALS, Silva RA, Pinheiro RT, et al. Ideação suicida na adolescência: prevalência e fatores associados. J Bras Psiquiatr. 2010;59:286-92.
- 20 Silva RJ, dos Santos FA, Soares NM, Pardono E. Suicidal ideation and associated factors among adolescents in northeastern Brazil. Sci World J. 2014;2014:450943.
- 21 Baggio L, Palazzo LS, Aerts DRGC. Planejamento suicida entre adolescentes escolares: prevalência e fatores associados. Cad Saude Publica. 2009;25:142-50.
- 22 Carlini-Cotrim B, Gazal-Carvalho C, Gouveia N. [Health behavior among students of public and private schools in the metropolitan area of São Paulo, Brazil]. Rev Saude Publica. 2000;34:636-45.
- 23 Mcloughlin AB, Gould MS, Malone KM. Global trends in teenage suicide: 2003-2014. QJM. 2015;108:765-80.
- 24 Gould MS, King R, Greenwald S, Fisher P, Schwab-Stone M, Kramer R, et al. Psychopathology associated with suicidal ideation and attempts among children and adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1998;37:915-23.
- 25 Evans E, Hawton K, Rodham K, Deeks J. The prevalence of suicidal phenomena in adolescents: a systematic review of population-based studies. Suicide Life Threat Behav. 2005;35:239-50.
- 26 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 1991-2015 high and middle school youth risk behavior survey data [Internet]. [cited 2016 Jun 27]. https://nccd.cdc.gov/youthonline/App/Results.aspx?LID=XX
- 27 Fergusson DM, Woodward LJ, Horwood LJ. Risk factors and life processes associated with the onset of suicidal behaviour during adolescence and early adulthood. Psychol Med. 2000;30:23-39.
- 28 Kokkevi A, Rotsika V, Arapaki A, Richardson C. Adolescents' selfreported suicide attempts, self-harm thoughts and their correlates across 17 European countries. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2012;53:381-9.
- 29 Gratz KL, Latzman RD, Young J, Heiden LJ, Damon J, Hight T, et al. Deliberate self-harm among underserved adolescents: the moderating

roles of gender, race, and school-level and association with borderline personality features. Personal Disord. 2012;3:39-54.

- 30 Yates TM, Tracy AJ, Luthar SS. Nonsuicidal self-injury among "privileged" youths: longitudinal and cross-sectional approaches to developmental process. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2008;76:52-62.
- 31 Lloyd-Richardson EE, Perrine N, Dierker L, Kelley ML. Characteristics and functions of non-suicidal self-injury in a community sample of adolescents. Psychol Med. 2007;37:1183-92.
- 32 Hilt LM, Nock MK, Lloyd-Richardson EE, Prinstein MJ. Longitudinal study of nonsuicidal self-injury among young adolescents: rates, correlates, and preliminary test of an interpersonal model. J Early Adolesc. 2008;28:455-69.
- 33 Brezo J, Paris J, Vitaro F, Hébert M, Tremblay RE, Turecki G. Predicting suicide attempts in young adults with histories of childhood abuse. Br J Psychiatry. 2008;193:134-9.
- 34 Chronis-Tuscano A, Molina BS, Pelham WE, Applegate B, Dahlke A, Overmyer M, et al. Very early predictors of adolescent depression and suicide attempts in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2010;67:1044-51.
- 35 Gureje O, Oladeji B, Hwang J, Chiu WT, Kessler RC, Sampson NA, et al. Parental psychopathology and the risk of suicidal behavior in their offspring: results from the World Mental Health surveys. Mol Psychiatry. 2011;16:1221-33.
- 36 Santana GL, Coelho BM, Borges G, Viana MC, Wang YP, Andrade LH. The influence of parental psychopathology on offspring suicidal behavior across the lifespan. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0134970.
- 37 Atwoli L, Nock MK, Williams DR, Stein DJ. Association between parental psychopathology and suicidal behavior among adult offspring: results from the cross-sectional South African Stress and Health survey. BMC Psychiatry. 2014;14:65.
- 38 Oladeji BD, Gureje O. Parental mental disorders and suicidal behavior in the Nigerian survey of mental health and well-being. Arch Suicide Res. 2011;15:372-83.
- 39 Weissman MM, Wickramaratne P, Adams P, Wolk S, Verdeli H, Olfson M. Brief screening for family psychiatric history: the family history screen. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2000;57:675-82.
- 40 Salum GA, Gadelha A, Pan PM, Moriyama TS, Graeff-Martins AS, Tamanaha AC, et al. High risk cohort study for psychiatric disorders in childhood: rationale, design, methods and preliminary results. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res. 2015;24:58-73.
- 41 Fleitlich-Bilyk B, Goodman R. Prevalence of child and adolescent psychiatric disorders in southeast Brazil. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2004;43:727-34.
- 42 Amorim P. Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI): validação de entrevista breve para diagnóstico de transtornos mentais. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2000;22:106-15.
- 43 Martel MM, Pan PM, Hoffman MS, Gadelha A, Rosario MC, Mari J, et al. A general psychopathology factor (p-factor) in children: Structural model analysis and external validation through familial risk and child executive function. J Abnorm Psychol. 2017;126:137-48.
- 44 Lumley T. Complex surveys: a guide to analysis using R. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons Inc.; 2010.
- 45 Waldhauser C. Survey: computing your own post-stratification weights in R [Internet]. 2014 Apr 13 [cited 2016 Jun 5]. www.r-blog gers.com/survey-computing-your-own-post-stratification-weights-in-r/
- 46 Bando DH, Lester D. An ecological study on suicide and homicide in Brazil. Cien Saude Colet. 2014;19:1179-89.
- 47 Machado DB, Rasella D, Dos Santos DN. Impact of income inequality and other social determinants on suicide rate in Brazil. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0124934.
- 48 Odgers CL, Donley S, Caspi A, Bates CJ, Moffitt TE. Living alongside more affluent neighbors predicts greater involvement in antisocial behavior among low-income boys. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2015;56:1055-64.
- 49 Oishi S, Diener E. Residents of poor nations have a greater sense of meaning in life than residents of wealthy nations. Psychol Sci. 2014;25:422-30.
- 50 Muehlenkamp JJ, Gutierrez PM. Risk for suicide attempts among adolescents who engage in non-suicidal self-injury. Arch Suicide Res. 2007;11:69-82.
- 51 Brezo J, Barker ED, Paris J, Hébert M, Vitaro F, Tremblay RE, et al. Childhood trajectories of anxiousness and disruptiveness as predictors of suicide attempts. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2008;162:1015-21.
- 52 Ferrey AE, Hughes ND, Simkin S, Locock L, Stewart A, Kapur N, et al. The impact of self-harm by young people on parents and families: a qualitative study. BMJ Open. 2016;6:e009631.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Correlations between caregiver psychiatric symptoms and offspring psychopathology in a low-resource setting

Camila T. Matsuzaka,¹ Milton L. Wainberg,^{2,3} Andrea Norcini Pala,^{2,3} Elis V. Hoffmann,¹ Bruno M. Coimbra,¹ Rosaly F. Braga,¹ Cristiane S. Duarte,^{3,4} Annika C. Sweetland,^{2,3} Marcelo F. Mello¹

¹Departamento de Psiquiatria, Universidade Federal de São Paulo (UNIFESP), São Paulo, SP, Brazil. ²Division of Epidemiology, New York State Psychiatric Institute, New York, NY, USA. ³Department of Psychiatry, Columbia University College of Physician and Surgeons, New York, NY, USA. ⁴Division of Child Psychiatry, New York State Psychiatric Institute, New York, NY, USA.

Objective: Associations between parental/caregiver depression and adverse child outcomes are well established and have been described through one or more mechanisms: child psychopathology following exposure to a depressed caregiver, child psychopathology exacerbating a caregiver's depression, and caregiver and offspring depression sharing the same etiology. Data from low and middle-income countries is scarce. We examined correlations between common symptoms of mental disorders in caregivers and their offspring's psychopathology in a Brazilian sample.

Methods: In this cross-sectional study, adult caregivers were screened for depression during routine home visits by community health workers as part of the Brazilian Family Health Strategy. Caregivers with suspected depression were assessed using the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale and the Self-Reporting Questionnaire (SRQ-20). Children's symptoms were evaluated using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ).

Results: The sample included 68 primary caregivers and 110 children aged 6 to 15 years. Higher caregiver scores on the SRQ-20 correlated significantly with psychiatric symptoms in offspring.

Conclusion: These results substantiate our hypothesis that child psychopathology correlates with caregivers' psychiatric symptoms. This paper adds to the growing literature on community mental health assessment and can help guide future strategies for reducing the burden of common mental disorders in caregivers and children alike in low and middle-income countries.

Keywords: Depressive disorder; primary health care; child; caregivers; Brazil

Introduction

Common mental disorders, defined as depressive, anxiety, and somatic disorders, are typically encountered in community and primary care settings.¹ Major depressive disorder (MDD) is the most important common mental disorder because of its burden, and is among the top 10 causes of years lived with disability worldwide.² To date, most studies of common mental disorders in parents/caregivers and offspring with emotional and behavioral problems have focused on parental depression. MDD is a complex familial disorder that often affects offspring via different mechanisms, including genetic contributions^{3,4} and shared social environment.⁵⁻⁷ Numerous studies have shown that schoolaged children of depressed mothers have increased rates of internalizing⁸⁻¹¹ and externalizing behavior.^{10,12,13} Multiple studies, all from high-income countries, have examined the bidirectional effects of caregiver and childhood depression, suggesting that children's symptoms may also exacerbate caregiver depression.^{7,14-17} However, data from

low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) are scarce. One Chilean study documented that a large proportion of children of depressed mothers attending primary care clinics had psychopathological symptom scores in the clinical range, with a predominance of internalizing symptoms.¹⁸ Two small studies, one each from Brazil and Malaysia, examined how offspring psychopathology was associated with maternal stress,^{19,20} but none examined how child psychopathology may exacerbate caregivers' psychiatric disorders.

Within this context, we sought to examine how caregivers' psychopathology correlates with symptoms in their offspring. Both symptomatic and asymptomatic children were included. Considering reciprocal associations of child-caregiver psychopathology, we hypothesized that the psychopathology of caregivers and their children would be strongly correlated. To our knowledge, this is the first such study conducted in a LMIC.

Material and methods

Study design

This descriptive cross-sectional study recruited participants screened for inclusion in a randomized control trial (RCT) designed to compare the effectiveness of interpersonal

Correspondence: Camila Tanabe Matsuzaka, Programa de Atendimento e Pesquisa em Violência (PROVE), Universidade Federal de São Paulo (UNIFESP), Rua Borges Lagoa, 570, 10° andar, Vila Clementino, CEP 04038-000, São Paulo, SP, Brazil. E-mail: camila.tm@gmail.com

Submitted Apr 25 2016, accepted Mar 08 2017, Epub Jul 06 2017.

counseling facilitated by community health workers versus enhanced treatment-as-usual within the Brazilian Family-Health Strategy (Estratégia de Saúde da Família), Unidade Básica de Saúde Iacapé, in Sapopemba, a district of São Paulo, Brazil. The Research Ethics Committee of Universidade Federal de São Paulo (UNIFESP) and the Municipal Health Council of the city of São Paulo approved the study protocol. The trial was registered in the Brazilian Clinical Trials registry with accession number RBR-5qhmb5 (http://www.ensaiosclinicos.gov.br/rg/RBR-5ghmb5/). The outcome data from the RCT are under analysis and not vet published. This cross-sectional study, in turn, was design to examine the correlation between caregiver and child psychopathology in a poor district of the city of São Paulo, Brazil, within a community-based health outreach program conducted as part of the Brazilian Family-Health Strategy, among a subset of individuals screened for inclusion in the RCT.

Sample

Participants were recruited by community health workers during routine home visits between May 1, 2013, and April 30, 2015, All community health workers were employees of the Municipal Health Council of São Paulo, and received no monetary compensation to screen participants. Participation in the study was voluntary, and no financial compensation was offered. Written informed consent was obtained from adults, and written informed assent from children. All caregivers of children aged 6-15 who screened positive for depression were invited to participate in this study if they met the following criteria: 1) not currently in treatment with antidepressants or psychotherapy; and 2) no active suicidal ideation, current/previous episodes of mania or hypomania, current/previous psychotic symptoms, or alcohol or psychoactive substance use disorders. The sole inclusion criterion for children was age 6-15 years. Exclusion criteria for children were: 1) ongoing psychiatric treatment or psychotherapy; or 2) a previous diagnosis of psychosis, autism spectrum disorder, or intellectual disability. For caregivers with more than one child aged 6-15, all were included in the study.

Instruments

Research psychologists collected standard demographic information and administered a battery of instruments.

Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale²¹

This scale is a 20-item self-report screening questionnaire covering affective, psychological, and somatic symptoms associated with depression. Total scores range from 20 to 80; we used a cutoff point of \geq 45 as the inclusion criterion, according to the validated Brazilian version.²² Although the scale can be self-administered, due to the low literacy level of the sample, the community health workers were trained to conduct the Zung screening orally. It was then re-administered by research psychologists.

Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI)²³

For individuals with Zung scores > 45, a diagnosis of depression was confirmed by the research psychologist using the MINI,²³ a short semi-structured diagnostic interview compatible with DSM-IV and ICD-10 criteria. We used the Brazilian version translated and validated in Portuguese²⁴ to diagnose current major depressive episode (MDE), dysthymia, generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder, agoraphobia, social phobia, and posttraumatic stress disorder.

Self-Reporting Questionnaire (SRQ-20)²⁵

The SRQ-20 was specifically developed by the World Health Organization to identify minor psychiatric morbidity in primary care settings and the community in developing countries. It comprises 20 dichotomous items covering common mental disorder symptoms: depression, anxiety, and somatization. We used a cutoff of \geq 8 for positivity, according to the validated Brazilian version.²⁶

Clinical Global Impression Instrument (CGI)²⁷

The CGI provides an overall score of the clinician's view of the patient's symptoms, behavior, and functioning, using a seven-point scale for a single question. It ranges from 1 (normal) to 7 (extremely severe symptoms).

World Health Organization Quality of Life instrument – Abbreviated version²⁸ (WHOQOL-BREF)

The WHOQOL-BREF comprises 26 items, which measure the following quality of life domains: physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and the environment. Scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores representing greater well-being. We used the validated Brazilian version.²⁹

WorldSAFE core questionnaire³⁰

An instrument used to investigate intrafamilial violence and associated factors, developed by the WorldSAFE steering committee of the World Studies of Abuse in the Family Environment (copyrighted in 1998). A section of the questionnaire was administered to adult women and sought to identify marital violence in the past (history) or current (in the last year). Only female caregivers in a current relationship answered this questionnaire. Disqualifying/ humiliating, threatening, abandoning, or adulterous acts are considered forms of psychological violence, and the presence of at least one of the above was categorized as positive. Beating, punching, and kicking were considered severe forms of physical violence. Similarly, the presence of at least one of these incidents was categorized as positive. We used the translated Brazilian version developed by Bordin & Paula in 1999.

ABIPEME (Brazilian Association of Market Survey Institutes) survey³¹

An instrument used to determine socioeconomic status (SES) in Brazil, it considers level of education of the head of the household and a short inventory of household assets

(e.g. automobile, color TV, refrigerator, vacuum cleaner). Points range from zero to 34 and are classified from A (highest score and SES) to E (lowest score and SES).

Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ)³²

This is a screening questionnaire for behavioral problems in children, designed to be completed by the primary caregiver. It provides a total score from 0 to 40 to detect children with psychiatric symptoms. We used the Portuguese version of the SDQ for children aged 4-17 years and including impact supplements, which functions well in Brazil, all being scored in the standard manner.³² We considered a cutoff score of \geq 14 for symptomatic children into three groups: asymptomatic (SDQ < 14 and impact supplement score = 0); symptomatic without impact (SDQ \geq 14 and impact (SDQ \geq 14 and impact supplement score = 0); and symptomatic with impact (SDQ \geq 14 and impact supplement score \geq 1).

Statistical analyses

Analyses were performed in SPSS and Mplus version 7.4.³⁴ Descriptive analyses included mean and standard deviations (SD) for continuous variables and frequencies for categorical or ordinal variables. P-values \leq 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Comparisons between the three groups of children (asymptomatic vs. symptomatic without impact vs. symptomatic with impact), stratified by the adult caregiver's clinical characteristics, were conducted using Mplus 7.4. For caregivers with more than one child included in the study, the caregiver score for ordinal variables was repeated. Differences in continuous variables were tested by comparing groups' means through the Wald chi-square test (Model Test function in Mplus). Bonferroni p-value correction ($p \leq 0.02$) was used for pairwise comparisons. Differences in categorical or ordinal dependent variables were tested using cross-tabulation and the chi-square test.

Linear regression was performed to test the association between caregivers' mental health outcomes (e.g., Zung score, SRQ-20 score) and children's characteristics, including SDQ score (i.e., symptomatic with impact, symptomatic without impact, and asymptomatic), age, and gender. Regression analyses were conducted using maximum likelihood with robust standard error (MLR) estimation to analyze continuous dependent variables (e.g., Zung score). Weighted least squares means and variance adjusted (WLSMV) was used to analyze ordinal variables (e.g., MINI diagnosis). As some caregivers participated in the study with more than one child, the analyses were performed controlling for intra-class (i.e., within-family) correlation.

Results

Of the 261 caregivers interviewed and screened for the RCT, 70 met the criteria for inclusion. Of these, 68 (97%) caregivers with 110 children agreed to participate. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the adult caregivers are described in Table 1. Mean age was
 Table 1
 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the caregivers

	Caregivers (n=68)
Age (years), mean (SD) Gender (female)	39.68 (10.82) 66 (97.10)
Primary caregiver Mother Father Grandmother Aunt	58 (85.29) 2 (2.94) 5 (7.36) 3 (4.41)
Race/ethnicity Black White Biracial/multiracial Other	5 (7.40) 29 (42.60) 31 (45.60) 3 (4.40)
Marital status Married/cohabitating Single Separated/divorced Widowed	45 (66.20) 11 (22.40) 6 (8.90) 5 (7.40)
Number of children 1 2 ≥ 3	38 (55.90) 22 (32.40) 8 (11.80)
Education Primary Secondary Higher	35 (51.50) 29 (42.60) 4 (5.90)
Religion Catholic Protestant Other None	24 (35.30) 27 (39.70) 3 (4.40) 14 (20.60)
ABIPEME socioeconomic class A1/A2 B1/B2 C1/C2 D E	0 (0.00) 22 (32.40) 36 (52.90) 6 (8.80) 4 (5.90)
Monthly household income (US\$),* mean (SD) Zung, mean (SD) SRQ-20, mean (SD) CGI, mean (SD)	723.99 (552.82) 52.79 (6.88) 13.12 (3.83) 4.60 (0.74)
MINI, depressive disorder MDE, current MDE, recurrent MDE, single episode Dysthymia MDE + dysthymia	61 (89.70) 57 (83.80) 25 (36.80) 43 (63.20) 5 (7.40) 1 (1.50)
MINI, comorbidity with depressive disorder Generalized anxiety disorder Panic disorder Agoraphobia Social phobia Posttraumatic stress disorder	41 (37.30) 12 (10.90) 8 (7.30) 17 (15.50) 9 (8.20) 7 (6.40)

Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise specified. ABIPEME = Brazilian Association of Market Survey Institutes categorization of Brazilian socioeconomic class; CGI = Clinical Global Impression instrument; MDE = major depressive episode; MINI = Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview; SD = standard deviation; SRQ-20 = Self-Reporting Questionnaire; Zung = Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale.

* Conversion factor: R\$ 1.00 = US\$ 3.50, August 2015.
59

Table 2 Demographic characteristics of children

8 1						
	Total (n=110)	Asymptomatic* (n=42)	Symptomatic without impact [†] (n=20)	Symptomatic with impact [‡] (n=48)	Statistic	p-value
Age (years), mean (SD)	9.81 (2.70)	9.81 (2.73)	10.60 (2.54)	9.47 (2.70)	2.85	0.24 [§]
Gender						
Female	53 (48.20)	20 (47.60)	13 (65.00)	20 (41.70)	0.40	0.53
Male	57 (51.80)	22 (52.40)	7 (35.00)	28 (58.30)		
Education	· · ·	· · · ·		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
Not attending school	3 (2.70)	1 (2.40)	1 (5.00)	1 (2.10)	0.52	0.47
Grade 1-4	60 (54.50)	23 (54.80)	8 (40.0Ó)	29 (60.40)		
Grade 5-9	47 (42.80)	18 (42.80)	11 (55.0Ó)	18 (37.50)		
Number of siblings,	1.06	1.33 (0.94); 1	0.80 (1.21); 0	0.92 (0.93); 1	5.33	0.07*
mean (SD); median	(1.02); 1					

Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise specified.

SD = standard deviation.

* Asymptomatic = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire < 14.

[†]Symptomatic without impact = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire ≥ 14, impact supplement score = 0.

^{*}Symptomatic with impact = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire ≥ 14 , impact supplement score ≥ 1 .

[§]Wald's chi-square test.

39.68±10.82 years, and most caregivers (97.10%) were female. Most were mothers (n=58; 85.29%), two were fathers, five were grandmothers, and three were aunts. The most prevalent ethnicity was biracial/multiracial (n=31, 45.60%), followed by white/European (n=29, 42.60%). Fortyfive (66.20%) were married or cohabitating with a partner. On average, they had one or two children (88.30%), low educational attainment, were of Catholic (n=24, 35.30%) or Protestant (n=27, 39.70%) religion, and of socioeconomic class C (n=36, 52.90%), according to the ABIPEME Brazilian classification (lower-middle class to middlemiddle class). The mean scores for all adult caregivers' questionnaires were: Zung, 52.79±6.88; SRQ-20, 13.12± 3.83: and CGI. 4.60±0.74. Sixty-one (89.70%) caregivers met criteria for depressive disorder, including current MDE or dysthymia. Seven caregivers screened positive for depression on the Zung scale, but were negative according to the MINI. These caregivers with subclinical depression were still included in the sample.

The mean age of children was 9.81 ± 2.70 years; 53 (48.20%) were female, 60 (54.50%) were attending 1st to 4th grade, and 47 (42.80%) were attending 5th to 9th grade. The children (n=110) were divided into three groups: asymptomatic (n=42); symptomatic without impact (n=20); and symptomatic with impact (n=48). As shown in Table 2, these groups did not differ significantly in terms of age, gender, education level, or number of siblings.

Table 3 describes differences among the three groups of children, stratified by the adult caregiver's clinical characteristics. The mean scores for all adult caregivers' questionnaires were: Zung, 53.67 ± 7.47 ; SRQ-20, $13.22\pm$ 3.89; CGI, 4.65 ± 0.76 ; and WHOQOL-BREF, 41.66 ± 11.66 . According to the MINI, 92 (83.60%) children had a caregiver with a current MDE diagnosis and seven (6.40%) had a caregiver with dysthymia. In total, 97 (88.20%) children had a caregiver with a depressive disorder (current MDE or dysthymia). Forty-two (38.20%) children had caregivers with recurrent MDE and 50 (45.50%) had a caregiver with a single MDE. Forty-one of all 110 children (37.30%) had caregivers with depressive disorders and comorbidities such as dysthymia, generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder, agoraphobia, social phobia, or posttraumatic stress disorder. About two-thirds of the children (n=69; 62.73%) had female caregivers cohabitating with a current partner (spouse or partner). Among these, 42 children (60.90%) had a caregiver who reported current marital psychological violence and four (5.80%) had a caregiver who reported current severe marital physical violence. Most children (n=100; 90.91%) had a female caregiver who acknowledged a previous history of marital violence as defined by WorldSAFE. Of these, 83 (83.00%) had a caregiver with past history of marital psychological violence, and 38 (38.00%) had a caregiver who reported a past history of severe marital physical violence.

As described in Table 3, there was a significant difference (p = 0.01) in the distribution of caregivers with recurrent MDE according to the level of offspring psychopathology; the group of symptomatic children with impact had a higher frequency of caregivers with recurrent MDE, compared to both other groups (symptomatic children with impact, 54.20%; asymptomatic children, 26.20%; symptomatic children without impact, 25.00%). The three groups of children also had a different distribution in their caregivers' WHOQOL-BREF social relationships and environment domains (p = 0.02 and p = 0.05). Pairwise comparisons (Bonferroni correction) showed a significant difference between the asymptomatic vs. symptomatic groups, with impact on both domains (p = 0.01 and p = 0.02). No significant differences were observed between asymptomatic vs. symptomatic without impact (p = 0.06 and p = 0.47) or symptomatic with vs. without impact (p = 0.90 and p = 0.47). Female caregivers reporting current physical violence also had a different distribution (p = 0.02), with higher frequency in symptomatic children with impact compared to both other groups (symptomatic with impact. 11.50%; asymptomatic, 3.30%; symptomatic without impact. 0.00%).

We conducted a regression analysis to test for association between caregivers' clinical outcomes and children's characteristics; the results are shown in Table 4. Caregivers with symptomatic children with impact on

Caregivers (n=68)	Total children (n=110)	Asymptomatic* (n=42)	Symptomatic without impact [†] (n=20)	Symptomatic with impact [‡] (n=48)	Statistic	p- value
Zung	53.67 (7.47)	53.48 (8.58)	54.30 (7.33)	53.58 (6.31)	0.12	0.94 [§]
SRQ-20	13.22 (3.89)	12.98 (4.12)	12.40 (3.87)	13.77 (3.57)	2.31	0.31 [§]
CGI	4.65 (0.76)	4.71 (0.67)	4.50 (1.16)	4.67 (0.59)	0.50	0.78 [§]
MINI, n (%)						
Depressive disorder	97 (88.20)	35 (83.30)	16 (80.00)	46 (95.80)	4.93	0.09
MDE, current	92 (83.60)	34 (81.00)	14 (70.00)	44 (91.70)	2.05	0.15
MDE, recurrent	42 (38.20)	11 (26.20)	5 (25.00)	26 (54.20)	9.23	0.01
MDE, single episode	50 (45.50)	23 (54.80)	9 (45.00)	18 (37.50)́	2.69	0.26
Dysthymia	7 (6.40)	3 (7.10)	2 (10.00)	2 (4.20)	0.25	0.62
MDE + dysthymia	2 (1.80)	2 (4.80)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	3.30	0.19
Comorbidity with depressive disorder	41 (37.30)	17 (40.50)	6 (30.00)	18 (37.50)	0.64	0.73
Generalized anxiety disorder	12 (10.90)	5 (11.90)	2 (10.00)	5 (10.40)	0.72	0.97
Panic disorder	8 (7.30)	4 (9.50)	0 (0.00)	4 (8.30)	0.10	0.75
Agoraphobia	17 (15.50)	6 (14.30)	3 (15.00)	8 (16.70)	0.20	0.66
Social phobia	9 (8.20)	3 (7.10)	1 (5.00)	5 (10.40)	0.52	0.47
Posttraumatic stress disorder	7 (6.40)	4 (9.50)	0 (0.00)	3 (6.20)	0.74	0.39
WHOQOL-BREF						
Total quality of life	41.66 (11.66)	43.81 (20.65)	44.37 (12.60)	38.66 (9.35)	5.10	0.07 [§]
Physical	46.17 (18.75)	44.81 (20.65)	52.32 (17.36)	44.79 (Ì6.75́)	2.00	0.37 [§]
Psychological	35.80 (15.10)	36.61 (14.93)	42.29 (16.94)	32.38 (13.16)	4.64	0.10 [§]
Social relationships	41.75 (18.73)	48.02 (19.18)	38.33 (18.33)	37.77 (16.72)	8.10	0.02 [§]
Environment	44.46 (13.40)	48.07 (12.12)	44.53 (14.85)	41.28 (12.87)	6.01	0.05 [§]
WorldSAFE core questionnaire, n (%)						
Marital violence section. n (children)	69	30	13	26		
Current psychological violence	42 (60.90)	17 (56.70)	5 (38.50)	20 (76.90)	2.79	0.10
Current physical violence	4 (5.80)	1 (3.30)	0 (0.00)	3 (11.50)	5.51	0.02
Marital violence section, n (children)	100	39	18	43		
History of psychological violence	83 (83.00)	33 (84.60)	12 (66.70)	38 (88.40)	0.25	0.62
History of physical violence	38 (38.00)	16 (41.00)	1 (5.60)	21 (48.80)	0.73	0.39

Data presented as mean (standard deviation), unless otherwise specified.

Bold type indicates statistical significance.

CGI = Clinical Global Impression instrument; MDE = major depressive episode; MINI = Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview; SRQ-20 = Self-Reporting Questionnaire; WHOQOL-BREF = World Health Organization Quality of Life instrument-Abbreviated version; Zung = Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale.

* Asymptomatic = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire < 14.

[†]Symptomatic without impact = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire ≥ 14 , impact supplement score = 0.

*Symptomatic with impact = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire \ge 14, impact supplement score \ge 1.

^{II} Only among female caregivers in a relationship.

[§]Wald chi-square test.

overall distress and impairment had higher SRQ-20 scores compared to the caregivers of asymptomatic children (Beta = 0.20; p = 0.04). Caregivers of more than one child had higher scores on the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale (beta = 0.44; p = 0.00).

Discussion

As originally hypothesized, caregiver SRQ-20 score correlated significantly with "symptomatic with impact" status (SDQ score \geq 14 and impact supplement score \geq 1) in children. This result is in line with previous studies conducted in high-resource countries showing that, overall, the severity of a mother's depression is associated with her children's psychopathology.^{10,11,18,35} According to Fritsch et al.,¹⁸ it is possible that the association between the severity of the mother's illness and children's symptoms is part of a vicious circle or bidirectional – mothers become more severely depressed because they have children with mental disorders, and children's symptoms worsen in the presence of a mother's depression.

Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40(1)

The results of our analysis substantiate prior findings on correlations of caregiver and offspring psychopathology. Nevertheless, our results do not address causal processes. The next step is to design studies that can assess potentially population-specific causal pathways.

We also found that children with a greater number of siblings had caregivers who were more severely depressed (Zung), suggesting higher distress and an exacerbation of caregivers' symptoms. Previously, a few studies have shown sibling similarity for depression and anxiety disorders,^{36,37} but future research should assess number of siblings and shared influences.

Community assessments of parental depression and its impact on offspring in LMICs are underreported, with little prior research.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Studies from high-income countries have pointed to a higher risk of psychiatric disorders in children of low-income depressed mothers,^{14,35} although we did not find a correlation with household income in our sample.

We observed that caregivers with symptomatic children with impact were more likely to have recurrent MDEs.

61

0	,	0			5 1	0 1	
Caregivers (n=68)	Asymptomatic* vs. Symptomatic without impact [†]	Asymptomatic* vs. Symptomatic with impact [‡]	Gender	Age	Number of siblings	Education level	Family income
Zung (continuous)							
Beta	-0.01	0.04	0.23	0.17	0.44	0.04	-0.17
p-value	0.94	0.69	0.24	0.16	< 0.001	0.74	0.17
SRQ-20 (continuous)							
Beta	-0.02	0.20	0.01	0.12	0.09	-0.03	-0.16
p-value	0.07	0.04	0.89	0.28	0.63	0.75	0.19
CGI (continuous) Beta	-0.18	0.15	-0.05	0.13	0.27	-0.03	-0.06
p-value	0.22	0.22	0.57	0.46	0.28	0.18	0.75

Table 4 Regression analysis between adult caregivers' clinical characteristics and children's group and demographics

CGI = Clinical Global Impression instrument; SRQ-20 = Self-Reporting Questionnaire; Zung = Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale.

* Asymptomatic = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire < 14.

[†]Symptomatic without impact = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire \ge 14, impact supplement score = 0.

^{*}Symptomatic with impact = Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire \ge 14, impact supplement score \ge 1.

Findings from longitudinal studies support the notion that children of mothers with more chronic depression have worse outcomes.³⁸ We also found that caregivers with symptomatic children with impact had worse quality of life in the social relationships and environment domains of WHOQOL-BREF; additionally, they were more likely to report current physical violence from partners.

We must acknowledge the limitations of the present study. First, inclusion criteria were based on depression symptoms from the Zung screening scale. As a result, seven caregivers did not meet criteria for depressive disorders by MINI: three of these had a diagnosis of generalized anxiety disorder and four had subclinical symptoms based on the MINI. The main reason for our broader inclusion criteria is that anxiety and somatization are very common in primary care, and frequently comorbid.³⁹ The SRQ-20 was used to evaluate depression, anxiety, and somatization, given the substantial syndromic overlap in primary care and significance of common mental disorders,⁴⁰ and showed significant correlation with child's symptoms. Second, this small sample may have been biased by recruitment criteria that initially focused on including dyads of symptomatic participants, both adults and children. Thus, we cannot generalize the high prevalence of symptoms found in our study population. Third, we could not investigate specific diagnoses and differences in externalizing and internalizing symptoms further in our sample of children, due to a substantial amount of missing data in the asymptomatic group; this, again, is attributable to our initial interest in including only symptomatic children. Finally, to assess child psychopathology, we relied on the SDQ, which is based on caregiver reports; we did not obtain any information from the children themselves, nor from a clinician.

Strengths of the study include our sample demographics, since most previous studies examined homogeneous, middle- and upper-middle income, predominantly white families.¹² Moreover, none of the adults or children included in our study were currently in treatment, as they were recruited for a future intervention study. In addition, our adult participants were not seeking treatment, but rather were actively screened by community health workers.

These results substantiate our bidirectional hypothesis that children's psychopathology impacts caregivers' psychiatric symptoms and vice-versa, and can help guide future strategies for actions and prevention efforts aimed at reducing the burden of common mental disorders in both caregivers and children. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the correlation between caregiver psychiatric symptoms and child psychopathology in a LMIC. Our data add to the growing literature on community assessments conducted within LMICs.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge the enormous contributions made to this project by the patients, the families, and the staff from Brazilian Family-Health Strategy (UBS Iaçapé) and Universidade Federal de São Paulo. This study was supported by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP; grant 2012/17485-4).

CTM has received a scholarship from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq) and Instituto Lemann. MLW receives support from NIMH (D43 TW009675 and T32 MH096724). ANP receives support from NIMH (T32-MH19139 Behavioral Sciences Research in HIV Infection; Principal Investigator: Theodorus Sandfort, PhD). EVH has received a scholarship from Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) and Instituto Lemann. These scholarships provided travel expenses for CTM and EVH to spend a year in the T32 Global Mental Health Post-Doctoral Fellowship (T32MH096724; Wainberg ML & Oquendo MA) at the Columbia University Department of Psychiatry/New York State Psychiatric Institute. ACS receives support from NIMH (K01MH104514).

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1 Goldberg D. A bio-social model for common mental disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl. 1994;385:66-70.
- 2 Global Burden of Disease Study 2013 Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2015;386:743-800.
- 3 Fernandez-Pujals AM, Adams MJ, Thomson P, McKechanie AG, Blackwood DH, Smith BH, et al. Epidemiology and heritability of major depressive disorder, stratified by age of onset, sex, and illness course in generation scotland: scottish family health study (GS:SFHS). PloS One. 2015;10:e0142197.
- 4 Flint J, Kendler KS. The genetics of major depression. Neuron. 2014;81:484-503.
- 5 Gunlicks ML, Weissman MM. Change in child psychopathology with improvement in parental depression: a systematic review. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2008;47:379-89.
- 6 Beardslee WR, Gladstone TR, O'Connor EE. Transmission and prevention of mood disorders among children of affectively ill parents: a review. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2011;50:1098-109.
- 7 McAdams TA, Rijsdijk FV, Neiderhiser JM, Narusyte J, Shaw DS, Natsuaki MN, et al. The relationship between parental depressive symptoms and offspring psychopathology: evidence from a childrenof-twins study and an adoption study. Psychol Med. 2015;45:2583-94.
- 8 Barker ED, Copeland W, Maughan B, Jaffee SR, Uher R. Relative impact of maternal depression and associated risk factors on offspring psychopathology. Br J Psychiatry. 2012;200:124-9.
- 9 Mendes AV, Loureiro SR, Crippa JA, de Meneses Gaya C, Garcia-Esteve L, Martin-Santos R. Mothers with depression, school-age children with depression? A systematic review. Perspect Psychiatr Care. 2012;48:138-48.
- 10 Foster CJ, Garber J, Durlak JA. Current and past maternal depression, maternal interaction behaviors, and children's externalizing and internalizing symptoms. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 2008;36:527-37.
- 11 Pilowsky DJ, Wickramaratne PJ, Rush AJ, Hughes CW, Garber J, Malloy E, et al. Children of currently depressed mothers: a STAR*D ancillary study. J Clin Psychiatry. 2006;67:126-36.
- 12 Goodman SH, Rouse MH, Connell AM, Broth MR, Hall CM, Heyward D. Maternal depression and child psychopathology: a meta-analytic review. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev. 2011;14:1-27.
- 13 Elgar FJ, McGrath PJ, Waschbusch DA, Stewart SH, Curtis LJ. Mutual influences on maternal depression and child adjustment problems. Clin Psychol Rev. 2004;24:441-59.
- 14 Gross HE, Shaw DS, Moilanen KL. Reciprocal associations between boys' externalizing problems and mothers' depressive symptoms. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 2008;36:693-709.
- 15 Gross HE, Shaw DS, Moilanen KL, Dishion TJ, Wilson MN. Reciprocal models of child behavior and depressive symptoms in mothers and fathers in a sample of children at risk for early conduct problems. J Fam Psychol. 2008;22:742-51.
- 16 Tamplin A, Goodyer IM, Herbert J. Family functioning and parent general health in families of adolescents with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. 1998;48:1-13.
- 17 Wilkinson PO, Harris C, Kelvin R, Dubicka B, Goodyer IM. Associations between adolescent depression and parental mental health, before and after treatment of adolescent depression. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2013;22:3-11.
- 18 Fritsch RM, Montt ME, Solis JG, Pilowsky D, Rojas MG. [Psychopathology and social functioning among offspring of depressed women]. Rev Med Chil. 2007;135:602-12.
- 19 Ferriolli SH, Marturano EM, Puntel LP. [Family context and child mental health problems in the Family Health Program]. Rev Saude Publica. 2007;41:251-9.
- 20 Tan S, Rey J. Depression in the young, parental depression and parenting stress. Australas Psychiatry. 2005;13:76-9.

- 21 Zung WW. A self-rating depression scale. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1965;12:63-70.
- 22 Chagas MH, Tumas V, Loureiro SR, Hallak JE, Trzesniak C, de Sousa JP, et al. Validity of a Brazilian version of the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale for screening of depression in patients with Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2010;16:42-5.
- 23 Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry.1998;59:22-33; quiz 34-57.
- 24 de Azevedo Marques JM, Zuardi AW. Validity and applicability of the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview administered by family medicine residents in primary health care in Brazil. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2008;30:303-10.
- 25 Harding TW, de Arango MV, Baltazar J, Climent CE, Ibrahim HH, Ladrido-Ignacio L, et al. Mental disorders in primary health care: a study of their frequency and diagnosis in four developing countries. Psychol Med. 1980;10:231-41.
- 26 Iacoponi E, Mari JJ. Reliability and factor structure of the Portuguese version of Self-Reporting Questionnaire. Int J Soc Psychiatry. 1989; 35:213-22.
- 27 Guy W. Clinical global impressions. In: ECDEU Assessment Manual Psychopharmacology, revised (DHEW Publ No ADM 76-338). Rockville: National Institute of Mental Health; 1976. p. 218-22.
- 28 Berlim MT, Pavanello DP, Caldieraro MA, Fleck MP. Reliability and validity of the WHOQOL BREF in a sample of Brazilian outpatients with major depression. Qual Life Res. 2005;14:561-4.
- 29 Fleck MP, Louzada S, Xavier M, Chachamovich E, Vieira G, Santos L, et al. [Application of the Portuguese version of the abbreviated instrument of quality life WHOQOL-bref]. Rev Saude Publica. 2000;34:178-83.
- 30 Sadowski LS, Hunter WM, Bangdiwala SI, Munoz SR. The world studies of abuse in the family environment (WorldSAFE): a model of a multi-national study of family violence. Inj Control Saf Promot. 2004;11:81-90.
- 31 Jannuzzi PdM. Indicadores sociais no Brasil: conceitos, fontes de dados e aplicações. Campinas: Átomo & Alínea2009.
- 32 Goodman R, Ford T, Simmons H, Gatward R, Meltzer H. Using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) to screen for child psychiatric disorders in a community sample. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2003;15:166-72.
- 33 Cavalcante-Nóbrega LP, Mello AF, Maciel MR, Cividanes GC, Fossaluza V, Mari JJ, et al. Quality of life of mothers whose children work on the streets of São Paulo, Brazil. Cad Saude Publica. 2015; 31:827-36.
- 34 Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Mplus user's guide. 7th ed. Los Angeles ; Muthén & Muthén; 1998-2012.
- 35 Riley AW, Coiro MJ, Broitman M, Colantuoni E, Hurley KM, Bandeen-Roche K, et al. Mental health of children of low-income depressed mothers: influences of parenting, family environment, and raters. Psychiatr Serv. 2009;60:329-36.
- 36 Olino TM, Lewinsohn PM, Klein DN. Sibling similarity for MDD: evidence for shared familial factors. J Affect Disord. 2006;94:211-8.
- 37 Rende R, Warner V, Wickramarante P, Weissman MM. Sibling aggregation for psychiatric disorders in offspring at high and low risk for depression: 10-year follow-up. Psychol Med. 1999;29:1291-8.
- 38 Brennan PA, Hammen C, Andersen MJ, Bor W, Najman JM, Williams GM. Chronicity, severity, and timing of maternal depressive symptoms: relationships with child outcomes at age 5. Dev Psychol. 2000;36:759-66.
- 39 Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Monahan PO, Lowe B. Anxiety disorders in primary care: prevalence, impairment, comorbidity, and detection. Ann Intern Med. 2007;146:317-25.
- 40 Lowe B, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Mussell M, Schellberg D, Kroenke K. Depression, anxiety and somatization in primary care: syndrome overlap and functional impairment. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2008;30:191-9.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Maternal recognition of child mental health problems in two Brazilian cities

Isabel A. Bordin,¹ Bartira M. Curto,¹ Joseph Murray^{2,3}

¹Departamento de Psiquiatria, Universidade Federal de São Paulo (UNIFESP), São Paulo, SP, Brazil. ²Department of Psychiatry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom. ³Programa de Pós-Graduação em Epidemiologia, Universidade Federal de Pelotas, Pelotas, RS, Brazil.

Objective: To identify child behaviors and types of impairment that increase the likelihood of maternal recognition of emotional/behavioral problems (EBP) in children and adolescents.

Methods: Maternal-reported data were obtained from two subsamples of 11-to-16-year-olds derived from cross-sectional studies conducted in two Brazilian municipalities: Itaboraí, state of Rio de Janeiro (n=480), and Embu, state of São Paulo (n=217). The Itaboraí study involved a representative sample of 6-to-16-year-olds (n=1,248; response rate = 86.0%) selected from the Family Health Program registry, which covered 85.5% of the municipal population. The Embu study was based on a probabilistic sample of clusters of eligible households (women aged 15-49 years, child < 18 years), with one mother-child pair selected randomly per household (n=813; response rate = 82.4%). The outcome variable was mother's opinion of whether her child had EBP. Potential correlates included types of child behaviors (hyperactivity/conduct/emotional problems as isolated or combined conditions) and impairment, assessed using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ); child's age and gender; maternal education and anxiety/depression (assessed using the Self-Reporting Questionnaire [SRQ]).

Results: Multivariate regression models identified the following correlates of maternal perception of child EBP: comorbidity (co-occurring hyperactivity/conduct/emotional problems), emotional problems alone, and interference of problems with classroom learning and friendships.

Conclusion: Comorbidity of different problem types, emotional problems alone, and interference with classroom learning and friendships increase the likelihood of maternal recognition of EBP in children.

Keywords: Adolescents; child psychiatry; epidemiology; families; community mental health

Introduction

There are almost 63 million people under age 20 in Brazil.¹ Of these, 8.3 million may have mental health problems, according to the prevalence of DSM-IV disorders (13.1%) found among schoolchildren in a study conducted in four of the five Brazilian regions (n=1,623; 6-16 years; response rate = 81.1%).² However, the vast majority of Brazilian children who need mental health assistance do not receive appropriate care, mainly due to provider or system barriers,³ but also to poor maternal recognition of emotional/behavioral problems (EBP) in their children.⁴ In many countries, primary health care is the main setting of mental health treatment for children, who rely on adults such as parents and teachers to identify their problems and initiate service use.⁵

In Brazil, the Unified Health System provides universal access to health services for the entire Brazilian population. However, child and adolescent mental health services are still scarce. Specialized public services (Psychosocial

Correspondence: Isabel A. Bordin, Departamento de Psiquiatria, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Rua Borges Lagoa, 570, CEP 04038-030, São Paulo, SP, Brazil. E-mail: iasbordin@gmail.com Community Care Centers for Children and Adolescents) exist to assist severe cases, but are insufficient in number and distributed unequally within the country.⁶ Therefore, when parents decide to seek treatment or support for their children with mental health problems, primary care facilities rather than specialized services are the main source of help, particularly among more disadvantaged populations.

Parents are more likely to report intentions to seek help or use services when they recognize a problem in their children.^{7,8} Therefore, parental perception of mental health problems in their children is the first of several stages toward children receiving appropriate care, followed by seeking support from primary care services, recognition within primary care, and referral to specialized health services.⁵ Parental perception is thus critical to improving access to treatment and avoiding escalation and perpetuation of problems into adult life, which may compromise individuals' functioning and wellbeing, putting them at risk of unemployment and social exclusion.9 However, parental perception of child problems is not only influenced by child psychopathology^{7,10} and functional impairment but also by other factors, such as the child's age and gender, maternal education, and maternal depression.¹¹ With increasing age, children's own perception of their functioning becomes increasingly important as a motive

Submitted Mar 11 2016, accepted Feb 11 2017, Epub Jun 12 2017.

for seeking help.¹⁰ Help is more often sought for boys during childhood and for girls during adolescence,¹² which is consistent with the higher prevalence of hyperactivity and conduct problems in young boys and depression in adolescent girls.¹³

Within this context, the present study aims to identify specific child behavior profiles and types of impairment identified by mothers that increase the likelihood of maternal recognition of EBP in their children, taking into account other potential correlates.

Methods

Study design and setting

Cross-sectional studies were conducted in two low-income municipalities of Southeast Brazil, both located in the greater metropolitan area of state capitals: Itaboraí, state of Rio de Janeiro (population 218,008 in 2010,¹⁴ located 40 km from the state capital Rio de Janeiro) and Embu, state of São Paulo (population 207,663 in 2000,¹⁵ located 24.5 km from the state capital São Paulo).

Sampling

The original Itaboraí study (2009-2010) included a sample of 6-to-16-year-olds (n=1,248; response rate = 86.0%) randomly selected from the Family Health Program (FHP) registry. The FHP, adopted as a nationwide policy in the 1990s, is a strategy for reorganizing primary care in order to increase public access to health care. According to official information from the Itaboraí municipal government, 85.5% of the population was covered by FHP units in 2010.16 Each unit was composed of one or two teams, with each team including a physician, a nurse, and around six community health workers responsible for making home visits to registered families. In 2009, 44 FHP teams were active in Itaboraí, 31 of which (70.5%) were involved in the study. For each team, 45 to 48 eligible families (having at least one child aged 6-16 years) were randomly selected, depending on the number of communitv health workers in the team. The selection of teams was based on the location of units, which were stratified according to the level of neighborhood violence: low violence (7/7 teams, 100%), high violence (13/14 teams, 92.9%), and intermediate violence (11/23 teams, 47.8%).

In Itaboraí, a three-stage sampling plan was applied. The first stage was determined by the level of violence (low, intermediate, high) in each neighborhood served by an FHP unit; these three geographical areas were based on census units. In areas with low and high levels of violence, all units were invited to participate, with 7/7 (100.0%) and 13/14 (92.9%) acceptance respectively. In the intermediate-violence area, 11/23 (47.8%) units were randomly selected to enter the study. The second stage was to conduct a random selection of families among all eligible families registered with the participating FHP units in each of the three geographical areas (low: 454/3,859, intermediate: 307/2,041, high: 487/4,061). The third stage was to randomly select a child among all eligible children in each participating family, in each of the three

The sample size of the original Itaboraí study (n=1,276) was calculated on the basis of the minimum expected prevalence (7%) of its primary outcome (use of mental health services in the past 12 months by children with moderate/severe mental health problems), with an adopted relative precision of 20% (5.6-8.4%).¹⁷

The original Embu study (2001-2002) was conducted in a community in which the participant municipal health center was located. Based on census units, 24 clusters (geographic areas of maximum internal homogeneity and similar size) in the area were selected randomly. In these clusters, all eligible households were identified (residences in which a woman aged 15-49 years lived with at least one of her children < 18 years), and one mother-child pair was selected randomly per household. From this initial selection (n=987), 813 mothers participated in the study (response rate = 82.4%).

In Embu, mothers from all eligible households located in the randomly selected clusters (24/60) were invited to participate in the study. The mean number of eligible children in the participant households was two. The sample size of the original Embu study (n=864) was calculated on the basis of the expected prevalence (10%) of its primary outcome (child exposed to severe physical punishment), with an adopted relative precision of 20% (8.0-12.0%).¹⁷

Participants

The present study was restricted to 11-to-16-year-olds from Itaboraí (n=480) and Embu (n=217) for whom complete data on the variables of interest were available, based on reports by (biological, adoptive, or step) mothers. In Itaboraí, 201 of 681 11-to-16-year-olds were excluded because the informant was not the mother (n=157), because the child had severe mental retardation (n=4), or because of missing data (n=40). In Embu, 10 of 227 11-to-16-year-olds were excluded due to missing data; none had severe retardation, and the informant was the mother in all cases.

Variables and instruments

Both the Itaboraí and Embu studies collected information on the outcome variable (mother's opinion of whether her child had EBP) and potential correlates (different types of child behavior profiles and impairment, child's age and gender, and maternal education). Maternal opinion was assessed by the following question: "Do you think <name of index child> has emotional or behavioral problems?" Maternal reports about their child's specific behavior profiles were then measured on the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ), a widely used screening instrument with good psychometric properties.^{18,19} The SDQ was developed by Goodman¹⁸ and validated in Brazil by Fleitlich-Bilyk & Goodman.²⁰ The SDQ was used to identify children with clinical-level conduct problems, emotional problems, and hyperactivity, according to maternal reports (cutoff points defined clinical levels as

detailed at www.sdqinfo.com). The SDQ was also used to identify impairments arising from those problems (child distress and interference with home life, friendships, classroom learning, and leisure activities), and scored positive when mothers reported "quite a lot/a great deal" of impact on children's functioning (versus "only a little/not at all"). Data on maternal anxiety/depression was obtained, only in Embu, using the Self-Reporting Questionnaire (SRQ-20), a screening measure developed by the World Health Organization with a total score ranging from 0 to 20.²¹ The SRQ-20 was validated for the Brazilian population with a cutoff point $> 7.^{22}$

Procedures

All interviews were conducted in the child's household (in Itaboraí) or at the local health center (in Embu). All questions were asked verbally. For both subsamples of 11-to-16-year-olds, all interviewees were mothers, the great majority of whom were biological mothers (Itaboraí: 98.1%, Embu: 99.1%). In both studies, the question on the mother's opinion about her child's EBPs was asked before completion of the SDQ.

Statistical analysis

Chi-square tests identified significant differences between groups. A significance level of p < 0.001 was adopted due to the multiple tests conducted. All child and mother factors potentially associated with maternal recognition of child EBPs were entered into logistic regression models to estimate unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios (univariate and multivariate analysis respectively). Sampling weights applied to data analysis were calculated on the basis of the study sampling plan. In this paper, unweighted numbers of subjects are presented, but percentages are weighted to generate frequencies representative of the population of same-age children and adolescents living in Itaboraí and Embu.

Ethics approval

The Research Ethics Committee of Universidade Federal de São Paulo approved the Itaboraí study (process number 0601/09) and the Embu study (process number 0740/02). Written informed consent was obtained from all participating mothers.

Results

Table 1 reports the characteristics of children/adolescents and mothers in the Itaboraí and Embu samples. Table 2 shows the types of clinical-level mental health problems in each sample, occurring either alone or with other types (comorbidity). Clinical-level conduct problems were mostly comorbid in Itaboraí (71.4%) and in Embu (78.9%). Clinical-level hyperactivity was also mostly comorbid in Itaboraí (83.4%) and in Embu (72.2%). Clinical-level emotional problems occurred combined with conduct/ hyperactivity problems in a slightly higher proportion than alone in Itaboraí (55.7% vs. 44.3%), but occurred mostly alone in Embu (78.6%) (Table 2).

Among children with conduct problems alone, some 50% in both samples were not perceived as having emotional/ behavioral difficulties by their mothers (Table 3). This lack of maternal recognition of problems also applied to about 70% of children with emotional problems alone in both studies, and to the majority of children with hyperactivity alone in Itaboraí (83.4%) and in Embu (60.0%). In both studies, children with emotional problems alone and comorbidity were significantly more likely to be perceived by their mothers as having EBPs, compared to children with no mental health problems (Table 3). In Itaboraí, maternal recognition of problems was much more common among children with comorbidity than among children with emotional problems alone or hyperactivity alone (p < 0.005), but children with conduct problems alone and children with comorbidity were similarly recognized by mothers as "problematic." In Embu, no differences in maternal perception were found among the four categories of problems.

Univariate regression analysis showed the strength of association between each potential correlate and the study outcome (Table 4). It is interesting to note that the high effect size of all impairment components was drastically reduced in multivariate models (Table 5), confirming the existence of multiple associations within this group of variables. Multivariate regression models showed that, in both studies, comorbidity, clinical-level emotional problems alone, and problems' interference with classroom learning were independent correlates of mothers perceiving their children as "problematic," adjusting for other potential correlates (Table 5). These factors were significant correlates in the presence of maternal anxiety/ depression (Embu model 2). Comorbidity was a stronger correlate than isolated conditions across both studies. In Itaboraí, conduct problems alone were more influential than emotional problems alone, but in Embu, the opposite was noted. In Itaboraí, male gender, child distress, and interference with leisure activities were also significant correlates (Table 5). In Embu model 2, interference with leisure activities was a significant correlate, but in the opposite direction, which may be explained by collinearity with "child distress" (of the five subjects positive for interference with leisure activities, four were positive for child distress). When excluding interference with leisure activities from the Embu models, interference with friendships remained nonsignificant in model 1 (odds ratio [OR] = 2.25; 95%CI 0.53-9.48) and lost significance in model 2 (OR = 2.92; 95%CI 0.61-14.04).

Discussion

According to the Grand Challenges in Global Mental Health initiative, improvement of children's access to evidencebased care by trained health providers in low- and middleincome countries is one of the top five challenges to improve the lives of people living with mental, neurological, and substance-use disorders.²³ According to Patel et al.,²⁴ the

Table 1	Characteristics	s of 11-to-16-y	ear olds an	d mothers	from two	samples:	Itaboraí,	state of	f Rio de	Janeiro	(2009-2010).
and Err	ubu, state of São	o Paulo (2001-	2002), Braz	zil*							

Sample characteristics	Itaboraí n=480	Embu n=217
Adolescents		
Gender		
Male	237 (49.0)	99 (45.6)
Female	243 (51.0)	118 (54.4)
Maternal reports of mental health problems (SDQ)		(),
Conduct problems		
Clinical	163 (35.1)	19 (8.8)
Borderline/normal	317 (64.9)	198 (91,2)
Emotional problems	- ()	
Clinical	224 (45.9)	56 (25.8)
Borderline/normal	256 (54.1)	161 (74.2)
Hyperactivity	()	
Clinical	86 (17.8)	18 (8.3)
Borderline/normal	394 (82.2)	199 (91 7)
Maternal reports of impairment components (SDQ)	00 (011)	,
Child distress		
Quite a lot/a great deal	54 (11.5)	11 (5 1)
Only a little/not at all	426 (88.5)	206 (94 9)
Interference with home life	(00.0)	200 (0)
Quite a lot/a great deal	45 (10.3)	7 (3 2)
Only a little/not at all	435 (89 7)	210 (96.8)
Interference with friendshins		210 (00.0)
Quite a lot/a great deal	27 (6 1)	7 (3 2)
Only a little/not at all	453 (93.9)	210 (96.8)
Interference with classroom learning	460 (00.5)	210 (30.0)
Ouite a lot/a great deal	76 (17 0)	14 (6 5)
Only a little/not at all	404 (83.0)	203 (93.5)
Interference with leisure activities	+0+ (00:0)	200 (00.0)
Quite a lot/a great deal	10 (3.8)	5 (2 3)
Only a little/not at all	461 (96.2)	212 (97 7)
Any impairment	401 (00.2)	212 (01.1)
	113 (25.1)	21 (0 7)
No	367 (74.9)	196 (90.3)
	307 (74.3)	190 (90.3)
Mothers		
Education (years)		
0-4	157 (31.3)	78 (35.9)
5 or more	323 (68.7)	139 (64.1)
Anxiety/depression (SRQ-20)		
Yes (> 7)	N/A [†]	74 (34.1)
No (0-7)	N/A [†]	143 (65.9)
Opinion about child's mental health status		
Emotional/behavioral problems	172 (36.3)	44 (20.3)
No emotional/behavioral problems	308 (63.7)	173 (79.7)

Data presented as n (%).

N/A = not applicable; SDQ = Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire; SRQ-20 = Self-Reporting Questionnaire.

* Numbers of subjects are unweighted (refer to the sample) and all percentages are weighted, representing frequencies in the population of 11-to-16-year-olds from Itaboraí and Embu.

[†]Not applicable (variable not included in the Itaboraí study).

most viable strategy to address the treatment gap is through empowerment of existing human resources that are most intimately concerned with child care, including empowerment of parents.

In the present study, even when mothers reported child symptoms on the SDQ that indicated clinical-level conduct problems, emotional problems, or hyperactivity, mothers often did not perceive their child as having an EBP. This lack of maternal recognition is in accordance with a previous U.S. study, which found that, in a sample of children with mental disorders, only 39% of parents perceived their child to have a mental health problem.¹¹

Nonetheless, in Itaboraí and Embu, children with conduct problems alone, emotional problems alone, and comorbidity were significantly more likely to be perceived by their mothers as having EBPs, compared to children with no problems. This is consistent with a previous study in the Netherlands²⁵ that found an association between parents perceiving their children as having EBPs and children's mental health problems indicated both by a screening questionnaire (Child Behavior Checklist/6-18) and by a diagnostic instrument (Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children, IV).

In our investigation, multivariate models identified specific types of child behavior profiles and impairment that correlated independently with the mother's opinion of whether the child had any EBPs. The implications of these findings are discussed in turn.

67

 Table 2
 Clinical-level mental health problems (SDQ) occurring alone or concomitantly in two samples of 11-to-16-year-olds:

 Itaboraí, state of Rio de Janeiro (2009-2010), and Embu, state of São Paulo (2001-2002), Brazil*

Clinical-level problems (SDQ, mother's report)	Itaboraí n=480	Embu n=217
Conduct		
Alone	45 (28.6)	4 (21.1)
Combined with hyperactivity/emotional	118 (71.4)	15 (78.9)
Any clinical-level conduct problems	163 (100.0)	19 (100.0)
Emotional		
Alone	101 (44.3)	44 (78.6)
Combined with hyperactivity/conduct	123 (55.7)	12 (21.4)
Any clinical-level emotional problems	224 (100.0)	56 (100.0)
Hyperactivity		
Alone	11 (16.6)	5 (27.8)
Combined with conduct/emotional	75 (83.4)	13 (72.2)
Any clinical-level hyperactivity	86 (100.0)	18 (100.Ó)

Data presented as n (%).

SDQ = Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire.

* Numbers of subjects are unweighted (refer to the sample) and all percentages are weighted, representing frequencies in the population of 11-to-16-year-olds from Itaboraí and Embu.

Table 3 Mothers perceiving emotional/behavioral problems in their children, stratified maternal reporting of isolated vs. combined clinical-level problems (SDQ): rates in Itaboraí, state of Rio de Janeiro, and Embu, state of São Paulo, Brazil*

Clinical-level problems (SDQ, mother's report)		aboraí		Embu
(02 a, meaner e repent)	Problems n=172	No problems n=308	Problems n=44	No problems n=173
None (reference category) Conduct problems alone Emotional problems alone Hyperactivity alone Comorbidity [‡]	21 (11.1) 21 (50.3) [†] 31 (30.5) [†] 2 (16.6) 97 (70.7) [†]	164 (88.9) 24 (49.7) 70 (69.5) 9 (83.4) 41 (29.3)	16 (11.0) 2 (50.0) 13 (29.5) [↑] 2 (40.0) 11 (57.9) [↑]	129 (89.0) 2 (50.0) 31 (70.5) 3 (60.0) 8 (42.1)

Data presented as n (%).

SDQ = Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire.

* Numbers of subjects are unweighted (refer to the sample) and all percentages are weighted (refer to the population).

 $^{\dagger}p < 0.001$ in chi-square tests with none as reference category

[‡]Co-occurrence of two or three problems (conduct, emotional, hyperactivity).

Problem type

Comorbidity was a stronger predictor of mothers perceiving their child as having an emotional/behavioral difficulty compared to isolated conditions, which is consistent with a recent Brazilian study examining the capacity of teachers to identify students in need of mental health evaluation/ treatment.²⁶

One interpretation of the finding that, in Itaboraí, conduct problems alone had a stronger association with mothers' perception of child EBPs compared to emotional problems alone might be that externalizing behaviors are particularly distressing for parents and, therefore, children with externalizing behaviors are more frequently perceived as "problematic" than children with internalizing problems.^{27,28} Hankinson²⁸ examined thresholds for parents' perceptions of children's problems and subsequent help-seeking decisions based on children's behaviors presented in vignettes. Externalizing behaviors alone were rated by parents as more serious and representing a greater need for treatment than internalizing behaviors alone. As such, mothers may have a lower threshold for identifying externalizing symptoms as "problematic" than for internalizing symptoms, which may be less noticeable.²⁹ Furthermore, conduct problems alone in the Embu sample were not a significant correlate of mothers' perception of child EBPs, probably due to the low number of these problems observed.

Impact of problems

In both studies, children's problems interfering with classroom learning was associated with mothers' perceptions of their child having an emotional/behavioral problem, independently of the presence of child psychopathology identified by clinical-level SDQ scales, other types of impact, maternal anxiety/depression, or demographic variables. This is consistent with findings from a generalpopulation sample of Dutch 4-to-18-year-olds in which academic problems were strongly associated with perceived mental health service need and utilization, independently of child internalizing and externalizing behaviors or family stress.¹⁰ A review of influences on the help-seeking

Table 4	Correlates of mate	ernal opinion about	child em	otional/behavio	oral problems,	identified by	univariate log	gistic regression
models,	in two samples of	11-to-16-year-olds:	: Itaboraí,	state of Rio of	le Janeiro, an	d Embu, stat	e of São Paul	lo, Brazil*

	Itaboraí n=480		Embu n=217		
Sample characteristics	Unadjusted OR (95%CI)	p-value	Unadjusted OR (95%CI)	p-value	
Adolescents					
Age (years)	1.02 (0.95-1.09)	0.649	1.06 (0.91-1.23)	0.442	
Gender (male vs. female)	1.66 (1.21-2.29)	0.030	0.70 (0.43-1.13)	0.133	
Clinical-level problems (SDQ, mother's report)					
Conduct problems alone [†]	8.13 (4.23-15.64)	< 0.001	8.06 (1.66-39.15)	0.012	
Emotional problems alone [†]	3.53 (2.07-6.02)	< 0.001	3.38 (1.83-6.25)	< 0.001	
Hyperactivity alone [†]	1.60 (0.38-6.79)	0.510	5.38 (1.21-23.87)	0.029	
Comorbidity	19.45 (13.52-27.97)	< 0.001	11.09 (4.24-29.00)	< 0.001	
Impairment components (SDQ, mother's report)					
Child distress [‡]	25.99 (11.21-60.24)	< 0.001	3.57 (1.28-9.97)	0.017	
Interference with home life [‡]	10.50 (5.13-21-51)	< 0.001	3.09 (1.04-9.18)	0.043	
Interference with friendships [‡]	23.45 (9.35-58.81)	< 0.001	5.67 (1.72-18.66)	0.006	
Interference with classroom learning [‡]	16.42 (9.67-27.86)	< 0.001	6.19 (2.98-12.84)	< 0.001	
Interference with leisure activities [‡]	20.92 (12.40-35.32)	< 0.001	0.98 (0.15-6.39)	0.985	
Mothers					
Education (0-4 years vs. $>$ 4 years)	1.32 (1.02-1.72)	0.037	1.02 (0.68-1.54)	0.910	
Anxiety/depression (SRQ-20) [§]	N/A ^{II}		3.33 (1.98-5.61)	< 0.001	

Bold font indicates significant results.

95%CI = 95% confidence interval; N/A = not applicable; OR = odds ratio; SDQ = Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire; SRQ-20 = Self-Reporting Questionnaire.

* Sampling weights applied to determine unadjusted OR and 95%CI.

[†]Compared to no problems on SDQ.

¹Quite a lot/a great deal vs. only a little/not at all.

[§]Yes (total score > 7) vs. no (total score 0-7).

"Not applicable (variable not measured in the Itaboraí study).

process concluded that school-related problems play an important role, influencing not only parental help-seeking but also problem recognition by general practitioners.¹² In the Itaboraí sample, interference with friendships was also interpreted by mothers as a red flag of child EBPs. This is in accordance with Brazilian cultural norms, which expect children to be very social. In Embu, interference with friendships was not a significant correlate of mothers' perception of child EBPs in model 1 and lost significance in model 2 when the variable "interference with leisure activities" was excluded from the model due to collinearity with "child distress." This lack of significance is probably due to the low number of subjects classified as having "quite a lot/a great deal" of interference with leisure activities in the Embu sample.

Child gender

In the Itaboraí sample, mothers were more likely to perceive EBPs in their children when the child was a boy, independently of clinical-level problems and impairment. These results are in agreement with a Brazilian study that examined a probabilistic sample of schoolchildren (n= 1,721; grades 2-6) and identified female gender as a correlate of low mental health service utilization in the presence of psychiatric disorders and/or neurodevelopmental problems.³⁰ However, in Embu, gender was not a correlate of maternal perception of children's problems. This inconsistency in findings across sites might be explained by an association of gender with variables not measured in our study that may have differed between sites. For example, our study did not include correlates of antisocial behavior (e.g., alcohol/illicit drug use³¹ and involvement with criminality³²), which are predominant in males compared to females, and are signs of severity that may make mothers more likely to recognize their child as having EBPs. If alcohol/illicit drug use and involvement with criminality were more common in Itaboraí than in Embu, this could explain why male gender was associated with maternal recognition of children's problems in the former but not in the latter. This hypothesis is coherent with the fact that, in 2006, Itaboraí recorded a higher homicide rate among adolescents (6.0 deaths per 1,000 in the age range 12-18 years) compared to Embu (2.8 deaths per 1,000 in the same age range).³³

Parental psychopathology

Parental recognition of children's problems partly depends on levels of distress or burden experienced by the parents in raising their child.^{12,34} Parental distress reduces the threshold for parents perceiving their children's behaviors as "problematic."^{10,29,35,36} Also, high levels of stress reduce parental self-efficacy to cope with parenting demands and other daily challenges, making parents more likely to seek help from pediatric primary care services.³⁷ Because parental distress and below-average self-efficacy in highstress environments are associated with perceiving children as having problems, it is reasonable to hypothesize that mothers with anxiety/depression would be more likely to perceive their sons/daughters as having EBPs.

Table 5 Correlates of maternal opinion about colds: Itaboraí, state of Rio de Janeiro, and Eml	child emotional/behavioral bu, state of São Paulo, Br	problems, identi azil*	fied by multivariate logist	ic regression moo	dels, in two samples of 1	l 1-to-16-year-
	Itaboraí n=4	80		Embu	n=217	
	Model 1		Model 1 (excluding anxiety/depres	g maternal ssion)	Model 2 (including anxiety/depres	g maternal ssion)
Sample characteristics	Adjusted OR (95%Cl)	p-value	Adjusted OR (95%Cl)	p-value	Adjusted OR (95%Cl)	p-value
Adolescents Age (years) Gender (male vs. female)	1.04 (0.96-1.13) 1.94 (1.39-2.71)	0.320 < 0.001	1.04 (0.88-1.21) 0.70 (0.42-1.19)	0.651 0.176	1.01 (0.86-1.19) 0.70 (0.41-1.19)	0.884 0.175
Clinical-level problems (SDQ, mother's report) Conduct problems alone [†] Emotional problems alone [†] Hyperactivity alone [†] Comorbidity [†]	6.52 (3.39-12.53) 2.19 (1.29-3.71) 1.35 (0.44-4.12) 11.11 (7.18-17.17)	<pre>< 0.001 0.005 0.588 < 0.001</pre>	4.92 (0.96-25.14) 2.69 (1.49-4.85) 3.42 (0.62-18.69) 10.69 (3.56-32.12)	0.055 0.002 0.149 < 0.001	4.97 (0.80-30.93) 2.09 (1.10-3.99) 2.10 (0.44-9.99) 7.80 (2.45-24.90)	0.083 0.027 0.337 0.001
Impairment components (SDQ, mother's report) Child distress [‡] Interference with home life [‡] Interference with friendships [‡] Interference with classroom learning [‡] Interference with leisure activities [‡]	13.08 (6.03-28.37) 0.93 (0.45-1.94) 4.20 (1.16-15.21) 4.65 (2.32-9.33) 2.62 (1.26-5.45)	 < 0.001 0.847 0.030 < 0.001 0.012 	1.18 (0.42-3.27) 1.93 (0.56-6.61) 4.50 (0.68-29.81) 3.31 (1.39-7.90) 0.08 (0.01-1.05)	0.746 0.282 0.113 0.009 0.054	1.02 (0.40-2.62) 1.96 (0.55-7.01) 6.89 (1.16-40.79) 3.81 (1.73-8.39) 0.06 (0.01-0.56)	0.969 0.285 0.035 0.015
Mothers Education (0-4 vs. > 4 years) Anxiety/depression (SRQ-20) [§]	1.06 (0.75-1.48) N/A ^{II}	0.745	0.95 (0.57-1.57) VEP [¶]	0.818	0.66 (0.36-1.22) 2.84 (1.36-5.91)	0.175 0.007
Bold font indicates significant results. 95%CI = 95% confidence interval; N/A = not applicat	ble; OR = odds ratio; SDQ = S	trengths and Diffic	ulties Questionnaire; SRQ-2	:0 = Self-Reporting (Questionnaire; VEP = variat	ole excluded on

purpose.
*Sampling weights applied to determine adjusted OR and 95% CI.
*Compared to no problems on SDQ.
*Compared to a little/not at all.
*Yes (total score >7) vs. no (total score 0-7).
Not applicable (variable not measured in the Itaboraí study).
*Variable excluded from Embu model 1 on purpose to make it comparable to Itaboraí model 1.

69

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study contributed new evidence on isolated and combined types of child behavior profiles in relation to maternal perception of children's EBPs. It emphasized the strong role of comorbidity in increasing the likelihood of a mother's recognition of her child as "problematic." Our study also contributed new evidence on the specific types of impairment that are related to maternal perception of children's problems, highlighting the particular importance of impaired school performance and problem interference with friendships, instead of using only one measure of global functioning. Our findings are probably generalizable to other disadvantaged Brazilian populations living in similar socioeconomic contexts. However, the study has limitations, such as the small number of children with conduct problems alone in the Embu sample and with hyperactivity alone in both samples, which reduced statistical power to find significant associations between these isolated conditions and the study outcome. Other limitations include the absence of other relevant potential correlates (e.g., maternal beliefs/ understanding about mental illness, signs of severity of child antisocial behavior such as alcohol/illicit drug use and criminality) and the lack of an independent assessment of whether the children actually had mental health problems, since only a screening instrument (SDQ) was completed by the mothers. Because the study outcome (mother's opinion of whether her child had EBPs) and main independent variables of interest (types of child behaviors and impairment) were measured on the basis of information provided by the same respondent, this data relationship may have influenced the study results. Nevertheless, while this last factor may be seen as a limitation, it also provides an interesting perspective on our results, because the mothers in this study did not always perceive their child as having problems even when they noticed symptoms (as reported on the SDQ).

Acknowledgements

We thank all study participants, health professionals, and authorities from Embu and Itaboraí and all research team members from the Social Psychiatry Division at the Department of Psychiatry, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, for their valuable collaboration. We are also grateful to Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq; MCT/CNPq/CT-Saúde/MS/SCTIE/ DECIT grant no. 33/2008 – Saúde Mental) and to Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP; grant no. 00/14555-4) for financially supporting the Itaboraí study and the Embu study, respectively.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

 Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE). Censo demográfico 2010: características da população e dos domicílios – resultados do universo [Internet]; 2011. [cited 2013 Jul 27]. biblioteca.ibge.gov.br/ $visualizacao/periodicos/93/cd_2010_caracteristicas_populacao_domicilios.pdf.$

- 2 Paula CS, Coutinho ES, Mari JJ, Rohde LA, Miguel EC, Bordin IA. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders among children and adolescents from four Brazilian regions. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2015;37:178-9.
- 3 Paula CS, Duarte CS, Bordin IA. Prevalence of mental health problems in children and adolescents from the outskirts of Sao Paulo City: treatment needs and service capacity evaluation. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2007;29:11-7.
- 4 Fatori D, Evans-Lacko S, Bordin IA, de Paula C. Child mental health care in Brazil: barriers and achievements. Lancet. 2012;379:e16-7.
- 5 Sayal K. Annotation: pathways to care for children with mental health problems. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2006;47:649-59.
- 6 Paula CS, Lauridsen-Ribeiro E, Wissow L, Bordin IA, Evans-Lacko S. How to improve the mental health care of children and adolescents in Brazil: actions needed in the public sector. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2012;34:334-51.
- 7 Thurston IB, Phares V, Coates EE, Bogart LM. Child problem recognition and help-seeking intentions among black and white parents. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. 2015;44:604-15.
- 8 Ryan SM, Jorm AF, Toumbourou JW, Lubman DI. Parent and family factors associated with service use by young people with mental health problems: a systematic review. Early Interv Psychiatry. 2015; 9:433-46.
- 9 Royal College of Psychiatrists (RC Psych). No health without public mental health: the case for action. Position statement PS4/2010 [Internet]. 2010. [cited 2017 Mar 05]. rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/Position% 20Statement%204%20website.pdf.
- 10 Verhulst FC, van der Ende J. Factors associated with child mental health service use in the community. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1997;36:901-9.
- 11 Teagle SE. Parental problem recognition and child mental health service use. Ment Health Serv Res. 2002;4:257-66.
- 12 Zwaanswijk M, Verhaak PF, Bensing JM, van der Ende J, Verhulst FC. Help seeking for emotional and behavioural problems in children and adolescents: a review of recent literature. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2003;12:153-61.
- 13 Merikangas KR, Nakamura EF, Kessler RC. Epidemiology of mental disorders in children and adolescents. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2009;11:7-20.
- 14 Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE). IBGE cidades [Internet]. 2013. [cited 2013 Jul 24]. ibge.gov.br/cidadesat/painel/ painel.php?codmun=330190.
- 15 Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE). Censo demográfico 2000. População residente nos municípios de São Paulo [Internet]. [cited 2017 Apr 18]. http://www.ibge.gov.br/home/estatistica/ populacao/censo2000/universo.php?tipo=31o/tabela13_1.shtm& paginaatual=1&uf=35&letra=E.
- 16 Rio de Janeiro, Prefeitura de Itaboraí. "PSFs vai à sua rua" investe em prevenção de doenças; 2010 Dec 22. [cited 27/07/2013]. prefeituraitaborai.blogspot.com.br/2010/12/psfs-vai-sua-rua-investe-em-preven cao.html.
- 17 Cochran WG. Sampling techniques. 3rd edition. New York: Wiley; 1977. 18 Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties
- questionnaire. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2001;40:1337-45.
 19 Woerner W, Fleitlich-Bilyk B, Martinussen R, Fletcher J, Cucchiaro G, Dalgalarrondo P, et al. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire
- overseas: evaluations and applications of the SDQ beyond Europe. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2004;13:II47-54. 20 Fleitlich-Bilyk B, Goodman R. Prevalence of child and adolescent
- 20 Fleitlich-Bilyk B, Goodman R. Prevalence of child and adolescent psychiatric disorders in southeast Brazil. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2004;43:727-34.
- 21 World Health Organization (WHO). Division of Mental Health. A User's guide to the self reporting questionnaire (SRQ) [Internet]. 1994 [cited 2017 Mar 05]. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/61113/1/ WHO_MNH_PSF_94.8.pdf.
- 22 Mari JJ, Williams P. A validity study of a psychiatric screening questionnaire (SRQ-20) in primary care in the city of Sao Paulo. Br J Psychiatry. 1986;148:23-6.
- 23 Collins PY, Patel V, Joestl SS, March D, Insel TR, Daar AS, et al. Grand challenges in global mental health. Nature. 2011;475:27-30.
- 24 Patel V, Kieling C, Maulik PK, Divan G. Improving access to care for children with mental disorders: a global perspective. Arch Dis Child. 2013;98:323-7.

- 25 Douma JC, Dekker MC, De Ruiter KP, Verhulst FC, Koot HM. Help-seeking process of parents for psychopathology in youth with moderate to borderline intellectual disabilities. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2006;45:1232-42.
- 26 Vieira MA, Gadelha AA, Moriyama TS, Bressan RA, Bordin IA. Evaluating the effectiveness of a training program that builds teachers' capability to identify and appropriately refer middle and high school students with mental health problems in Brazil: an exploratory study. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:210-210.
- 27 Cornelius JR, Pringle J, Jernigan J, Kirisci L, Clark DB. Correlates of mental health service utilization and unmet need among a sample of male adolescents. Addicti Behav. 2001;26:11-9.
- 28 Hankinson JC. Child psychopathology, parental problem perception, and help-seeking behaviors [dissertation]. Tampa: University of South Florida; 2009.
- 29 Brestan EV, Eyberg SM, Algina J, Johnson SB, Boggs SR. How annoying is it? Defining parental tolerance for child misbehavior. Child Fam Behav Ther. 2003;25:1-15.
- 30 Paula CS, Bordin IA, Mari JJ, Velasque L, Rohde LA, Coutinho ES. The mental health care gap among children and adolescents: data from an epidemiological survey from four Brazilian regions. PloS One. 2014;9:e88241.
- 31 Lynskey MT, Fergusson DM. Childhood conduct problems, attention deficit behaviors, and adolescent alcohol, tobacco, and illicit drug use. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 1995;23:281-302.

- 32 Murray J, Menezes AM, Hickman M, Maughan B, Gallo EA, Matijasevich A, et al. Childhood behaviour problems predict crime and violence in late adolescence: Brazilian and British birth cohort studies. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2015;50:579-89.
- 33 Secretaria Especial dos Direitos Humanos da Presidência da República, Fundo das Nações Unidas, Observatório de Favelas, Laboratório de Análise da Violência. Índice de homicídios na adolescência (IHA): análise preliminar dos homicídios em 267 municípios brasileiros com mais de 100 mil habitantes. 2009 Jul [cited 2017 Mar 05]. https://www.unicef.org/brazil/pt/br_IHA.pdf.
- 34 Pfefferle SG, Spitznagel EL. Children's mental health service use and maternal mental health: a path analytic model. Child Youth Serv Rev. 2009;31:378-82.
- 35 Weisz JR, Suwanlert S, Chaiyasit W, Weiss B, Walter BR, Anderson WW. Thai and American perspectives on over- and undercontrolled child behavior problems: exploring the threshold model among parents, teachers, and psychologists. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1988; 56:601-9.
- 36 Hennigan KM, O'Keefe M, Noether CD, Rinehart DJ, Russell LA. Through a mother's eyes: sources of bias when mothers with cooccurring disorders assess their children. J Behav Health Serv Res. 2006;33:87-104.
- 37 Janicke DM, Finney JW. Children's primary health care services: social-cognitive factors related to utilization. J Pediatr Psychol. 2003;28:547-57.



ORGULHO de ser psiquiatra



71

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Dysfunctional eating behaviors, anxiety, and depression in Italian boys and girls: the role of mass media

Barbara Barcaccia,^{1,2} Viviana Balestrini,² Angelo M. Saliani,² Roberto Baiocco,¹ Francesco Mancini,^{2,3} Barry H. Schneider⁴

¹Dipartimento di Psicologia dei Processi di Sviluppo e Socializzazione, Sapienza Università di Roma, Rome, Italy. ²Associazione di Psicologia Cognitiva (APC) and Scuola di Psicoterapia Cognitiva srl (SPC), Rome, Italy. ³Università degli Studi Guglielmo Marconi, Rome, Italy. ⁴Department of Psychology, Boston College, Boston, MA, USA.

Objective: Extensive research has implicated identification with characters in mass media in the emergence of disordered eating behavior in adolescents. We explored the possible influence of the models offered by television (TV) on adolescents' body image, body uneasiness, eating-disordered behavior, depression, and anxiety.

Methods: Three hundred and one adolescents (aged 14-19) from southern Italy participated. They completed a questionnaire on media exposure and body dissatisfaction, the Eating Disorder Inventory-2, the Body Uneasiness Test, the Beck Depression Inventory, and the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory – Form Y.

Results: The main factors contributing to females' eating-disordered behaviors were their own desires to be similar to TV characters, the amount of reality and entertainment TV they watched, and the discrepancy between their perceptions of their bodies and those of TV characters. Friends' desire to be similar to TV characters contributed most to depression, anxiety, body uneasiness, and eating disorders for both males and females.

Conclusion: Our data confirm that extensive watching of reality and entertainment TV correlates with eating-disordered behavior among females. Moreover, the well-known negative effects of the media on adolescents' eating-disordered behaviors may also be indirectly transmitted by friends who share identification with TV characters.

Keywords: Adolescents; eating disorders; child psychiatry; women; gender differences

Introduction

Adolescents constitute one-fifth of the world's population.¹ The World Health Organization calculated that over 50% of mental disorders begin in adolescence,^{2,3} although they are often detected later in life.⁴ A 2015 systematic review and meta-analysis on the worldwide prevalence of psychiatric disorders in children and adolescents indicated a pooled estimate of 13.4% of youth affected by any mental disorder, showing that around 241 million youngsters in the world are affected by a psychiatric disorder.⁵ Moreover, among youngsters, psychiatric disorders account for 15-30% of the disability-adjusted life years lost during the first 30 years of life⁶; thus, it seems reasonable to both study and invest in research and intervention targeting the mental health of adolescents.⁷

Eating disorders (EDs) are among the most pernicious mental illnesses beginning in adolescence.^{8,9} The mortality rate for anorexia nervosa (AN) is much higher than for other psychiatric disorders: the standardized mortality

Correspondence: Barbara Barcaccia, Dipartimento di Psicologia dei Processi di Sviluppo e Socializzazione, Sapienza Università di Roma, Via dei Marsi 78 00185, Rome, Italy.

E-mail: barbara.barcaccia@uniroma1.it

ratios are 5.86 for AN, 1.93 for bulimia nervosa (BN), and 1.92 for EDs not otherwise specified (EDNOS). Technology and mass media may be putting greater proportions of adolescents at risk of developing EDs, which can be exacerbated by idealistic body images presented in the media. In fact, it has been suggested that the glamorization of specific body shapes fomented by the fashion world, for which youngsters represent a core market, can account for the high prevalence of EDs in developed countries. Furthermore, media globalization is correlated to an increased prevalence of EDs in developing countries.⁴ A recent longitudinal study¹⁰ conducted with 2,287 participants found that, once dysfunctional ED behaviors start, they become extremely difficult to stop: adolescents with more severe symptomatology continued to belong to the pathological eating behaviors group at 10-year follow-up, indicating the importance of early detection and appropriate intervention.

Patients with AN, BN, and binge-eating disorder (BED) present with disturbed body image and eating and/or weight loss behaviors, leading to severe impairment of quality of life and to high personal and social costs.^{11,12} There are also other nonspecific feeding and eating-related maladaptive behaviors, which do not meet all diagnostic criteria for a specific ED, that are very common in community samples, such as chronic dieting, fasting,

Submitted Dec 17 2016, accepted Jul 10 2017, Epub Oct 19 2017.

bingeing, purging, and abuse of laxatives and/or diuretics. These symptomatic behaviors increase the risk of "subsequent development of a specific ED."13 They also dangerously increase the risk of both physical pathological conditions, such as delayed puberty, digestive/urinary abnormalities, and mouth ulcers, and psychological conditions, such as depression, suicide attempts, anxiety, and substance abuse.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ In a systematic review¹² of a large number of community-based studies, the authors highlighted the robust associations between ED prevalence and female sex, younger age cohort, and a history of abuse (particularly physical or sexual). In another review of the literature on the incidence, prevalence, and mortality rates of EDs,¹⁷ AN was found to be on the rise among 15-to-19-year-old girls. BED has been found to be more common among males and older individuals than other EDs.¹⁷

In a study on the epidemiology of EDs in six European countries (Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, and Spain). the lifetime prevalence of AN, BN, binge-ED, subthreshold binge-ED, and any binge eating was 0.48. 0.51, 1.12, 0.72, and 2.15%, respectively.¹⁸ Lifetime prevalence was consistently three to eight times as high among women as men for all EDs, except subthreshold BED. Moreover, EDs showed high levels of comorbidity with other mental disorders.¹⁸ Despite the high presence of comorbid disorders in this sample, which should theoretically increase the likelihood of seeking treatment, very few individuals sought contact with mental health services for psychological problems. Among other reasons, the ego-syntonic and reinforcing nature of symptoms in EDs (e.g., anxiolytic, anesthetic, or reward-inducing effects of fasting, bingeing, purging, and excessive exercise) may explain the low motivation of these patients to seek professional help.19

EDs comprise a variety of symptoms that severely impair physical, mental, and social aspects of everyday life, perhaps more so than other common psychiatric disorders.²⁰ EDs are associated with mood and anxiety problems, substance use, and impulse control disorders, contributing to overall impairment and decreased quality of life.²¹

In particular, adolescence represents a developmental period when weight-related teasing by peers and other environmental risk factors, such as the exposure to unattainable thinness ideals, can negatively affect boys' and girls' lives.²² For these reasons, adolescence represents a critical target period for prevention programmes.^{22,23}

It is well established that prolonged direct exposure to media pressure towards thinness, as well as indirect exposure through the media's effects on peers and significant others, represent important risk factors for body dissatisfaction and dysfunctional eating behaviors in adolescents and young adults.²⁴ Objectification theory²⁵ contends that women in Western culture are constantly objectified and that their bodies are used by others as a way of assessing their personal worth. Through socialization, women internalize the idea that their self-worth is largely based on the way other people view them. This, in turn, leads to their own continual comparisons of their body images to others.²⁵

Interestingly, self-objectification has been found to play a role in depression, which is frequently comorbid with EDs. In a systematic review of research,²⁶ a hypothesized causal link between self-objectification and depression was tested. There was clear support for this causal link in the data from female participants, but mixed support for males, indicating a potentially more complex etiology of male EDs.²⁶ Self-objectification can also be derived from the media, in addition to perceived body idealization resulting from conversations with peers and friends.

In a study²⁷ focused on the relationship between drive for thinness, self-esteem, and media influence, women were found to be more significantly influenced than men by the media in terms of drive for thinness. Models in the media were perceived to have ideal bodies, which led to an internalization of the media message that affected the body image of the viewers, both male and female.²⁷

Media effects may not be limited to North America, where most of the research has been conducted. The global access to mass media, including television (TV) and film, creates an international dilemma, as seen in a study of adolescents in Fiji whose body image was negatively affected by gaining access to social networks.²⁸ The desire for approval, which has been identified as a leading cause of EDs, can stem from comparisons made to characters and figures in the media.²⁹ The ideal of feminine beauty is portraved as something impossible to attain, but important to work towards. The media presents unattainable ideals to adolescents (see, e.g., Miotto et al.³⁰), but does not disseminate information regarding the dangers and prevalence of the EDs that come as negative consequences of striving for thinness. Nevertheless, the key element may be not mere exposure to media, but exposure without critical consideration: adolescents spend an average of 7 or more hours/day with media, which is more than they do on any other activity except sleeping.³¹ Although adolescents have access to several media, TV remains predominant and, when a TV is in the bedroom, parents are less capable of monitoring adolescents' viewing habits³¹ by co-viewing and discussing the characters' appearance or choices and behavior. Therefore, a passive, uncritical, and unquestioning stance may contribute to the strong impact these images have on adolescents' thoughts and feelings.

The objective of the present study was to evaluate the influence of models offered by the mass media (TV) on adolescents' perceptions of their own body image and on psychopathology. We hypothesized that: i) exposure to TV would correlate positively with susceptibility to distorted bodily perceptions, disordered eating behavior, anxiety, and depression; ii) the participants' distorted perception of their own bodies compared to those of TV characters would correlate positively with body uneasiness, disordered eating behavior, anxiety, and depression; and their friends' desire to be similar to models of TV characters would correlate positively with disordered perception behavior.

Methods

Study design and participants

Three hundred and one male and female adolescents between the ages of 14 and 19, recruited from 13 high

school classes across southern Italy, participated in the study. The sample was made up of 148 females (49.17%, mean age 17.136, standard deviation [SD] = 1.3) and 153 males (50.83%, mean age 17.176, SD = 1.2), an almost equal distribution of sex and age.

Ethical considerations

This study was carried out after approval by the ethics committee of Dipartimento di Psicologia dei Processi di Sviluppo e Socializzazione. Sapienza Università di Roma. Assessment was conducted during one session lasting around 1 hour, which took place in the participants' classrooms. The study was introduced to the participants and a set of questionnaires was administered under the supervision of a proctor capable of providing clarification. Administration was carried out in a manner that ensured anonymity. Before administering the test, the participants were asked to read and sign an informed consent form where the study and Italian Law 675/96, which guarantees the privacy of personal information, were explained. Parents signed the informed consent form for underage participants, whereas those who were of legal age signed the form themselves. The consent rate was 94%. Participants were not given any incentive to participate in the study, and their involvement was voluntary. To ensure the participants' anonymity, no names were identified on the questionnaires.

Respondents were asked to indicate the average daily time spent watching TV and the name and type of their favorite TV programs. In addition, participants specified the body type of their favorite TV character (both male and female), how similar to these characters they perceived themselves to be, and whether they or their friends would like to resemble these characters physically.

Instruments

Eating Disorder Inventory-2 (EDI-2)

The EDI-2 is a self-report measure^{32,33} used to assess ED psychopathology (i.e., attitudes and behaviors relevant to bulimia and AN) in both males and females over the age of 12. This second version contains 91 items and 11 subscales that measure: 1) drive for thinness; 2) bulimia; 3) body dissatisfaction; 4) ineffectiveness; 5) perfectionism; 6) interpersonal distrust; 7) interoceptive awareness; 8) maturity fears; 9) asceticism; 10) impulse regulation; and 11) social insecurity. Participants rated their level of dissatisfaction on a letter scale from A (never) to F (always), and were also asked to indicate their weight in kilograms and height in centimeters. This instrument has shown to be reliable for the assessment of EDs, with highly stable test-retest reliabilities over time. Previous research has shown significant test-retest correlations ranging from 0.81-0.89 in the ED group and from 0.74-0.95 in the group with other diagnoses, such as depression and obsessive-compulsive disorder.³⁴ In this study. Cronbach's alpha was 0.71.

Body Uneasiness Test (BUT)

The BUT is a 71-item self-report questionnaire divided into two parts.³⁵ BUT-A consists of 34 statements and measures weight phobia, body image concerns, avoidance, compulsive self-monitoring, detachment, and estrangement feelings towards one's own body (depersonalization). Sample items include: "Eating in the presence of others causes anxiety"; "I avoid mirrors"; and "I compare my appearance with that of others." On the other hand, the 37-item BUT-B examines specific worries about particular body parts, features (e.g., odor), or functions (e.g., sweating). Response options for all items were based on a six-point scale, ranging from 0 (never) to 5 (always). BUT-A scores were averaged in a Global Severity Index (GSI) and five subscales: Weight Phobia (fear of being or becoming fat); Body Image Concerns (worries related to physical appearance); Avoidance (body image-related avoidance behavior): Compulsive Self-Monitoring (compulsive checking of physical appearance); and Depersonalization (detachment and estrangement feelings toward the body). BUT-B scores were combined in two measures (Positive Symptom Total and Positive Symptom Distress Index) and in eight subscales related to specific worries about particular body parts or functions. Higher scores indicate greater body uneasiness. Research on the validity of the BUT indicates that this questionnaire has satisfactory internal consistency (alpha > 0.7) and strong test-retest reliability (correlation coefficients > 0.7). It has been shown to be a valuable instrument for screening and clinical assessment of abnormal body image attitudes, AN (restrictive and binge-purging types), and BN (purging type).35 In this study. Cronbach's alpha for this measure was 0.91.

Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II)

The BDI-II is a 21-item self-report inventory used to measure characteristic attitudes and symptoms of depression, such as hopelessness, irritability, and feelings of guilt.^{36,37} Participants are asked to indicate which statement best describes their feelings over the past 7 days. Each item has between four and six choices, ranging in intensity. Sample items include: "I don't enjoy things the way I used to"; "I feel the future is hopeless and that things cannot improve"; and "I blame myself all the time for my faults." Scores are combined and compared to a key to determine the presence and severity of depression, ranging from "normal ups and downs" to "extreme depression." Previous studies on the psychometric properties of the BDI-II have demonstrated high internal consistency, with alpha coefficients of 0.86 and 0.81 for psychiatric and non-psychiatric populations, respectively.³⁸ In this study, Cronbach's alpha for this measure was 0.82.

State-Trait Anxiety Inventory – Form Y (STAI-Y)

The STAI-Y is a self-report inventory that measures state and trait anxiety.^{39,40} Form Y contains 20 items that assess state anxiety and 20 for trait anxiety. Sample state anxiety items include: "I feel worried" and "I feel secure." Trait anxiety items include: "I worry too much over

75

something that really doesn't matter" and "I am content." For the items on state anxiety, participants are asked to indicate whether the statement describes their current mood state. Responses are based on a four-point scale ranging from "not at all" to "extremely." For the items on trait anxiety, participants indicate whether the statement describes how they feel most of the time. Responses are based on a four-point scale ranging from "almost never" to "almost always." Previous research has demonstrated a high internal consistency, with alpha coefficients ranging from 0.86-0.95 and test-retest coefficients from 0.65-0.75 over a 2-month interval.³⁹ In this study, Cronbach's alpha was 0.84 for the trait scale, which was used in the regression analyses.

Statistical analysis

We conducted a series of initial analyses to determine the viability of pooling data from male and female participants into a single set of multiple-regression analyses, thus maximizing statistical power. First, we determined that the participants' gender was the strongest predictor of eating-disordered behavior and body uneasiness in our data. Furthermore, many of the interactive effects of gender and the other predictors were significant. Because we did not have the statistical power to enter all of these interactions into a single equation, we opted to compute separate regression equations for male and female participants.

Results

Table 1 displays the standardized beta coefficients separately by gender. Male friends' desire to physically resemble TV characters was the only statistically significant factor contributing to the criterion measures. Notably, that variable emerged as a significant predictor of all four dependent variables: depression, anxiety, eating-disordered behavior, and body uneasiness.

As shown in the table, several significant predictors emerged in the regressions computed with data obtained from female participants. Consequently, the overall variance explained for females was greater than for males, especially for the more proximal criterion variables of eating-disordered behavior and body uneasiness. As in the results obtained for males, friends' desire to be similar to media characters emerged as a significant predictor of all four criterion variables, making this the most consistent predictor in the entire data set. However, some additional predictors were significant only for females, including some significant findings for females' own desire to be similar to media characters and the discrepancy they perceived between their own body image and that of the character. There results suggest that Italian female adolescents internalize media messages about the ideal body to some extent, which was not evident in the data obtained from males.

Discussion

Our results highlight the difference between male and female adolescents in terms of susceptibility to misperception of their **Table 1** Multiple regression summary for males and females:

 standardized beta coefficients and significant *t* values

Predictor variable	Males	Females (beta)
Depression Hours watched	0.127	0.384
Idolization of characters Desire to be similar	-0.558 1.221	0.957 0.751
Friends' desire to be similar Discrepancy from ideal Cumulative R ²	0.218/2.650 [↑] 0.111 0.07	2.013 0.539 0.05
Anxiety		
Hours watched Idolization of characters Desire to be similar Friends' desire to be similar Discrepancy from ideal Cumulative R ²	0.072 0.079 0.010 0.183/2.184* -0.009 0.04	-0.046 0.032 0.121 0.286/2.329 [†] 0.949 0.11
Eating disordered behavior Hours watched Idolization of characters Desire to be similar Friends' desire to be similar Discrepancy from ideal Cumulative R ²	-0.046 0.032 0.121 0.286/3.556 [†] 0.005 0.12	0.004 -0.083 0.211/2.611 [†] 0.110 0.310 0.19
Body uneasiness Hours watched Idolization of characters Desire to be similar Friends' desire to be similar Discrepancy from ideal Cumulative R ²	0.022 -0.048 0.143 0.213/2.613 [†] 0.117 0.09	0.036 0.031 0.214/2.726 [†] 0.194/2.415* 0.332/4.292 [‡] 0.24

* p < 0.05; [†] p < 0.01; [‡] p < 0.001.

body caused by the mass media. The stronger prediction of outcome for females corroborate previous findings,²⁷ showing that females were influenced by the media in terms of drive for thinness significantly more than males were. A higher prevalence of ED symptoms has been found in women as compared to men. Thus, women may be more susceptible than men to body misperceptions caused by the media.

Objectification theory states that, in Western culture, women are specifically objectified and their body is used to measure their self-worth. Through the perception that their self-worth is mainly based on how people view them, women subconsciously tend to compare their body image to others' more than men do.²⁵ According to objectification theory, women already have a stronger propensity to being swayed by the media and, in turn, viewing their body in a negative way as compared to the "ideal body" that is represented in TV or in other media. Our data indicate that women are much more susceptible to the mass media through direct comparisons. Men may have a different etiology in regards to the effect of mass media and ED behaviors, or may simply not be as sensitive to media influences as are females. One possible explanation is that females may be more sensitive to these issues than males because they watch more entertainment and image-focused TV.⁴¹ With respect to TV viewing time, women of all ages spend more time watching TV than their male counterparts.⁴² This could explain the more direct effect on dysfunctional EDs. On the other hand, men spend more than twice as much time as women using gaming consoles, so one may infer that they are less directly influenced by TV watching.⁴³

One interesting finding of our study is the very consistent strength of the vicarious influence of friends, specifically of friends' perceptions of media characters. This emerged as a significant predictor for both males and females, but stands out as the only significant predictor in our data set for males. While both males and females appear to be sensitive to the influences of friends, it is commonly held that females are more invested in relations than are males.⁴⁴ This does not preclude the possibility of boys being influenced very strongly by their friends in this particular way, especially in the Italian culture, where boys and men do interact socially to a considerable extent.⁴⁵

Our findings should be viewed while taking certain limitations into consideration. First, the correlational nature of our data. Although we did obtain statistically significant correlations in our sample, we cannot determine whether the mass media caused the psychological problems or only contributed to them. Therefore, we are unsure whether the initial presence of depression and/or anxiety might have made the participants more susceptible to EDs or if instead those factors were a consequence of EDs. Second, all measures were self-reported and may thus have been affected by self-report bias. Also, we did not account for genetic factors. If any of the participants had a genetic predisposition toward ED behavior, exposure to the mass media may have had a stronger effect on them than on others without such predispositions.

Though not all of our hypotheses were confirmed, our data revealed interesting information about the differences in male and female susceptibility to the mass media. Although no direct causal relationships can be drawn from this study, our data show a relationship whereby women are more susceptible to ED behaviors, distorted perception of their own bodies, and depression through direct comparisons to the mass media. On the other hand, males are more susceptible to distorted perception of their body, state and trait anxiety, and depression using indirect comparisons to the mass media through their friends. We suggest that future studies should explore the etiology of EDs in men and the indirect influence of mass media characters.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the contribution of the students of the Research Practicum in Child Clinical Psychology, Boston College, to the preparation of this manuscript.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- United Nations. World population prospects The 2010 revision [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2017 Mar 15]. www.un.org/en/development/ desa/population/publications/pdf/trends/WPP2010/WPP2010_Volume-I_ Comprehensive-Tables.pdf
- 2 Kessler RC, Amminger GP, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Lee S, Ustün TB. Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2007;20:359-64.

- 3 World Health Organization (WHO). Health for the world's adolescents A second chance in the second decade [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2017 Mar 15]. apps.who.int/adolescent/second-decade/files/1612_MNCAH_HWA_ Executive_Summary.pdf
- 4 Patel V, Flisher AJ, Hetrick SE, McGorry PD. Mental health of young people: a global public-health challenge. Lancet. 2007;369:1302-13.
- 5 Polanczyk GV, Salum GA, Sugaya LS, Caye A, Rohde LA. Annual research review: a meta-analysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2015;56:345-65.
- 6 Kieling C, Baker-Henningham H, Belfer M, Conti G, Ertem I, Omigbodun O, et al. Child and adolescent mental health worldwide: evidence for action. Lancet. 2011;378:1515-25.
- 7 Erskine HE, Baxter AJ, Patton G, Moffitt TE, Patel V, Whiteford HA, et al. The global coverage of prevalence data for mental disorders in children and adolescents. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2017;26:395-402.
- 8 Arcelus J, Mitchell AJ, Wales J, Nielsen S. Mortality rates in patients with anorexia nervosa and other eating disorders. A meta-analysis of 36 studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2011;68:724-31.
- 9 Fichter MM, Quadflieg N. Mortality in eating disorders results of a large prospective clinical longitudinal study. Int J Eat Disord. 2016; 49:391-401.
- 10 Pearson CM, Miller J, Ackard DM, Loth KA, Wall MM, Haynos AF, et al. Stability and change in patterns of eating disorder symptoms from adolescence to young adulthood. Int J Eat Disord. 2017;50:748-57.
- 11 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5). Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 12 Mitchison D, Hay PJ. The epidemiology of eating disorders: genetic, environmental, and societal factors. Clin Epidemiol. 2014;6:89-97.
- 13 Patton GC, Johnson-Sabine E, Wood K, Mann AH, Wakeling A. Abnormal eating attitudes in London schoolgirls--a prospective epidemiological study: outcome at twelve month follow-up. Psychol Med. 1990;20:383-94.
- 14 Le Grange D, Swanson SA, Crow SJ, Merikangas KR. Eating disorder not otherwise specified presentation in the US population. Int J Eat Disord. 2012;45:711-8.
- 15 Ortega-Luyando M, Alvarez-Rayón G, Garner DM, Amaya-Hernández A, Bautista-Díaz ML, Mancilla-Díaz JM. Systematic review of disordered eating behaviors: Methodological considerations for epidemiological research. Rev Mex Trastor Aliment. 2015;6:51-63.
- 16 Tam CK, Ng CF, Yu CM, Young BW. Disordered eating attitudes and behaviours among adolescents in Hong Kong: prevalence and correlates. J Paediatr Child Health. 2007;43:811-7.
- 17 Smink FR, van Hoeken D, Hoek HW. Epidemiology of eating disorders: incidence, prevalence and mortality rates. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2012; 14:406-14.
- 18 Preti A, Girolamo Gd, Vilagut G, Alonso J, Graaf Rd, Bruffaerts R, et al. The epidemiology of eating disorders in six European countries: results of the ESEMeD-WMH project. J Psychiatr Res. 2009;43: 1125-32.
- 19 Espel HM, Goldstein SP, Manasse SM, Juarascio AS. Experiential acceptance, motivation for recovery, and treatment outcome in eating disorders. Eat Weight Disord. 2016;21:205-10.
- 20 Winkler LA, Christiansen E, Lichtenstein MB, Hansen NB, Bilenberg N, Støving RK. Quality of life in eating disorders: a meta-analysis. Psychiatry Res. 2014;219:1-9.
- 21 Aspen V, Weisman H, Vannucci A, Nafiz N, Gredysa D, Kass AE, et al. Psychiatric co-morbidity in women presenting across the continuum of disordered eating. Eat Behav. 2014;15:686-93.
- 22 Le LKD, Barendregt JJ, Hay P, Mihalopoulos C. Prevention of eating disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev. 2017;53:46-58.
- 23 Plasencia M, Wilfred SA, Becker CB. Preventing eating disorders in adolescents. In: Korin MR, editor. Health promotion for children and adolescents. New York: Springer; 2016. p. 285-308.
- 24 López-Guimerà G, Levine MP, Sánchez-Carracedo D, Fauquet J. Influence of mass media on body image and eating disordered attitudes and behaviors in females: a review of effects and processes. J Media Psychol. 2010;13:387-416.
- 25 Fredrickson BL, Roberts TA. Objectification theory. Psychol Women Q. 1997;21:173-206.
- 26 Jones BA, Griffiths KM. Self-objectification and depression: an integrative systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2015;171:22-32.

77

- 27 Fernandez S, Pritchard M. Relationships between self-esteem, media influence and drive for thinness. Eat Behav. 2012;13:321-5.
- 28 Becker AE, Fay KE, Agnew-Blais J, Khan AN, Striegel-Moore RH, Gilman SE. Social network media exposure and adolescent eating pathology in Fiji. Br J Psychiatry. 2011;198:43-50.
- 29 Rodgers RF, McLean SA, Paxton SJ. Longitudinal relationships among internalization of the media ideal, peer social comparison, and body dissatisfaction: implications for the tripartite influence model. Dev Psychol. 2015;51:706-13.
- 30 Miotto P, Coppi M, Frezza M, Rossi M, Preti A. Social desirability and eating disorders. A community study of an Italian school-aged sample. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2002;105:372-7.
- 31 Strasburger VC, Jordan AB, Donnerstein E. Health effects of media on children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2010;125:756-67.
- 32 Garner DM. Eating disorder inventory-2. Odessa: Psychological Assessment Resources; 1991.
- 33 Rizzardi M, Trombini Corazza E, Trombini G. Manuale: EDI-2 eating disorder inventory--2. Firenze: Organizzazioni Speciali; 1995.
- 34 Thiel A, Paul T. Test-retest reliability of the eating disorder inventory 2. J Psychosom Res. 2006;61:567-9.
- 35 Cuzzolaro M, Vetrone G, Marano G, Garfinkel PE. The Body Uneasiness Test (BUT): development and validation of a new body image assessment scale. Eat Weight Disord. 2006;11:1-13.
- 36 Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1961;4:561-71.

- 37 Ghisi M, Flebus GB, Montano A, Sanavio E, Sica C. Beck Depression Inventory, II, Italian Version. Firenze: Editore Giunti OS; 2006.
- 38 Beck A T, Steer RA, Carbin MG. Psychometric properties of the Beck Depression Inventory: twenty-five years of evaluation. Clin Psychol Rev. 1988;8:77-100.
- 39 Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene R, Vagg PR, Jacobs GA. Manual for the state-trait anxiety inventory. Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists; 1983.
- 40 Pedrabissi L, Santinello M. Inventario per l'ansia di «Stato» e di «Tratto»: nuova versione italiana dello STAI Forma Y: Manuale. Firenze: Organizzazioni Speciali; 1989.
- 41 Cramblitt B, Pritchard M. Media's influence on the drive for muscularity in undergraduates. Eat Behav. 2013;14:441-6.
- 42 Nielsen reports. American video habits by age, gender and ethnicity [Internet]. 2011 Aug 01 [cited 2017 Mar 15]. www.nielsen.com/us/en/ insights/news/2011/american-video-habits-by-age-gender-and-ethnicity. html
- 43 Lunden I. Nielsen: women watch more TV than men, but connected games consoles are changing that [Internet]. 2012 Oct 5 [cited 2017 Mar 28]. techcrunch.com/2012/10/05/nielsen-gaming-tv-console/
- 44 Benenson J, Alavi K. Sex differences in children's investment in same-sex peers. Evol Human Behav. 2004;25:258-66.
- 45 Tomada G, Schneider BH. Invariance across culture, stability over time, and concordance among informants. Dev Psychol. 1997; 33:601-9.



ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Empathic skills and theory of mind in female adolescents with conduct disorder

Olber E. Arango Tobón, Antonio Olivera-La Rosa, Viviana Restrepo Tamayo, Isabel C. Puerta Lopera

Facultad de Psicología y Ciencias Sociales, Universidad Católica Luis Amigó, Medellín, Colombia.

Objective: Most studies on conduct disorder (CD) have focused on male adolescents, disregarding analysis of this psychopathology in women. The purpose of this study was to identify differences in empathy and theory of mind (ToM) in a group of adolescent women with CD and a control group. **Method:** Thirty-six adolescent women were selected from an initial sample of 239 adolescents (CD group = 18, control group = 18). Empathy and ToM were evaluated through objective instruments. Mean comparisons and multivariate analysis were performed to ascertain differences between cases and controls and to propose a prediction model based on clinical status.

Results: Significant differences in empathic abilities and ToM were found between the groups. The model that differentiated both groups was composed of eye-reading ability, perspective taking, and personal distress.

Conclusion: These findings are consistent with previous studies. Capacity to take the other's perspective and the recognition of emotions in the face are protective factors against CD in women.

Keywords: Conduct disorder; empathy; theory of mind; women; callous unemotional traits

Introduction

Conduct disorder (CD) during childhood and adolescence is characterized by social norms violations such as theft, private property destruction, transgressions of other people's rights, physical and relational aggressions, extortion, and intimidation. The most recent description of this pathology has included a relevant clinical specifier termed callousunemotional traits (CUT), which is associated with more serious conduct problems and worse response to treatment.¹ Adolescents with CD and CUT present limitations in prosocial emotional processing, serious difficulties in feeling guilt or remorse, and a significant decrease in their empathic abilities.¹ The prevalence of this disorder in children and adolescents is believed to range between 2% and 10%, with men being more frequently affected (maleto-female ratio 4:1). Male adolescents exhibit more aggressive behaviors, such as fighting, vandalism, and theft, while women more often seem to show relational aggressions that imply a deterioration of relationships with others, emotional manipulation, and a higher tendency to deceit, truancy, and prostitution.1-3

Several studies of CD have included samples of male adolescents or of both genders.^{4,5} There is a dearth of research on this disorder exclusively in women. Currently, a few clinical differences have been established to distinguish the main features of CD in each gender⁴⁻⁷; however, knowledge about the differences between women with

and without CD, particularly regarding empathy and social cognition processes, is scarce.

Recent studies have pointed out social cognition and empathy deficits in women with CD.8,9 These studies have established that women with CD have a higher deficit of facial acknowledgement of happiness, sadness, and fear - emotions linked to empathic answers and prosocial behavior. Research has also described that these adolescents present slower emotional processing, which limits the decoding of such emotions and generates a delay in the empathic responses needed to understand and affectively bond with the emotional and mental states of others.⁹⁻¹¹ Previous findings, supported by clinical evidence, proposed the CUT specifier for CD subtypes that involve absence of guilt and lack of empathic concern for others.¹² According to this, women with CD and limitations in abilities related to the theory of mind (ToM) have important psychopathic traits and blunted prosocial responses, which involve a lack of concern for the negative consequences caused by their actions and low empathic concern.11-13

Hence, empirical evidence shows that deficits in emotional and empathic processing and in ToM abilities are predictive of antisocial conduct during childhood and adolescence. Specifically, empathy has been described as an inhibitory response to aggressive and antisocial conducts that may lead to prosocial behaviors, as it may have an impact over the abilities to feel (affective component) and understand (cognitive component) emotional and mental states and, therefore, to experience guilt or embarrassment when one's actions affect others negatively.¹⁴ On the other hand, some studies suggest that deficits in empathy and, particularly, in ToM abilities in adolescents

Correspondence: Olber Eduardo Arango Tobón, Transversal 514A #67B90, Medellín, Colombia.

E-mail: olber.arangoto@amigo.edu.co

Submitted Sep 02 2016, accepted Feb 11 2017, Epub Jun 12 2017.

lead to difficulties in social adaptation, in interactions with peers, and in family and academic scenarios. In this line, children and adolescents who have difficulty "reading" the emotional states of others through eye-reading ability and difficulty understanding situations (whether affectively or cognitively) within context in their interactions with others are more likely to experience behavioral problems in their development.¹⁵⁻¹⁸

The purpose of this study was to identify and analyze possible differences in empathy and ToM between a group of female adolescents with CD and a control group. Based on empirical evidence, we hypothesize that there will be significant differences between the two groups, with the control group performing better on measures of empathy and ToM. Our second hypothesis states that women with CD might have lower empathy scores due to CUT compared to healthy controls, and, finally, that empathic dimensions and ToM variables will be predictive of CD in female adolescents.

Method

Participants

This study is part of a larger research project, "Theory of mind and empathy as predictors of conduct disorder in adolescence,"¹⁷ conducted on a total sample of 239 adolescents (CD group = 157; no CD group = 82). Only 18 participants in the CD group were women. From this initial sample, 36 female adolescents aged 15 to 17 years were selected (18 with CF from Centro Juvenil Amigoniano, and 18 controls without CD from Instituto Técnico San Rafael). Only women who met DSM-IV-TR criteria for CD¹⁹ were selected to compose the case group; then, the same number of controls was selected randomly.

The Conduct Disorder Module of the International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI)²⁰ was applied to the CD group. In the no-CD group, the DSM-IV-TR criteria were applied to ensure that a diagnosis of conduct disorder was not present. The clinical history of all participants was studied and subjects with evidence of psychosis, autism, neurological diseases, or any medical condition that might suggest another developmental, emotional, or behavioral disorder were excluded. Participation in the study was voluntary, and both the adolescents and their parents or legal guardians provided written informed consent.

Instruments

Conduct disorder

Clinical interviewers used the DSM-IV-TR criteria for screening¹⁹ and confirmed the diagnosis with the Conduct Disorder module of the MINI.²⁰ CUTs were explored using the same instrument. The MINI is a short structured diagnostic interview that explores the main psychiatric disorders in axis I of the DSM-IV²¹ and the ICD-10.²² Validity and reliability studies have compared the MINI to the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM, Psychiatric Patients (SCID-P)²³ for the DSM-III-R²⁴ and the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI). The results

of these studies show that the MINI has acceptably high validity and reliability and can be administered in a shorter period of time (from 11.6 to 18.7 minutes; 15 minutes on average) than the aforementioned instruments.

Empathy

The Interpersonal Reactivity Index²⁵ was used for multidimensional assessment of empathy. This test evaluates four dimensions of empathy – two in the cognitive component (perspective taking and fantasy) and two in the affective component (empathic concern and personal distress) – and consists of 28 items, answered on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Does not describe me well" to "Describes me very well." The measure has four subscales, each made up of seven different items. These subscales are:

- Perspective taking: the tendency to spontaneously adopt the psychological point of view of others;
- Fantasy: taps respondents' tendencies to transpose themselves imaginatively into the feelings and actions of fictitious characters in books, movies, and plays;
- Empathic concern: assesses "other-oriented" feelings of sympathy and concern for unfortunate others;
- Personal distress: measures "self-oriented" feelings of personal anxiety and unease in tense interpersonal settings.

The internal consistency of the dimensions ranges from 0.68 to 0.79, and test-retest reliability varies from 0.61 to 0.81 during a period of 60 to 75 days.

Theory of mind

The Faux Pas Test, based on the procedure described by Stone et al.,^{26,27} consists of 20 stories, of which half contain a social faux pas and the other half are control stories with a minor conflict that does not constitute a faux pas. There are also faux pas detection questions and memory questions that measure the comprehension of details in the story. For example, in one story, Mary says "I don't think I've met this little boy" to a child's mother; in fact, the child is a little girl. The speaker did not say this out of any malicious intent, but out of a mistaken belief. The *faux pas* in this case lies in the fact that it may unintentionally upset parents for their little girl to be thought of as a boy. In another story, Tim is in a restaurant and spills his coffee. He turns to the waiter and says, "I've spilt my coffee. Would you be able to mop it up?" In fact, the other person is not a waiter but simply another customer. Once again, there is no malice involved; the speaker was simply mistaken. However, the faux pas in this case arises because it is a bit rude to ask a bystander to clean up your mess.²⁶ The scoring system used was the one established by Stone et al.,²⁶ with testretest markers of reliability of 0.83 and evaluator reliability of 0.76.

The Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test was used to measure emotion-reading ability and the attribution of mental states of others by including their beliefs and intentions.²⁸ The test consists of 36 pictures of different

actors' eyes. The pictures are presented one at a time in a fixed order. Each stimulus consists of four written words describing emotions, among which the participant has to choose that which best describes what the person is thinking or feeling. One point is awarded for every correct response; the maximum total score is 36. Scoring data were obtained from studies conducted in a general Latin American population.²⁹

Procedure

All adolescents were evaluated by clinical professionals affiliated with the Basic and Applied Neuroscience research group from Fundación Universitaria Luis Amigó. The clinical criteria for conduct disorder (DSM-IV-TR¹⁸) were applied to each adolescent. Those who did not meet the criteria were assigned to the control group, while those who met the criteria underwent the MINI¹⁹ and were then classified in the CD group with CUT as appropriate. Then, empathy and ToM tests were administered to both groups. All assessments were performed in a single 60-minute session in a quiet and comfortable place.

Statistical analysis

SPSS version 22 was used for data analyses. The hypothesis of normality was tested by the Shapiro-Wilk method for age variables and test scores (ToM and empathy). All variables were normally distributed. Measures of central tendency were described for age and test scores, which were also compared by the Student *t*-test. Then, a multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) was performed to determine whether the empathy and ToM test scores differed according to the independent variable clinical status (CD vs. no CD). Finally, a binomial logistic regression model was constructed to establish predictors of risk for or protection against CD in female adolescents.

Results

The means and standard deviations of ToM and empathy scores are described in Table 1.

To determine whether empathy and ToM test scores differed between the CD and no-CD groups, MANCOVA was performed. CD diagnostic status (CD vs. no CD) was taken as a factor, while the Eye Test, the Faux Pas Test, and the empathy represented by the fantasy, empathic concern, perspective taking, and personal distress domains were the dependent variables.

According to Wilks's lambda statistic, MANCOVA showed that the dependent variables (empathy and ToM) were significantly affected by the independent variable, meaning that scores in the empathy and ToM test dimensions were affected by the diagnosis of CD (F = 24.64; p < 0.000). In a test of effects among subjects, the only variable that did not predict differences between the groups was the Faux Pas Test (F = 2.69; p = 0.110). The remaining dependent variables – Eye Test (F = 52.09; p < 0.000), perspective taking (F = 43.16; p < 0.000), and personal distress (F = 16.89; p < 0.000) – clearly differentiated the two groups.

A binomial logistic regression model (Table 2) was constructed to establish predictive factors according to the categorical variable clinical status (CD vs. no CD). Initially, the Introduce method was used and all variables that represented empathy and ToM measurements were included (fantasy, perspective taking, personal distress, empathic concern, Eye Test, and Faux Pas Test). Subsequently, the variables with a very high standard error or with a confidence interval including the null value were eliminated from the model. Only the variable Fantasy was thus eliminated from analysis. Then, a new regression model was applied using Wald's backwards elimination method, where the omnibus coefficient showed significant changes in the predictive test with the variables Eye Test, perspective taking, and personal distress ($\chi^2 = 43.34$; p < 0.000). Finally, with a more consistent filter, a model was applied again through the Introduce method, selecting the aforementioned variables. According to this model, the

Table 1	Means and standard	deviations of empa	thy and theory o	of mind variables for both o	aroups

	CD (I	n=18)	No CD	(n=18)			
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	t	p-value	d
Age	16.33	0.76	16.28	2.63	-0.08	0.93	
Faux pas	91.72	29.99	92.17	31.36	0.04	0.96	
Eye reading	13.74	5.40	27.91	5.94	7.21	0.000*	0.78
Perspective taking	14.44	5.04	25.17	4.74	6.57	0.000*	0.75
Fantasy	22.17	5.56	23.56	4.66	0.81	0.42	
Empathic concern	16.83	3.58	24.78	4.03	6.24	0.000*	0.73
Personal distress	15.33	3.83	21.39	4.93	4.11	0.000*	0.58

d = effect size (Cohen's); SD = standard deviation.

*p < 0.001.

Table 2	Binary logistic	c regression	model for	clinical status	according to empathy	y and theory of	mind test scores
---------	-----------------	--------------	-----------	-----------------	----------------------	-----------------	------------------

	В	Standard error	Wald	p-value	Exp (B)	95%CI
Perspective taking	-0.12	0.20	4,20	0.03	0.80	0.71-0.88
Eye Test	-1.17	0.64	3.30	0.05	0.30	0.87-0.96

95%CI = 95% confidence interval.

empathy dimension perspective taking and the Eye Test were predictors of clinical status. The predictive capacity of this model was 62.4.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to analyze differences in empathy and ToM between a group of female adolescents with CD and a control group without CD. The adolescents with CD scored very low on the empathy test compared to the control group. Specifically, significant differences were found in the cognitive dimension perspective taking (p < 0.001; d = 0.78) and the affective dimensions empathic concern (p < 0.001; d = 0.75) and personal distress (p < 0.001; d = 0.58). These empathic abilities have been described as factors that inhibit the expression of aggressive and antisocial behaviors during childhood and adolescence.^{8,14,29} and their adequate development generates affective and cognitive mechanisms that allow the subject to understand other people's emotions, to adopt their perspective, and to respond affectively toward their anguish. These results validate our first and second hypotheses about the mean differences between groups, the superior performance of the control group on measures of empathy and ToM, and the lower affective empathy scores in the CD group; all of the significant differences had a large size of effect as measured by Cohen's d statistic.

Differences in affective empathy scores between groups were also observed, specifically in the personal distress and empathic concern dimensions; this was attributable to the poor emotional response of adolescents in the CD group toward the negative experiences and needs of others, as well as to a deficit in identifying emotionally connected facial traits. Several studies support this finding and link it to CUTs.^{3,8,30-33}

On the other hand, the Faux Pas Test showed no difference between groups. Both the CD and no-CD groups performed very similarly and within the expected response rate for the general population. This runs counter to our expectation that adolescents in the CD group would score lower than controls, as suggested by previous studies.^{14,18} However, there is also evidence that the development of abilities in ToM does not guarantee social adaptation.34 Some children and adults can consistently use their ToM abilities for antisocial purposes. For example, subjects with Machiavellian personality characteristics have a tendency to manipulate interpersonal situations to their benefit, and their abilities in ToM work as a psychological mechanism that can facilitate the achievement of such strategies in their relations with others.³⁴ Consistent with this, subjects with Machiavellian beliefs have also been found to exhibit a kind of affective coldness without empathic concern and take advantage of their ToM abilities as a social tool they use according to their own convenience.³⁵⁻³⁷ This may partially explain why mean Faux Pas Test scores were similar in both groups of adolescents, and suggests the CUTs of adolescents with CD can be a contributing factor to the instrumental use of their ToM abilities. This operational use of mind-reading abilities should be further explored both in healthy controls and in subjects with CD.

81

According to our results, the ability to take the other's perspective and to "read" the other's emotional states would probably represent predictive factors involved in the inhibition of dissocial conducts. The cognitive dimension of empathy (perspective taking) plays a significant role in the generation of behaviors that constitute an empathic response toward others' anguish, based on the capacity to "read" their emotional states. Some authors corroborate this, and suggest the primacy of perspective taking and reading of emotions in others as mechanisms that allow the activation of an emotional system compatible only with help behaviors, inhibiting hostile responses and facilitating a regular social function.38-40 Thus, the deficits in perspective taking and eye reading exhibited by the CD subjects would increase their likelihood of displaying antisocial behavior and worsening social relations,^{41,42} as often happens in adolescents with CD. The empirical evidence regarding abilities for eve reading and empathy is consistent with our findings, and suggests a close connection between these abilities and facilitation of proper social functioning. The existing evidence also argues for differences in ToM and empathy between adolescents with and without CD, aside from their probable interdependence as predictive factors in regular empathic emotional development and prosocial behavior.42

The findings of this study will contribute to a better understanding of CD in women and its connection to the empathic and social cognition processes. They also point to a possible line of future research, namely, further investigation on the instrumental use of abilities in ToM and CD during childhood and adolescence. A deeper exploration of CUTs and their possible effects on social and moral cognition in children and adolescents with CD may also be warranted.

Finally, the limitations of this study must be discussed. First, the small sample size may have affected the statistical power to reveal significant associations among the variables of interest, which has a direct effect on the predictive effect demonstrated in the regression model. Second, the use of social cognition measurement instruments that have not been standardized for use in the Colombian context may have led to errors in interpretation of results.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5). Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 2 Archer J. Gender differences in aggression in real-world settings: a meta-analytic review. Rev Gen Psychol. 2004;8:291-322.
- 3 Berkout OV, Young JN, Gross AM. Means girls and bad boys: recent research on gender differences in conduct disorder. Aggress Violent Behav. 2011;16:503-11.
- 4 Keenan K, Shaw D. Developmental and social influences on young girls early problema behavior. Psychol Bull. 1997;121:95-113.
- 5 Castellana GB, de Barros DM, Serafim AP, Busatto Filho G. Psychopathic traits in young offenders vs. non-offenders in similar socioeconomic condition. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2014;36:241-4.

82 OE Arango Tobón et al.

- 6 Keenan K, Wroblewski K, Hipwell A, Loeber R, Stouthamer-Loeber M. Age of onset, symptom threshold, and the expansion of the nosology of conduct disorder for girls. J Abnorm Psychol. 2010;119:689-98.
- 7 Leve LD, Chamberlain P, Reid JB. Intervention outcomes for girls referred from juvenile justice: effects on delinquency. J Consult Clin Psychol.2005;73:1181-5.
- 8 Schwenck C, Gensthaler A, Romanos M, Freitag CM, Schneider W, Taurines R. Emotion recognition in girls with conduct problems. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2014;23:13-22.
- 9 Fairchild G, Stobbe Y, Van Goozen SH, Calder AJ, Goodyer IM. Facial expression recognition, fear conditioning, and startle modulation in female subjects with conduct disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2010; 68:272-9.
- 10 Pajer K, Leininger L, Gardner W. Recognition of facial affect in girls with conduct disorder. Psychiatry Res. 2010;175:244-51.
- 11 Pechorro P, Jimenez L, Hidalgo V, Nunes C. The DSM-5 limited prosocial emotions subtype of conduct disorder in incarcerated male and female juvenile delinquents. Int J Law Psychiatry. 2015;39:77-82.
- 12 Kunimatsu M, Marsee M, Lau K, Fassnacht G. Callous-unemotional traits and happy victimization: relationship with delinquency in a simple of detained girls. Int J Forensic Ment Health. 2012;11:1-8.
- 13 Fontaine NG, McCrory EJ, Boinin M, Moffitt TE, Viding E. Predictors and outcomes of join trajectories if callous-unemotional traits and conduct problems in childhood. J Abnorm Psychol. 2011;120:730-42.
- 14 Ellis PL. Empathy: a factor in antisocial behavior. J Abnorm Child Psychol.1982;10:123-34.
- 15 Dolan M, Fullam R. Theory of mind and mentalizing ability in antisocial personality disorders with and without psychopathy. Psychol Med. 2004;34:1093-102.
- 16 Peets K, Hodges EVE, Salmivalli C. Actualization of social cognitions into aggressive behaviour toward disliked targets. Soc Dev. 2011;20:233-50.
- 17 Arango Tobon OE, Montoya Zuluaga PA, Puerta Lopera IC, Sanchez Duque JW. Teoría de la mente y empatía como predictores de conductas disociales en la adolescencia. Escr Psicol.2014;7:20-30.
- 18 Eisenberg N, Eggum ND, Di Giunta L. Empathy related responding: associations with prosocial behavior, aggression, and intergroup relations. Soc Issues Policy Rev. 2010;4:143-80.
- 19 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - DSM-IV-TR[®]. 4th ed. Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2000.
- 20 Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Harnett-Sheehan K, Janavs J, Weiller E, Bonara L, et al. Reliability and validity of the MINI International Neuropsychiatric Interview: according to the SCID-P. Eur Psychiatry. 1997;12:232-41.
- 21 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV). Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 1994.
- 22 World Health Organization (WHO). International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems [Internet]. 10th ed. 2010 [cited 2017 Mar 03]. who.int/classifications/icd/ICD10Volume2_ en_2010.pdf.
- 23 Spitzer R, Williams JB, Gibbon M, First MB. Structure clinical interview for DSM III-R, Patient Edition (SCID-P). Washington: American Psychiatric Press; 1990.
- 24 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Third Revised Edition (DSM-III-R).Washington: American Psychiatric Association; 1987.

- 25 Davis MH. A multidimensional approach differences in empathy [Internet]. 1980 [cited 2017 Mar 03]. es/~friasnav/Davis_1980.pdf
- 26 Stone VE, Baron-Cohen S, Knight RT. Frontal lobe contributions to theory of mind. J Cogn Neurosci. 1998;10:640-56.
- 27 Gregory C, Lough S, Stone V, Erzinclioglus S, Martin L, Baron-Cohen S, et al. Theory of mind in patients with frontal variant frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease: theoretical and practical implications. Brain. 2002;125:752-64.
- 28 Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S, Hill J, Raste Y, Plumb I. The "Reading the mind in the eyes" test revised version: a study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2001;42:241-51.
- 29 Roman FN, Rojas G, Roman NR, Iturry M, Blanco R, Leis A, et al. Baremos del test de la Mirada en español en adultos normales de Buenos Aires. Rev Neuropsicol Latinoam. 2012;4:1-5.
- 30 Whittinger NS, Langley K, Fouler TA, Thomas HV, Thapar A. Clinical precursors of adolescent conduct disorder in children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2007;46:179-87.
- 31 Frick PJ, White SF. Research review: the importance of callousunemotional traits for developmental models of aggressive and antisocial behavior. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2008;49: 359-75.
- 32 Pardini D, Stepp S, Hipwell A, Stouthamer-Loeber M, Loeber R. The clinical utility of proposed DSM-5 callous-unemotional subtype of conduct disorder in young girls. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2012;51:62-73.
- 33 Sutton J, Smith P, Swettenham J. Social cognition and bullying: social inadequacy or skilled manipulation? Br J Dev Psychol. 1999; 17:435-50.
- 34 Sutton J, Keogh E. Social competition in school: relationships with bullying, Machiavellianism and personality. Br J Educ Psychol. 2000;70:443-56.
- 35 Kaukiainen A, Bjorkquist K, Largerspetz K, Osterman K, Salmivalli C, Rothberg S, et al. The relationships between social intelligence, empathy, and three types of aggression. Aggress Behav. 1999; 25:81-9.
- 36 Arefi M. Present of causal model for social function base on theory of mind with mediating of Machiavellian beliefs and hot empathy. Procedia Soc Behav Sci. 2010;5:694-7.
- 37 Hoffman ML. The contribution of empathy to justice and moral judgment. In: Eisenberg N, Strayer J. Empathy and its development Cambridge: Cambridge University; 1987. p. 47-80.
- 38 Blair RJR, Sellars C, Strickland I, Clark F, Williams AO, Smith M, et al. Emotion attributions in the psychopath. Pers Individ Dif. 1995;19:431-7.
- 39 Gough HG. A sociological theory of psychopathy. Am J Sociol. 1948;53:359-66.
- 40 Hare RD. Psychopathy: theory and research. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1970.
- 41 Lee M, Prentice NM. Interrelation of empathy, cognition, and moral reasoning with dimensions of juvenile delinquency. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 1988;16:127-39.
- 42 Anastassiou-Hadjicharalambous X, Warden D. Cognitive and affective perpective-talking in conduct disorder children high and low on callous – unemotional traits. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health. 2008;2:16.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Further evidence of psychological factors underlying choice of elective cesarean delivery by primigravidae

Nasrin Matinnia,¹ Mohammad Haghighi,² Leila Jahangard,² Faisal B. Ibrahim,³ Hejar A. Rahman,³ Ali Ghaleiha,² Edith Holsboer-Trachsler,⁴ Serge Brand^{4,5}

¹Department of Nursing, College of Basic Science, Hamadan Branch, Islamic Azad University, Hamadan, Iran. ²Research Center for Behavioral Disorders and Substance Abuse, University of Medical Sciences, Hamadan, Iran. ³Department of Community Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia. ⁴University of Basel, Psychiatric Clinics (UPK), Center for Affective, Stress and Sleep Disorders (ZASS), Basel, Switzerland. ⁵University of Basel, Department of Sport, Exercise and Health Science, Division Sport and Psychosocial Health, Switzerland.

Objective: Requests for elective cesarean delivery (ECD) have increased in Iran. While some sociodemographic and fear-related factors have been linked with this choice, psychological factors such as self-esteem, stress, and health beliefs are under-researched.

Methods: A total of 342 primigravidae (mean age = 25 years) completed questionnaires covering psychological dimensions such as self-esteem, perceived stress, marital relationship quality, perceived social support, and relevant health-related beliefs.

Results: Of the sample, 214 (62.6%) chose to undergo ECD rather than vaginal delivery (VD). This choice was associated with lower self-esteem, greater perceived stress, belief in higher susceptibility to problematic birth and barriers to an easy birth, along with lower perceived severity of ECD, fewer perceived benefits from VD, lower self-efficacy and a lower feeling of preparedness. No differences were found for marital relationship quality or perceived social support.

Conclusions: The pattern suggests that various psychological factors such as self-esteem, self-efficacy, and perceived stress underpin the decision by primigravidae to have an ECD.

Keywords: Elective cesarean delivery; vaginal delivery; psychological predictors; Health Belief Model; fear; stress

Introduction

The obstetric dilemma¹ refers to the trade-off between a woman's relatively small pelvis and birth canal compared to fetal head and shoulder size. While a smaller pelvis and pelvic birth canal evolved as a result of bipedalism during the last four to five million years, the newborn's head dimensions have increased over the last 500,000 years due to rapid brain expansion.² This cephalopelvic disproportion is responsible for obstructed labor, which ranges from 3% to 6% worldwide.³ Cesarean delivery (CD) has thus become a common option for dealing with cephalopelvic disproportion. Very recent evidence indicates that CDs are increasing worldwide⁴ and, according to Mitteroecker et al.,^{3,5} there is reason to believe that while increased rates of CD are a response to a cephalopelvic disproportion, they will also lead to further increases in this disproportion.

The grounds for performing a CD can be categorized as absolute, relative, or elective. Whereas in absolute and relative indications for CDs, the health of both mother and

Correspondence: Serge Brand, University of Basel, Psychiatric Clinics (UPK), Center for Affective, Stress and Sleep Disorders (ZASS), Wilhelm Klein-Strasse 27, 4002 Basel, Switzerland. E-mail: serge.brand@upkbs.ch

fetus are primary considerations (e.g., placenta previa, HIV infection, contracted pelvis, obesity and diabetes mellitus, breech presentation or previous cesarean section), for elective cesarean delivery (ECD; also called cesarean delivery on maternal request, or CDMR) the mother's desire, rather than a medical indication, is the chief factor.⁶⁻⁹

Worldwide, the CD rate is approximately 30-40% in public hospitals and 50-60% in private hospitals, with the highest rates (90%) found in private practice in Brazil.¹⁰ The rate of ECDs in both developed and developing countries, such as Iran,^{11,12} is increasing. In Iranian province of Hamadan, the CD rate is 47.5% in public hospitals and 79.1% in private hospitals.¹³ These rates are much higher than the 10-15% rate recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO).¹¹

While it is clear that CD is increasing worldwide, there is no uniform agreement regarding the reasons for, or consequences of, ECDs. $^{14}\,$

In a review of the literature, Mylonas & Friese¹⁵ identified three reasons for choosing ECD: a) the physical health profiles of the mother and fetus; b) legal aspects, and c) psychological factors. The physical health category involves factors such as advanced maternal age, fertility treatment, obesity, diabetes mellitus, previous pregnancies, and previous CDs.^{16,17} Legal aspects include issues of responsibility (and financial consequences) in the event of injury to the mother or child. Both risk-oriented and

Submitted Jan 17 2017, accepted Mar 06 2017, Epub Jun 12 2017.

risk-averse attitudes can be found among obstetricians. As for psychological factors, fear seems to be the most powerful influence underlying ECD.¹⁸⁻²⁰ More specifically, fear of complications, tokophobia,^{17,21} dysfunctional beliefs about childbirth,^{22,23} previous traumatic births, depression.²⁴ and other psychiatric and psychosomatic issues can lie behind a decision to undergo ECD. In a previous study,²⁵ we found that fear for the health and life of the fetus, fear of the process of labor and childbirth, and doubts about the competence and behavior of the maternity staff, along with fear of parenthood and family life were the strongest factors associated with seeking ECD. In short, both expectant mothers and perinatal health experts can list a number of reasons for choosing ECDs.

Evidence for the benefits of ECDs is mixed. On the one hand, several studies have reported that, compared to vaginal delivery (VD), hospitals stays are longer following ECDs, and the risk of hysterectomy due to post-partum bleeding and cardiac arrest is higher.¹⁵ A large cohort study in Scotland indicated that children born by CD had a higher risk of asthma by age 5 (however, Black et al.²⁶ emphasized that this study counted both planned and unplanned CDs). Likewise, other studies²⁷ have reported higher rates of severe maternal health outcomes after E/CD and higher rates of postpartum depression for CD than for VD.²⁸

On the other hand, there is evidence that, compared to VD, there is less abdominal and perineal pain during and three days after ECD, as well as fewer vaginal injuries and anesthesia-related emergencies (e.g. shock and bleeding).¹⁵ More recently, Molina et al.²⁹ investigated the association between CDs and maternal and neonatal mortality across all 194 WHO member states and found that a CD rate of up to approximately 19% was associated with lower levels of maternal and neonatal mortality, which calls the 1985 WHO recommendation to restrict CD rates to a maximum of 10-15% into question¹¹ (for further discussion, see D'Alton & Hehir³⁰). Likewise, Betran et al.³¹ also observed that ECD rates above 9-16% were not associated with higher mortality outcomes. More importantly, two studies published in 2007 (Gamble et al.³² and McCourt et al.³³) pointed out that the psychosocial context of obstetric care had until then involved a power imbalance in favor of the physician and that the following factors had not been taken into account in the historical context of maternal decisionmaking: the influence of care offered, the interaction between the expecting mother and health care providers, the context of care, tokophobia, and the perceived inequality and inadequacy of care. The WHO's most recent statement (2015)³⁴ acknowledged that CD decisions should reflect women's individual care requirements rather than conform to predetermined limits. We also note that large cohort studies^{4,29,31,35} have not taken into account emotional factors in decisions for ECD.

To address this imbalance, the present study focused on psychological reasons for ECDs. Specifically, we considered women's self-esteem, stress, and healthrelated beliefs based on the Health Belief Model (HBM). Briefly put, the HBM³⁶ seeks to explain the cognitiveemotional processes that underlie health-related behavior. Thus, we used HBM constructs applied to VD childbirth, such as the perceived susceptibility to poor/ difficult VD, and the benefits of and barriers to VD. Due to limited previous research in this area, the following research question was formulated: Are there differences in self-esteem, perceived stress, marital relationship quality, and HBM scores between primigravidae opting for ECD and those opting for VD? That is, do women who choose ECD have lower self-esteem, higher perceived stress, lower marital relationship quality, and more negative healthrelated beliefs?

To answer these questions, a sample of primigravidae referred to public health care centers for routine prenatal care was assessed. We believe this study has the potential to shed more light on the psychological processes underlying the choice of ECD and might facilitate effective educational interventions and health care programs aimed at improving women's capacity to make informed decisions regarding ECDs and VDs.

The present data are part of larger study investigating Iranian women's attitudes to CD and VD. In a previous study,²⁵ we found that ECD was associated with advanced age, higher education level, higher family income, and unplanned pregnancy, as well as that women opting for ECD had higher fear scores in the following dimensions: labor and childbirth, life and well-being for themselves and for the fetus, becoming a parent and family life after delivery, their own competencies, and the competencies of the maternity ward staff. In this paper, we focus on previously unpublished evidence concerning the psychological factors underpinning decisions for ECD.

Methods

Procedure

This cross-sectional study was carried out among primigravidae referred to public health care centers for routine prenatal care in Hamadan, Iran. The health care centers of three of the four municipal areas of Hamadan were randomly selected. To select potential participants, stratified random sampling was used. Eligible participants were informed about the aims of the study and the voluntary basis of participation. Participants were informed that the data would be handled anonymously and provided written informed consent. Of the 470 individuals approached, 342 met the inclusion criteria (see below) and agreed to participate.

Sample

As mentioned above, a total of 342 women (mean age = 25 years; standard deviation [SD] = 3.5) took part in the study.²⁵ The inclusion criteria were: 1) being at the end of the first trimester (gestational age between 13-15 weeks); 2) having no legal or medical indication for CD; 3) being willing and able to complete questionnaires covering sociodemographic, psychological, and pregnancy-related questions (see below); and 4) aged between 18 and 35 years. The exclusion criteria were: 1) not meeting any point of the inclusion criteria; 2) a history of or existing medical, psychiatric, or obstetric problems, including

congenital fetal anomaly; 3) a history of inherited disease in the mother's or father's family.

Instruments

Participants completed a set of questionnaires covering sociodemographic, psychological and pregnancy-related information.²⁵ The data used in the present study are from the psychological instruments, which are described below. Before these evaluations began, however, the participants reported whether they were opting for ECD or VD.

Self-esteem

Participants completed the Farsi version of the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES), translated and validated by Shapurian et al.³⁷ The RSES consists of 10 items and is used as a one-dimensional measure of global selfesteem (cognitive and affective components), general self-worth, and positive self-esteem. Answers are given on four-point Likert scales ranging from 0 (= strongly disagree) to 3 (= strongly agree), with higher total scores reflecting higher self-esteem. Scores between 15 and 25 points are within the normal range; scores below 15 points are associated with lower self-esteem.

Perceived stress

To assess perceived stress, the Farsi version of the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS³⁸), translated and validated by Maroufizadeh et al.,³⁹ was used. The PSS is a measure of the degree to which situations in one's life are appraised as stressful. The 10 items are intended to measure how unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloaded respondents find their lives. Answers are given on 5-point Likert scales ranging from 'never' to 'very often' (reverse scoring was used for some items). Higher total scores reflect greater subjectively perceived stress.

Marital relationship quality

The Farsi version of the Revised Dyadic Adjustment Scale (RDAS⁴⁰), translated and validated by Isanezhad et al.,⁴¹ was used to assess marital satisfaction. The RDAS consists of 14 items, with answers given on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (= not at all) to 5 (= completely true). Higher total scores reflect greater satisfaction.

Perceived social support

To assess perceived social support, we used the Farsi version of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MDSPSS⁴²), translated and validated by Bagehrian-Sararoudi et al.⁴³ It consists of twelve questions that assess perceived support from family, friends, and significant others. Answers are given on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (= strongly disagree) to 7 (= very strongly agree). Higher total scores reflect stronger perceptions of social support.

85

Health Belief Model (HBM)

To assess the participants' health beliefs, the Farsi version of the HBM questionnaire,³⁶ translated and validated by Assari,⁴⁴ was administered. The questionnaire includes 43 questions on the following topics: perceived susceptibility to poor or difficult VD (5 items), perceived severity of complications associated with VD (7 items), perceived benefits of VD (spontaneous VD; 7 items), perceived barriers to successful VD (8 items), self-efficacy for VD (10 items), and feelings of preparedness for VD (6 items). The answers are given on a 5-point Likert scale, endanchored by 1 (= strongly disagree) and 5 (= strongly agree).

Statistical analysis

Preliminary calculations: to determine whether planned or unplanned pregnancies had an influence on the pattern of results, a series of *t*-tests were performed. It was observed that planned or unplanned pregnancy had no systematic effect on the results (all *t* values < 1.2 and p values > 0.25).

The participants were divided into two groups according to delivery type. The psychological and HBM-related data were compared between groups using chi-square and *t*-tests. To predict which psychological and HBMrelated dimensions best predicted ECD, a binary logistic regression analysis was performed with the psychological factors (self-esteem, perceived stress, quality of marital relationship, perceived social support) and health-related belief dimensions as independent factors, and the choice of delivery method (ECD vs. VD) as the dependent variable. The significance level was set at 0.05 for all tests. All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS version 23.0.

Results

General characteristics of the primigravidae

The mean participant age was 25 years (range 18-34 years); 224 (65.5%) had planned pregnancies, and 214 (62.6%) requested ECD on non-medical grounds in the course of a normal pregnancy. Participants opting for ECD were 1.86 years older than participants opting for VD (ECD: n=214; mean = 25.88 years, SD = 3.62; range: 18-34 years; VD: n=128; mean = 24.02 years, SD = 2.87; range: 18-32 years; $t_{340} = 4.96$, p = 0.01, d = 0.47).

Psychological factors

Table 1 shows all statistical indices (descriptive and inferential statistics). Compared to VD, participants opting for ECD had lower self-esteem scores and higher perceived stress scores, whereas no significant mean differences were found for marital relationship quality or perceived social support.

Health Belief Model (HBM)

Table 1 also reports all statistical indices related to the HBM constructs. Compared to VD, participants opting for

86 N Matinnia et al.

ECD had higher scores for susceptibility to poor or difficult VD and barriers to a successful VD (i.e., lower confidence in VD) and lower scores for severity of complications of ECD, the benefits associated with VD, preparedness for VD, and self-efficacy in coping with VD.

Predicting elective cesarean delivery (ECD)

To predict the choice of ECD, a binary logistic regression analysis was performed. All statistical indices are shown in Table 2. ECD was predicted by higher perceived susceptibility to a poor or difficult VD, greater barriers to a successful VD, and lower self-efficacy, while severity of complications, benefits and preparedness were excluded from the equation.

Discussion

A total of 214 (62.3%) of the 342 primigravidae opted for ECD in the absence of medical indications. The key finding of the present study was that those opting for ECD reported higher levels of perceived stress and had lower self-esteem. The research question involved differences in selfesteem, perceived stress, marital relationship quality and HBM dimensions between primigravidae opting for either ECD or VD, i.e., do women opting for ECD also have lower self-esteem, higher perceived stress, a poorer marital relationship quality, and lower HBM scores than women opting for VD? The answer was not clear-cut. Whereas those opting for ECD also had lower self-esteem and higher perceived stress, no differences were found regarding marital relationship quality or social support.

Regarding marital relationship quality and social support, the present findings are at odds with previously published evidence. For example, one study found that women reporting greater tokophobia also showed a greater response when midwives were very supportive.⁴⁵ Leone et al.⁴⁶ reported that the odds of ECD were inversely related to the frequency with which women exchanged reproductive health information with friends and family. Saisto et al.⁴⁷ reported that lower marital satisfaction was associated with increased fear of VD. In contrast, we found that perceived social support and marital relationship quality were unrelated to the decision for or against ECD by primigravidae. The data available to us in this study shed no further light on why marital relationship quality was unrelated to ECD,

 Table 1
 Relationship between psychological characteristics and mean scores on Health Belief Model constructs vs. choice of mode of delivery

	Elective cesarean delivery (n=214)	Vaginal delivery (n=128)	<i>t</i> -test	d
Psychological characteristics				
Áge (years)	25.88 (3.62)	24.02 (2.87)		
Self-esteem	25.88 (1.78)	26.30 (1.75)	$t_{340} = 2.09^*$	0.24
Perceived stress	25.60 (5.73)	20.88 (3.23)	$t_{340} = 9.78^{\dagger}$	1.05
Quality of marital relationship	47.40 (3.89)	47.70 (3.79)	$t_{340} = 0.63$	0.08
Social support	53.96 (9.60)	53.50 (9.06)	$t_{340} = 0.44$	0.05
Beliefs				
Susceptibility	16.25 (2.66)	14.99 (2.44)	4.47^{\dagger}	0.50
Severity	24.85 (3.89)	26.13 (3.66)	3.00*	0.34
Benefits	27.24 (3.60)	28.56 (3.55)	3.29 [‡]	0.37
Barrier	28.37 (3.95)	25.50 (4.62)	6.17 [†]	0.67
Self-efficacy	20.28 (3.45)	21.73 (3.50)	3.75*	0.42
Cue to action	35.12 (3.73)	36.27 (3.51)	2.82*	0.32
Total beliefs	152.10 (9.83)	153.10 (9.92)	0.91	0.10

Data presented as mean (standard deviation).

* p < 0.05; [†] p < 0.001; [‡] p < 0.01.

Table 2 Logistic regression	analysis of psychological	dimensions and	Health Belief	Model const	tructs for choi	ce of elective
cesarean delivery						

Variables	В	SE	Wald	OR	95%CI
Perceived stress	-0.01	0.06	0.05	0.99	0.88-1.11
Self-esteem	0.002	0.11	0.000	1.00	0.81-1.24
Beliefs					
Susceptibility	0.13	0.05	5.57*	1.13	1.02-1.26
Seriousness	-0.02	0.04	0.26	0.98	0.91-1.06
Benefits	-0.03	0.04	0.56	0.97	0.89-1.10
Barrier	0.14	0.03	17.11 [†]	1.15	1.08-1.23
Self-efficacy	-0.08	0.04	5.23*	1.11	0.99-1.19
Cue to action	0.02	0.05	0.18	1.02	0.93-1.12
Constant	-15.56	4.808	10.48 [†]	0.000	

95%CI = 95% confidence interval; B = coefficient; OR = odds ratio; SE = standard error.

 $* p < 0.01; ^{\dagger} p < 0.001.$

87

unlike the findings of Saisto et al.47 We found that selfesteem, stress and health beliefs were unrelated to marital relationship quality. In this context, it is worth noting that in a qualitative study in Argentina,⁴⁸ where the CD rate is approximately 30%, it was observed that most expectant mothers at both public and private hospitals preferred VD due to cultural, personal, and social factors. VD was viewed as normal, healthy, and a natural rite of passage from womanhood to motherhood. The pain associated with VD was viewed positively. In contrast, women viewed CD as a medical decision and often deferred to medical staff to make this decision on medical grounds. In the present study, and for Iranian primigravidae in general, we have no estimate of the extent to which VD would be seen as a normal, healthy, and a natural rite of passage from womanhood to motherhood; to the best of our knowledge nothing has yet been published on this question.

A further finding of the present study was that lower self-esteem was associated with a greater likelihood of ECD. Research on this topic is limited and has mainly focused on self-esteem levels after discharge following CD. Salomonsson et al.⁴⁹ reported that higher self-esteem and higher self-efficacy scores were associated with choosing VD over ECD. Loto et al.⁵⁰ reported lower self-esteem scores both prior to and after discharge in women who had CDs than in women who had VDs. We cannot say on the basis of the present study why there was an association between low self-esteem and ECD, although we may speculate that primigravidae opting for ECD at the end of the first trimester, that is, 25 to 27 weeks before their due date, might have low confidence in their ability to cope with the difficulties of childbirth.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study showing an association between ECD and higher perceived stress scores. Generally speaking, higher stress scores reflect a subjective appraisal of being less able or unable to cope with a situation; in other words, higher stress scores generally reflect the belief that the situations an individual faces exceed their skills and competencies. The reasons for the higher stress scores in primigravidae opting for an ECD in the present dataset remain unclear. One might plausibly speculate that these higher stress scores were related to lower self-esteem in a sort of reciprocal influence. Given our current lack of understanding of the mechanisms underlying the association between stress and ECD, future studies should more closely examine this issue.

Regarding the HBM scores, the overall pattern showed that dysfunctional beliefs about VD tended to result in a decision for ECD, as shown in Tables 1 and 2. In our view, the overall pattern of HBM scores reflects higher stress, lower self-esteem, more dysfunctional beliefs about child-birth^{22,23} and fear of pregnancy and birth-related issues, as has been reported extensively in prior studies.^{13,15,17,21} Our conclusion is that psychological issues rather than convenience/scheduling issues⁵¹ or legal/medical indications¹⁵ were the main factors for ECD. Accordingly, we propose that pre-birth information and counselling could help primigravidae weigh the risks and benefits of both ECD and VD.

Despite the novelty of the findings, several limitations warn against overgeneralization of the results. First,

although the centers and the participants were randomly selected to limit possible sampling biases, the data were gathered in a single city, which could limit the generalizability of the findings. Second, the pattern of results could reflect the influence of further latent, but unassessed, variables that might have biased two or more dimensions in the same or opposite directions. This could be especially important with respect to physical activity, since Poyatos-Leon et al.⁵² observed that regular physical activity during pregnancy reduced the odds of CD. Third, while we assessed the choice of delivery and psychological status at the end of the first trimester, we do not know whether or to what extent psychological status or choice of delivery method changed over time. In this respect, it would have been interesting to know whether further counselling, for example, during the second and third trimesters could have influenced the choice by impacting fear, stress, and self-esteem.

In conclusion, the pattern of results suggests that psychological factors related to low self-esteem, higher stress levels, tokophobia issues and dysfunctional beliefs about ECD and VD were associated with choosing ECD, while social support and marital relationship quality were not associated with a delivery method. Taking into account the sociodemographic and fear-related characteristics of primigravidae opting for ECD,^{13,25} we suggest that the psychosocial context of pregnant women should be taken into consideration in programs for reducing ECDs.^{32,33} As our findings show, primigravidae did not opt for ECD out of convenience or scheduling, as has been suggested in the US media,⁵¹ but in response to more fundamental psychological needs.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge the staff of the participating health care centers for their kind cooperation in this study. We would also like to acknowledge and thank the participants who generously contributed in this study. Finally, we thank Nick Emler (University of Surrey, UK) for proofreading the manuscript.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1 Washburn SL. Tools and human evolution. Sci Am. 1960;203:63-75.
- 2 Buss DM. Evoutionary psychology. The new sciene of the mind. 5th ed. London/New York: Routledge/Taylor & Francis; 2015.
- 3 Mitteroecker P, Huttegger SM, Fischer B, Pavlicev M. Cliff-edge model of obstetric selection in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:14680-5.
- 4 Betran AP, Ye J, Moller AB, Zhang J, Gulmezoglu AM, Torloni MR. the increasing trend in caesarean section rates: global, regional and national estimates: 1990-2014. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0148343.
- 5 Mitteroecker P, Fischer B. Adult pelvic shape change is an evolutionary side effect. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:E3596.
- 6 Young D. "Cesarean delivery on maternal request": was the NIH conference based on a faulty premise? Birth. 2006;33:171-4.
- 7 Nerum H, Halvorsen L, Sorlie T, Oian P. Maternal request for cesarean section due to fear of birth: can it be changed through crisisoriented counseling? Birth. 2006;33:221-8.

88 N Matinnia et al.

- 8 Karlstrom A, Radestad I, Eriksson C, Rubertsson C, Nystedt A, Hildingsson I. Cesarean section without medical reason, 1997 to 2006: a Swedish register study. Birth. 2010;37:11-20.
- 9 Weaver JJ, Statham H, Richards M. Are there "unnecessary" cesarean sections? Perceptions of women and obstetricians about cesarean sections for nonclinical indications. Birth. 2007;34:32-41.
- 10 Vieira GO, Fernandes LG, de Oliveira NF, Silva LR, Vieira Tde O. Factors associated with cesarean delivery in public and private hospitals in a city of northeastern Brazil: a cross-sectional study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2015;15:132.
- 11 World Health Organization (WHO). World Health Statistics 2012 [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2017 Mar 24]. who.int/gho/publications/world_ health_statistics/EN_WHS2012_Full.pdf
- 12 Ahmad-Nia S, Delavar B, Eini-Zinab H, Kazemipour S, Mehryar AH, Naghavi M. Caesarean section in the Islamic Republic of Iran: prevalence and some sociodemographic correlates. East Mediterr Health J. 2009;15:1389-98.
- 13 Faisal I, Matinnia N, Hejar AR, Khodakarami Z. Why do primigravidae request caesarean section in a normal pregnancy? A qualitative study in Iran. Midwifery. 2014;30:227-33.
- 14 Lavender T, Hofmeyr GJ, Neilson JP, Kingdon C, Gyte GM. Caesarean section for non-medical reasons at term. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;3:CD004660.
- 15 Mylonas I, Friese K. Indications for and risks of elective cesarean section. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2015;112:489-95.
- 16 MacDorman MF, Menacker F, Declercq E. Cesarean birth in the United States: epidemiology, trends, and outcomes. Clin Perinatol. 2008;35:293-307.
- 17 Liu S, Liston RM, Joseph KS, Heaman M, Sauve R, Kramer MS, et al. Maternal mortality and severe morbidity associated with low-risk planned cesarean delivery versus planned vaginal delivery at term. CMAJ. 2007;176:455-60.
- 18 Pakenham S, Chamberlain SM, Smith GN. Women's views on elective primary caesarean section. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2006;28:1089-94.
- 19 Wiklund I, Edman G, Ryding EL, Andolf E. Expectation and experiences of childbirth in primiparae with caesarean section. BJOG. 2008;115:324-31.
- 20 Nieminen K, Stephansson O, Ryding EL. Women's fear of childbirth and preference for cesarean section--a cross-sectional study at various stages of pregnancy in Sweden. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2009;88:807-13.
- 21 Waldenstrom U, Hildingsson I, Ryding EL. Antenatal fear of childbirth and its association with subsequent caesarean section and experience of childbirth. BJOG. 2006;113:638-46.
- 22 Park CS, Yeoum SG, Choi ES. Study of subjectivity in the perception of cesarean birth. Nurs Health Sci. 2005;7:3-8.
- 23 Saisto T, Toivanen R, Salmela-Aro K, Halmesmaki E. Therapeutic group psychoeducation and relaxation in treating fear of childbirth. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2006;85:1315-9.
- 24 Storksen HT, Eberhard-Gran M, Garthus-Niegel S, Eskild A. Fear of childbirth; the relation to anxiety and depression. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2012;91:237-42.
- 25 Matinnia N, Faisal I, Hanafiah Juni M, Herjar AR, Moeini B, Osman ZJ. Fears related to pregnancy and childbirth among primigravidae who requested caesarean versus vaginal delivery in Iran. Matern Child Health J. 2015;19:1121-30.
- 26 Black M, Bhattacharya S, Philip S, Norman JE, McLernon DJ. Planned repeat cesarean section at term and adverse childhood health outcomes: a record-linkage study. PLoS Med. 2016;13:e1001973.
- 27 Souza JP, Gulmezoglu A, Lumbiganon P, Laopaiboon M, Carroli G, Fawole B, et al. Caesarean section without medical indications is associated with an increased risk of adverse short-term maternal outcomes: the 2004-2008 WHO global survey on maternal and perinatal health. BMC Med. 2010;8:71.
- 28 Sadat Z, Kafaei Atrian M, Masoudi Alavi N, Abbaszadeh F, Karimian Z, Taherian A. Effect of mode of delivery on postpartum depression in Iranian women. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2014;40:172-7.
- 29 Molina G, Weiser TG, Lipsitz SR, Esquivel MM, Uribe-Leitz T, Azad T, et al. Relationship between cesarean delivery rate and maternal and neonatal mortality. JAMA. 2015;314:2263-70.
- 30 D'Alton ME, Hehir MP. Cesarean delivery rates: revisiting a 3-decades-old dogma. JAMA. 2015;314:2238-40.

- 31 Betran AP, Torloni MR, Zhang J, Ye J, Mikolajczyk R, Deneux-Tharaux C, et al. What is the optimal rate of caesarean section at population level? A systematic review of ecologic studies. Reprod Health. 2015;12:57.
- 32 Gamble J, Creedy DK, McCourt C, Weaver J, Beake S. A critique of the literature on women's request for cesarean section. Birth. 2007;34: 331-40.
- 33 McCourt C, Weaver J, Statham H, Beake S, Gamble J, Creedy DK. Elective cesarean section and decision making: a critical review of the literature. Birth. 2007;34:65-79.
- 34 World Health Organization (WHO). WHO statement on caesarean section rates [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Mar 24]. who.int/reproducti vehealth/publications/maternal_perinatal_health/cs-statement/en/
- 35 Ye J, Zhang J, Mikolajczyk R, Torloni MR, Gulmezoglu AM, Betran AP. Association between rates of caesarean section and maternal and neonatal mortality in the 21st century: a worldwide populationbased ecological study with longitudinal data. BJOG. 2016;123: 745-53.
- 36 Janz NK, Becker MH. The health belief model: a decade later. Health Educ Q. 1984;11:1-47.
- 37 Shapurian R, Hojat M, Nayerahmadi H. Psychometric characteristics and dimensionality of a Persian version of Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale. Percept Mot Skills. 1987;65:27-34.
- 38 Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav. 1983;24:385-96.
- 39 Maroufizadeh S, Zareiyan A, Sigari N. Reliability and validity of Persian version of perceived stress scale (PSS-10) in adults with asthma. Arch Iran Med. 2014;17:361-5.
- 40 Busby DM, Christensen C, Crane DR, Larson JH. A revision of the Dyadic Adjustment Scale for use with distressed and nondistressed couples: construct hierarchy and multidimensional scales. J Marital Fam Ther. 1995;21:298-308.
- 41 Isanezhad O, Ahmadi SA, Bahrami F, Baghban-Cichani I, Farajzadegan Z, Etemadi O. Factor structure and reliability of the Revised Dyadic Adjustment Scale (RDAS) in Iranian population. Iran J Psychiatry Behav Sci. 2012;6:55-61.
- 42 Dahlem NW, Zimet GD, Walker RR. The multidimensional scale of perceived social support: a confirmation study. J Clin Psychol. 1991;47:756-61.
- 43 Bagherian-Sararoudi R, Hajian A, Ehsan HB, Sarafraz MR, Zimet GD. Psychometric properties of the persian version of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support in iran. Int J Prev Med. 2013;4:1277-81.
- 44 Assari S. Theory based health education: application of health belief model for Iranian patients with myocardial infarction. J Res Med Sci. 2011;16:580-2.
- 45 Sydsjo G, Blomberg M, Palmquist S, Angerbjorn L, Bladh M, Josefsson A. Effects of continuous midwifery labour support for women with severe fear of childbirth. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2015;15:115.
- 46 Leone T, Padmadas SS, Matthews Z. Community factors affecting rising caesarean section rates in developing countries: an analysis of six countries. Soc Sci Med. 2008;67:1236-46.
- 47 Saisto T, Salmela-Aro K, Nurmi JE, Halmesmaki E. Psychosocial characteristics of women and their partners fearing vaginal childbirth. BJOG. 2001;108:492-8.
- 48 Liu NH, Mazzoni A, Zamberlin N, Colomar M, Chang OH, Arnaud L, et al. Preferences for mode of delivery in nulliparous Argentinean women: a qualitative study. Reprod Health. 2013;10:2.
- 49 Salomonsson B, Gullberg MT, Alehagen S, Wijma K. Self-efficacy beliefs and fear of childbirth in nulliparous women. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol. 2013;34:116-21.
- 50 Loto OM, Adewuya AO, Ajenifuja OK, Orji EO, Ayandiran EO, Owolabi AT, et al. Cesarean section in relation to self-esteem and parenting among new mothers in southwestern Nigeria. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2010;89:35-8.
- 51 Campo-Engelstein L, Howland LE, Parker WM, Burcher P. Scheduling the stork: media portrayals of women's and physicians' reasons for elective cesarean delivery. Birth. 2015;42:181-8.
- 52 Poyatos-Leon R, Garcia-Hermoso A, Sanabria-Martinez G, Alvarez-Bueno C, Sanchez-Lopez M, Martinez-Vizcaino V. Effects of exercise during pregnancy on mode of delivery: a meta-analysis. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2015;94:1039-47.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Predictors of length of stay in an acute psychiatric inpatient facility in a general hospital: a prospective study

Fernanda L. Baeza, Neusa S. da Rocha, Marcelo P. Fleck

Departamento de Psiquiatria, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.

Objective: There have been significant reductions in numbers of psychiatric beds and length of stay (LOS) worldwide, making LOS in psychiatric beds an interesting outcome. The objective of this study was to find factors measurable on admission that would predict LOS in the acute psychiatric setting. **Methods:** This was a prospective, observational study.

Results: Overall, 385 subjects were included. The median LOS was 25 days. In the final model, six variables explained 14.6% of the variation in LOS: not having own income, psychiatric admissions in the preceding 2 years, high Clinical Global Impression and Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale scores, diagnosis of schizophrenia, and history of attempted suicide. All variables were associated with longer LOS, apart from history of attempted suicide.

Conclusions: Identifying patients who will need to stay longer in psychiatric beds remains a challenge. Improving knowledge about determinants of LOS could lead to improvements in the quality of care in hospital psychiatry.

Keywords: Outcome studies; inpatient psychiatry; chronic psychiatric illness; administration; other delivery issues

Introduction

In the last few decades, changes in how we understand mental illness, advances and improvement in availability of biological psychiatric treatments, greater political interest in mental health, and the emphasis on the costs of medical care have resulted in several modifications to how psychiatric hospital care is provided. Neuroleptic drugs, introduced in the 1950s, were the first effective treatment for psychotic disorders, and enabled some long-stay hospital patients to be discharged.^{1,2} Movements for deinstitutionalization of mental health advocate greater emphasis on community-based services for people with mental illness.³ For hospital psychiatry, this means shifting from long-stay (months, years) admissions in asylum institutions to provision of acute care in shortstay psychiatric beds in general hospitals.⁴⁻⁶ Today, acute inpatient psychiatric care makes up a relatively small proportion of mental health care in a community-based system of care which tends to be based on the medical model: making a diagnosis and treating acute or dangerous symptoms. Acute psychiatric care now focuses on stabilization, safety, and rapid discharge.7 Economic pressures also mean that it is important to reduce the cost of treatment, which includes reducing the length of hospital stay as much as possible.⁶

There is a worldwide trend towards closure of psychiatric beds, and, in many countries, the total number of psychiatric beds is steadily decreasing. In the United States, for example, there were around 525,000 psychiatric beds in 1970 but fewer than 212,000 by 2002.⁸ In Brazil, there were around 87,134 psychiatric beds in 1994.⁹ By 2011, this figure had fallen to 32,284.¹⁰ Consequently, the pressure to reduce inpatient stays increased, and is now shifting to emergency departments as well.¹¹ Nevertheless, length of stay (LOS) continues to be longer overall for mental disorders than for other conditions: in the U.S., the mean LOS for psychiatric admissions is 8.2 days, compared with 4.6 days for all diagnoses.¹²

In this context, LOS in inpatient psychiatric services has become an interesting outcome for patients, care providers, and health insurance payers. The ability to identify determinants of LOS at admission - and, thus, identify patients who are likely to need a longer stay early on - may help treatment planning. Previous studies using various methodological approaches have shown that gender, age, psychiatric diagnosis, history of hospitalization, level of functioning, severity of disease, hospital characteristics, and type of insurance are all associated with LOS.^{2,13-20} but the results were only modest in terms of prediction of LOS. This suggests that there are other factors related to LOS which have not vet been explored. Moreover, high-income countries have been the main source of evidence on determinants of LOS in the international literature; there is a lack of information about which variables are important in less wealthy countries.

Within this context, the main objective of this study was to identify factors measurable at admission that would

Correspondence: Fernanda Lucia Capitanio Baeza, Departamento de Psiquiatria, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Rua Ramiro Barcelos, 2350, CEP 90035-205, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. E-mail: fernanda.baeza@gmail.com

Submitted Nov 02 2016, accepted Mar 05 2017, Epub Jul 06 2017.

FL Baeza et al.

90

predict LOS in an acute psychiatric facility, including factors that were not identified as predictors in previous studies. The intention was to develop a comprehensive, multivariable model including variables identified in previous studies and variables not previously investigated, namely: having one's own income, 2-year history of psychiatric admissions, total Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS) and Clinical Global Impression (CGI) scores, cause of admission, age at diagnosis, time since diagnosis, and history of suicide attempts. The secondary objective was to evaluate LOS and its determinants in a middleincome country.

We hypothesized that LOS would be longer for patients without their own income, who had been admitted to hospital for psychiatric reasons in the preceding 2 years, been admitted for risk of aggression, been diagnosed at an earlier age, and had a longer history of illness or a history of suicide attempts.

Methods

Study design and setting

This prospective, observational study was conducted in the inpatient psychiatric unit of a general, universityaffiliated, tertiary hospital in southern Brazil (Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, HCPA). The facility was a 36bed acute psychiatric inpatient unit, with 26 beds intended for patients admitted through public Unified Health System and 10 beds intended for private patients. Patients may be admitted as psychiatric emergencies, transferred from another department within the hospital, or referred from other psychiatric services. The unit is staffed by 10 medical teams.

Participants

The sample consisted of all patients aged 18 years or older who were admitted to a psychiatric bed at the study facility between June 2011 and December 2013, except those who met one or more of the following non-inclusion criteria:

- Patients admitted to specific treatment programs offered by the facility, namely patients with (a) a substancerelated disorder as the main diagnosis and/or detoxification as a main cause of admission; or (b) anorexia as the main cause of admission;
- Persistent and severe agitation during the first 72 hours of admission, which severely interfered with data collection; this was operationalized as need for mechanical restraint and/or sedation during most of the day;
- Patients with a severe cognitive impairment which prevented collection of the required information, unless an adult caregiver was able to provide it;
- 4) Patient refusal to participate.

We also did not consider very short admissions, defined as LOS < 7 days. Other exclusion criteria were (a) death during stay, regardless of cause, and (b) failure to obtain a complete set of data. To avoid dependence between the variables, only one admission per individual (namely, the first) was included. Figure 1 provides a detailed flow diagram of the participant selection procedure. To assess the risk of selection biases, we compared excluded and included patients in terms of age, gender, type of insurance, and LOS.

Measures

Structured protocols were used to collect data. All data were collected within 72 hours of admission by a trained research team. Researchers were not involved in patient care.

Selection of candidate predictor variables was based on previous findings or on clinical relevance.

Independent variables included as possible predictors were:

- Sociodemographic variables: age, gender, ethnicity (Caucasian vs. non-Caucasian), relationship status (with vs. without a partner), educational level (completed vs. did not complete high school), area of residence (metropolitan area vs. outside metropolitan area), type of insurance (public vs. private), and income (with vs. without own income).
- 2) Psychiatric history: lifetime history of psychiatric hospital stays and history of psychiatric hospital stays in the preceding 2 years, previous suicide attempts, age at first diagnosis, and time since first diagnosis.
- Current episode: main cause of admission, main diagnosis at admission according to ICD-10,²¹ and scores on CGI,²² BPRS,²³ and Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF).²⁴

Severity of illness was assessed using the CGI (0 = not ill to 6 = extremely ill) and was treated as a continuous variable. The GAF is used to assess psychosocial functioning in daily life (e.g., work, social interactions, relationships); scores range between 0 (poor functioning) and 100 (very good functioning). The BPRS is an 18-item scale used to measure general psychiatric symptoms. These three scales were administered during patient interviews. All other data were collected directly from the patient where possible; in other cases, relatives were requested to provide the information, and if no relative was available, the medical team assistant was consulted. If these three strategies failed, we sought to obtain the information from electronic records. In a previous analysis, medical team was evaluated as predictor because of its potential confounder role in LOS.

The outcome of interest, LOS, was treated as a continuous variable. In the case of patients transferred from other departments within the hospital, only days in the psychiatric unit were counted.

Ethical considerations

The HCPA Ethics Committee approved this study with protocol #10-265. All eligible patients were invited to participate. If a patient's capacity to consent was compromised by psychotic symptoms or intellectual disability, a relative or guardian was contacted to confirm participation. All participants – and, when applicable, a relative or guardian – were informed about the study and provided written informed consent.



Figure 1 Flowchart of participant selection procedure.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in SPSS for Windows version 21.1. The normality of the distribution of variables was measured using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Comparisons between included and excluded patients were conducted using the Mann-Whitney *U* test for non-parametric continuous variables and the independent-samples *t*-test for parametric continuous variables. The chi-square test was used for frequency comparisons.

Predictors of LOS were evaluated using a nonhierarchical, stepwise linear regression model. LOS was treated as a continuous variable; however, as linearity is a prerequisite for linear regression and the raw LOS data were not normally distributed, we used the natural logarithm (In) of LOS, which was normally distributed according to the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, as the dependent variable. First, candidate variables were tested individually in a bivariate model; only variables with a coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) > 0.01 (i.e., at least 1% of the variance in the outcome is explained by the variable) and a p-value < 0.1 on the bivariate model were included in the multivariable model. Further multivariable analyses were performed; variables were removed one by one according to their collinearity (mainly measured by variance inflation factor [VIF]) and p-value until a final model was reached. The significance level for the final model was set at 0.05. We used graphical residual analysis to verify the assumptions of linearity and homoscedasticity.

Preliminary analysis

Before carrying out linear regression analysis, we tested whether medical team was a predictor of LOS, to allow control for the potential influence of characteristics of the medical team responsible for each patient's care on LOS. All possible interactions between variables were pretested. Considering the possibility of a nonlinear relation between variables and LOS, quadratic terms of all variables were also tested as predictors of LOS in bivariate analysis. Since these quadratic terms were not better than the original variables in any of the cases, we chose to keep the original variables alone.

Results

During the study period, 816 patients were admitted, of whom 474 (58.08%) met the inclusion criteria. One

92 FL Baeza et al.

patient died during the stay and data for a further 88 were incomplete; these patients were excluded from analyses, giving a final sample of 385 patients.

Comparison of excluded and included patients

Group comparisons indicated that excluded and included patients were similar in terms of age, type of insurance, and LOS; however, the proportion of women was higher in the excluded group (64.88% vs. 49.5%).

Length of stay and demographic variables

LOS ranged from 7 to 199 days and was not normally distributed (mean = 30.02, standard deviation = 20.81, Shapiro-Wilk W = 0.74, p < 0.01). The mean age was 43.48 years (range 18 to 89 years); 8.8% of the sample was aged > 65. The median LOS was 25 days (interquartile range [IQR] 16 to 36.5 days). The characteristics of the sample are shown in Table 1.

Clinical characteristics

The clinical characteristics of the sample are shown in Table 2. Most patients (66.8%) had a history of at least one previous hospital stay, and 177 (46%) had been hospitalized at least once in the preceding 2 years. Fifty-four percent of patients had attempted suicide at least once, and the main reason for admission was suicide risk (44.2%), followed by risk of aggression towards others (23.9%). Mood disorders were the most common diagnosis (60.3%), followed by schizophrenia and related disorders (28.8%). Together, these two classes accounted for 89.1% of primary diagnoses in this sample.

Multivariable linear regression model: predictors of length of stay

Because LOS was not normally distributed, we used ln(LOS) as the dependent variable (mean = 3.23, standard deviation = 0.58; Kolmogorov-Smirnov D = 0.039, p = 0.198). The identity of the medical team did not influence LOS. None of the quadratic terms or interactions were included in the model, because they did not add any predictive power to the original variables.

The step-by-step modeling process is summarized in Table 3. In bivariate analysis (step 0), each variable was tested as the sole predictor of the dependent variable. The only demographic variable to predict LOS in a bivariate model was without own income. History of previous hospital stay, history of hospital stays in the preceding 2 years, history of suicide attempts, suicide risk or risk of aggression as main reason for admission, CGI, GAF, and BPRS scores, and diagnosis of mood disorder or schizophrenia and related disorders all met the criteria for inclusion in the multivariable model. All these variables were related to longer LOS, apart from history of suicide attempts, admission due to suicide risk, and diagnosis of mood disorder.

Age at first diagnosis and time since first diagnosis were related to LOS, but were not included in the multivariable model because of their very low R^2 values. In the multivariable analysis, the variables elected in step 0 were inserted together as independent variables, and the variables with the greatest collinearity, as measured with the VIF, were subsequently removed one by one until collinearity was eliminated (i.e., all VIF values were < 2), which was achieved in step 4. From step 5 onwards, variables were removed one by one in descending order of p-value.

The final model was achieved after six steps. This model contained six variables, which explained 14.6% of variance (F-test: 11.982; sig 0.000, gl 278) in ln(LOS): not having one's own income, history of at least one psychiatric

Table 1	Sociodemographic	characteristics of	of included	patients or	admission
---------	------------------	--------------------	-------------	-------------	-----------

Variable	
Length of stay, median (IQR) Age, mean (SD) Male gender Public health system users Caucasian ethnicity Area of residence: metropolitan	25 (16-36.5) 43.48 (15.0) 195 (50.6) 283 (73.5) 317 (82.3) 287 (74.5)
Educational level Lower than middle school Middle school High school Higher education	139 (36.1) 77 (20.0) 122 (29.1) 57 (14.8)
Employment status Employed Without own income On sickness benefit/allowance Retired Disability allowance	93 (24.2) 125 (32.5) 74 (19.2) 39 (10.1) 54 (14.0)
Relationship status: without partner	262 (68.1)

IQR = interquartile range; SD = standard deviation.

Table 2 Clinical characteristics of patients included in the final sam	ple (n=385))
--	-------------	---

Clinical characteristics	
Previous psychiatric admission	257 (66.8)
History of hospital stays in the last 2 years (yes)	177 (46.0)
Number of previous psychiatric hospital stays, median (IQR)	3 (2-7)*
Previous suicide attempt	210 (54.5)
Number of previous suicide attempts, median (IQR)	2 (1-3) [†]
Age in years at first diagnosis, median (IQR)	29 (20-40)
Time in years since first diagnosis, median (IQR)	8 (2-20)
Reason for admission Suicide risk Risk of aggression Worsening of symptoms Diagnostic uncertainty Risk of moral exposure Other	170 (44.2) 92 (23.9) 76 (19.7) 23 (6.0) 20 (5.2) 4 (1.0)
Main diagnosis (ICD-10) (F00-F09) Organic, including symptomatic, mental disorders (F20-F29) Schizophrenia, schizotypal, and delusional disorders (F30-F39) Mood (affective) disorders (F40-F48) Neurotic, stress-related, and somatoform disorders (F60-F69) Disorders of adult personality and behavior (F70-F79) Mental retardation Others	8 (2.1) 111 (28.8) 232 (60.3) 13 (3.4) 8 (2.1) 4 (1.0) 5 (1.3)
CGI score, median (IQR) [‡]	6 (5-6)
BPRS score, median (IQR)	23 (16-32)
GAF score, median (IQR)	30 (20-40)

Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise specified.

BPRS = Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale; CGI = Clinical Global Impression; GAF = Global Assessment Functioning; IQR = interquartile range; SD = standard deviation.

* Considering only the subsample with a history of hospital stays.

[†]Considering only the subsample with a history of suicide attempts.

[‡]CGI was treated as a continuous variable.

hospital stay in the preceding 2 years, CGI score, BPRS score, diagnosis of schizophrenia and related disorders according to ICD-10 criteria, and history of suicide attempts.

Discussion

Our study demonstrates that LOS in acute psychiatry beds is predicted by variables not mentioned in previous research, namely not having one's own income, history of psychiatric hospital stay in the preceding 2 years, total BPRS score, and history of suicide attempts. We also corroborated previous reports that CGI score and a diagnosis of schizophrenia predict LOS in a psychiatric bed. Together, these six independent variables accounted for 14.6% of the variance in ln(LOS).

Sociodemographic factors

Neither gender, age, nor relationship status were related to LOS in our sample, which contrasts with findings from larger samples. LOS was found to be positively associated with female gender¹⁸ and older age^{13,14} in studies with more than 3,118 participants.¹⁸ The small number of elderly people in the sample (8.8%) may explain why age was not related to LOS in our sample. Type of insurance was not associated with LOS in this sample, which conflicts somewhat with evidence that hospital type (general

hospital vs. psychiatric hospital) and type of insurance are related to LOS for persons with serious mental illness.^{17,20} It is likely that this association was not detectable in this sample because the different groups of patients shared the same facility and treating teams. The only sociodemographic factor associated with LOS in our sample was not having one's own income. Patients without an income probably stay longer in a psychiatric bed because of social difficulties related to discharge. This finding demonstrates a need to pay attention to the finances of severely ill patients.

Psychiatric history

Some previous studies found a highly significant relationship between having had a previous hospital stay and LOS.^{14,15,18} In bivariate analyses, both lifetime and 2-year history of psychiatric hospital stays were related to LOS, but in the final multivariable model, only 2-year history of psychiatric admissions was retained. Our study suggests that having been treated in a psychiatric inpatient admission in the last 2 years is a more important determinant of LOS than lifetime history of psychiatric hospital stays. A history of attempted suicide was very common in our sample (54.5%), and was negatively associated with LOS. Contrary to our hypothesis, admission based on risk of aggression was not related to LOS in the final model.

Table 3 Linear regression analysis of natura	l logarithm of lengt	th of stay (L	OS): steps from	bivariate mode	I to final multiple	e model		
	Bivariate an	alysis			Multivariat	e analysis		
	Step 0		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
	β standardized (p-value)	Adjusted R2	β standardized	β standardized	β standardized	β standardized	β standardized	β standardized
Age, years Female gender Caucasian ethnicity Area of residence: non-metropolitan Educational level: did not complete high school*	-0.016 (0.749) 0.011 (0.833) 0.040 (0.437) -0.023 (0.658) 0.07 (0.172)	∧ ∧ ∧ ∧ ∧ ∧ 0.01 0.0 0 0.01 0.0 0 0.01						
without own incorne Relationship status: without partner	0.014 (0.782)	0.01 0.01	U.114 (U.UZI)	N. 1 1 Z (V. VZZ)	U.110 (U.U24)	(czn.u) eui .u	0.110 (U.UZZ)	(170°0) 111°0
Lifetime history of psychiatric admission Lifetime history of psychiatric admission Psychiatric admission in the preceding 2 years History of suicide attempt Age at first diagnosis Time since first diagnosis	0.105 (0.109) 0.166 (0.002) -0.124 (0.015) -0.098 (0.055) [‡] 0.098 (0.054) [‡]	0.03 ⁴ 0.023 ⁴ 0.013 ⁴ 0.013	0.035 (0.576) 0.081 (0.174) -0.079 (0.137)	0.036 (0.558) 0.081 (0.175) -0.081 (0.125)	0.040 (0.515) 0.078 (0.186) -0.080 (0.129)	0.041 (0.508) 0.078 (0.187) -0.079 (0.131)	0.100 (0.039) -0.075 (0.150)	0.104 (0.033) -0.096 (0.05)
		‡00 0						
suicide risk Risk of aggression Worsening of symptoms Diagnostic uncertainty Risk of moral exposure	-0.181 (< 0.001) 0.115 (0.024) 0.061 (0.235) 0.059 (0.246) 0.075 (0.142)	0.03 0.0111** **10.01 0.01	(765.0) 860.0- 0.017 (0.761)	-0.061 (0.323) 0.015 (0.789)	(JCS:U) / CD:U- 0.010 (0.858)	(907:0) Z90:0-	-0.069 (0.204)	
CGI BPRS GAF	0.286 (< 0.001) 0.286 (< 0.001) -0.194 (< 0.001)	0.08 [‡] 0.079 [‡] 0.035 [‡]	0.202 (0.007) 0.098 (0.114) 0.025 (0.724)	0.186 (0.002) 0.094 (0.123)	0.188 (0.001) 0.093 (0.126)	0.188 (0.652) 0.094 (0.612)	0.192 (0.001) 0.095 (0.117)	0.188 (0.001) 0.102 (0.088)
Main diagnosis (ICD-10) (F00-F09) Organic, including symptomatic,	0.091 (0.077)	< 0.01						
(F20-F29) Schizohrenia, schizotypal, and	0.231 (< 0.001)	0.051 [‡]	0.136 (0.085)	0.140 (0.075)	0.103 (0.054)	0.104 (0.792)	0.106 (0.046)	0.126 (0.013)
(F30-F39) Mood (affective) disorders (F40-F48) Neurotic, stress-related, and	-0.168 (0.001) -0.109 (0.034)	0.026 [‡] < 0.01	0.046 (0.566)	0.050 (0.524)				
somation disorders (F60-F69) Disorders of adult personality and behavior	-0.048 (0.352)	< 0.01						
Intercept R ²			2.313 0.14	2.4 0.143	2.441 0.144	2.446 0.147	2.453 0.148	2.424 0.146
LOS = length of stay; CGI = Clinical Global Impre Significant results shown in bold. * Educational level was dummy-coded as a binary [†] Income was dummy-coded as a binary variable, ${}^{+}R^{2} > 0.01$.	ission; BPRS = Brief variable. with compl with having own inco	Psychiatric F letion of high ome as the re	Rating Scale; GAF school or more as eference category.	 Global Assess the reference ca 	ment Functioning. tegory.			

FL Baeza et al.

94

Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40(1)
Current episode

In this sample, total BPRS score was positively associated with LOS, even in the multivariable model. Hopko et al. demonstrated that data from the BPRS subscales could be used to identify up to 80% of patients who required extended hospital care.¹⁵ In our sample, total BPRS score was associated with LOS independently of diagnosis. In the bivariate models (Step 0), CGI score was the single variable which accounted for most variance in In(LOS) ($R^2 = 0.08$). Even when other variables were added to the model, CGI remained positively associated with LOS, which is consistent with the findings of Warnke et al.¹⁶ This is particularly important, as the CGI scale is quick and easy to administer and is in very widespread use.

Reason for admission was not a determinant of LOS in the multivariable final model, rejecting our hypothesis that patients admitted for risk of aggression would need longer hospitalization. In our study, diagnoses of mood disorders or schizophrenia and related disorders (using ICD-10 criteria) were associated with LOS in bivariate models; diagnoses of mood disorders were negatively associated with LOS. In the multivariable final model, schizophrenia and related disorders remained positively associated with LOS. Several studies have reported that a diagnosis of schizophrenia is positively associated with LOS.^{14,16,18,25} Our findings confirm that patient with schizophrenia have longer stays as psychiatric inpatients than patients with other mental disorders. This may reflect the combination of complex, hard-to-treat acute symptoms and social withdrawal which characterize schizophrenia, and can prevent achievement of rapid discharge.

Length of stay

The median LOS was 25 days, a figure very similar to the median 22-day stay reported for a Swiss sample.¹⁶ However, LOS varies widely between studies. A previous Brazilian study reported a mean LOS of 20 days.²⁶ A large U.S. study of more than 45,000 subjects reported a mean length of psychiatric hospital stav was 10.0 davs.²⁰ while in an Australian sample, the median LOS was 12 days.² In contrast, the mean LOS in a Japanese sample was 49 days,²⁷ and in a Chinese sample, 45 days.²⁵ We hypothesize that the marked difference between LOS in different countries can be attributable to differences in the range of treatment options available in the community in different places, as well as to cultural aspects regarding style of psychiatric care delivery. There is still some doubt as to whether short admissions should be recommended (because they help prevent patients from becoming institutionalized) or whether they are harmful (because they do not allow the causes and symptoms of illness to be fully addressed). This issue is further complicated by the existence of a group of patients who have short but frequent admissions, also known as revolving-door patients. A recent Cochrane review which compared stays of less than vs. more than 28 days in patients with severe mental illness concluded that there were no benefits from longer hospital stays in terms of readmission and other outcomes, and that short stays were associated with better

social functioning.²⁸ Especially because of the restricted number of psychiatric beds nowadays, rapid discharge means greater availability of such beds, which, in turn, means an opportunity to provide care to another patient. On the other hand, very short hospital stavs may reduce the opportunity for a comprehensive investigation and make it more difficult to address the psychosocial aspects of a patient's illness, thus compromising the chances of sustained recovery.⁶ For some patients, a short stay is not sufficient to stabilize their symptoms and may not be long enough to even begin to treat serious illnesses; in these cases, a longer stay would reduce the odds of rapid readmission, homelessness, and criminalization.¹ Therefore, any policy meant to reduce the duration of inpatient treatment should be carefully evaluated to ensure that potential negative consequences for patients are avoided.29

This study has several strengths. First, we found four predictors of LOS which have not been mentioned in previous international studies, namely being without an income, history of psychiatric admissions in the preceding 2 years, total BPRS score, and history of suicide attempts. Second, this was a prospective study based on primary data rather than hospital records; hence, data were accurate and clinically detailed. Third, we performed a comprehensive analysis including several categories of predictors - demographic variables, psychiatric history variables, current episode variables - in a single model. Fourth, the sample encompassed a wide range of diagnoses. Fifth, in contrast to most of the published evidence in this area, our study was conducted in a middle-income economy, thus providing data about LOS produced in a population outside high-income countries.

The sample size was small compared with other investigations into potential determinants of LOS. This probably explains why we failed to find relationships between LOS and age, gender, and relationship status. It is possible that, in a larger sample from this population, we might detect a negative association between LOS and age at diagnosis or a positive association between LOS and duration of illness. The common weaknesses of large-sample studies are, however, that they tend to be retrospective and based only on data from hospital records. About 6% of patients admitted during the study period were not included in the study because they exhibited severe, persistent agitation or a severe cognitive impairment; we are therefore unable to comment on predictors of LOS in these patient groups. Our analysis of LOS also excluded very short admissions. Our rate of loss was 18.5% among eligible patients. There were more female than male patients with missing data; however, as included and excluded patients were similar with respect to LOS, age, and type of insurance, it is unlikely that their exclusion biased the findings significantly. Generalization of these findings to other settings can be compromised by the fact that policies regarding hospitalization vary widely across settings, depending on culture, local legislation, and even hospital type (psychiatric bed in a general hospital vs. dedicated psychiatric hospital).

Six independent variables accounted for 14.6% of the variance in In(LOS), indicating that a small proportion

of the variance in LOS can be predicted from patient characteristics which are measurable on admission. This finding is consistent with other studies,^{14,18} and suggests that prediction of LOS is far from straightforward, with multiple factors being involved.^{15,30}

Identifying patients who will need to stay longer in a psychiatric bed remains a challenge. It is likely that LOS is influenced more by the process of psychiatric treatment and by factors which emerge after admission, such as comorbidity and psychosocial impairments,^{29,31} than by simple patient characteristics. Nevertheless, our findings suggest that patients without an income, with a recent history (previous 2 years) of psychiatric admissions, with high CGI or BPRS scores, or with a diagnosis of schizo-phrenia or related disorders based on ICD-10 criteria may benefit from early identification and careful discharge planning. LOS remains an under-investigated variable, and better understanding of the factors which influence it might lead to improvements in the quality of care in hospital psychiatry.

Acknowledgements

FLB receives a doctoral scholarship from Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES). MPF receives a research productivity scholarship from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq). NSR has received a postdoctoral scholarship and MPF and NSR have received a research grant from CAPES (23038.006961/210), which funded this project.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

- 1 Sharfstein SS, Dickerson FB. Hospital psychiatry for the twenty-first century. Health Aff (Millwood). 2009;28:685-8.
- 2 Zhang J, Harvey C, Andrew C. Factors associated with length of stay and the risk of readmission in an acute psychiatric inpatient facility: a retrospective study. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2011;45:578-85.
- 3 Sealy P, Whitehead PC. Forty years of deinstitutionalization of psychiatric services in Canada: an empirical assessment. Can J Psychiatry. 2004;49:249-57.
- 4 Leentjens AF. General hospital psychiatry in the Netherlands. J Psychosom Res. 2005;59:453-4.
- 5 Ferrari S, Rigatelli M. General hospital psychiatry in Italy: an update. J Psychosom Res. 2006;60:217-8.
- 6 Glick ID, Sharfstein SS, Schwartz HI. Inpatient psychiatric care in the 21st century: the need for reform. Psychiatr Serv. 2011;62:206-9.
- 7 Sharfstein SS. Goals of inpatient treatment for psychiatric disorders. Annu Rev Med. 2009;60:393-403.
- 8 Foley DJ, Manderscheid RW, Jatay JF, Maedke J, Sussman J, Cribbs S. Highlights of organized mental health services in 2002 and major national and state trends. In: Manderscheid RW, Berry JT, editors. Mental health, United States.Rockville: Center for Mental Health Services; 2004.

- 9 Kilsztajn S, Lopes Ede S, Lima LZ, Rocha PA, Carmo MS. [Hospital beds and mental health reform in Brazil]. Cad Saude Publica. 2008;24:2354-62.
- 10 Brasil, Ministério da Saúde (MS). Saúde mental em dados 10 [Internet]. 2012 Mar 10 [cited 2017 Mar 14]. saudeecosol.files.word press.com/2012/03/saude-mental-em-dados-10-ms.pdf
- 11 Kalucy R, Thomas L, King D. Changing demand for mental health services in the emergency department of a public hospital. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2005;39:74-80.
- 12 Saba DK, Levit KR, Elixhauser A. Hospital stays related to mental health, 2006 [Internet]. 2008 Oct [cited 2016 Feb 10]. hcup-us.ahrq. gov/reports/statbriefs/sb62.pdf
- 13 Jayaram G, Tien AY, Sullivan P, Gwon H. Elements of a successful short-stay inpatient psychiatric service. Psychiatr Serv. 1996;47:407-12.
- 14 Huntley DA, Cho DW, Christman J, Csernansky JG. Predicting length of stay in an acute psychiatric hospital. Psychiatr Serv. 1998;49:1049-53.
- 15 Hopko DR, Lachar D, Bailley SE, Varner RV. Assessing predictive factors for extended hospitalization at acute psychiatric admission. Psychiatr Serv. 2001;52:1367-73.
- 16 Warnke I, Rössler W. Length of stay by ICD-based diagnostic groups as basis for the remuneration of psychiatric inpatient care in Switzerland? Swiss Med Wkly. 2008;138:520-7.
- 17 Bodner E, Sarel A, Gillath O, Iancu I. The relationship between type of insurance, time period and length of stay in psychiatric hospitals: the Israeli case. Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci. 2010;47:284-90.
- 18 Tulloch AD, Fearon P, David AS. Length of stay of general psychiatric inpatients in the United States: systematic review. Adm Policy Ment Health. 2011;38:155-68.
- 19 Warnke I, Rössler W, Herwig U. Does psychopathology at admission predict the length of inpatient stay in psychiatry? Implications for financing psychiatric services. BMC Psychiatry. 2011;11:120.
- 20 Lee S, Rothbard AB, Noll EL. Length of inpatient stay of persons with serious mental illness: effects of hospital and regional characteristics. Psychiatr Serv. 2012;63:889-95.
- 21 World Health Organization. International Classification of Diseases, 10th edition (ICD-10). Geneva: WHO; 1999.
- 22 National Institute of Mental Health. CGI: clinical global impressions. In: Guy W, Bonato RR, editors. Manual for the ECDEU assessment battery 2.Chevy Chase: National Institute of Mental Health; 1970, p. 12-6.
- 23 Romano F, Eikis H. Translation and adpatation of the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale-anchored version (BPRS-A). J Bras Psiquiatr. 1996;45:43-9.
- 24 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV). Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 1994.
- 25 Choy LW, Dun ELW. Determinants of length of stay in a general hospital psychiatric unit in Hong Kong. Hong Kong J Psychiatry. 2007;17:131-8.
- 26 Dalgalarrondo P, Botega NJ, Banzato CE. [Patients who benefit from psychiatric admission in the general hospital]. Rev Saude Publica. 2003;37:629-34.
- 27 Nakanishi M, Niimura J, Tanoue M, Yamamura M, Hirata T, Asukai N. Association between length of hospital stay and implementation of discharge planning in acute psychiatric inpatients in Japan. Int J Ment Health Syst. 2015;9:23.
- 28 Babalola O, Gormez V, Alwan NA, Johnstone P, Sampson S. Length of hospitalisation for people with severe mental illness. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;1:CD000384.
- 29 Richter D. [Psychiatric inpatient length of stay. An overview of methods, influences and consequences]. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr. 2001;69:19-31.
- 30 Blais MA, Matthews J, Lipkis-Orlando R, Lechner E, Jacobo M, Lincoln R, et al. Predicting length of stay on an acute care medical psychiatric inpatient service. Adm Policy Ment Health. 2003;31:15-29.
- 31 Creed F, Tomenson B, Anthony P, Tramner M. Predicting length of stay in psychiatry. Psychol Med. 1997;27:961-6.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Clinical improvement in patients with borderline personality disorder after treatment with repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: preliminary results

Julian Reyes-López,¹ Josefina Ricardo-Garcell,² Gabriela Armas-Castañeda,³ María García-Anaya,⁴ Iván Arango-De Montis,⁴ Jorge J. González-Olvera,⁴ Francisco Pellicer⁴

¹Clínica del Sistema Nervioso, Departamento de Investigación Biomédica, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Autónoma de Querétaro, Querétaro, Mexico. ²Instituto de Neurobiología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Juriquilla, Querétaro, Mexico. ³Departamento de Psiquiatría y Salud Mental, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Querétaro, Mexico. ⁴Instituto Nacional de Psiquiatría Ramón de la Fuente Muñiz, Ciudad de México, Mexico.

Objective: Current treatment of borderline personality disorder (BPD) consists of psychotherapy and pharmacological interventions. However, the use of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) could be beneficial to improve some BPD symptoms. The objective of this study was to evaluate clinical improvement in patients with BPD after application of rTMS over the right or left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC).

Method: Twenty-nine patients with BPD from the National Institute of Psychiatry, Mexico, were randomized in two groups to receive 15 sessions of rTMS applied over the right (1 Hz, n=15) or left (5 Hz, n=14) DLPFC. Improvement was measured by the Clinical Global Impression Scale for BPD (CGI-BPD), Borderline Evaluation of Severity Over Time (BEST), Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (HAM-A), and Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS).

Results: Intragroup comparison showed significant (p < 0.05) reductions in every psychopathologic domain of the CGI-BPD and in the total scores of all scales in both groups.

Conclusions: Both protocols produced global improvement in severity and symptoms of BPD, particularly in impulsiveness, affective instability, and anger. Further studies are warranted to explore the therapeutic effect of rTMS in BPD.

Clinical trial registration: NCT02273674.

Keywords: Borderline personality disorder; neurophysiology; neurosciences; psychosocial factors

Introduction

Borderline personality disorder (BPD) is one of the most common personality disorders in clinical practice. It affects 1¹ to 5.9%² of the general population and accounts for 10% of outpatient psychiatry visits and more than 20% of the psychiatric inpatient population,^{1,2} generating a huge demand for health services.² BPD prevalence is similar in both genders,² although diagnosis is more common in women. The disorder is characterized by persistent patterns of affective instability, problematic relationships, and marked impulsiveness,² which manifests as self-injurious behavior, substance abuse, suicidality,²⁻⁴ and other highrisk behaviors. Comorbidity with disorders such as depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is common.²

Neuroimaging and neuropsychological studies^{1,5} have shown that the clinical manifestations of BPD are related to changes in the frontolimbic network,^{2,3} including amygdala hyperactivity and hypofunctionality in prefrontal structures⁶ such as the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (VMPFC), and the dorsolateral (DLPFC) cortex.⁷⁻⁹ Particularly, the DLPFC plays a key role in regulating top-down emotional control and impulsiveness.^{9,10} These findings become relevant when considering that the current lines of treatment are psychotherapy (maintenance treatment) and pharmacological interventions (which are used during exacerbations of symptoms).²

Nevertheless, the use of neuromodulation, such as repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS),^{11,12} could be beneficial to improve some symptoms of BPD and to normalize the cortical dysfunction associated with these manifestations.¹³ This technique uses electromagnetic induction¹⁴ to stimulate the cerebral cortex focally and noninvasively, with few side effects,^{15,16} and is relatively pain free. The neuromodulatory action of rTMS involves excitatory and inhibitory neuronal processes and plastic changes.^{16,17}

At present, rTMS has been approved for the treatment of depression in several countries; it is accepted as an evidence-based treatment option by the American

Correspondence: Josefina Ricardo-Garcell, Instituto de Neurobiología, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Campus Juriquilla, Boulevard Juriquilla, 3001, 76230, Querétaro, Mexico. E-mail: oojrg@yahoo.com

Submitted Sep 13 2016, accepted Feb 06 2017, Epub Jun 12 2017.

Psychiatric Association (APA), the Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT), and the World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP).^{11,12,18} The most frequent protocols are those using high frequencies (> 1 Hz to a maximum of 20 Hz) over the left DLPFC^{16,18-21} or low frequencies (\leq 1 Hz) over the right one.^{16,18} Effects have also been demonstrated in psychiatric disorders that share features with BPD, such as impulse control deficit^{22,23} and anxiety symptoms.^{18,22}

Studies have explored the therapeutic potential of rTMS in BPD using high-frequency protocols (10 Hz) on the right¹³ and left⁹ DLPFCs, although evidence shows that use of frequencies in the inhibitory (\leq 1 Hz) or 5-Hz ranges can provide clinical benefits with greater tolerability and reduced risk of adverse events.^{11,21,24} Thus, the aim of this study was to evaluate clinical improvement in patients with BPD after treatment with high-frequency (5 Hz) or low-frequency (1 Hz) rTMS of the left or right DLPFC, respectively.

Material and methods

Participants

Twenty-nine patients with BPD, of both genders (27 women), all right-handed, with an age range of 18-45 years (mean 30.2 years, standard deviation [SD] = 7.6), participated in a randomized clinical trial that was conducted over 12 months. Outpatients from the BPD Clinic of the Ramon de la Fuente Muñiz National Institute of Psychiatry (INPRF) in Mexico City, with a DSM-IV-TR²⁵ diagnosis of BPD and a score > 8 on the Spanish version of the Borderline Diagnostic Interview Revised (DIB-R),²⁶⁻²⁸ were included.

Subjects with intracranial metallic objects and medical devices contraindicated in transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) were excluded, as were subjects with epilepsy, history of seizures, substance dependence, suicidal ideation, psychotic symptoms, bipolar affective disorder, current major depressive episode, and other comorbid psychiatric disorders, except generalized anxiety disorder. To reduce the risk of inducing seizures by rTMS, subjects with epileptiform activity on an electroencephalogram were also excluded. A safety questionnaire was applied in accordance with international guidelines.^{11,24}

All participants received a complete description of the study and provided informed consent. This study was conducted in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki, was approved by the INPRF Research Ethics Committee, and was registered in the U.S. National Institutes of Health ClinicalTrials.gov platform (www.clinicaltrials.gov) with accession number NCT02273674.

Clinical evaluation of participants

Six clinical tests were administered to assess BPD, anxiety and depressive symptoms, and impulsiveness. To determine the severity of BPD symptoms and their changes over time, the Clinical Global Impression Scale for BPD (CGI-BPD)²⁹ and the Spanish version of the Borderline Evaluation of Severity Over Time (BEST)³⁰ were applied. The CGI-BPD is an adaptation of the Clinical

Global Impression scale (CGI) that was designed with the objective of evaluating both the severity and the subsequent change in response to an intervention in patients diagnosed with BPD. The CGI consists of 10 Likert-type items scored on a scale of 1 to 7, which evaluate nine psychopathological domains of BPD, and an additional overall score.

CGI-BPD consists of two formats to assess current severity and change over time. The instrument has demonstrated adequate validity, reliability, and sensitivity to change.²⁹ BEST, in turn, is a self-administered instrument designed to evaluate the severity and change over time of typical thoughts, emotions, and behaviors in BPD. This scale has also demonstrated adequate sensitivity to change, high internal consistency, and discriminant validity.³⁰

The Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS) was used to assess impulsiveness. It is self-administered and was validated in Spanish by Oquendo et al.³¹ The BIS consists of 30 items grouped into three impulsiveness subscales: cognitive, motor, and unplanned. This test has a high internal consistency.³¹

The presence, severity, and change over time of anxiety and depressive symptoms were evaluated by the Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (HAM-A) and a 21-item version of the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), respectively. Clinimetric tests were applied by an experienced psychiatrist, before and after 15 rTMS sessions, in order to evaluate changes in BPD, anxiety and depressive symptoms, and impulsiveness.

Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation procedure

Participants were randomly assigned to receive one of two different rTMS protocols (5 Hz or 1 Hz), which generated two treatment groups. In both protocols, rTMS pulses were administered at an intensity equal to 100% of each patient's motor threshold using a Dantec MagPro rapid magnetic stimulator and a 50 mm Dantec MC-B70 butterfly (figure-eight) coil with 150° angulation.

The resting motor threshold (RMT) was determined at the start of each session, using the visual inspection method as described by Fitzgerald, in which the abductor pollicis brevis muscle (APBM) motor response is evaluated. Stimulation site was defined as 5 cm above the maximum stimulation point at the APBM region, according to descriptions in previous clinical guidelines for locating the DLPFC.^{11,19}

In the 1 Hz group (n=15, 14 women), rTMS was applied to the right DLPFC (one 15-minute train, 1 pulse per second continuously, for a total of 900 pulses per session). In the 5 Hz group (n=14, 13 women), rTMS was applied to the left DLPFC (30 trains of 10 seconds each, with a 10-second interval between each train, for a total of 1,500 pulses per session). Both rTMS protocols consisted of one daily session from Monday through Friday for 3 weeks (15 sessions total).

Statistical analysis

SPSS version 17 for Windows was used for statistical analysis. Comparison between age groups was performed

using the nonparametric Mann-Whitney U test, while gender distributions were compared by Fisher's exact test. To analyze changes in clinimetric test scores, the Mann-Whitney U was used to compare differences between groups, while the Wilcoxon test was used to evaluate the effect of rTMS within each group. Cohen's d was calculated in Microsoft Excel to analyze the effect size of rTMS on BPD symptoms.

Results

Both treatment groups were relatively homogeneous in terms of age, sex, and baseline symptoms, since there were no statistically significant differences in these variables (Table 1). After application of the rTMS protocols, both groups showed significant reductions in total scores of all instruments (Table 2, Figures 1 and 2).

Borderline personality disorder symptoms and repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation

The change in the patients' symptoms, evaluated through the CGI-BPD, was obtained considering the score of each of the first nine BPD psychopathological domains, which assess current severity. The total score was also obtained by adding the scores of each of these nine domains. The Wilcoxon test was used for statistical analysis in both groups, and showed a significant reduction in CGI-BPD total score from baseline after rTMS (z = 3.3 in both groups, p = 0.001 for both groups), with a percent change of 29.4 and 28.7% for groups 1 and 5 Hz, respectively (Figure 1A), and an effect size of d = 2.58 for the 1 Hz group and d = 2.02 for the 5 Hz group.

Table 2 shows significant differences before and after rTMS, with effect sizes (obtained by the Wilcoxon test and Cohen's d respectively), for the nine CGI-BPD domains in each treatment group. It can be noted that both groups showed significant score reductions in all domains, particularly abandonment, impulsiveness, emotional instability, and anger, in which highly significant reductions (p < p0.005) were observed in both the 1 Hz and 5 Hz groups. In all CGI-BPD domains, Cohen's d effect size was > 0.7(Table 2). However, no significant differences (Mann-Whitney U) in total score at baseline (U = 91.0, p > 0.05) or after rTMS (U = 93.5, p > 0.05) were found between the two groups (Figure 1), nor were there significant betweengroup differences in individual CGI-BPD domain scores (1 Hz vs. 5 Hz groups Pre rTMS or 1 Hz vs. 5 Hz groups Post rTMS, Table 2).

Total BEST scale scores in both the 1 Hz and 5 Hz groups also reduced significantly after rTMS (41.0 ± 14.5 vs. 30.7 ± 12.0 , z = 2.3, p = 0.001; 42.8 ± 9.7 vs. 26.8 ± 11.8 , z = -2.94, p = 0.003 for 1 and 5 Hz, respectively). This represented 20.4% and 36.9% reductions from baseline for the 1 Hz and 5 Hz groups, with effect sizes of 0.8 and 1.54, respectively. No significant between-group

Table 1	Statistical analysis of	of sociodemographic	variables (age	e, sex) and	l baseline	clinical	test scores	in the two	treatment
groups									

	Gro	oups		
	1 Hz (n=15)	5 Hz (n=14)	Statistic	p-value
Age	29.6±7.8	30.9±7.6	<i>U</i> = 76.5	0.32
Sex, male/female (% female)	1/14 (93)	1/13 (92)	Fisher's exact test	0.9
BDI	30.9±15.6	31.9±14.6	<i>U</i> = 97.5	0.982
HAM-A	20.2±6.8	15.5±6.4	U = 33	0.120
CGI-BPD	41.1±4.7	40.2±6.0	<i>U</i> = 91.0	0.747
BEST	41.0±14.5	42.8±9.7	<i>U</i> = 65.0	0.510
Barratt Impulsiveness Scale	70.2±12.0	73.1±14.2	<i>U</i> = 94.0	0.631

Data presented as mean \pm standard deviation, unless otherwise specified.

BDI = Beck Depression Inventory; BEST = Borderline Evaluation of Severity Over Time; CGI-BPD = Clinical Global Impression Scale for Borderline Personality Disorder; HAM-A = Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale.

 Table 2
 Significant differences and effect sizes obtained by comparing values of the nine CGI-BPD domains, in each treatment group, before and after rTMS (Wilcoxon test and Cohen's d)

		1 Hz				5 Hz				
	Pre rTMS		Post rTMS		Cohen's d	Pre rTMS		Post rTMS		Cohen's d
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Concil 5 u	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Abandonment	4.2	0.8	3.0*	1.0	1.37	4.0	0.9	2.9*	0.5	1.57
Unstable relationships	4.2	0.8	3.1 [†]	0.8	1.42	4.5	0.7	3.1*	0.9	1.8
Identity	3.7	0.6	3.1 [‡]	0.9	0.81	3.7	1.0	2.9^{\dagger}	1.0	0.83
Impulsiveness	4.4	0.5	2.6*	0.8	2.79	4.0	0.8	2.6*	1.1	1.51
Suicide	3.2	1.3	1.8^{+}	0.7	1.39	3.1	0.9	1.9*	0.8	1.46
Affective instability	4.3	0.6	2.9*	0.7	2.22	4.4	0.6	2.9*	1.0	1.89
Empty	4.1	1.1	2.9*	0.9	1.24	4.2	1.0	3.1 [†]	0.9	1.20
Angry	4.2	0.7	2.6*	0.6	2.54	3.9	0.8	2.6*	0.8	1.69
Paranoid ideation	4.4	0.8	3.4^{\dagger}	1.1	1.08	4.0	1.4	3.1 [‡]	1.1	0.74

CGI-BPD = Clinical Global Impression Scale for Borderline Personality Disorder; rTMS = repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation; SD = standard deviation.

* p < 0.005; † p < 0.01; ‡ p < 0.05.



Figure 1 Percent change in total Clinical Global Impression Scale for Borderline Personality Disorder (CGI-BPD), Borderline Evaluation of Severity Over Time (BEST), Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS), and Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) scores after repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS). Both groups showed reductions in total score of all instruments (Wilcoxon test). Central squares show percent change. Data presented as mean \pm standard deviation. * p < 0.005; [†] p < 0.05.



Figure 2 Changes in Borderline Evaluation of Severity Over Time (BEST) dimensions. Data presented as mean \pm standard deviation. * p < 0.005; [†] p < 0.05.

differences in BEST total score were found, whether at baseline (U = 65.0, p > 0.05) or after rTMS (U = 56.0, p > 0.05) (Figure 1B).

Regarding individual BEST scale dimensions, significant reductions were observed in both groups for Thoughts and Feelings (1 Hz = 27.1 ± 8.2 vs. 19.9 ± 8.4 ,



Figure 3 Changes in Barratt Impulsiveness (BIS) dimensions. Data presented as mean \pm standard deviation. * p < 0.005; [†] p < 0.01; [‡] p < 0.05.

z = 2.3, p = 0.021, Cohen's d = 0.90; 5 Hz = 27.2±6.4 vs. 17.0±8.2, z = 2.9, p = 0.003, Cohen's d = 1.44), representing a percent change of 23.5% for the 1 Hz group and 38.6% for the 5 Hz group, and in Negative Behaviors, with a 17% reduction for the 1 Hz group (9.6±4.4 vs. 7.0±3.5, z = 1.3, p > 0.05, Cohen's d = 0.68) and a 33.9% reduction for the 5 Hz group (10.9±3.8 vs. 6.5±3.2, z = 2.4, p = 0.014, Cohen's d = 1.3). In the Positive Behaviors dimension, no significant changes were observed in either 1 Hz group (10.6±3.0 vs. 11.2±2.2, z = -0.8, p = 0.39) or the 5 Hz groups (10.3±2.3 vs. 11.7±1.5, z = 1.4, p = 0.14). There were no significant between-group differences in individual BEST dimension scores at baseline or after rTMS (Figure 2A).

Impulsiveness

Comparison of baseline and post-treatment BIS scores showed significant reductions in total scores in the 1 Hz group (70.2 \pm 12.0 vs. 57.3 \pm 14.8, z = 3.2, p = 0.001, Cohen's *d* = 0.99) and the 5 Hz group (73.1 \pm 14 vs. 63.3 \pm 12.1, z = 2.3, p = 0.017, Cohen's *d* = 0.78), with change percentages of 18.96% and 11.83% respectively. No between-groups differences in impulsiveness scores were observed at baseline (*U* = 94.0, p > 0.05) or after magnetic stimulation sessions (*U* = 87.0, p > 0.05) (Figure 1C).

Analysis of changes in BIS dimension scores showed significant reductions for both groups in motor impulsiveness (1 Hz, 24.4 \pm 5.0 vs. 16.8 \pm 8, z = 2.7 p = 0.007, Cohen's *d* = 1.18, 29% change; 5 Hz, 25.5 \pm 7.5 vs. 18.9 \pm 7.3, z = 2.8 p = 0.004, Cohen's *d* = 0.93, 25% change). Additionally, the 1 Hz group showed a significant reduction in cognitive impulsiveness dimension score (20.8 \pm 3.7 vs. 18.0 \pm 4.6, z = 2.0 p = 0.037, Cohen's *d* = 0.69, 13% reduction compared to baseline). There were no significant changes in the Nonplanning impulsiveness dimension. No significant differences were found on between-group comparison (Figure 3).

Anxiety and depressive symptoms

BDI scores reduced significantly from baseline after rTMS in both the 1 Hz group (30.9 ± 15.5 vs. 13 ± 9.1 , z = -3.1, p = 0.002, Cohen's d = 1.46, percent change 49%) and the 5 Hz group (31.9 ± 14.5 vs. 14.2 ± 11.0 , z = -3.3, p = 0.001, Cohen's d = 1.43, percent change 60%). No between-group differences were found at baseline (U = 97.5, p > 0.05) or after rTMS (U = 96.5, p > 0.05) (Figure 1D).

Similarly, HAM-A scores reduced after rTMS treatment in both groups (1 Hz, 20.2 \pm 6.8 vs. 8 \pm 4.7, z = -2.8, p = 0.005, Cohen's *d* = 2.16, percent change 60.3%; 5 Hz, 15.5 \pm 6.4 vs. 6.4 \pm 3.5, z = -2.9, p = 0.003, Cohen's *d* = 1.83, percent change 58.7%). Again, no between-groups differences at baseline (*U* = 33, p > 0.05) or after rTMS (*U* = 43, p > 0.05) were found.

Discussion

This is the first study to explore the effect of rTMS, using 5 Hz frequencies on the left DLPFC and 1 Hz on the right DLPFC, on clinical improvement in patients with BPD. Previous studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of these protocols in treating depressive symptoms,^{16,19} besides reducing discomfort and inducing seizure risk.^{11,21,24}

Although imaging studies and the pathophysiology of BPD suggest dysfunction in the frontolimbic network, including the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), the orbitofrontal and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, the hippocampus, and the amygdala,² limitations in access due to the design of TMS coils make stimulation of these structures more difficult. For instance, stimulation of the ACC or amygdala requires different coil designs, such as a double-cone angulated coil, Hesed-coil (H-coil), C-core coil, or circular crown-coil.^{18,24} Furthermore, considering the physical discomfort observed during stimulation of other regions (orbitofrontal cortex and frontal pole) using a figure-eight coil, through a pilot study carried out by our research group in healthy volunteers, we decided to use the same anatomical targets reported in previous studies in both BPD and depression.^{9,11,13,18}

Unlike in previous reports and treatment guidelines for conditions such as depression, where treatment is suggested to last 2 to 6 weeks of treatment,¹⁸ reports on the application of rTMS in BPD have used only 10-session, 2-week protocols.^{9,13} In this context, we decided to extend the number of sessions by 50% (15 sessions in 3 weeks), within parameters that have been demonstrated to elicit responses in the left¹⁹ and right¹⁶ DLPFC.

It is important to mention that, although it can be considered a soft stimulation parameter, the use of 900 pulses per session is greater than that reported in previous studies for conditions such as depression and PTSD, where a clinical effect has been reported even with protocols administering 120-1,200 pulses per session.¹⁸

Our results showed that both stimulation protocols were effective in reducing BPD symptom severity and several symptoms in particular, such as fear of abandonment, impulsivity, emotional instability, and anger. This may have a positive impact on reduction of self-harm and suicidal behavior, as well as improve family and interpersonal relationships through better social functioning.

After application of an inhibitory frequency (1 Hz) over the right DLPFC, we observed scores reductions in every clinimetric scale, particularly in BIS, with a significant decrease in the cognitive impulsiveness subscale. This result is similar to that reported by the Cailhol group,¹³ by stimulating the same cortex, but with an excitatory frequency (10 Hz) on the right DLPFC.

Furthermore, using a lower excitatory frequency (5 Hz) on the left DLPFC, we obtained results similar to those reported by Arbabi et al. in a case report, where the same region was stimulated at 10 Hz.⁹ In both studies, reductions in depressive affective symptoms and impulsiveness level were observed.

The effect of rTMS is influenced by variables such as frequency and number of pulses.³² Even if the number of pulses in each rTMS session (1,500) was the same in both protocols; our study was performed in 15 sessions (22,500 total pulses) instead of the 10 sessions (15,000 total pulses) applied in Arbabi's case,⁹ resulting in a larger amount of total pulses.

It is reasonable to assume that the significant improvement in every BPD psychopathological domain observed in our results is related to this larger amount of total pulses applied, as Arbabi et al.⁹ only found changes in identity, impulsiveness, emotional instability and anger domains.

Evidence supports an association between BPD symptoms (specifically, impulsiveness and affective instability) with a deficit in top-down regulation of emotional processing, due to lower modulation of cortical structures (particularly the DLPFC) over subcortical structures (such as the amygdala).¹⁰ It has also been reported that severity of selfharm in these patients is associated with level of impulsivity, anger, and somatic anxiety.⁴ These data are consistent with findings of DLPFC functional disturbances in patients with BPD^{2,7,33} and microstructural damage to the uncinate fasciculus white matter (WM),³ the largest WM tract interconnecting the amygdala with prefrontal structures.³⁴

Given this background, one could infer that using inhibitory frequencies (≤ 1 Hz) on frontal structures would have a potentiating effect on BPD symptoms by further reducing DLPFC top-down regulation on the amygdala. However, our results after stimulation of the right DLPFC with 1 Hz suggest otherwise. Although we have no references to explain this effect on BPD symptoms, the use of inhibitory frequencies in other entities (i.e., attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder,³⁵ Tourette's syndrome,²³ posttraumatic stress¹⁸), which share impulse control failure and anxiety symptoms with BPD, suggest that this beneficial effect of rTMS may be attributable to improvement in functional deficits in the frontostriatal circuitry that appear to be associated with impulsivity³⁶ and affective instability in BPD.³

Moreover, the effect of excitatory frequencies on the left DLPFC can be interpreted in light of the Valencia Asymmetry Hypothesis,³⁷ which proposes that emotions associated with anxiety are processed predominantly by the right hemisphere, while the left hemisphere processes emotions related to approach behaviors and positive mood states.¹⁰ Thus, 5 Hz rTMS applied over the left DLPFC could help increase top-down regulation of the amygdala, improving aspects such as impulsivity and affective instability.

Interestingly, both forms of stimulation (1 Hz and 5 Hz) produced global improvement in BPD symptom severity, particularly in impulsiveness, affective instability, and anger. In these sense, the role of laterality and frequency of rTMS have been controversial technical aspects: for example, in previous studies of rTMS in BPD, the authors described improvement of the symptoms with the use of high-frequency protocols, independently of rTMS laterality. Fitzgerald²¹ reported absence of a differential effect between right or left rTMS at low frequencies over the DLPFC for depression treatment, while Speer et al. reported that high frequencies (20 Hz) and low frequencies (1 Hz), when applied to the left DLPFC at 110% of RMT, had the same antidepressant effect.³⁸ Similarly, there are reports of clinical response to right or left rTMS in PTSD.20

However, different guidelines recommend the use of protocols with high frequencies over the left DLPFC for treatment of depression^{18,24} and PTSD.²⁰ Speer et al.^{39,40} evaluated the clinical and metabolic effect of protocols with high- and low-frequency rTMS over the left DLPFC through the use of positron emission tomography (PET) to measure changes in absolute regional cerebral blood flow. They reported that only high frequencies (20 Hz) were associated with increased global blood flow in the left prefrontal cortex, left cingulate gyrus, and left amygdala, as well as bilateral insula, basal ganglia, uncus,

hippocampus, parahippocampus, thalamus, and cerebellum; with low frequencies (1 Hz), the authors found decreases in blood flow in the right prefrontal cortex, left medial temporal cortex, left basal ganglia, and left amygdala.³⁹ In a second study,⁴⁰ the same authors showed that improvement with the use of high-frequency rTMS (20 Hz) was associated with hypoperfusion on baseline PET. In this sense, these papers showed differential effects of high vs. low frequencies in metabolic response to rTMS over the left DLPFC, although clinical response was reported with both protocols of rTMS.⁴⁰

Among the limitations of this preliminary report, we must consider that the sample size was small, there was no sham group, and we did not use neurophysiology or neuroimaging techniques which might have revealed anatomical and functional changes associated with the clinical benefits of our rTMS protocols. Despite published studies on BPD and rTMS, we did not consider inclusion of a sham group essential, because ours is an exploratory study about the potential therapeutic effect of rTMS in the treatment of BPD. A report by Cailhol et al.¹³ reported comparative results between five patients who received active treatment with rTMS and five sham subjects, and although they did not find significant differences between the two groups in clinical scales, cognitive improvement was reported in the active group. Therefore, differences in active vs. sham treatment have not been demonstrated yet. It is essential that future studies include sham groups, as partial responses to sham treatment have been found in other conditions, such as depression.

Despite the limitations mentioned above, our results support the use of rTMS as a supplemental treatment for BPD. Considering that BPD is the most common personality disorder in clinical practice, further studies are warranted to explore the potential therapeutic effect of rTMS in this condition.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank the National Council of Science and Technology (CONACYT), Mexico, for granting a doctoral scholarship (CVU/Scholar: 228471/210582).

The authors are grateful to the Ramon de la Fuente Muñiz National Institute of Psychiatry, to Erik Daniel Morelos, and to all participants included in the study for their support. We also thank Hector García Castro for his support in the English translation of the article.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- Ruocco AC, Amirthavasagam S, Choi-Kain LW, McMain SF. Neural correlates of negative emotionality in borderline personality disorder: an activation-likelihood-estimation meta-analysis. Biol Psychiatry. 2013;73:153-60.
- 2 Leichsenring F, Leibing E, Kruse J, New AS, Leweke F. Borderline personality disorder. Lancet. 2011;377:74-84.
- 3 Lischke A, Domin M, Freyberger HJ, Grabe HJ, Mentel R, Bernheim D, et al. Structural alterations in white-matter tracts connecting (para-)

limbic and prefrontal brain regions in borderline personality disorder. Psychol Med. 2015;45:3171-80.

- 4 Mendoza Y, Pellicer F. Percepción del dolor en el síndrome de comportamiento autolesivo. Salud Ment. 2002;25:10-6.
- 5 Ruocco AC, Medaglia JD, Ayaz H, Chute DL. Abnormal prefrontal cortical response during affective processing in borderline personality disorder. Psychiatry Res. 2010;182:117-22.
- 6 De la Fuente J, Goldman S, Stanus E, Vizuete C, Morlán I, Bobes J, et al. Brain glucose metabolism in borderline personality disorder. J Psychiatr Res. 1997;31:531-41.
- 7 Sala M, Caverzasi E, Lazzaretti M, Morandotti N, De Vidovich G, Marraffini E, et al. Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and hippocampus sustain impulsivity and aggressiveness in borderline personality disorder. J Affect Disord. 2011;131:417-21.
- 8 Tebartz van Elst L, Hesslinger B, Thiel T, Geiger E, Haegele K, Lemieux L, et al. Frontolimbic brain abnormalities in patients with borderline personality disorder: a volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study. Biol Psychiatry. 2003;54:163-71.
- 9 Arbabi M, Hafizi S, Ansari S, Oghabian MA, Hasani N. High frequency TMS for the management of borderline personality disorder: a case report. Asian J Psychiatry. 2013;6:614-7.
- 10 Zwanzger P, Steinberg C, Rehbein MA, Bröckelmann AK, Dobel C, Zavorotnyy M, et al. Inhibitory repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex modulates early affective processing. NeuroImage. 2014;101:193-203.
- 11 Fitzgerald PB, Daskalakis ZJ. A practical guide to the use of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of depression. Brain Stimul. 2012;5:287-96.
- 12 Cook IA, Espinoza R, Leuchter AF. Neuromodulation for depression: invasive and noninvasive (deep brain stimulation, transcranial magnetic stimulation, trigeminal nerve stimulation). Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2014;25:103-16.
- 13 Cailhol L, Roussignol B, Klein R, Bousquet B, Simonetta-Moreau M, Schmitt L, et al. Borderline personality disorder and rTMS: a pilot trial. Psychiatry Res. 2014;216:155-7.
- 14 Sampson SM. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in neuropsychiatry. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2000;12:512-3.
- 15 Kobayashi M, Pascual-Leone A. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in neurology. Lancet Neurol. 2003;2:145-56.
- 16 García-Anaya M, González-Olvera J, Ricardo-Garcell J, Armas G, Miranda E, Reyes E, et al. Clinical and electrophysiological effect of right and left repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in patients with major depressive disorder. Salud Ment. 2011;34: 291-9.
- 17 Hallett M. Transcranial magnetic stimulation: a primer. Neuron. 2007;55:187-99.
- 18 Lefaucheur JP, André Obadia N, Antal A, Ayache SS, Baeken C, Benninger DH, et al. Evidence-based guidelines on the therapeutic use of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS). Clin Neurophysiol. 2014;125:2150-206.
- 19 González-Olvera JJ, Ricardo-Garcell J, García-Anaya ML, Miranda-Terrés E, Reyes-Zamorano E, Armas-Castañeda G. Análisis de fuentes del EEG en pacientes tratados con estimulación magnética transcraneal a 5 Hz como tratamiento antidepresivo. Salud Ment. 2013;36:235-40.
- 20 Lepping P, Schönfeldt-Lecuona C, Sambhi RS, Lanka SV, Lane S, Whittington R, et al. A systematic review of the clinical relevance of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2014;130:326-41.
- 21 Fitzgerald PB, Hoy K, Gunewardene R, Slack C, Ibrahim S, Bailey M, et al. A randomized trial of unilateral and bilateral prefrontal cortex transcranial magnetic stimulation in treatment-resistant major depression. Psychol Med. 2011;41:1187-96.
- 22 George MS, Padberg F, Schlaepfer TE, O'Reardon JP, Fitzgerald PB, Nahas ZH, et al. Controversy: repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation or transcranial direct current stimulation shows efficacy in treating psychiatric diseases (depression, mania, schizophrenia, obsessive-complusive disorder, panic, posttraumatic stress disorder). Brain Stimul. 2009;2:14-21.
- 23 Kwon HJ, Lim WS, Lim MH, Lee SJ, Hyun JK, Chae JH, et al. 1-Hz low frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in children with Tourette's syndrome. Neurosci Lett. 2011;492:1-4.
- 24 Lefaucheur JP, André-Obadia N, Poulet E, Devanne H, Haffen E, Londero A, et al. French guidelines on the use of repetitive

104 J Reyes-López et al.

transcranial magnetic stimulation (rtms): safety and therapeutic indications. Neurophysiol Clin. 2011;41:221-95.

- 25 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR) Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2000.
- 26 Zanarini MC, Gunderson JG, Frankenburg FR, Chauncey DL. The revised diagnostic interview for borderlines: discriminating BPD from other Axis II disorders. J Pers Disord. 1989;3:10-8.
- 27 Barrachina J, Soler J, Campins MJ, Tejero A, Pascual JC, Alvarez E, et al. [Validation of a Spanish version of the diagnostic interview for bordelines-revised (DIB-R)]. Actas Esp Psiquiatr. 2004;32:293-8.
- 28 Zanarini MC, Gunderson JG, Frankenburg FR, Chauncey DL. Discriminating borderline personality disorder from other axis II disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 1990;147:161-7.
- 29 Pérez V, Barrachina J, Soler J, Pascual JC, Campins MJ, Puigdemont D, et al. Impresión Clínica Global para Pacientes con Trastorno Límite de la Personalidad (ICG-TLP): una escala sensible al cambio. Actas Esp Psiquiatr. 2007;35:229-35.
- 30 Pfohl B, Blum N, St. John D, McCormick B, Allen J, Black DW. Reliability and validity of the borderline evaluation of severity over time (BEST): a self-rated scale to measure severity and change in persons with borderline personality disorder. J Pers Disord. 2009;23: 281-93.
- 31 Oquendo MA, Baca-Garcia E, Graver R, Morales M, Montalvan V, Mann JJ. Spanish adaptation of the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS-11). Eur J Psychiatry. 2001;15:147-55.
- 32 Rubens MT, Zanto TP. Parameterization of transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Neurophysiol. 2012;107:1257-9.

- 33 Schulze L, Schmahl C, Niedtfeld I. Neural correlates of disturbed emotion processing in borderline personality disorder: a multimodal meta-analysis. Biol Psychiatry. 2016;79:97-106.
- 34 Wakana S, Jiang H, Nagae-Poetscher LM, van Zijl PC, Mori S. Fiber tract-based atlas of human white matter anatomy. Radiology. 2004;230: 77-87.
- 35 Gómez L, Vidal B, Morales L, Báez M, Maragoto C, Galvizu R, et al. Low frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Preliminary results. Brain Stimul. 2014;7:760-2.
- 36 Rubio B, Boes AD, Laganiere S, Rotenberg A, Jeurissen D, Pascual-Leone A. Noninvasive brain stimulation in pediatric attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a review. J Child Neurol. 2016;31: 784-96.
- 37 Davidson RJ, Irwin W. The functional neuroanatomy of emotion and affective style. Trends Cogn Sci. 1999;3:11-21.
- 38 Speer AM, Wassermann EM, Benson BE, Herscovitch P, Post RM. Antidepressant efficacy of high and low frequency rTMS at 110% of motor threshold versus sham stimulation over left prefrontal cortex. Brain Stimul. 2014;7:36-41.
- 39 Speer AM, Benson BE, Kimbrell TK, Wassermann EM, Willis MW, Herscovitch P, et al. Opposite effects of high and low frequency rTMS on mood in depressed patients: relationship to baseline cerebral activity on PET. J Affect Disord. 2009;115:386-94.
- 40 Speer AM, Kimbrell TA, Wassermann EM, D Repella J, Willis MW, Herscovitch P, et al. Opposite effects of high and low frequency rTMS on regional brain activity in depressed patients. Biol Psychiatry. 2000;48:1133-41.

ΛDD

programa de educação continuada

APROVEITE O PROGRAMA DE EDUCAÇÃO CONTINUADA - PEC!

A cada 15 dias, temas inéditos ministrados por psiquiatras nacionais de renome. Aulas online, acesse de qualquer dispositivo em qualquer lugar, 24 horas.

WWW.PEC-ABP.ORG.BR





SPECIAL ARTICLE

Depression and psychodynamic psychotherapy

Ângela Ribeiro, João P. Ribeiro, Orlando von Doellinger

Departamento de Psiquiatria e Saúde Mental, Centro Hospitalar do Tâmega e Sousa, Penafiel, Portugal.

Depression is a complex condition, and its classical biological/psychosocial distinction is fading. Current guidelines are increasingly advocating psychotherapy as a treatment option. Psychodynamic psychotherapy models encompass a heterogeneous group of interventions derived from early psychoanalytic conceptualizations. Growing literature is raising awareness in the scientific community about the importance of these treatment options, as well as their favorable impact on post-treatment outcomes and relapse prevention. Considering the shifting paradigm regarding treatment of depressive disorder, the authors aim to provide a brief overview of the definition and theoretical basis of psychodynamic psychotherapy, as well as evaluate current evidence for its effectiveness.

Keywords: Depressive disorder; mood disorders, unipolar; psychotherapy; psychoanalysis and psychodynamic therapies

Introduction

Depression is considered a frequent and complex condition. According to the World Health Organization, it is expected to be the third leading cause of disability worldwide by 2020.1 The lifetime prevalence of major depressive disorder (MDD) is estimated at around 2-20%. The Global Burden of Disease Study 2010² revealed it as the second most prevalent cause of illness-induced disability, affecting people of all ages and social status, and a major impact factor in social, professional, and interpersonal functioning. Mathers et al.³ predicted MDD as the leading worldwide cause of disease burden in highincome countries by the year 2030. The decrement in health associated with depression is described as significantly greater than that associated with other chronic diseases.⁴ More than 60% of patients with MDD have a clinically significant impairment in their guality of life.⁵

Common features of all depressive disorders include the presence of sad or irritable mood, accompanied by somatic and cognitive changes that significantly affect the individual's capacity to function.⁶ Overall, depression is characterized by a general feeling of sadness, anhedonia, avolition, worthlessness, and hopelessness. Cognitive and neurovegetative symptoms, such as difficulty in concentrating, memory alterations, anorexia, and sleep disturbances, are also present.

Various known risk factors for depression have been recorded in the literature: female gender, older age, poorer coping abilities, physical morbidity, impaired level of functioning, reduced cognition, and bereavement. Depression has been associated with an increased risk of mortality and poorer treatment outcomes in physical disorders.⁷

Although not fully understood, psychological, social and biological processes are thought to overdetermine the etiology of depression; comorbid psychiatric diagnoses (e.g., anxiety and various personality disorders) are common in depressed people.⁸

The classical biological/psychosocial distinction, which separates psychotherapy from pharmacotherapy as treatment options for depression, is fading out. Growing evidence from the neuroscientific literature supports similar (and different) changes in brain functioning with these approaches, concluding that both psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy are biological treatments, and that there is no legitimate ideological justification for the decline of the former.⁹

Understandably, current treatment guidelines^{10,11} for depressive disorders are increasingly advocating psychotherapy as a treatment option, alone or in combination with antidepressant medications.

Considering this shifting paradigm regarding treatment of depressive disorder, the authors aim to evaluate current evidence for the effectiveness of psychodynamic psychotherapy (PDP) in depression. A brief clarification of the definition of PDP and its theoretical basis for understanding depression are also presented.

Methods

A narrative review was performed, including recent and current published papers on PDP and its role as a treatment modality in depressive disorders. Recent empirical studies were also included in order to integrate authors' critical perspectives, supported by classical and contemporary literature.

Results

Defining psychodynamic psychotherapy

PDP models are derived from early psychoanalytic conceptualizations, including ego psychology, object-relations

Correspondence: João Pedro Ribeiro, Departamento de Psiquiatria e Saúde Mental, Centro Hospitalar do Tâmega e Sousa, Av. do Hospital Padre Américo, 210, 4564-007, Penafiel, Portugal. E-mail: joaoribeiro@live.com

Submitted Sep 12 2016, accepted Jan 30 2017, Epub Jun 12 2017.

theory, self-psychology, and attachment theory. Treatment goals or focus and setting changes have been reconsidered by contemporary authors. Gabbard¹² described PDP's basic principles as: much of mental life is unconscious; childhood experiences, in concert with genetic factors, shape the adult; the patient's transference to the therapist is a primary source of understanding; the therapist's countertransference provides valuable understanding about what the patient induces in others; the patient's resistance to the therapeutic process is a major focus of therapy; symptoms and behaviors serve multiple functions, and are determined by complex and often unconscious forces; finally, the psychodynamic therapist assists the patient in achieving a sense of authenticity and uniqueness.

PDP operates on an interpretive-supportive continuum. Interpretive interventions enhance the patient's insight about repetitive conflicts sustaining his or her problems. The prototypic insight-enhancing intervention is an interpretation by which unconscious wishes, impulses, or defense mechanisms are made conscious. Supportive interventions aim to strengthen abilities ("ego functions") that are temporarily not accessible to a patient due to acute stress or that have not been sufficiently developed. Thus, supportive interventions maintain or build ego functions. Supportive interventions include, for example, fostering a therapeutic alliance, setting goals, or strengthening ego functions such as reality testing or impulse control. The use of more supportive or more interpretive (insightenhancing) interventions depends on the patient's needs.¹³

Common factors of psychotherapy and specific features of the psychodynamic approach

Common factors are currently understood as a set of common elements that collectively shape a theoretical model about the mechanisms of change during psychotherapy. A recent meta-analysis¹⁴ has shed light on strong evidence regarding factors such as therapeutic alliance, empathy, expectations, cultural adaptation, and therapist differences in terms of their importance for psychotherapeutic treatments in theory, research, and practice.

Overall, the influence of common factors in psychotherapies has been estimated at 30% when consider ing the variation in depression outcomes. Nonetheless, other factors, including specific techniques, expectancy, the placebo effect, and extratherapeutic effects, have also been studied.¹⁵

Zuroff & Blatt¹⁶ have concluded that the nature of the psychotherapeutic relationship, reflecting interconnected aspects of mind and brain operating together in an interpersonal context, predicts outcome more robustly than any specific treatment approach *per se*.

Regarding common factors in PDP, Luyten et al.¹⁵ mentioned the important differences between psychodynamic and other treatments. Comparatively to cognitivebehavioral therapists, psychodynamic therapists tend to place stronger emphasis on certain aspects, namely: affect and emotional expression; exploration of patients' tendency to avoid topics; identification of recurring behavioral patterns, feelings, experiences, and relationships; the past and its influence on the present; interpersonal experiences; the therapeutic relationship; and exploration of wishes, dreams, and fantasies. Along with these features, specific characteristics of a psychodynamic-oriented treatment have been described: a focus on the patient's internal world; a developmental perspective; and a person-centered approach.

Depression from the psychodynamic perspective

Psychodynamic understandings of depressive disorders were first described by Freud, Abraham, and Klein. Freud explored the individual's reactions to an actual loss or disappointment associated to a loved person, or to a loss of an ideal. Plainly, he tried to explain why some people react with a mourning affect (surpassed after a period of time) and others succumb into melancholy (depression, as we now call it). Mourning is the reaction to the loss of a loved one or the loss of an abstraction, which has taken the place of something (a country, freedom, or an ideal, for example), and although it involves significant disruptions from one's normal attitude towards life, it should not be regarded as pathological. Thus, mourning occurs following loss of an external object. Melancholy, on the other hand, arises from the loss of the object's love and is an unconscious process where a remarkable decrease in self-esteem is observed. Culpability is also a feature clearly present in melancholic processes, as the loss of the object comes with feelings of guilt, stressing the ambivalent feelings towards the lost object; not only because the individual knows that he or she attacked (in fantasy or in reality) the lost object, but mostly because he or she desired that very loss (due to the object's unsatisfactory presence and love). Freud clearly outlined the symptoms of melancholy: "... a profoundly painful dejection, cessation of interest in the outside world, loss of capacity to love, inhibition of all activity, and lowering of the self-regarding feelings to a degree that finds utterance in self-reproaches and self-revilings and culminates in delusional expectations of punishment."¹⁷ These features seem to resemble the current DSM definition of depression.

Abraham proposed a specific model for the melancholic process,¹⁸ consisting of a series of explanatory events: after an initial frustration (loss of an object), the subject reacts with externalization of the introjected object and its destruction, thus to an early anal-sadistic stage. Identification with the object - (primary) narcissism - results in its introjection, thus explaining the sadistic vengeance against the object as part of the subject's ego; one's self-destruction often manifested as suicidal thoughts. Ambivalence plays a key role, as the subject struggles with his own survival and destruction.

Klein later elucidated the importance of the establishment of an internal world in which the lost external object is "reinstated." Thus, in melancholy, there is a regression to an earlier failure to integrate good and bad partial objects into whole objects in the inner world. The depressive individual believes himself omnipotently responsible for the loss, due to his inherent destructiveness, which has not been integrated with loving feelings. Klein argues that pining, mourning, guilt, reparation, possibly delusional thinking, omnipotence, denial, and idealization characterize depression.¹⁹

More recently, Luyten & Blatt¹⁵ commented on these works as "still clinically relevant" but "often over specified, lacking theoretical precision, and too broad to be empirically tested." However, these authors stated that unconscious motives and processes still play an important role in recent psychodynamic theories of depression.

Evidence for psychotherapy as a treatment for depressive disorders

A meta-analysis of direct comparisons found psychotherapy about as effective as pharmacotherapies for depressive disorders.²⁰ In another meta-analysis, Cuijpers et al.²¹ included 92 different randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and demonstrated the efficacy of psychotherapy in comparison with pharmacotherapy - equal in the shortterm and superior in the long-term, regarding relapse prevention. Different forms of psychotherapy have been compared, with no clear differences observed or, when so, with certain methodological specificities pointed out.²² Nevertheless, the effectiveness of many well-recognized interventions has been regarded as possibly overestimated, considering that most evidence is based on symptom reduction.²³ Å comprehensive meta-analysis²⁴ has highlighted the effectiveness of Interpersonal Psychotherapy (which has its structure and theoretical roots in PDP) in depression, as compared to other psychotherapies and vs. combined treatment, as well its role in preventing onset or relapse after successful treatment.

Extensive literature supports the efficacy of psychotherapy as an established treatment for MDD, stating its effectiveness and comparableness to that of antidepressant medications. The significance of these findings and possibility of publication bias have also been object of attention from the scientific community. A recent analysis stated an excess of significant findings relative to what would be expected for studies of psychotherapy's effectiveness for MDD.²⁵

On this subject, Driessen et al.²⁶ found clear indications of study publication bias among U.S. National Institute of Health-funded clinical trials that examined the efficacy of psychological treatment for MDD, ascertained through direct empirical assessment. Through these data, the authors concluded that psychological treatment, like pharmacologic treatment, may not be as efficacious as the published literature would indicate.

Cuijpers et al.²⁷ published a meta-analysis on the effects of psychotherapies on remission, recovery, and improvement of MDD in adults. The response rate for the analyzed psychotherapies was 48% (vs. 19% in control conditions), and there was no significant difference between types of psychotherapy.

Evidence for psychodynamic psychotherapy as a treatment for depressive disorders

Shedler²⁸ presented five independent meta-analyses showing that the benefits of PDP not only endure, but also increase with time (including after treatment end). Patients reported significant symptom reductions, which held up over time, and increased mental capacities, which allowed them to continue maturing over the years. Additionally, Shedler presented several studies demonstrating that it is the psychodynamic process that predicts successful outcome in cognitive therapy, rather than the pure cognitive aspects of treatment – i.e., non-psychodynamic psychotherapies may be effective because the more skilled practitioners utilize techniques that have long been central to psychodynamic theory and practice.

Leichsenring et al.²² conducted an empiric review of supported methods of PDP in depression and suggesting a unified protocol for the psychodynamic treatment of depressive disorders. The authors found a twofold risk for poor outcome in depression when patients were diagnosed with a comorbid personality disorder. However, several studies were found to have methodological limitations, such as taking a personality disorder diagnosis in account as a primary object of treatment, sample size differences, and divergent results, largely depending on the personality cluster identified. The findings of these authors contradict repeated claims that PDP is not empirically supported.

A subsequent systematic review by Leichsenring²⁹ identified and included a total of 47 RCTs providing evidence for PDP in specific mental disorders; it stated the efficacy of PDP compared to cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) (but not to other forms of psychotherapy) in MDD, and concluded that several RCTs provide evidence for the efficacy of PDP in depressive disorders (including comparisons with control groups, waiting-list condition at the end of treatment, group therapy, pharmacotherapy, and brief supportive therapy).

Varying results have also been observed according to treatment duration – specifically, short-term (STPDP) vs. long-term psychodynamic psychotherapy (LTPDP) as applied in patients with depressive disorders. One recent meta-analysis³⁰ evaluated the efficacy of a specific STPDP (experiential dynamic therapy) within multiple psychiatric disorders, and found the largest effect on depressive symptoms. A meta-analysis from the Cochrane Collaboration³¹ studied the effects of STPDP for common mental disorders across several studies, including 23 RCTs. It showed significantly greater improvement in the treatment groups as compared to controls, with most improvement maintained on medium- and long-term follow up.

Another meta-analysis by Leichsenring et al.³² examined the comparative efficacy of LTPDP in complex mental disorders in RCTs fulfilling specific inclusion criteria (therapy lasting for at least a year or 50 sessions; active comparison conditions; prospective design; reliable and valid outcome measures; treatments terminated). It concluded that LTPDP is superior to less intensive forms of psychotherapy in complex mental disorders.

More recently, Driessen et al.³³ published a meta-analysis of 54 studies highlighting STPDP outcomes in symptom reduction and function improvement during treatment. They found either maintained or further improved gains at follow-up, and stated that the efficacy of STPDP compared to control conditions and outcomes on depression did not differ from that of other psychotherapies. A recent review³⁴ provided evidence towards maintained effects with both modalities as a treatment option for depression, emphasizing their moderate (rather than large) effects. PDP is noted as a preferred alternative to pharmacotherapy in depressive disorders; nevertheless, the authors highlight the high frequency of studies involving psychotherapy in combination with medication – or adding to the effectiveness of medication. In comparison with CBT, PDP is described as neither largely nor reliably different. No single type of PDP was found particularly efficacious within its different forms. Regarding LTPDP, its cost-effectiveness and early stage are mentioned when describing its value, especially in more complex and chronic cases of depression.

Discussion

An extensive, growing body of literature confirms that the classical divergence in treatment approaches for depressive disorders is fading. Psychotherapy has been found as efficacious as pharmacotherapy, with different results regarding its superiority in short-term and long-term relapse prevention.^{20,23} Moreover, a systematic review has elucidated the potential benefits of a change in intervention design in depression, switching the paradigm from a symptom-oriented one to more rehabilitation- and functioning-oriented therapies.²³ These results are in agreement with Westen et al.³⁵ who presented evidence that treatments focusing on isolated symptoms or behaviors (rather than personality, emotional, and interpersonal patterns) are not effective in sustaining even narrowly defined changes.

The large number of publications in this topic has drawn the attention of the scientific community, prompting systematic analyses with increasing complexity and the creation of specific protocols for psychotherapeutic intervention, bearing in mind the importance of structured interventions by qualified clinical staff.

Although it would stray from the primary scope of this review, it is worth highlighting the growing number and relevance of published neuroscientific literature that reports neuroimaging and neurochemical changes exerted by psychotherapeutic interventions,⁹ specifically PDP.³⁶

The effectiveness of PDP has been found difficult to isolate due to its limitations as a measurable intervention, which has led to the proposition of unified protocols both to facilitate training and to improve the status of evidence.²² The quality of PDP trials published from 1974 to 2010 was assessed in a review paper³⁷ which concluded that the existing RCTs of PDP mostly show superiority of PDP to an inactive comparator. Studies concerning longer-term treatments are scarce but highly relevant, as they focus on important individual aspects like chronic mood problems, which often result from a combination of depression, anxiety, and significant personality and relational problems.¹⁵

While these aspects are simple to clarify, few studies have taken them into account. Further RCTs could provide new evidence on the effectiveness of PDP, as well as facilitate its clear integration among the range of standard treatment options to consider for depressive disorders. One important related aspect refers to the training of future therapists in PDPs: institutes are mostly small and independent, and lack the necessary resources to conduct expensive or large-scale studies.

This narrative review presents certain limitations. Only recent published studies or systematic reviews were included. Due to practical reasons, only English-language publications were included, which may have left out important published findings. Publication bias may also be a factor, perhaps resulting in studies or systematic reviews that only showed positive or equal results for PDP treatments. However, we emphasize the importance of gathering and comparing recent findings and systematic reviews with classical published works in the field of PDP.

In conclusion, despite its controversial history, PDP's influence in the psychiatric panorama is definitely increasing. The effectiveness of PDP has been demonstrated in various studies which have compared it with other treatment modalities. In recent years, the body of empirical evidence supporting said effectiveness has grown, and, more recently, meta-analyses have confirmed the role of PDP in the treatment of depressive disorders.

Many advances have been made in to enable highquality scientific research in this complex, layered field. Nonetheless, contemporary authors continue to claim the importance of early conceptualizations of the psychodynamic perspective toward depression and depressive disorders.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

- 1 World Health Organization (WHO). The global burden of disease: 2004 update [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2017 Feb 21]. who.int/healthinfo/ global_burden_disease/GBD_report_2004update_full.pdf.
- 2 Ferrari AJ, Charlson FJ, Norman RE, Patten SB, Freedman G, Murray CJ, et al. Burden of depressive disorders by country, sex, age, and year: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010. PLoS Med. 2013;10:e1001547.
- 3 Mathers CD, Loncar D. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. PloS Med. 2006;3:e442.
- 4 Moussavi S, Chatterji S, Verdes E, Tandon A, Patel V, Ustun B. Depression, chronic diseases, and decrements in health: results from the world health surveys. Lancet. 2007;370:851-8.
- 5 Zilcha-Mano S, Dinger U, McCarthy KS, Barrett MS, Barber JP. Changes in well-being and quality of life in a randomized trial comparing dynamic psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy for major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. 2014;152-154:538-42.
- 6 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5). Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 7 Sivertsen H, Bjørkløf GH, Engedal K, Selbæk G, Helvik AS. Depression and quality of life in older persons: a review. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2015;40:311-39.
- 8 Lemma A, Target M, Fonagy P. The development of a brief psychodynamic protocol for depression: dynamic interpersonal therapy (DIT). Psychoanal Psychother. 2010;24:329-46.
- 9 Prosser A, Bartosz H, Leucht S. Biological v. psychosocial treatments: a myth about pharmacotherapy v. psychotherapy. Br J Psychiatry. 2016; 208:309-11.
- 10 American Psychiatric Association. Practice guideline for the treatment of major depressive disorder.3rd ed.Washington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2010.

- 11 National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (UK), National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Depression: the treatment and management of depression in adults (updated edition). Leicester: British Psychological Society; 2010.
- 12 Gabbard GO. Long-term psychodynamic psychotherapy: a basic text. 2nd ed.Washington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2010.
- 13 Leichsenring F, Leweke F, Klein S, Steinert C. The empirical status of psychodynamic psychotherapy – an update: Bambi's alive and kicking. Psychother Psychosom. 2015;84:129-48.
- 14 Wampold BE. How important are the common factors in psychotherapy? An update. World Psychiatry. 2015;14:270-7.
- 15 Luyten P, Blatt SJ. Psychodynamic treatment of depression. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 2012;35:111-29.
- 16 Zuroff DC, Blatt SJ. The therapeutic relationship in the brief treatment of depression: contributions to clinical improvement and enhanced adaptive capacities. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2006;74:130-40.
- 17 Freud S. Mourning and melancholia. In: Dickson A, editor. On metapsychology: the theory of psychoanalysis.London: Penguin Books; 1991. p. 59-98.
- 18 Abraham K. (1924). A short study of the development of the libido, viewed in the light of mental disorders. In: Abraham K. Selected papers on psychoanalysis. New York: Basic Books; 1954. p. 418-501.
- 19 Klein M. Mourning and its relation to manic-depressive state's. In: Klein M. Love guilt and reparation London: Vintage; 1998. p. 344-70.
- 20 Cuijpers P, Sijbrandij M, Koole SL, Andersson G, Beekman AT, Reynolds CF 3rd. The efficacy of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy in treating depressive and anxiety disorders: a meta-analysis of direct comparisons. World Psychiatry. 2013;12:137-48.
- 21 Cuijpers P, Sijbrandij M, Koole SL, Andersson G, Beekman AT, Reynolds CF 3rd. Adding psychotherapy to antidepressant medication in depression and anxiety disorders: a meta-analysis. World Psychiatry. 2014;13:56-67.
- 22 Leichsenring F, Schauenburg H. Empirically supported methods of short-term psychodynamic therapy in depression – towards an evidence-based unified protocol. J Affect Disord. 2014;169: 128-43.
- 23 Kamenov K, Cabello M, Coenen M, Ayuso-Mateos JL. How much do we know about the functional effectiveness of interventions for depression? A systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2015;188:89-96.
- 24 Cuijpers P, Donker T, Weissman MM, Ravitz P, Cristea IA. Interpersonal psychotherapy for mental health problems: a comprehensive meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry. 2016;173:680-7.

- Depression and psychodynamic psychotherapy 109
- 25 Flint J, Cuijpers P, Horder J, Koole SL, Munafò MR. Is there an excess of significant findings in published studies of psychotherapy for depression? Psychol Med. 2015;45:439-46.
- 26 Driessen E, Hollon SD, Bockting CL, Cuijpers P, Turner EH. Does publication bias inflate the apparent efficacy of psychological treatment for major depressive disorder? a systematic review and metaanalysis of US national institutes of health-funded trials. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0137864.
- 27 Cuijpers P, Karyotaki E, Weitz E, Andersson G, Hollon SD, van Straten A. The effects of psychotherapies for major depression in adults on remission, recovery and improvement: a meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2014;159:118-26.
- 28 Shedler J. The efficacy of psychodynamic psychotherapy. Am Psychol. 2010;65:98-109.
- 29 Leichsenring F, Klein S. Evidence for psychodynamic psychotherapy in specific mental disorders: a systematic review. Psychoanal Psychother. 2014;28:4-32.
- 30 Lilliengren P, Johansson R, Lindqvist K, Mechler J, Andersson G. Efficacy of experiential dynamic therapy for psychiatric conditions: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Psychotherapy (Chic). 2016;53:90-104.
- 31 Abbass AA, Hancock JT, Henderson J, Kisely S. Short-term psychodynamic psychotherapies for common mental disorders. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;4:CD004687.
- 32 Leichsenring F, Rabung S. Long-term psychodynamic psychotherapy in complex mental disorders: update of a meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry. 2011;199:15-22.
- 33 Driessen E, Hegelmaier LM, Abbass AA, Barber JP, Dekker JJ, Van HL, et al. The efficacy of short-term psychodynamic psychotherapy for depression: a meta-analysis update. Clin Psychol Rev. 2015;42:1-15.
- 34 Fonagy P. The effectiveness of psychodynamic psychotherapies: an update. World Psychiatry. 2015;14:137-50.
- 35 Westen D, Novotny CM, Thompson-Brenner H. The empirical status of empirically supported psychotherapies: assumptions, findings, and reporting in controlled clinical trials. Psychol Bull. 2004;130:631-63.
- 36 Wiswede D, Taubner S, Buchheim A, Münte TF, Stasch M, Cierpka M, et al. Tracking functional brain changes in patients with depression under psychodynamic psychotherapy using individualized stimuli. PLoS One. 2014;9:e109037.
- 37 Gerber AJ, Kocsis JH, Milrod BL, Roose SP, Barber JP, Thase ME, et al. A quality-based review of randomized controlled trials of psychodynamic psychotherapy. Am J Psychiatry. 2011;168:19-28.



LETTERS TO THE EDITORS

Maintenance use of ketamine for treatmentresistant depression: an open-label pilot study

Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40:110 Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2017-2380

Singh et al.¹ reported that two or three weekly 40 min i.v. infusions of ketamine (0.5 mg/kg) are safe and effective for maintaining an acute response to ketamine during one month of treatment for resistant depression (TRD).

We present herein the results of an open label pilot study of 8 TRD patients who received 40 min infusions of ketamine (0.5 mg/kg) for 7 weeks after a positive acute response to three ketamine infusions. We employed a maintenance protocol at a lower frequency as follows: three initial infusions every other day for a week, an infusion 7 days after the last initial infusion and infusions every two weeks thereafter. This lower frequency was based on the 18-day median time to loss of response reported by Murrough et al.²

In this study, those who did not respond adequately to appropriate courses of at least two antidepressants were considered TRD patients. The subjects were two men and six women, aged 25-53 years, diagnosed with major depressive disorder. They had no unstable clinical diseases and they were not acutely psychotic. Three patients had a comorbid diagnosis of generalized anxiety disorder, one of whom also had a diagnosis of fibromyalgia. Two of the individuals had been hospitalized once after attempting suicide. The mean duration of illness in this sample was 16 years. At the time of the study, four of the patients were in polytherapy, three were in monotherapy and one had chosen to discontinue antidepressants because he considered them ineffective.

They signed an informed consent form and completed a Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) three times: pretreatment (mean BDI scores = 33.75), 3 days after the initial infusions (mean BDI scores = 10.25) and on day 60 (mean BDI sores = 10.75). All eight patients sustained the response until day 60.

During the infusions all of the patients had some degree of dissociative symptoms, ranging from a feeling of lightheadedness to feelings of being outside the body or in another dimension. These symptoms began after 15 to 20 min of infusion and quickly reduced in intensity after the end of the infusions. All the patients could be discharged with no complications 30 min after the end of the infusions. Like Singh et al.,¹ we also observed that the dissociative symptoms decreased with repeated doses. Two patients complained of nausea, which was successfully treated with intravenous ondansetron. Despite this, seven of the patients described the infusion experience

as pleasant and only one as unpleasant. No delusions or hallucinations were reported during the study. There were no clinical emergencies.

Thus, the use of multiple infusions of ketamine to maintain its acute effects might be an effective and well-tolerated treatment approach for TRD patients. An infusion every two weeks appears to suffice. This may represent a simple, quick way to bring longer term benefits for TRD patients with an acute ketamine response. Hence, this may be an alternative as we await eventual FDA approval of intranasal esketamine or new drugs targeting the glutamatergic system.³ However, controlled studies with larger samples are required to replicate our findings.

Ivan Barenboim, Beny Lafer Universidade de São Paulo (USP), São Paulo, SP, Brazil.

Submitted Jun 27 2017, accepted Jul 29 2017.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1 Singh JB, Fedgchin M, Daly EJ, De Boer P, Cooper K, Lim P, et al. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-frequency study of intravenous ketamine in patients with treatment-resistant depression. Am J Psychiatry. 2016;173:816-26.
- 2 Murrough JW, Perez AM, Pillemer S, Stern J, Parides MK, aan het Rot M, et al. Rapid and longer-term antidepressant effects of repeated ketamine infusions in treatment-resistant major depression. Biol Psychiatry. 2013;74:250-6.
- 3 Sanacora G, Zarate CA, Krystal JH, Manji HK. Targeting the glutamatergic system to develop novel, improved therapeutics for mood disorders. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2008;7:426-37.

Skin picking disorder comorbid with ADHD successfully treated with methylphenidate

Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40:110–111 Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2017-2395

Skin picking disorder (SPD) is characterized by repetitive picking and scratching of the skin, leading to tissue damage and substantial distress.¹ The few pharmacological studies on SPD treatment have yielded conflicting results² and more pharmacological evidence is needed to guide clinicians.

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is characterized by symptoms that express varying levels of inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity. Case reports of ADHD treatment with psychostimulants suggest they can also act on comorbid disorders with impulsive features (kleptomania, pathological gambling and bulimia nervosa).³ Erdogan et al.⁴ reported that SPD patients had a high prevalence of comorbid ADHD, but this has not been investigated in other studies. The only case report of ADHD comorbid with SPD, by Lane et al.,¹ described

Table T Scores for depression, anxiety, impuisivity, inattention and hyperactivity questionnaires during treatment							
	No medication	MPH SODAS 20mg	MPH SODAS 30mg				
BDI	8	2	0				
ASRS D	8	1	1				
ASRS HI	3	0	0				
BIS AT	22	22	21				
BIS PLAN	36	35	29				
BIS MOT	24	24	22				
BIS TOT	84	81	72				
STAI T	55	55	55				
STAI S	62	62	60				

The last of the second second second states in the second s

ASRS D = Adult Self Report Scale – Inattention Symptoms; ASRS HI = Adult Self Report Scale – Hyperactivity and Impulsivity Symptoms; BDI = Beck Depression Inventory; BIS AT = Barratt Impulsiveness Scale – Attentional Subscale; BIS MOT = Barratt Impulsiveness Scale Motor Subscale; BIS PLAN = Barratt Impulsiveness Scale – Planning Subscale; BIS TOT = Barratt Impulsiveness Scale – Total Score; STAI S = State-Trait Anxiety Inventory – State Score; STAI T = State-Trait Anxiety Inventory – Trait Score.

a 9-year-old boy with a full-scale IQ of 77 who only experienced improvement when a behavioral intervention was associated with ongoing psychostimulant treatment. There are no case reports describing methylphenidate treatment in ADHD adults comorbid with SPD. Likewise, there are no reports in the literature of worsening SPD symptoms due to psychostimulant treatment in patients without ADHD.

We present the case of a 26-year-old college student who sought care because she could not control her scratching behavior. The patient reported starting the excoriation because she felt recurring insect bites on her skin. However, she described the itching as rapidly fading and that she continues excoriating without it. She only became aware of her behavior as she felt pain or bled. Most lesions were located on her thighs and legs. She was ashamed of her injuries and hid them by avoiding short clothes. Her dermatologist had already tried unsuccessfully to treat her SPD with fluoxetine and sertraline. Although she did not spontaneously self-report inattention and impulsivity symptoms, her family and friends frequently complained about them. The patient met DSM-5 criteria for both SPD and ADHD, and her husband and mother confirmed symptoms at clinically significant levels. We decided to treat ADHD first because of family and educational impairments and, after 1 month on 20 mg/day methylphenidate SODAS, she reported being able to focus on what she was feeling and that this aided her in inhibiting the impulse to scratch herself. She also stopped mentioning the itching sensation in her skin. After increasing MPH to 30 mg/day, she experienced further symptomatic improvement, and said that "did not even remember the injuries."

Table 1 presents self-report questionnaires measuring depression, anxiety, impulsivity traits and ADHD symptoms at baseline and when using 20 and 30 mg of MPH. These scores show that changes in inattention were most consistent with SPD decrease. During follow up assessments, the patient reported that her mood improved as her academic performance and social relations became less impacted by her ADHD. Although her Beck Depression Inventory scores decreased during treatment, her initial scores were already below the cutoff for clinical depression. The patient suspended medication by herself twice after the third month and resumed excoriating her skin, which again remitted with therapy.

Given the low efficiency of available pharmacologic agents for treating SPD (N-acetylcysteine, SSRIs), MPH might be an option for a subset of SPD patients. Since SPD can be defined as a repetitive behavior disorder due to impulsivity and inhibitory control deficits, and considering that the patient in this case report noticed that her scratching behavior was associated with mind wandering (inattention), we can suggest some hypothesis why the ADHD treatment helped improve SPD symptoms. Methylphenidate acts by inhibiting dopamine and noradrenaline reuptake, mainly in the striatum body, prefrontal cortex and *nucleus accumbens*. Thus, it can be posited that its action on prefrontal cortex could have helped reduce impulsivity, whereas its action on striatum body could have increased the attentional state. Thus, we suggest that increased attention span and decreased impulsivity could be mechanisms that, when achieved jointly, could decrease SPD symptoms. Further studies are needed to address whether methylphenidate benefits SPD individuals who do not have ADHD by improving cognitive functions (e.g. inattention or inhibitory control).

Camila Bernardes,^{1,2} Paulo Mattos,^{1,2} Bruno Palazzo Nazar² ¹Instituto D'Or de Pesquisa e Ensino, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil. ²Instituto de Psiquiatria (IPUB), Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro (UFRJ), Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil.

Submitted Jul 08 2017, accepted Oct 05 2017.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

- 1 Lane KL, Thompson A, Reske CL, Gable LM, Barton-Arwood S. Reducing skin picking via competing activities. J Appl Behav Anal. 2006;39:459-62.
- 2 Grant JE, Odlaug BL, Chamberlain SR, Keuthen NJ, Lochner C, Stein DJ. Skin picking disorder. Am J Psychiatry. 2012;169: 1143-9.
- 3 Lochner C, Grant JE, Odlaug BL, Stein DJ. DSM-5 field survey: skin picking disorder. Ann Clin Psychiatry. 2012;24:300-4.
- 4 Erdogan HK, Fidan ST, Bulur I, Karapınar T, Saracoglu ZN. Evaluation of cutaneous findings in children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a preliminary study. Pediatr Dermatol. 2017;34:e93-e94.

Is the regulation of Z-drugs in Brazil in line with scientific research and international standards?

Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40:112 Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2017-2372

Z-drugs (i.e., zopiclone, zaleplon and zolpidem) first appeared on the market as a substitute for benzodiazepines (BZDs), purportedly having a lower risk of addiction due to improved pharmacokinetics. However, recent research has shown they may be similar to BZDs in terms of cognitive, behavioral and psychomotor performance¹; risk of dependence²; and mortality.³ Nevertheless, this scientific knowledge has not seemed to influence the rate of Zolpidem consumption, especially in developing countries,⁴ where regulatory measures may be more vulnerable to the influence of the pharmaceutical industry. In light of this research, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) released two Drug Safety Communications (DSCs) in 2013 regarding products containing Zolpidem, describing the risk of next-day impairment and recommending lower starting doses, particularly for women.5

Following this FDA action, a number of studies reported reductions in the prescribed dose,⁶ reducing the risks of adverse effects. However, other research has shown that more than 70% of general practitioners do not recognize or even evaluate the side effects of these hypnotics, ' and that the beliefs of clinicians and patients about the drugs' safety do not seem to keep pace with advances in research. producing a gap between scientific evidence and clinical practice. Education, backed by legislation, about the effects of the chronic use of these medications is extremely important to ensure appropriate prescription and reduce misuse. In Brazil, the regulations for prescribing Z-drugs are weak: The risk of dependence is explicitly stated on the leaflet accompanying Zolpidem although it is not classified under the same regulations as BZDs. A standard prescription is used rather than the specific blue one required for BZDs, and their packaging presents neither the customary black stripe found on the most strictly controlled medications nor the words "the abuse of this medicine can cause dependence," as can be found on BZDs. The packaging features only a red stripe, typical of medications such as antiepileptics or antidepressants, which may lead consumers to believe the medicine has a different status than BZDs and carries little or no dependence risk or other negative effects.

This lack of control and medical guidance could potentially contribute to dependence problems or other consequences. Although there is still a lack of evidence about the effect size for outcomes such as dementia, infections or cancer, as well as the heterogeneity of risk among different Z-drugs, there is mounting evidence that Z-drugs are similar to BZDs, at least with respect to motor vehicle accidents, falls and fractures.⁸ Therefore, it is urgently necessary to disseminate information about the similarities between BZDs and Z-drugs, since they have been shown to cause similar adverse effects and dose escalation¹ due to tolerance, and thereby challenge the belief among professionals and patients that Z-drugs present less risk.⁷ In addition, further research into the influence of regulation on the consumption of hypnotics is required. Policy makers must be made more aware of Z-drugs' potential for dependence and be encouraged to adopt measures such as those of the FDA, bringing regulations in line with those of BZDs in order to increase patient and physician knowledge about this issue and reduce potential harm.

Víviam Vargas de Barros, Emérita S. Opaleye, Ana R. Noto Núcleo de Pesquisa em Saúde e Uso de Substâncias (NEPSIS), Departamento de Psicobiologia, Universidade Federal de São Paulo (UNIFESP), São Paulo, SP, Brazil.

Submitted Jun 15 2017, accepted Nov 06 2017.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (grant 407116/ 2013-3) and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (process 2013/20367-6) for financial support, and the Associação Fundo de Incentivo à Pesquisa (AFIP) for support with resources.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

- 1 Gunja N. In the Zzz zone: the effects of Z-drugs on human performance and driving. J Med Toxicol. 2013;9:163-71.
- 2 Yen CF, Yen CN, Ko CH, Hwang TJ, Chen CS, Chen TT, et al. Correlates of dependence and beliefs about the use of hypnotics among zolpidem and zopiclone users. Subst Use Misuse. 2015;50: 350-7.
- 3 Weich S, Pearce HL, Croft P, Singh S, Crome I, Bashford J, et al. Effect of anxiolytic and hypnotic drug prescriptions on mortality hazards: retrospective cohort study. BMJ. 2014 Mar 19;348:g1996. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g1996.
- 4 Alessi-Severini S, Bolton JM, Enns MW, Dahl M, Collins DM, Chateau D, et al. Use of benzodiazepines and related drugs in Manitoba: a population-based study. CMAJ Open. 2014;2:E208-16.
- 5 US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA approves new label changes and dosing for zolpidem products and a recommendation to avoid driving the day after using Ambien CR. 2013 Oct 1 [cited 2017 Nov 21]. www.fda.gov/ drugs/drugsafety/ucm352085.htm.
- 6 Norman JL, Fixen DR, Saseen JJ, Saba LM, Linnebur SA. Zolpidem prescribing practices before and after Food and Drug Administration required product labeling changes. SAGE Open Med. 2017 May 5;5:2050312117707687. doi: 10.1177/2050312117707687. eCollection 2017.
- 7 Hoffmann F. Benefits and risks of benzodiazepines and Z-drugs: comparison of perceptions of GPs and community pharmacists in Germany. Ger Med Sci. 2013 Jul 18;11. doi: 10.3205/000178. Print 2013.
- 8 Brandt J, Leong C. Benzodiazepines and Z-drugs: an updated review of major adverse outcomes reported on in epidemiologic research. Drugs R D. 2017;17:493-507.

Zika virus infection and psychosis

Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2018;40:113 Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2017-2561

We read the publication on "Zika virus infection followed by a first episode of psychosis" with great interest.¹ Corrêa-Oliveira et al. noted that "to the best of our knowledge, this is the first report in which psychiatric symptoms were the only complication of acute ZIKV infection"¹ and concluded that "Neuroimmune mechanisms leading to psychosis during acute CNS stress is an open and prolific field for research."¹ In fact, a wide clinical spectrum of Zika virus infection has been reported, and psychological problems are possible.^{2,3} Neuropsychiatric problems as the only clinical presentation in acute Zika virus disease is not a new finding. At least, psychotic features in acute Zika virus infection have already been observed in cases in which meningoencephalitis was later proved.⁴ In the Zika virus infection with meningoencephalitis, spatial delusions with visual and kinesthetic hallucinations are observable.5

Beuy Joob,¹ Viroj Wiwanitkit² ¹Medical Academic Center, Bangkok, Thailand. ²Joseph Ayo Babalola University, Ilara-Mokin, Nigeria.

Submitted Nov 25 2017, accepted Nov 28 2017.

Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

- 1 Corrêa-Oliveira GE, do Amaral JL, da Fonseca BA, Del-Ben CM. Zika virus infection followed by a first episode of psychosis: another flavivirus leading to pure psychiatric symptomatology. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 2017;39:381-2.
- 2 Joob B, Yasser F. Phenotypic spectrum of congenital Zika syndrome: a comment on the usefulness of case report. Case Study Case Rep. 2017;7:29-30.
- 3 Pinheiro TJ, Guimarães LF, Silva MT, Soares CN. Neurological manifestations of Chikungunya and Zika infections. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2016;74:937-43.
- 4 Schwartzmann PV, Ramalho LN, Neder L, Vilar FC, Ayub-Ferreira SM, Romeiro MF, et al. Zika virus meningoencephalitis in an immunocompromised patient. Mayo Clin Proc. 2017;92:460-6.
- 5 Carteaux G, Maquart M, Bedet A, Contou D, Brugières P, Fourati S, et al. Zika virus associated with meningoencephalitis. N Engl J Med. 2016;374:1595-6.



XXXVI CBP CONGRESSO BRASILEIRO DE PSIQUIATRIA

6

A capital do país,

cidade que une diferentes culturas, recebe o melhor Congresso de Especialidade Médica da América Latina.

> OUTÚBRO 17 A 20 DE 2018 Brasília